# Tillage management impact on greenhouse gas emmisons and soil health on a maize long-term trial in KwaZulu-Natal

Bonginkosi Samuel Vilakazi BSc of Science in Agriculture (UKZN) Masters of Science in Soil Science (UKZN)

Submitted in fulfilment of the academic requirement for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Soil Science

School of Agricultural, Earth and Environmental Sciences

University of KwaZulu Natal

Pietermaritzburg

2020

## DECLARATION

I, Bonginkosi Samuel Vilakazi, declare that;

1. The research reported in this dissertation, except where otherwise indicated, is my original research.

2. This dissertation has not been submitted for any degree or examination at any other university.

3. This dissertation does not contain other person's data, pictures, graphs or other information, unless specifically acknowledged as being sourced from other persons.

4. This dissertation does not contain other person's writing, unless specifically acknowledged as being a sourced from other researchers. Where other written sources have been quoted, then:

(a) their words have been re-written but the general information attributed to them has been referenced.
(b) Where their exact words have been used, then their writing has been placed in italics and inside quotation marks, and referenced.

5. This dissertation does not contain text, graphics or tables copied and pasted from the internet, unless specifically acknowledged, and the source being detailed in the thesis and in the references sections.

Signed: Date: 10/07/2020 Vilakazi Bonginkosi Samuel (Candidate)

I as candidate's supervisor have approved this dissertation for submission

Signadi		Data 15.07.20
		Date 13.07.20
Dr R. Zeng	geni (Supervisor).	
Signed: .		Date16/07/20
Professor I	P. Mafongoya (Co-Supe	rvisor).

#### ABSTRACT

Population growth has prompted expansion of arable land, intensification of cropping and fertilizer usage to increase crop production in order to meet increasing food demand. These agricultural activities have a great impact on greenhouse gases (GHGs) emissions, global warming and changes in global climate patterns. Therefore emission of GHGs such as carbon dioxide (CO<sub>2</sub>), methane (CH<sub>4</sub>) and nitrous oxide (N<sub>2</sub>O) have increased. Better methods of agriculture must be employed to sustain ecosystem, crop productivity and still allow farmers to obtain profit. Conservation agriculture practices such as no-till (NT) and minimum tillage has great potential to improve soil fertility and reduce GHG emmissions, while sustaining crop productivity. The objectives of the study were to; (1) assess selected soil physicochemical properties under different tillage techniques and fertilizer application rates; (2) assess the impact of tillage and N fertilizer application on soil C sequestration; (3) assess the effect of tillage and urea fertilizer application on N and P mineralisation patterns in the soil; (4) assess soil enzymes activity under different tillage and N fertilizer management and; (5) compare emissions of GHGs between conventional tillage (CT-ANNUAL) and NT at different N rates. The study was done in a randomized split-plot experimental design, under dry-land maize monocrop. Tillage treatments included no-till (NT), annual conventional till (CT-ANNUAL), and conventional tillage every 5th year (CT-Y5). In each tillage treatment urea fertilizer was applied at four application rates of 0, 60, 120 and 240 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>. Soil samples were collected at 0-10, 10-20 and 20-30 cm depth and analysed for soil properties whereas permanent PVC chambers were installed for GHGs sampling.

Soil physicochemical properties were obtained through laboratory analysis of pH, EC, exchangeable acidity, bases, total C and N, bulk density and texture. Carbon (C) pools such as organic C, particulate organic C (POC), permanganate oxidizable C (POXC) and microbial biomass C (MBC) were analysed. Mineralisation patterns of N and P together with organic P were assessed using anaerobic N mineralisation and ascorbic acid reducing agent, respectively. Biological soil properties such as activities of urease, invertase and acid phosphatase enzymes were determined, while seasonal (summer and winter) fluxes of CO<sub>2</sub>, CH<sub>4</sub>, N<sub>2</sub>O, soil moisture and temperature were monitored. Results showed that NT had higher bases, soil moisture, C pools, N pools, P pools and enzyme activities in most treatments at 0-10 cm depth compared to CT-Y5 and CT-ANNUAL (p<0.05). This was attributed to accumulation of crop residues and less soil disturbance under NT. However, these parameters decreased with depth under NT

and CT-Y5 while opposite was observed under CT-ANNUAL. The incorporation of crop residues through ploughing increased distribution of soil parameters with depth in CT-Y5 and CT-ANNUAL compared to NT. NT had the highest bulk density,with the control treatment of NT at 20-30 cm having as high as 1983 kg m<sup>-3</sup>, across most depths than CT-Y5 and CT-ANNUAL.

CT-ANNUAL had larger emissions of N<sub>2</sub>O and CO<sub>2</sub> compared to NT (p<0.05), whereas NT had higher fluxes of CH<sub>4</sub> (p<0.05). Generally, most gas effluxes were higher in summer than winter, which was attributed to higher summer soil temperatures and moisture. High soil moisture and temperature particularly accelerated CH<sub>4</sub> emissions, while drier winter soil moisture supressed emissions of CO<sub>2</sub>. Both CO<sub>2</sub> and N<sub>2</sub>O emissions positively responded to tillage while CH<sub>4</sub> negatively correlated with it. Thus greater CO<sub>2</sub> emissions from CT-ANNUAL were attributed to increased rates of OM turnover during ploughing. Whereas higher N<sub>2</sub>O emissions from CT-ANNUAL were mostly due to improved soil aeration thus increase in diffusivity and better nitrification. Furthermore, greater emission of CH<sub>4</sub> (0.15 mg CH<sub>4</sub>-C ha<sup>-1</sup> day<sup>-1</sup>) under NT were attribued to the higher soil moisture and temperature in this technique that favoured methanogenic bacterial activity. Employing appropriate tillage practises and N fertilizer, in this case NT at 120 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>, can be recommended because it resulted in less effluxes especially during summer season. In addition, NT at 120 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> had mostly high C, P, N pools, enzymes activities and physicochemical properties compared to other treatments thus making it a better treatment in terms soil fertility and productivity.

**Key Words:** C sequestration; Carbon dioxide; Methane; Microbial activity; Nitrous oxide; Tillage system; Urea fertilizer.

## ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I thank God the Almighty and my ancestors for wisdom and strength.

I would like to acknowledge Moses Kotane Institute and Research Chair of Agronomy and Rural Development at the University of KwaZulu-Natal for providing funds for research expenses. I would also like to thank my supervisors, Dr R Zengeni and Prof P Mafongoya for believing in me and for academic assistance throughout the duration of this project.

I would like to extend my gratitude to the following:

Mr Guy Thibaud for helping with the experimental trial and sharing the information about the site.

NIMISA for providing with GC to analyse gases.

Anthony Muirhead for providing with their land for the research on their Gourton Farm.

Bangani Dube, Siyabonga Bhiya, Hloniphile Ndlela, Nozibusiso Mbava, Noxolo Hlatshwayo, Samukelisiwe Vilakazi, Londi Msane and Mawande Blose for helping in soil sampling and assisting in laboratory.

Professor P. Muchaonyerwa for always opening his door whenever I needed assistance, sometimes in late hours of the day and weekends, I really appreciate.

Sibusiso Buthelezi, Joh Buthelezi and Tezi Nala for assistance with apparatus in laboratory.

All my friends, I would put you under one umbrella so that no-one would be left out, for always pushing me

My lovely family for always loving, supporting and taking care of me.

Ngibonge ngicocoze kusiphalaphala sami, uphula nhlizyo wami okaBayeni ngithi malokazana kaSincengane ume njalo nokungeseka.

Ngibonga wonk' umusa wenkosi ngamaqhawe namabutho ayizinkanyezi empilwni yami!!

To my late brother Elias "uNyeri", mother and grandmother your spirits is still alive.

iv

DECLARATION	i
ABSTRACT	ii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	iv
LIST OF FIGURES	xi
LIST OF TABLES	xiii
APPENDIX	xiv
CHAPTER 1	1
1. GENERAL INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 Background	1
CHAPTER 2	6
LITERATURE REVIEW	6
2.1 Introduction	6
2.2 Greenhouse gases fluxes	8
2.2.1 Carbon dioxide effluxes	8
2.2.2 Nitrous Oxide effluxes	8
2.2.3 Methane effluxes	9
2.3 Sources of greenhouse gases	
2.3.1 Environmental sources of GHGs	
2.3.1.1 Soils	10
2.3.1.2 Forestry and pasture	
2.3.2 Agricultural activities causing GHGs emission	
2.3.3 Manure management	
2.4 Impact of climatic conditions on the emission of greenhouse gases	
2.4.1 Temperature variability on soil GHGs emission	
2.4.2 Effect of precipitation on the fluxes of GHGs.	
2.4.3 Effect of seasonal changes on effluxes of GHGs	
2.5. Effect of soil physicochemical properties on the emission of GHGs	
2.5.1 Soil pH	

## **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

2.5.2 Soil organic C and N	20
2.5.3 C: N ratio	21
2.5.4 Soil moisture	22
2.5.5 Bulk density	23
2.6 Effect of tillage on biochemical processes in the soil	23
2.6.1 Impact of tillage on N mineralization	24
2.6.2 Effect of tillage on P mineralization	25
2.6.3 Tillage influence on microbial activity	27
2.6.3.1 Microbial biomass	
2.6.3.2 Enzyme activity	29
2.7. Strategies for mitigating soil GHG emissions.	29
2.8. Conclusion	
CHAPTER 3	
3.1 Introduction	
3.2 Material and methods	
3.2.1 Sampling procedure	40
3.2.2 Laboratory Analyses	40
3.2.2.1 pH and electrical conductivity (EC)	40
3.2.2.2 Total N and Carbon	
3.2.2.3 Exchangeable acidity	
3.2.2.4 Exchangeable bases	
3.2.2.5 Bulk density	
3.2.2.6 Particle size distribution	
3.2.2.6 Soil moisture content	43
Furthermore the moisture correction factor was calculated using the formula:	43
3.2.3 Statistical analyses	43
3.3 Results	
3.3.1 Soil properties at 0-10 cm depth.	44
3.3.2 Soil properties at 10-20 cm depth	
3.3.3 Soil properties at 20-30 cm depth	51

3.4. Discussion	53
3.5 Conclusion	57
CHAPTER 4	59
4.1 Introduction	59
4.2 Material and methods	61
4.2.1 Sampling procedure	62
4.2.2 Laboratory Analyses	62
4.2.2.1 Total carbon	62
4.2.2.2 Soil organic carbon (SOC)	63
4.2.2.3 Particulate organic carbon (POC)	64
4.2.2.3 Permanganate oxidizable carbon (POXC)	64
4.2.2.4 Microbial biomass carbon (MBC)	65
4.2.3 Statistical analyses	67
4.3 Results	67
4.3.1 Soil total C variations	67
4.3.2 Organic C variation in different treatments	69
4.3.3 POC variations in different treatments.	71
4.3.4 POXC on different tillage and N rates	73
4.3.5 Microbial biomass carbon (MBC) variations	75
4.3.6 Microbial quotient (qMic) variations	77
4.3.6 Total soil carbon stocks	79
4.4 Discussion	
4.5 Conclusions	91
CHAPTER 5	93
5.1 Introduction	93
5.2 Material and Methods	95
5.2.1 Sampling procedure	95
5.2.2 Laboratory Analyses	
5.2.2.1 Total Nitrogen (N)	

5.2.2.2 Ammonium (NH4 <sup>+</sup> )	97
5.2.2.3 Nitrate (NO $_{3}$ )	98
5.2.2.4 Nitrogen mineralisation	
5.2.2.5 Total Phosphorus	
5.2.2.6 Organic phosphorus determination	
5.2.2.7 Extractable phosphorus determination	
5. 2.3 Statistical Analyses	
5.3 Results	
5.3.1. Total N variations	
5.3.2 Nitrate variation.	
5.3.3 Ammonium concentration at different depths.	
5.3.4 N mineralisation in different treatments	
5.3.5 Total P variations	
5.3.6 Organic P variation in different treatments	
5.3.7 Extractable phosphorus variations	
5.4 Discussion	
5.5 Conclusion	
CHAPTER 6	
6.1 Introduction	
6.2 Material and Methods	
6.2.1 Soil sampling procedure	
6.2.2 Urease enzyme assay	
6.2.3 Invertase enzyme assay	
6.2.4 Acid phosphatase enzyme assay	
6.2.5 Statistical Analyses	
6.3 Results	
6.3.1. Urease activity	
6.3.2. Invertase activity	
6.3.1. Acid phosphatase activity	

6.4 Discussion	136
6.5 Conclusion	140
CHAPTER 7	142
7.1 Introduction	142
7.2 Material and methods	144
7.2.1 Study site	144
7.2.2 Soil GHGs sampling	144
7.2.3 Gas measurement	145
7.2.4 Soil temperature and moisture measurements	146
7.2.5 Statistical Analysis	146
7.3 Results	147
7.3.1. Seasonal soil temperatures variations	147
7.3.2 Seasonal soil moisture variations	147
7.3.3. Seasonal soil CH4 effluxes	150
7.3.4. Seasonal soil N2O effluxes	152
7.3.3. Seasonal soil CO <sub>2</sub> effluxes	154
7.3.5 Effect of soil variables on GHG effluxes under different treatments	156
7.4 Discussion	157
7.5 Conclusion	165
CHAPTER 8	166
8.1 General Discussion	166
8.2 Soil properties under different tillage and fertilizer management	166
8.3 The impact of tillage and N fertilizer application on soil C sequestration	167
8.4. Effect of tillage and N fertilizer application on N and P mineralisation	168
8.5. Soil enzyme activity under different tillage and N fertilizer management	169
8.6. Seasonal effluxes of GHG under different tillage and N fertilizer application rat	es169
8.7 Conclusions and Recommendations	171
9. References	174

ppendices
-----------

## **LIST OF FIGURES**

FIGURE 2. 1: VARIATION SEASONAL OF $CH_4$ Emission rates with Pig slurry temperature
AND NATURAL CRUST ON SLURRY SURFACE
FIGURE 2. 2: SEASONAL VARIATION OF $CH_4$ EMISSION RATES WITH CATTLE SLURRY
TEMPERATURE AND NATURAL CRUST ON SLURRY SURFACE
FIGURE 2. 3: N MINERALISATION AT TWO DEPTHS UNDER MINIMUM, REDUCED AND
CONVENTIONAL TILLAGE BETWEEN 1991 AND 199725
FIGURE 2. 4: EFFECT OF TILLAGE INTENSITY ON ORGANIC P CONCENTRATIONS AT DIFFERENT
SOIL DEPTHS
FIGURE 3.1: MAIZE PLANTS GROWING IN NO-TILL (NT), CT-ANNUAL (ANNUAL PLOUGHING)
and CT-Y5 (ploughing every 5th year) at $120 \text{ kg N}$ ha-1 of urea38
FIGURE 4. 1: THE EXPERIMENTAL SITE AT LOSKOP IN ESTCOURT, KWAZULU NATAL PROVINCE,
SOUTH AFRICA62
FIGURE 4. 2: TOTAL CARBON VARIATION WITH SOIL DEPTHS FOR THREE TILLAGE TECHNIQUES.
Figure 4.3: Organic carbon with depths and urea fertilizer application (Kg N/ Ha) $$
FOR THREE TILLAGE TECHNIQUES
FIGURE 4. 4: PARTICULATE ORGANIC CARBON WITH SOIL DEPTHS AND FERTILIZER APPLICATION
(KG N HA-1) FOR THREE TILLAGE TECHNIQUES72
FIGURE 4. 5: PERMANGANATE OXIDIZABLE C WITH SOIL DEPTHS AND UREA FERTILIZER
APPLICATION (KG N HA-1) FOR THREE TILLAGE TECHNIQUES
FIGURE 4.6: MICROBIAL BIOMASS C WITH SOIL DEPTHS AND UREA APPLICATION (KG N HA-1)
FOR THREE TILLAGE TECHNIQUES
FIGURE 4. 7: VARIATION OF MICROBIAL QUOTIENT OF DIFFERENT SOIL DEPTHS
FIGURE 5.1: DIFFERENT TILLAGE TECHNIQUES, NT, CT-Y5 AND CT-ANNUAL, IN THE
CONTROL
FIGURE 5. 2: VARIATION OF TOTAL N WITH DEPTH UNDER DIFFERENT TILLAGE TECHNIQUES
AND UREA FERTILIZER APPLICATION RATES
FIGURE 5. 3: VARIATION OF NITRATE-N WITH DEPTH UNDER DIFFERENT TILLAGE TECHNIQUES
AND UREA FERTILIZER APPLICATION RATES
FIGURE 5. 4: VARIATION OF AMMONIUM-N WITH DEPTH UNDER DIFFERENT TILLAGE
TECHNIQUES AND UREA FERTILIZER APPLICATION RATES

Figure 5. 5: Variation of anaerobic N mineralization with depth under different
TILLAGE TECHNIQUES AND UREA FERTILIZER APPLICATION RATES $110$
FIGURE 5. 6: VARIATION OF TOTAL P WITH DEPTH UNDER DIFFERENT TILLAGE TECHNIQUES
AND UREA FERTILIZER APPLICATION RATES
FIGURE 5. 7: VARIATION OF ORGANIC P WITH DEPTH UNDER DIFFERENT TILLAGE TECHNIQUES
AND UREA FERTILIZER APPLICATION RATES
FIGURE 5.8: VARIATION OF EXTRACTABLE P WITH DEPTH UNDER DIFFERENT TILLAGE
TECHNIQUES AND UREA FERTILIZER APPLICATION RATES
FIGURE 6. 1: UREASE ACTIVITY AT DIFFERENT SOIL DEPTHS, N APPLICATION RATES AND
TILLAGE TECHNIQUES
FIGURE 6. 2: INVERTASE ACTIVITY AT DIFFERENT SOIL DEPTHS, N APPLICATION RATES AND
TILLAGE TECHNIQUES
FIGURE 6.3: ACID PHOSPHATASE ACTIVITY AT DIFFERENT SOIL DEPTHS, N APPLICATION RATES
AND TILLAGE TECHNIQUES
FIGURE 7. 1: SEASONAL SOIL MOISTURE VARIATIONS IN DIFFERENT N FERTILIZER AND TILLAGE
TREATMENTS
FIGURE 7. 2: SEASONAL $CH_4$ effluxes in different N fertilizer and tillage
TREATMENTS
FIGURE 7.3: SEASONAL N <sub>2</sub> O EFFLUXES IN DIFFERENT N FERTILIZER AND TILLAGE
TREATMENTS
FIGURE 7. 4: SEASONAL $CO_2$ EFFLUXES IN DIFFERENT N FERTILIZER AND TILLAGE
TREATMENTS

## LIST OF TABLES

<b>TABLE 3. 1:</b> SOIL CHARACTERISTICS UNDER DIFFERENT TILLAGE SYSTEMS AND FERTILIZER
APPLICATION RATES AT 0-10 CM DEPTH46
<b>TABLE 3. 2:</b> SOIL CHARACTERISTICS UNDER DIFFERENT TILLAGE SYSTEMS AND FERTILIZER
APPLICATION RATES AT 10-20 CM DEPTH
<b>TABLE 3. 3:</b> SOIL CHARACTERISTICS UNDER DIFFERENT TILLAGE SYSTEMS AND FERTILIZER
APPLICATION RATES AT 20-30 CM DEPTH
<b>TABLE 4.1:</b> SOIL CARBON STOCKS PER SOIL LAYER AND TOTAL DEPTH FOR DIFFERENT TILLAGE
SYSTEMS
<b>TABLE 7.1:</b> SEASONAL SOIL TEMPERATURE VARIATIONS IN DIFFERENT N FERTILIZER AND
TILLAGE TREATMENTS147
TABLE 7. 2: PEARSON'S CORRELATION ANALYSIS OF SOIL VARIABLES ON GHG EFFLUXES
UNDER DIFFERENT MANAGEMENT SYSTEMS156

## APPENDIX

APPENDIX A. 1: LAYOUT OF EXPERIMENT SITE AT LOSKOP AREA	220
---	-----

## **CHAPTER 1**

## **1. GENERAL INTRODUCTION**

#### 1.1 Background

The growth of the world's population during the forthcoming decades will prompt a need for more agricultural production. This large increase of food demand in Africa and South America, 127% and 67%, respectively will result in more greenhouse gases (GHGs) released into the atmosphere (Verge et al., 2007). In Africa, the fertilizer application rate may be expected to grow in order to achieve higher crop production, consequently GHG emissions will likely increase. In recent decades, crop production has increased as a result of expansion of arable land, increase in cropping intensity and improvement in crop yield (Verge et al., 2007). These activities will result in increased fertilizer usage that will indefinitely raise GHG emissions (Nawaz et al., 2017). Agriculture influences global warming due to related direct and indirect GHG emissions from carbon (C) and nitrogen (N) dynamics (Hellebrand et al., 2003). Intensive tillage, use of agricultural chemicals, livestock farming and the burning of crop residues are major farm activities that enhance GHG emissions (Nawaz et al., 2017). Thus, agriculture is an important contributor of methane  $(CH_4)$ , nitrous oxide  $(N_2O)$  and carbon dioxide  $(CO_2)$ emissions into the atmosphere (Decock et al., 2015; Muñoz-Rojas et al., 2015). Though agriculture can benefit from a warmer climate in some parts of the world through longer growing seasons, it could also negatively affect many regions of the world through drought, flooding, pests and/or disease outbreaks (Verge et al., 2007). Therefore, GHG emissions represent an indirect economic loss to farmers in most parts of the world. Strategies to mitigate emissions of GHGs through agriculture are urgently needed.

Emissions of GHGs from agricultural activities depend on several soil and climatic factors including the soil organic carbon (SOC) pool, microbial biomass and activity, pH, texture, bulk density, temperature and moisture regimes, tillage, fertilizer management and land use type (Hüppi et al., 2015). Furthermore the choice of tillage technique plays an essential role in GHG emissions. Thus, converting from conventional till (CT) to no-till (NT) will improve soil properties such as structure, infiltration rate and nutrient retention thereby indirectly reducing GHG emissions. However, the net effects of these are difficult to quantify. Therefore the study

aimed to assess the effects of tillage on selected soil properties and GHG fluxes. Emission of  $N_2O$  under NT may be less (Mutegi et al., 2010) or more than from CT (Six et al., 2004), depending on soil type, cropping system and other site-specific conditions. It is well documented that long-term use of NT enhances SOC storage in the surface layers (Laudicina et al., 2015). Changing soil physicochemical properties as a result of tillage will alter GHG fluxes in the soil. Adoption of NT improves soil structure, infiltration rate and water holding capacity and reduces emissions of N<sub>2</sub>O. This is because soil moisture content remains less than 62 % making it insufficient for denitrification to occur (Oorts et al., 2007). Ploughing increases oxidation of soil organic matter (SOM) and soil-crop residue contact, thereby exposing aggregate-protected SOM to microbial attack and enhancing emission of CO<sub>2</sub> in CT systems (Jacinthe & Lal, 2005). In that regard, NT may decrease CO<sub>2</sub> emission by reducing oxidation of SOM. However, with the adoption of NT, application of mineral fertilizers may play a significant role in GHG emissions.

The adoption of NT in South Africa has been very slow, especially by small-scale farmers who constitute the majority of the population. A study by Vilakazi et al., (2019) in South Africa, KwaZulu Natal, found that small-scale farmers resisted adopting new unfamiliar farming techniques such as NT, instead preferring the more familiar CT. Farmers, however acknowledge that there is a massive reduction in rainfall and increase in air temperature, which are enhanced by deforestation, bad agricultural practices and industrial pollution (Vilakazi et al., 2019). Agriculture and land use change emitted an estimated 4.9% of South Africa's GHG emissions in 2004 (Du Toit et al., 2013). According to Du Toit et al., (2013) agriculture is the third largest GHG contributor in South Africa after the energy and industrial sectors, which contribute 78.9% and 14.1% to GHG emissions, respectively. Otter et al., (2010) reported that in South Africa livestock farming contributed 98% of the agricultural sector's CH<sub>4</sub> emissions. Furthermore, in South Africa, Eastern Cape Province has the highest CH4 emissions profile originating from extensive cattle ranching, followed by KwaZulu-Natal, Free State and the North West, reflecting to a large extent the population numbers of cattle (Du Toit et al., 2013). Improper irrigation techniques, such as excessive application of water, use of poor quality water and poor irrigation design, inefficient N fertilizer use (excessive application) and burning of biomass in South Africa increase GHG emissions (Pryor et al., 2017). In arid areas of KwaZulu Natal province, South Africa, greater CO<sub>2</sub> emissions from CT than NT was observed because of adverse climatic conditions such as high rainfall intensities. These in turn cause soil erosion and aggregate breakdown, making SOM more accessible to microbial attack, more

especially under CT compared to NT with soil cover (Chaplot et al., 2012). KwaZulu Natal province, where this study was done, is one of the wettest parts of the country, and hence has more intense and diverse cropping systems (sugarcane, maize and soybeans), so it is more likely to contribute a lot to GHG emissions. In a 20 year assessment (1991 to 2011) of rainfall in South Africa, Ratna et al., (2014) observed that Kwazulu-Natal (3.97 mm day<sup>-1</sup>), followed by Mpumalanga (3.88 mm day<sup>-1</sup>) and Gauteng (3.76 mm day<sup>-1</sup>) received better rains than other provinces, and would be more likely to have great agricultural activities which emit GHGs. Therefore KwaZulu Natal with its unique climatic conditions of warm temperatures and higher rainfalls, soil types which ranges from shallow to very deep and well-drained as well as diverse cropping systems necessitated this study. The role of agriculture and land use in mitigating GHG emissions in KwaZulu Natal and South Africa as a whole has to be investigated so that policy makers can devise more informed mitigatory measures.

Fertilizer application also has an impact on GHG emissions of agricultural soils. In a study by Eggington & Smith, (1986), amendment with ammonium nitrate fertilizer led to significant increases in N<sub>2</sub>O concentrations in soil air compared with unfertilized treatments, which lasted for several months or even longer than a year (Cates & Keeney, 1987). According to Heincke & Kaupenjohann, (1999), the extent of N<sub>2</sub>O accumulation in soil is partly a function of the quantity of mineral N fertilizer applied. Therefore an ideal fertilizer application rate is required in order to decrease emission of gases through over application. Furthermore, fertilizer application and ploughing will intensify GHG emissions during summer because of higher temperature and water availability for decomposition. This is because decomposition and most soil biochemical reactions are enhanced with availability of moisture and warmer soil temperatures, therefore during winter, there will be lower GHG effluxes. According to Huang et al., (2015), a large percentage of applied N was lost to ammonia volatilization and nitrate leaching following high N input. Therefore, use of NT and appropriate application of N fertilizer at reasonable rates, should be promoted as this reduces N<sub>2</sub>O emissions without affecting crop yield. Reduced GHG emissions will result from improved land management practices, better fertilizer management and other practices that will take advantage of existing organic matter supplies, such as retained crop residues (Verge et al., 2007). In this regard, crop residue retention together with appropriate fertilizer application under NT could mitigate GHGs emissions, while sustaining crop yields and reducing production costs. Such practices will also improve ecosystem viability and environmental sustainability.

Soil respiration and chemical decay processes produce GHGs in soils (Chapuis-Lardy et al., 2007). The rate of decomposition, mineralisation, nitrification and other biochemical processes are dependent on the type of management and physicochemical condition of the soil. Thus sufficient supply of substrates make it easy for microbes to function. Both crop residue and fertilizer application provide soil microbes with substrates (nutrient and energy sources) thereby enhancing microbial activity. It is therefore important to avoid deficient or excessive supply of substrates to maintain ecosystem stability. Low microbial activity will be detrimental to soil productivity, while high activity may lead to excessive effluxes of GHGs. According to Oertel et al., (2016), N<sub>2</sub>O is formed in the soil where N sources are applied frequently or produced during organic matter decomposition. Again, N<sub>2</sub>O emissions negatively correlate with the C/N-ratio of decomposing material (Pilegaard et al., 2006). While flooding of soil leads to GHG such as N<sub>2</sub>O and CH<sub>4</sub> emissions as a result of fermentation of decomposing SOM (Verge et al., 2007). On the other hand, CO<sub>2</sub> emission from agricultural soils is mainly due to land use change, e.g., when forests are cleared for agricultural land development (Verge et al., 2007).

Soil cultivation and annual crop production often accelerate the conversion of organic C to CO<sub>2</sub> by microbes. According to Janušauskaite et al., (2013), soil biological properties such as microbial biomass and enzyme activity, may respond to soil disturbances over a shorter period of time compared to physical or chemical properties. As a consequence, the microbiological properties have been used as good indicators of soil quality because of their rapid response to changes in soil management. Again labile C can be used to check the response of tillage and fertilizer application to the soil as it is more sensitive to management. The availability of C has a salient effect on microbial activity which in turn with other factors such as pH, C: N and soil moisture determine phosphorus (P) availability. Furthermore, tillage, N fertilizer application and soil depth, determine both distribution and type of the P pool in the soil. According to Romanya et al., (2017) soil P can occur in organic and inorganic forms, which can be strongly retained or miniralized in soil. Soil organic P can be transformed to its inorganic form via mineralization by root or microbial-released phosphatase enzymes, while inorganic P can be immobilized to organic forms by microbes (Chang, 2007). O'Halloran, (1993), reported that soil inorganic P increased near the bottom of the plough layer presumably due to the incorporation of crop residues. While Weill et al., (1990) observed that increase in the concentration of inorganic P in surface soil layers was due to fertilizer placement and lack of soil mixing under NT.

Tillage has influence on biochemical processes occurring in soil in the short-term. Research by Fenster & Peterson, (1979) showed that lower soil nitrate levels with NT during the first 8 to10 years after changing from CT systems was due to continuous immobilization of N in residues of NT. The initial changes in soil microbial activity and N cycling may account, in part, to lower than expected initial crop yields with NT systems (Broder et al., 1984). However a study by Doran et al., (1998), showed that soil microbial populations and enzyme activity were greater with NT, making the amount of potentially mineralizable N in the surface 7.5 cm of NT soils 35% greater than in CT, thereby indicating greater conservation of N in organic forms. Increased soil microbial populations, stimulated by greater organic matter and water content with reduced tillage, could however compete with the crop for available N. There are few studies that have been conducted in South Africa, particularly in KwaZulu Natal on the emission of GHGs from arable lands under dryland agriculture. Thus the aim of this study was to assess the effectiveness of conservation tillage to minimise GHG emissions and improve soil productivity compared with CT under N fertilizer management. This was done under rain-fed maize mono-cropping during summer, with winter fallowing. Treatments included conventional annual tillage (CT-ANNUAL), conventional tillage every 5th year (CT-Y5), and no-till (NT) with various urea fertilizer application rates at different soil depths. The study looked at the impact of tillage and N fertilization on selected soil biological and physicochemical properties as well as effluxes of GHGs in soil. The null hypothesis of the study was that conservation tillage would increase fluxes of GHGs compared to CT-ANNUAL.

#### **Specific objectives**

- 1. To assess selected soil physicochemical properties under different tillage techniques and fertilizer application rates.
- 2. To assess the impact of tillage and N fertilizer application on soil C sequestering.
- 3. To assess the effect of tillage and urea fertilizer application on N and P mineralisation patterns in the soil.
- 4. To assess soil enzymes activity under different tillage techniques and urea fertilizer application rates.
- 5. To compare emissions of GHGs between CT and NT at different N fertilizer application rates.

## **CHAPTER 2**

## LITERATURE REVIEW

## 2.1 Introduction

The impact of human activity on escalating GHG emissions, global warming and changes in global climate patterns is an important 21st century issue (Verge et al., 2006). Anthropogenic GHG emissions have increased since the pre-industrial era, driven largely by economic and population growth (Mangalassery et al., 2014). This has led to an increase in atmospheric concentrations of CO<sub>2</sub>, CH<sub>4</sub> and N<sub>2</sub>O (Mangalassery et al., 2014). According to Paustian et al., (2016), agriculture accounts for 10–12% of total anthropogenic GHGs emissions globally, with CO<sub>2</sub> emissions alone estimated to be 5.4–6.1 Gt yr<sup>-1</sup> in 2012. The main drivers of GHG emissions in soils are root respiration, chemical decay processes, as well as heterotrophic respiration of soil fauna and microbes (Ortel et al., 2016). Emission flux rates largely depend on soil water content, temperature, nutrient availability and pH (Ludwig et al., 2001), as well as land-cover-related parameters. Dutta et al., (2015) elucidated that the emission of GHGs from agricultural activities depends on several soil and climatic factors including amount and time of precipitation, SOC pool, texture, bulk density, temperature and moisture regimes, and tillage and fertilizer management. Therefore adoption of proper land management systems, which minimise emissions, will be a good step to mitigate GHG emissions.

Conservation tillage is among many options to reduce GHG emissions from agricultural soils (Mangalassery et al., 2014). However, its effects are sometimes contradictory and depend on the soil type, climate and management history (Prasad & Power, 1991). NT has been found to sometimes increase N<sub>2</sub>O loss from soils compared with CT (Mackenzie et al., 1998). This is because N<sub>2</sub>O (like CH<sub>4</sub>) is produced under reducing conditions of waterlogged or poorly aerated soils. Therefore increased potential of N<sub>2</sub>O emissions from NT soils is attributed to wetter and denser soil conditions found under this regime. Mangalassery et al., (2014) also reported 21 to 86% higher N<sub>2</sub>O flux in NT soils compared to tilled soils. Although NT may sometimes have negative impacts, overally it helps in sustaining soil quality and should be promoted. This is because conservation tillage protects soil against erosion and degradation,

creates greater aggregate stability, increases soil organic matter (SOM) content, hence enhances C sequestration and eventually mitigates GHG emissions (Mangalassery et al., 2014).

Tilling the soil breaks down aggregates, reduces compaction and allows roots to penetrate easily. It modifies the distribution of organic matter (OM) in the soil profile. In CT, OM is distributed down the profile unlike in NT where crop residues and OM are concentrated near the soil surface (Arshad et al., 1990). Therefore unlike NT which has higher nutrient retention in the top layer, CT will generally have nutrients distributed down the profile. Logsdon et al., (1990) reported greater bulk density, soil penetration resistance and lower total porosity in NT compared with CT in the top layer. While organic material buried after ploughing is responsible for the higher rate of soil microbial activity in deeper soil layers of CT (Angers et al., 1993). Thus, Kandeler & Böhm, (1996) observed that microbial biomass and activity were greater in the surface of NT than CT soil, while the reverse was observed in deeper soil layers of around 20-30 cm soil depth. Cereti & Rossini, (1995) also found that soils under NT generally contained greater concentrations of organic C and microbial biomass, especially in the upper layer. Aerobic conditions and distribution of nutrients down the profile under CT will increase microbial biomass than under NT, which may be attributed to the availability of substrate and oxygen in the soil. A study by Kandeler et al., (1998), showed that the microbial biomass C turnover of NT was significantly lower (0.99 year<sup>-1</sup>) than that of CT (1.5 year<sup>-1</sup>) in the surface layer due to limited oxygen for aerobic reactions. According to Kladivko, (2001) there was higher urease activity under CT than NT at 10-20 cm depth, due to a flush of microbial activity directly after tillage and residue incorporation in CT as a result of increased substrate and oxygen availability. Hence CT can lead to soil microbial community structures dominated by aerobes, while NT increases microbial population and activity (Balota et al., 2003). The aerobic microorganisms under CT will then increase OM decomposition thus releasing GHGs. According to Mangalassery et al., (2014), CT produced 20% greater net global warming than NT soil, indicating a potential for NT systems to mitigate GHG emissions.

With all the benefits that NT offers to the soil, it is yet to be well adopted and implemented on a global scale especially by communal farmers. According to Janušauskaite et al., (2013), the reason for low adoption of NT is that it often results in lower crop yields than CT. This is caused by soil compaction, germination problems, and higher weed and pest incidence under NT (Janušauskaite et al., 2013). Higher soil moisture in NT soils results in greater denitrification rates as compared with CT (Aulakh et al., 1992), which could also result in loss of plant available N. On the other hand, Janušauskaite et al., (2013) discovered that long-term NT increased organic C content, positively affecting not only soil structure, but also microbiota activity. Lal & Kimble, (1997) emphasised that NT improves soil C and N sequestration and accentuates soil biodiversity. There is therefore a need to identify the best management options employed by farmers, land users and environmentalist to reduce emission of GHGs and ensure ecosystem sustainability. The aim of this review was to assess the impact of conservation tillage on GHG emissions and soil physicochemical properties, C, P and N pools as well as enzyme activity in comparison with CT.

## 2.2 Greenhouse gases fluxes

GHGs are gaseous components of the atmosphere that absorb energy reflected from the earth's surface as infrared radiation (de Klein et al., 2008). They are critical for regulating the earth's surface temperatures, as without them, the average temperature would be -6  $^{\circ}$ C, instead of 15  $^{\circ}$ C (Steinfeld et al., 2006). The main anthropogenic GHGs are CO<sub>2</sub>, CH<sub>4</sub> and N<sub>2</sub>O. According to de Klein et al., (2008) each of these gases has a different global warming potential (GWP), which is based on its ability to absorb solar energy and on its half-life. Solomon et al., (2007) reported the GWP for CO<sub>2</sub>, CH<sub>4</sub> and N<sub>2</sub>O to be 1, 25 and 298 respectively, based on GWP per molecule of CO<sub>2</sub>.

#### 2.2.1 Carbon dioxide effluxes

Soils provide the largest terrestrial store for C in litter and soil humic C fractions (Lal et al., 1998). In several areas, agricultural land offers the possibility to sequester  $CO_2$  as SOM (Six et al., 2004). Cultivation and annual crop production often accelerate the conversion of soil C to  $CO_2$  by microbes. According to Houghton et al., (1983), two major agricultural sources that have contributed to the rise in  $CO_2$  are SOM decomposition and plant biomass burning. After soil has been cultivated for a few decades, the loss of soil C usually slows down or ceases completely, and its level becomes stable again but lower (Hutchinson et al., 2007).

## 2.2.2 Nitrous Oxide effluxes

N<sub>2</sub>O emissions from agriculture are estimated to account for more than 75% of the total global anthropogenic emission (Isermann, 1994). Most N<sub>2</sub>O is produced in soils as an intermediate during nitrification and denitrification (Hutchinson & Davidson, 1993). Emissions of N<sub>2</sub>O in agriculture are predominantly from soils amended with N-rich amendments e.g fertilizers, manure, and compost (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, 2010). In general, N<sub>2</sub>O emissions are directly related to the type, quantity and method of fertilizer placement, as well as other factors such as soil type, tillage method and weather patterns (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, 2010). Though weather patterns are difficult to control, tillage can be controlled, therefore tillage types that emit less GHGs must be employed (Beauchamp, 1997). N fertilizer inputs are required in order to maximize crop yields (Murungu & Madanzi, 2010), but fertilizer application generally results in leaching, GHG emission and eutrophication. However, de Maria et al., (1999) reported that application of N-based fertilizers increases SOM, particularly on lands that have already experienced significant OM loss as a result of cultivation. However, the appropriate fertilizer application rate and tillage type must be used to avoid GHG emissions.

#### 2.2.3 Methane effluxes

Emissions of CH<sub>4</sub> from agriculture are linked to bacterial processes in anaerobic conditions created by flooded soils, and from enteric fermentation that occurs in the digestive tracts of ruminant livestock (cattle, sheep, and goats). CH4 emissions also occur during decomposition of animal manure in uncovered lagoons and from crop residues under very wet field conditions (Greenhouse Gas Working Group, 2010). According to Bousquet et al., (2006) soils are a major source of CH4, through anaerobic activity of methanogenic bacteria under waterlogged conditions. However, well drained soils, especially forest soils can provide an important CH<sub>4</sub> sink through the activity of methanotrophic bacteria (Dalal et al., 2008), contributing as much as 6% to the overall global atmospheric CH<sub>4</sub> sink. A review by Bodelier & Laanbroek (2004), showed that N can stimulate both emissions and consumption of CH4 in soil, with mineral-N being a prerequisite for CH<sub>4</sub> consumption. Consumption and emission by soil balances CH<sub>4</sub> concentrations in the atmosphere. In an area with soils having reduced CH<sub>4</sub> sink ability, the concentration of CH<sub>4</sub> will increase in the atmosphere. Therefore employing conservation tillage such as NT can assist in reducing emission of CH<sub>4</sub> by increasing soil's sinking ability through improved soil properties such as aggregation and organic C. Tillage disturbs the ecological niche that allows gas sinking, restricting methanotrophic bacteria, and accentuating CH4 emissions (Hutsch, 1998). According to Nawaz et al., (2017), the highest flux of CH<sub>4</sub> was recorded with CT than NT, with the reduction in CH<sub>4</sub> flux under NT being as much as 90.5%.

The tillage type plays an integral role in emission and consumption of CH<sub>4</sub>, however other factors such as moisture content and fertilizer type also contributes to CH<sub>4</sub> dynamics. An increase in CH<sub>4</sub> emission by soil with less moisture and N added were noted by Mosier et al., (2003). This was attributed to CH<sub>4</sub> emission mediated by ammonium-oxidizing bacteria which reduces CH<sub>4</sub> oxidation in the soil. Knief et al., (2005), who reported high CH<sub>4</sub> emissions from N fertilized soils, argued that  $NH_4^+$ -N inhibits CH<sub>4</sub> consumption. This is because  $NH_4^+$ -N and CH<sub>4</sub> compete for CH<sub>4</sub>-monooxygenase, the enzyme which catalyses the first step in the oxidation of CH<sub>4</sub> (Bédard & Knowles, 1989). In addition, high soil water content can limit O<sub>2</sub> and CH<sub>4</sub> diffusion in the soil, thus, reducing CH<sub>4</sub> consumption.

## 2.3 Sources of greenhouse gases

### 2.3.1 Environmental sources of GHGs

The main natural sources of GHGs are soils, wetlands, lightning, grasslands, forests and oceans (IPCC, 1990). However climatic conditions, land use change and management may alter emissions. Biochemical processes such as enzyme activity and nitrification occurring in the soil enhance warming of the earth as a result of increased emissions of GHGs (Smith et al., 2003).

#### 2.3.1.1 Soils

Soil, depending with type and its state, acts as a sink and/or source of GHGs. A study by Martikainen et al., (2002) found that effluxes of GHGs differ with soil type. The aeration status of soil determines the direction and magnitude of gas flux. Hütsch, (2001) observed that sandy soil had lower oxidation rate of organic material similar to that of forest soils hence poor effluxes of CH<sub>4</sub>, while peat soil with a high water table had higher CH<sub>4</sub> emissions. According to Smith et al., (2003), soil, particularly in its undisturbed natural state acts as a sink for CH<sub>4</sub> because CH<sub>4</sub> can be oxidized to CO<sub>2</sub>. It is however rare for soil to be undisturbed as it provides food for survival. However, the size of gas effluxes between the soil and the atmosphere depends heavily on soil physical, chemical and biological factors. Soil temperature and

moisture directly affect production and consumption of GHGs because they influence soil microbial processes and root respiration (Smith et al., 2003). Moisture content and soil temperature can be altered by the method of tillage as a result of disturbing or sustaining soil aggregate stability and soil cover. Tilling the soil increases gas diffusivity from the soil to the atmosphere because of open soil pores thus increases effluxes.

There is high concentration of CO<sub>2</sub> in soil compared to the atmosphere. It is produced by root, microbial and faunal respiration, while fixed by vegetation; giving a positive or negative net effect (Martikainen et al., 2002). According to Prather et al., (1995) about 30 teragrams of atmospheric CH<sub>4</sub> per year is oxidized to CO<sub>2</sub> by aerobic soil bacteria which are adapted to living on this very small concentration of substrate. Oxidation is most rapid in coarse-textured forest soils with well-developed soil structure and a surface organic layer through which gases can readily diffuse (Smith et al., 2000). However, Brumme & Borken (1999) showed that the inhibition of litter decomposition in acid conditions in some forest soils can substantially reduce the entry of atmospheric CH<sub>4</sub> into the soil. CH<sub>4</sub> is consumed by bacteria in the top layer of agricultural soils, usually resulting in its flux from the atmosphere to the soil. However, compared to pristine ecosystems, the capacity of agricultural soils to consume CH<sub>4</sub> is lowered by N fertilizers, especially NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> fertilizers because NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> has an inhibitory effect on CH<sub>4</sub> oxidation (Hütsch, 2001). Implementing better, less emitting methods of tillage such as NT must be emphasized to mitigate GHG emissions from agricultural activities. In a study by Pipatti, (2001) cultivation of organic soils caused most of the reported agricultural CO<sub>2</sub> emissions, meaning NT should be employed as a solution to mitigate emissions.

### 2.3.1.2 Forestry and pasture

Conversion of forests and pastures to cropland leads to a paradigm shift of natural ecosystems. Such land cover change often alters C storage; e.g. converting arable cropland to grassland results in the accrual of soil C owing to lower soil disturbance and reduced C removal in harvested products. Compared to cultivated lands, pastures may also have reduced N<sub>2</sub>O emissions from lower N inputs and higher rates of CH<sub>4</sub> oxidation (Paustian et al., 2004). According to Smith et al., (2008) planting trees can reduce emissions of GHGs. However, tropical forest soils because of high denitrification due to wet soil and accumulation of organic material throughout the year are the largest single natural source of N<sub>2</sub>O to the atmosphere, (Smith & Conen, 2004). Therefore it is important to know the effect of land use change on emissions from these ecosystems. Several comparisons of N<sub>2</sub>O emissions from forest and pastures have been carried out with widely varying results. Verchot et al., (1999) recorded emissions from pastures to be only one-eighth to one-third of those from primary forest. While Melillo et al., (2001), found pasture emissions to be two-and-a half times those from the forest soils for the first two years, but decreasing to below those in forest in pastures three or more years old. A study by Robertson et al., (2000), showed that poplar and alfalfa systems added 32 to 44 g C m<sup>-2</sup> year<sup>-1</sup> to the soil C pool, similar to that added by the NT system. Therefore forests and pastures can be utilised to mitigate GHG emissions global. Fertile soils under forests would store high concentrations of soil C which is attributed to leaves that are always added to the soil surface. Boreal forests (covering 22.6% of terrestrial area) constitute 10–13% of the organic C stocks in the world (McGuire et al., 1997), with more than half of this C stock stored in soil (McGuire et al., 1997).

## 2.3.2 Agricultural activities causing GHGs emission

At the farm level, the dominant GHGs are N<sub>2</sub>O from soil and livestock (manure, urine and applications of N fertilisers) and CH<sub>4</sub> from ruminant digestion, rice cultivation and anaerobic respiration (Garnett, 2011). CO<sub>2</sub> emissions arising from fossil fuel combustion, manufacture of synthetic fertilisers and burning of biomass also significantly contribute (Garnett, 2011). Agricultural activities control the physicochemical properties of soil. Any change in these would affect the rate and extent of microbial processes, which in turn control the stabilization of C and N in soil. Farmed organic soils are a large source of both CO<sub>2</sub> and N<sub>2</sub>O due to net degradation (oxidation) of organic material (Eriksson, 1991). According to Kasimir-Klemedtsson et al., (1997) cultivation of peat soils increases soil aeration and reverses the C flux favouring net CO<sub>2</sub> emission into the atmosphere. Tillage, legume cropping, crop residue management, the type and rate of mineral N fertilizer application all contribute to N<sub>2</sub>O emission (Gregorich et al., 2005). An estimated 45% of agricultural N<sub>2</sub>O emission in Canada originates from collection, storage, and application of animal manure (Desjardins & Riznek, 2000). In cool temperate regions, N<sub>2</sub>O comprises the majority of GHG emissions associated with crop production (Robertson et al., 2000). Agricultural activities may influence CH<sub>4</sub> fluxes by affecting either its consumption in aerated soils or emission in waterlogged areas. Biological CH<sub>4</sub> production in anaerobic environments (e.g. enteric fermentation in ruminant animals, flooded rice fields, and animal waste processing) is the principle source of CH4 from agriculture

(Flessa et al., 2002). Well aerated arable land is usually a sink for atmospheric CH<sub>4</sub>, because soil methanotrophs use CH<sub>4</sub> as a source of energy and C (Topp & Pattey, 1997).

#### 2.3.3 Manure management

Animal manure can either be stored wet (slurry) or dry (farm yard manure). Generally, intensive livestock systems use liquid manure management due to the large volumes of manure produced and the method of collection (Reid et al., 2004). According to Linquist et al., (2012) farmyard manure (FYM) is an important nutrient source for many plants. Thus with application of manure, net CH<sub>4</sub> uptake by soil is reduced relative to un-manured soil (Rochette & Co<sup>te'</sup>, 2000). Emission rates are mostly influenced by the type of manure, handling and storage methods. They also depend on the animal's diet, with higher energy feeds producing manure with more volatile solids that may emit more GHGs depending on surrounding environmental conditions (Bellarby et al., 2008). Emissions from manure storage are affected by the type of waste management and the storage duration (Woodbury & Hashimoto, 1993). Thus, substantial CH<sub>4</sub> emission may occur when manure decomposes in an anaerobic environment. CH<sub>4</sub> emissions occur mainly when the manure is managed in liquid forms (lagoon or holding tanks) or remains wet (Bellarby et al., 2008). While manure deposited on fields and pastures or otherwise handled in dry form do not produce significant amounts of CH<sub>4</sub> (Reid et al., 2004). Chen et al., (2011) showed that composting FYM lead to a 75% reduction in CH<sub>4</sub> emissions relative to un-composted manure. Hence solid manure may be a potential mitigation strategy to GHGs emission from croplands (Desjardins et al., 2005). This option can be improved by manure pre-treatment through composting (Petersen, 1999), although the compost itself may be an important source of GHGs (Hao et al., 2001).

Studies that have examined N<sub>2</sub>O emission during storage of animal wastes indicated that in contrast to CH<sub>4</sub> emissions, release of N<sub>2</sub>O tends to increase with increasing manure aeration (Flessa et al., 2002). Heinemeyer et al., (1997) observed N<sub>2</sub>O emissions from slurry storage that ranged between 0.01 to 0.08% of the slurry N. They concluded that losses of N<sub>2</sub>O from dung heaps were about 0.1-0.8% of the manure N (Heinemeyer et al., 1997). Though liquid manure can be easily stored and transported than dry manure, it increases the emission rate of GHGs. This is because it contains labile soluble organic C that can stimulate N<sub>2</sub>O production where C availability limits denitrification (Gregorich et al., 2005). According to Gregorich et

al., (2005) application of liquid manure results in higher soil moisture, lower oxygen availability and a relatively large amount of labile C, all of which promote denitrification. Thus in soils with initial low C content, liquid manure has often resulted in greater  $N_2O$  emission than mineral fertilizer (Rochette et al., 2000). A better understanding of how storing, processing and application of manure can affect GHG emissions is needed in order to avoid mitigating a certain gas at the expense of another.

## 2.4 Impact of climatic conditions on the emission of greenhouse gases

Climatic conditions are responsible for biochemical reactions in the soil, therefore have a huge role on the fluxes of GHGs. Emissions of CO<sub>2</sub> and N<sub>2</sub>O for example are significantly influenced by temperature and rainfall (Li et al., 2010). This is because soil temperature and moisture content directly affect production and consumption of GHGs, through influencing microbial breakdown of organic compounds and root respiration (Smith et al., 2003). Gas diffusivity, which depends on the air-filled porosity (and thus varies inversely with water content), also controls the movement of the gases to and from the atmosphere. While moisture content affects soil aeration, with saturated soil inhibiting aerobic microbial activity and root respiration due to poor aeration (Smith et al., 2003). According to Martikainen et al., (2002) several climatic conditions affect effluxes of gases from agricultural soils, however, there is lack of data on the magnitude of these. Seasonal climate patterns also alter effluxes of GHGs due to temperature and precipitation variabilities. As such, climate policies are needed to device strategies on GHG emissions.

#### 2.4.1 Temperature variability on soil GHGs emission.

An increase in soil temperature leads to higher respiration rates as a positive feedback of increased microbial metabolism (Ortel et al., 2016). This leads to decreasing  $O_2$  concentrations in the soil, which in turn reduces CH<sub>4</sub> oxidation and nitrification of NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> thereby enhancing CH<sub>4</sub> and N<sub>2</sub>O emissions (Butterbach-Bahl et al., 2013). Again, CO<sub>2</sub> emissions increase exponentially with increase in soil temperature (Ludwig et al., 2001; Tang et al., 2003). Several studies have shown increased production of CO<sub>2</sub> and CH<sub>4</sub> when temperature was raised (Liikanen et al., 2003). Stadmark & Leonardson, (2005) found that temperature and NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> availability increased the amount of CH<sub>4</sub> produced as they enhance the functionality of methanotrophic (CH<sub>4</sub> consumer/oxidizer) and methanogens (CH<sub>4</sub> producer) bacteria. These

results agree with a field study by Stadmark & Leonardson, (2005) where CH<sub>4</sub> emissions increased remarkably when temperature exceeded 15 °C. The release of CO<sub>2</sub> from SOM by heterotrophic and autotrophic root respiration, also generally increases exponentially with temperature (Smith et al., 2003). However high temperature, from 27 °C and above, may reduce soil moisture content through evaporation making it impossible for root and microbial respiration to continue thus reducing emissions. In this regard, the positive effects of temperature may be overlain by soil water stress, since water is needed as a transport medium for nutrients required by microbes (Fowler et al., 2009).

N<sub>2</sub>O emissions increase with soil temperature up to about 37 °C; thereafter denitrification decreases because denitrifying bacteria will be denatured (Abdalla et al., 2009). However, Huang et al., (2015) observed that N<sub>2</sub>O flux rates were negatively correlated with air temperature, with peak N<sub>2</sub>O emissions occurring at lower air temperatures of 3.7-8.4 °C while lower N<sub>2</sub>O emissions were observed with higher air temperatures (14.0–25.8 °C). There was evidence that at low soil temperatures N<sub>2</sub>O was produced not only from the nitrate pool added to the soil but also from the mineralised N (Martikainen et al., 2002). Soil freezing-thawing generally enhances N<sub>2</sub>O production but the mechanism for this is still poorly understood (Martikainen, 2002). A study by Martikainen et al., (2002), revealed N<sub>2</sub>O production at temperatures as low as -6 °C. While Martikainen et al., (2002) observed that N<sub>2</sub>O production was higher when increasing soil temperature from freezing (i.e. during soil thawing), with peak N<sub>2</sub>O production close to temperatures of 0 °C.

#### 2.4.2 Effect of precipitation on the fluxes of GHGs.

The amount and intensity of rainfall has a direct impact on the functioning of the soil. Fluxes of GHGs are controlled by soil pores hence water saturated soil tends to have limited air movement. According to Livesley et al., (2008) there was a positive relationship between soil water filled pores and N<sub>2</sub>O flux in soil, although the intensity and longevity of rainfall response flux differed between months. This agreed with the results by Jacinthe & Lal, (2004) where the frequency of soil wet-and-dry cycles in response to rainfall frequency was more critical to N<sub>2</sub>O flux in unfertilised soils than temperature, surface soil conditions or vegetation. CH<sub>4</sub> uptake in soils also decreases with increasing precipitation (Drewer et al., 2012). This is because precipitation increases soil moisture content, filling up pores with water therefore making it impossible for oxidizing methanotrophic bacteria to function. Only anaerobic microbes, such as methanogenic bacteria, can function under waterlogged conditions. In a study by Kirschbaum (2006), there was no consistent relationship between soil CO<sub>2</sub> flux and temperature, but a positive relationship (r > 0.5) between soil CO<sub>2</sub> flux and soil water. Again tillage affect gas effluxes, with higher soil moisture as a result of NT causing higher N<sub>2</sub>O emissions. Unfortunately higher N<sub>2</sub>O emissions under NT can sometimes not be balanced by higher C sequestration and CH<sub>4</sub>-uptake rates (Li et al., 2005).

Excess emission of N<sub>2</sub>O after rainfall is normally attributed to high denitrification because of soil water saturation. This is because the water filled pores tend to stimulate microbial denitrifires (Davidson, 1991). In addition, soils dominated by fine pores promote emission of CH<sub>4</sub> and N<sub>2</sub>O produced under anaerobic conditions (Gu et al., 2013). On the other hand, Dilustro et al., (2005) observed higher CO<sub>2</sub> emissions in fine textured soils compared to sandy soils during warm dry periods. Sandy soils supress emission because of excessive draining whereas finer soil texture buffer soil moisture and enhances CO<sub>2</sub> efflux even during warm dry periods (Dilustro et al., 2005). Sponseller, (2007) observed that CO<sub>2</sub> emissions increased within minutes or hours after the onset of precipitation before returning to normal levels in a few days.

## 2.4.3 Effect of seasonal changes on effluxes of GHGs.

In a study by Jin et al., (2009), there was a clear seasonal pattern of CO<sub>2</sub> emissions, with the summer daily CO<sub>2</sub> effluxes higher than those in winter. Temperature variation and soil moisture distribution, which influence enzyme activity are aligned with seasonal changes. Winter is associated with low soil temperatures and moisture whereas the opposite is true in summer. Thus the summer season is associated with higher enzyme activity than winter (Kladivko, 2001). Field experiments by Johansson et al., (2004) also showed seasonal variation in GHG emissions, which may be caused by the amount and quality of organic material (Stadmark & Leonardson, 2007). It was observed that there was high amount of fresh organic material with low C: N ratio (high quality) in summer which increased mineralization and effluxes of GHGs, whereas winter CO<sub>2</sub> emissions are considered less important for the annual emission budget since root and soil respiration is relatively low when compared to summer (Groffman et al., 2006). During freeze-thaw cycles, additional nutrients are released for microbial metabolism through disaggregation of soil particles (Christensen & Christensen, 1991), thereby inducing effluxes of GHGs.

Husted, (1994) discovered that CH<sub>4</sub> emissions from pig and cattle slurry were low during winter and high during summer (Figures 2.1 & 2.2); with CH<sub>4</sub> emission rates from cattle slurry ranging from 17.5 to 34.5 g m<sup>-3</sup> d<sup>-1</sup> in summer and 0.02 to 1.4 g m<sup>-3</sup> d<sup>-1</sup> in winter (Figure 2.2). Significant CH<sub>4</sub> emission during the winter months was not expected, but due to heat from the storage tanks, slurry temperature never dropped below 4 °C even when atmospheric air temperatures went down to -4.2 °C, (Husted, 1994). According to Husted, (1994), CH4 emission from pig slurry did not differ across seasons during most months except January, April, May and December because of a surface crust that formed on top of the slurry, which reduced diffusivity of air (Figure 2.1). In a study by Smith et al., (2007) they deduced that surface crusting reduces exposure of liquid slurry and was effective in decreasing emissions. Furthermore, Smith et al., (2007) explained that slurry solids content (dry matter content >1%), continuous undisturbing and cumulative evaporation of water from the surface of the slurry had an important role on the formation of the crust. Summer months (in northern hemisphere) in Figure 2.1 experienced higher slurry crusting due to increased cumulative evaporation because of higher temperatures. CH<sub>4</sub> emissions in January and December, in which slurry was without a surface crust were relatively high compared with November, February & March periods with low porosity and an intact surface crust (Figure 2.1). The interaction between slurry temperature and crust formation was not clear for both pig slurry (Fig 2.1) and cattle slurry (Fig 2.2). However, it was observed that surface crusts were dry and compact at low slurry temperatures of November, February and March but wet and porous during summer months (June, July, August and September). Again summer months with average slurry temperature of 15-20 °C and air temperature of 12.5-18 °C had the highest crusting and emissions showing the salient effect of temperature on emission. Crust permeability to CH<sub>4</sub> rose with increasing crust porosity, explaining the reduced effect of crusting at high slurry temperatures (Husted, 1994). Figure 2.2 shows that cattle slurry did not form a surface crust in May and from July to December; this may be attributed to precipitation which washed away the crust, leading to higher CH<sub>4</sub> emission rates in these months. Temperature of both air and slurry resulted in seasonal differences in gaseous emission with both pig and cattle slurry having peak emissions at their highest temperatures.



Figure 2. 1: Seasonal variation of CH<sub>4</sub> emission rates with pig slurry temperature and natural crust on slurry surface (Husted, 1994).



Figure 2. 2: Seasonal variation of CH<sub>4</sub> emission rates with cattle slurry temperature and natural crust on slurry surface (Husted, 1994).

## 2.5. Effect of soil physicochemical properties on the emission of GHGs

The size of GHG effluxes between the soil and atmosphere also depends on soil physicochemical factors (Smith et al., 2003). According to Konnerup et al., (2014), soils with higher OM content have higher CH<sub>4</sub> uptake (1.49 mol CH<sub>4</sub> m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup>) because of higher methanotrophic bacteria populations due to availability of substrate than those with lower OM content (1.0 mol CH<sub>4</sub> m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup>) which have less methanotrophic bacteria populations. Most researchers have correlated N<sub>2</sub>O fluxes from the soil surface with biological, chemical and physical soil parameters (Clemens et al., 1997). High soil moisture combined with an unfavourable soil structure for gas transport can cause N<sub>2</sub>O to be entrapped for several weeks especially in watered puddled soils or those with a hardpan (Heincke & Kaupenjohann, 1999). Different tillage practices also alter soil properties thereby affecting effluxes of GHGs. Thus, Nawaz et al., (2017) concluded that adoption of long-term NT reduces GHG (CO<sub>2</sub>, CH<sub>4</sub>, N<sub>2</sub>O) emissions by increasing soil organic C, moisture and porosity.

#### 2.5.1 Soil pH

Soil pH and its variability affects effluxes of GHGs in the soil. Although biological processes dominate N<sub>2</sub>O production in most environments, chemo-denitrification, an abiotic process where inorganic N species are reduced to gaseous species has been reported in soils with high concentrations of Fe (II) or humic acid extracts with low pH by means of coupled oxidation (Samarkin et al., 2010). It appears that nitrate reduction is catalyzed by Fe (III)-rich precipitates formed during dissolution of the Fe (II). The reaction between nitrate and iron may either proceed as an iron dissolution process subsequently followed by an independent nitrate reduction reaction with Fe<sup>2+</sup> in solution at low pH (Postma, 1990). According to Ortel et al., (2016) microbial activity, which dominate N<sub>2</sub>O production, is influenced by soil pH. Increased pH, improved nutrient availability, and additional C may increase microbial activity and the release of GHGs (Saarnio, 2016). The optimal pH for methanogenesis lies between pH 4 and 7 (Dalal et al., 2008). Cuhel et al., (2010) observed that CO<sub>2</sub> emissions were observed to be highest at neutral pH where oxidation reaction is prominent. N<sub>2</sub>O emissions decrease under acidic soil conditions because nitrification increases with higher pH, since higher pH shifts the equilibrium between NH<sub>3</sub> and NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> more toward NH<sub>3</sub>, thus increasing NH<sub>3</sub> availability (Nugroho et al., 2007). NH<sub>3</sub> is the substrate for ammonium oxidizing bacteria which enhances nitrification thus emitting N<sub>2</sub>O in the process (Burton & Prosser, 2001). However, in a study by Pilegaard et al., (2006) there was no significant correlation between N<sub>2</sub>O emissions and pH. Biochars with pH reduced to 5.6 had higher N<sub>2</sub>O emissions than when not adjusted (Cayuela et al., 2013). When pH was not adjusted (remained higher than pH 5.6), however, most biochars decrease the total amount of N<sub>2</sub>O emitted by 41-72 % (Cayuela et al., 2013). On the other hand, However, Burford & Bremner, (1975) found out that N<sub>2</sub>O mitigation was also positively correlated with soil dissolved organic C, and less strongly with soil pH. According to Cayuela et al., (2013) a shift in soil pH (either higher or lower) does not mitigate N<sub>2</sub>O emissions because change in soil pH does not by itself induce N<sub>2</sub>O reductions. These finding were in agreement with those by Yanai et al., (2007), who after increasing soil pH with ash applications did not observe any reductions in N<sub>2</sub>O emissions.

#### 2.5.2 Soil organic C and N

Alleviating nutrient deficiencies by fertilizer or organic amendments increases plant litter returns and hence, soil C storage (Schnabel et al., 2001). Adding N, however, may stimulate N<sub>2</sub>O emissions (Conant et al., 2005) thereby offsetting some of the benefits. Increasing crop residue incorporation elevates SOC accumulation rates due to direct addition of OM. An increase in the initial SOC from 1 to 2% elevated SOC decomposition rate, which led to more  $CO_2$  emitted (Li et al., 2009). Conversely, a decrease in the initial SOC content from 1 to 0.25% converted the soil from a source (231 kg C ha<sup>-1</sup> y<sup>-1</sup>) to a sink (-1104 kg C ha<sup>-1</sup> y<sup>-1</sup>) of atmospheric  $CO_2$  (Li et al., 2009). The environmental control of SOM mineralisation is gaining attention because of its importance to global C cycling (Kirschbaum, 2006). However more can be done by sustaining OM in the soil thereby increasing both soil organic C and N while simultaneously reducing GHGs emissions.

Huang et al., (2015) found that it was necessary to add N by straw and manure application to reduce the use of mineral N fertilizer in NT systems. According to Huang et al., (2015) the average  $N_2O$  emission under NT was significantly greater than that of CT, likely due to organic C stimulating denitrification. Research suggests that more  $N_2O$  is emitted from organic sources than inorganic ones, but there is little evidence to prove this (Freney, 1997). The use of inorganic N-fertilizers has been alluded by Mulvaney et al., (2009) to loss of soil organic C through increased respiration and GHG emissions. In addition, this loss would also decrease soil productivity and agronomic efficiency of applied-N, thereby shifting the N and C balance in favour of GHG emissions (Mapanda et al., 2011). According to Li et al., (2009) results from

a sensitivity test indicated that among the tested factors, SOC content showed the greatest impact on N<sub>2</sub>O fluxes. Thus when SOC increased from 0.25% to 2%, the annual N<sub>2</sub>O emission rate increased from <1 to 22 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup> (Li et al., 2009).

#### 2.5.3 C: N ratio

Addition of organic material such as straw, plant litter and compost to soil helps in C accumulation and in reducing emissions of GHGs especially CO<sub>2</sub>. However, increase of organic material might increase emission of GHGs depending on the rate of decomposition of that material, influenced by its C: N ratio. Several studies have reported that addition of composted straw reduced CH<sub>4</sub> emissions relative to fresh straw (Yagi & Minami, 1990). Corton et al., (2000) attributed this to lower C: N ratio in the composted straw (6–10) than in fresh straw (25–45). However, an assessment of the effect of composted materials must also consider the GHG generated during the composted (Brown et al., 2008). N<sub>2</sub>O flux in temperate forest soils has also been shown to positively correlate with gross nitrification rates and negatively to soil or litter C: N ratios (Ambus et al., 2006). Thus in forest systems, there were high C: N ratios of between 20 and 32, inducing low net nitrification rates, whereas in pasture systems lower C: N ratio of 14 induced higher net nitrification and greater N<sub>2</sub>O flux (Livesley et al., 2008).

According to Stevenson, (1994) cereal plants (wheat, rice and rye) with higher lignin contents (16–24%) than maize and millet (11–16%), had slow OM decomposition rates which reduce GHG emissions. A study by Cayuela et al., (2013) discovered that most biochars used immobilized NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>, since their C/N ratios were greater than that of the soil (C/N = 18.7). Thus N<sub>2</sub>O emissions negatively correlated with the C/N-ratio (Pilegaard et al., 2006), with N<sub>2</sub>O emissions being lowest at C/N-ratios  $\geq$ 30 (limited disintegration of organic material) and highest at a C/N-value of 11 (optimum disintegration and humus build-up). However, soils with low soil moisture combined with low pH-values, can significantly suppress N<sub>2</sub>O emissions even though the C/N-ratios would be <20 due to less microbial activity (Gundersen et al., 2012). While emissions of CH<sub>4</sub> positively correlated with the C/N-ratio (Shi et al., 2014) due to accumulation of organic material without decomposition which creates anaerobic conditions and high temperatures.
#### 2.5.4 Soil moisture

Soil moisture content influences gas effluxes through the number of pores filled with water, to allow air movement. According to Livesley et al., (2008) soil moisture is the most important environmental variable influencing  $CO_2$  flux from soils, which probably reflects the larger  $CO_2$  flux when soil was wetter. The soil water regime also plays a key role in the dynamics of  $N_2O$  production, its reduction and transport (Heincke & Kaupenjohann, 1999). Thus high soil moisture stimulates denitrification and production of  $N_2O$ , while it also restricts its diffusion (Heincke & Kaupenjohann, 1999). Therefore the residence time of  $N_2O$  in the soil increases and microorganisms gain time to reduce it to  $N_2$ . In many studies there is a positive correlation between increasing water content and rising concentrations of  $N_2O$  in the soil solution (Davidson & Swank, 1990; Schnabel & Stout, 1994) and soil air (Benckiser et al., 1986;). Elevated nitrification also increases  $N_2O$  flux in the soil water content in NT soils results in greater denitrification rates as compared with CT (Aulakh et al., 1992), which could also result in a loss of plant available  $NO_3$ -N.

In forest soils, nitrification is often the dominant microbial process producing N<sub>2</sub>O, as soil water content rarely increases to produce anaerobic conditions that initiate and favour microbial denitrification processes (Stevens et al., 1997). Nawaz et al., (2017), noticed that N<sub>2</sub>O flux was negatively correlated with soil temperature, probably because of denitrifying bacteria functioning well under low temperatures of between 10-14 °C thus increasing N<sub>2</sub>O effluxes but positively with soil moisture (r = 0.99). This may be attributed to the presence of mulch that had moderated high temperatures but generating higher N<sub>2</sub>O emissions. Kader et al., (2017) explained that mulch protected the soil from hot summer temperatures by lowering the daily maximum soil temperature by 1-2 °C compared to bare soil which exhibited greater fluctuation of temperature between 21.6 °C and 30.8 °C. Furthermore, unlike covered soil, bare soil increased penetration resistance and soil compaction hence decreasing N<sub>2</sub>O effluxes due to reduced gas diffusivity (Ball et al., 2008). On the other hand, Neue et al., (1997) reported maximum CH<sub>4</sub> flux with CT when the soil was saturated with water after a heavy rainfall event. This was attributed to anaerobic decomposition of SOM accentuated methanogenesis. Leip et al., (2002) also noted that the use of one or more brief drainage episodes during rice growing, or delaying flooding after sowing, produced a beneficial trade-off with reduced CH<sub>4</sub> emissions. This is because under high soil water filled pore space, anoxic conditions are created in the

subsurface and the diffusion of  $CH_4$  to methanotrophs bacteria is restricted (Ball et al., 1997). Though higher soil moisture leads to anaerobic conditions that promote N<sub>2</sub>O and CH<sub>4</sub> flux, adequate soil moisture will increase decomposition therefore high emissions of CO<sub>2</sub> will be experienced.

#### 2.5.5 Bulk density

Soil structural degradation, particularly through compaction, which is a common problem in poorly drained soil with fine texture, can adversely affect CH<sub>4</sub> consumption (Ball et al., 1999). This is because soil compaction increases bulk density and reduces soil pores, which in turn hinder fluxes of GHGs through impeding diffusion of air and movement of water. Soil bulk density has a strong negative correlation with N<sub>2</sub>O emission, because high bulk density intensifies accumulation of N<sub>2</sub>O in soil air reducing N<sub>2</sub>O diffusivity to the atmosphere. According to Hansen et al., (1993) in compacted soils, N<sub>2</sub>O concentrations in the soil air are significantly higher than in the non-compacted soils. This is because soil compaction reduces the total pore volume, thereby creating more anaerobic sites than in non-compacted soil (Sitaula et al, 2000). In parallel, Beare et al., (2009) found 2.3 times more CO<sub>2</sub> production under low bulk density than in high bulk density soil because of high total soil pore volume for aerobic oxidation. In addition, increased bulk density can prevent flow of CH4 in soil and enhance its retention which may improve its oxidation by methanotrophs (Smith et al., 2001) resulting in lower CH<sub>4</sub> emissions. Furthermore, Nazaries et al., (2011), discovered that the development of methanotrophic populations in the topsoil was negatively affected by tillage because of reduced soil moisture and temperature. Therefore NT soils with high soil moisture content may accumulate more methanotrophic organisms than CT and would experience more CH<sub>4</sub> sink than emissions.

# 2.6 Effect of tillage on biochemical processes in the soil

Research on conservation tillage (zero and minimum tillage) in farming systems has demonstrated an opportunity to increase SOC, microbial biomass C, total N, and extractable P due to accumulation of crop residues at the soil surface compared with CT (Mathers et al., 2007). According to Doran, (1980) the biological environment of soil is greatly modified by type and degree of tillage. NT resulted in a cooler and wetter environment for biological activity near the soil surface than CT (Doran et al., 1998). Consequently, biological activity and organic C reserves were also concentrated near the soil surface of NT and there was greater potential for immobilization of plant available N in organic forms (Doran et al., 1998). Although, potential exists for less aerobic microbial activity with NT, this is rarely expressed in a semi-arid environment.

In a study by Doran, (1987), soil microbial populations and enzyme activity were greater with NT, with the amount of potentially mineralizable N in the surface 7.5 cm depth being 35% greater than in CT soils, thereby indicating a greater conservation of N in organic forms. Many studies have examined the long-term (10 years or more) effects of tillage on soil microbial biomass and N mineralisation (Dalal et al., 1991), but less information is available on the temporal dynamics for more than one vegetation period (Franzluebbers et al., 1995). Obtaining knowledge of the magnitude of changes in microbial biomass and soil microbial processes is important to understand how tillage can be better managed to increase C and N sequestered into SOM to improve the long-term productivity of soil (Salinas-Garcia et al., 1997).

## 2.6.1 Impact of tillage on N mineralization

Tillage has huge influence on organic N mineralization as it facilitates decomposition by increasing porosity and faunal activity. Doran et al., (1998), observed that the levels of potentially mineralizable N (PMN) in the 0-15 cm depth of NT and minimally tilled soils were 20-39% and 12-33% greater, respectively than in CT. This was attributed to more OM in reduced till. Greater levels of PMN with reduced tillage reflected either greater immobilization or less mineralization compared with CT. On the same site the NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>-N concentrations of NT were 20-22% less than those in CT, reflecting differences in nitrifier and denitrifier populations, with greater denitrifier population in NT and possible immobilization. Figure 2.3 shows that a reduction in tillage intensity resulted in more N mineralisation at 0-10 cm depth, which may be attributed to higher microbial activity compared to CT (Kandeler et al., 1998). However a different trend was observed at 20-30 cm depth with CT having higher N mineralisation due to incorporation of organic material into the subsoil during tillage thus providing organic substrates to microbes at lower depth. Overally, the 0-10 cm depth had higher N mineralization than 20-30 cm in all three tillage systems which may be due to higher microbial activity and OM in the topsoil. According to Kandeler et al., (1998) soil organic N

was significantly greater with reduced tillage than CT, which could have masked differences in net mineralization of N among tillage practices.



Figure 2. 3: N mineralisation at two depths under minimum, reduced and conventional tillage between 1991 and 1997 (Kandeler et al., 1998).

# 2.6.2 Effect of tillage on P mineralization

The accumulation of crop residues in the surface soils of different tillage systems was reported to be closely related to plant available pools of inorganic P (Pi) and organic P (P<sub>o</sub>) (Bunemann et al., 2006). When comparing farming systems with widely differing P input–output budgets, changes in available Pi as well as P<sub>o</sub> have to be seen in relation to P budgets or changes in total P. Oehl et al., (2002) noticed that changes in available Pi and total P were positively related to the P budget in conservation and conventional farming systems. Extractable P in the 0-25 cm soil layer ranged from 68.0 to 89.6 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> in NT, and was 5.3 times higher than under CT (Bertol et al., 2007). The accumulation of crop residues in the soil surface of NT and low P mobility downwards also contributed to this response (Bertol et al., 2007). Dick, (1983) observed greater organic P concentration under NT in Wooster soil compared to MT and CT at 0-7.5 cm depth due to accumulation of residues (Figure 2.4). Whereas in the Hoytville soil profile, differences were only observed among the three tillage treatments in the 22.5-30 cm depth where the organic P in NT was lower than in MT or CT plots. Figure 2.4 indicates that unlike organic C and N, the greatest organic P concentrations under NT did not occur at the soil surface but in the soil increments between 2.5-15 cm depth. This may be due to movement of organic P compounds down the soil profile. Pinck et al., (1941) showed that organic P compounds are more mobile in the soil than inorganic P because they are sorbed less strongly to soil than inorganic P.

Bunemann et al., (2006), observed that soil P dynamics within the profile were affected by crop rotation, residue management and tillage giving changes in P<sub>0</sub> pools. Thus, cultivated soil would have less of the plant-available forms of soil P, less extractable and residual P due to exposure to microbial attack (Hedley et al., 1982). In a study by Andraski et al., (2003), longterm NT produced significantly higher concentrations of soil P in the surface 0-5 cm, whereas it decreased at 5–15 cm depth compared with CT. The accumulation of P in surface soil under NT was attributed to lack of physical disturbance and accumulation of residues (Selles et al., 1997). Furthermore, Andraski et al., (2003) discovered that the accumulation of labile P in the sub-surface under CT was probably due to the greater mineralisation of P<sub>0</sub> and incorporation of crop residues into the subsoil. P solubility also increased under conservation tillage, and this was attributed to greater microbial activity during the decomposition of SOM (Zibilske & Bradford, 2003). However, Bolland & Brennan, (2006) postulated that tillage practices which mix the topsoil such as CT would also mix previously applied P, and thus improve the availability of P to subsequent crops.



Figure 2. 4: Effect of tillage intensity on organic P concentrations at different soil depths (□, MT; ○, NT, and ●, CT) (Dick, 1983).

#### 2.6.3 Tillage influence on microbial activity

Generally NT increases microbial activity in the upper soil horizon but this decreases with increase in soil depth, contrary to CT. Janušauskaite et al., (2013), found decreasing bacterial and fungal populations under NT by 3.49% and 11.83% respectively, as well as decreasing enzyme activity at 10-20 cm compared with that at 0-10 cm. Angers et al., (1993) also found evidence of more biological activity in the upper soil layer of NT systems than at 10-20 cm. According to Doran et al., (1998), soil respiration was generally greater with NT at 0-10 cm compared with CT. This resulted from more optimal moisture for microbial activity and greater amounts of available substrate for microbial activity in NT compared with CT at this depth. Thus, microbial biomass and enzyme activity can be used as early indicators of changes in soil properties induced by tillage (Powlson et al., 1987).

#### 2.6.3.1 Microbial biomass

Unlike SOM, the influence of tillage may be detectable within short period of time using microbial biomass (Janušauskaite et al., 2013). This is because it responds to soil disturbances in a shorter period of time than those based on soil physical or chemical changes. Nitrifierdenitrifier populations and available N levels in soil were influenced by tillage practices set up 8-12 months earlier (Doran et al., 1998), with populations of nitrifiers in NT and sub-till soils ranging from 22-56% and 16-35% respectively, which was lower than in CT. Kruglov et al., (1979) attributed these lower nitrifier populations to reduced mixing of residues with soil and inhibition of nitrifiers by herbicides used in NT. However denitrifier populations tended to increase as degree of tillage was reduced (Doran et al., 1998). This was attributed to higher soil moisture of NT soils, which created anaerobic conditions that favoured greater denitrification rates compared with CT (Aulakh et al., 1992). Denitrification results in great loss of plant available NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>-N. Several studies found that in the surface layer, NT results in high microbial biomass (Franzluebbers et al., 1995), fungal and bacterial populations than CT (Govaerts et al., 2008). The opposite is true at lower horizons however as Janušauskaite et al., (2013), observed decreases in bacterial and fungal populations of NT subsoil by 25.5 and 22.7%, respectively. This was attributed to CT stimulating microbial growth due to uniformly distributed residues in the arable layer (Salinas-Garcia et al., 2002), and increased rate of oxygen supplied to soil microsites. Soils subjected to reduced tillage accumulate crop residues and organic C which are substrates for microorganisms near the surface (Kandeler & Böhm 1996). As a consequence, soil microbial biomass and various soil microbial processes tend to increase in surface soils after a change from CT to NT.

Kandeler et al., (1998), discovered that NT provided an environment for soil microorganisms which was characterised by slightly higher soil bulk density and reduced air circulation compared with CT. However in the long run (after 4 years of different tillage treatments), the microbial biomass and the rates of soil microbial processes increased in the conservation tillage treatments. This was due to accumulation of soil microbial biomass within the profile of conservation tillage, which is largely responsible for higher microbial activity near the soil surface compared with that of CT. However CT had increased microbial activity in the 20-30 cm soil layer. These results confirmed observations that organic material buried after ploughing is responsible for higher microbial activity in deeper soil layers of CT (Kandeler & Böhm,

1996). However, increased soil microbial populations stimulated by greater OM and water contents of NT, could compete with the crop for available N.

#### 2.6.3.2 Enzyme activity

Since soils managed through reduced tillage generally have more surface plant residues, higher moisture content, better structure and aggregation compared to CT soils, they will have higher enzyme activity (Janušauskaite et al., 2013). Jin et al., (2009) showed that throughout the growing season, soil enzyme activity responded to tillage, residue management and sampling time for urease and invertase, with increases in soil enzyme activity being associated with decrease in tillage intensity. Janušauskaite et al., (2013) also noticed that enzyme activity decreased with soil depth, especially urease by 5.13%. According to Doran et al., (1998) soil phosphatases are indices of the levels of activity of microbial populations, with greater microbial activity observed in the surface of NT compared with CT. Kandeler et al., (1999) observed a strong dependence of enzyme activity on SOC. However, Gianfreda et al., (2005) when investigating the activity of different enzymes in CT and NT soils, found that high SOC did not necessarily reflect corresponding increases of enzymatic activity. The higher enzyme activity, especially of urease in CT compared to NT was partially explained by a flush of microbial activity directly after tillage and residue incorporation as a result of an increase in substrate and oxygen availability (Kladivko, 2001). This effect was however temporary, as enzyme activity fell back to lower levels again at subsequent sampling stages (Jin et al., 2009). Kandeler et al., (1998) observed that phosphatase showed higher activity in reduced and minimum tillage treatments within the second year compared to CT. This may be attributed to shallow incorporation of residues in the top layer of minimum tillage (Saffigna et al., 1989), which induced higher enzyme production by soil microorganisms, and provided a higher surface area of particles to bind this enzyme.

# 2.7. Strategies for mitigating soil GHG emissions.

The way soils are managed can influence the flux of GHGs by changing one or more of the following: the soil climate (i.e., temperature and water content), the physical/chemical environment of the soil, and the amount and chemical composition of organic residues applied to soil (Gregorich et al., 2005). Changes in these variables control the rate and extent of

microbial processes, which in turn control the stabilization of C in soil and production of GHGs (Gregorich et al., 2006). Conservation agriculture, proper fertilizer management, good irrigation design, appropriate land use and management are few of the mitigatory strategies to reduce emissions of GHGs. Considerable emissions originate from soils, livestock, animal wastes, consumption of fossil fuels and production of fertilizers (Kramer et al., 1999). Thus practices such as NT, reduction of bare fallow and residue retention to land have proven to minimise GHGs emissions. However, any management option should maintain high crop yields, conserve diminishing natural resources, and minimize environmental damage (Lal, 2003).

According to Garnett, (2011) some sequestration activities can undermine agricultural production. If, for instance arable land is converted to grass or forestry for sequestering purposes, this may require more intensive cultivation in other areas to compensate for production losses. This could possibly trigger land clearance to grow food elsewhere, with possible GHG emissions in these new areas (Garnett, 2011). Again, applying more OM to one land at the expense of another results in zero net C gain, making C sequestration ineffective (Smith et al., 2007). Garnett, (2011) further emphasized that soil C sequestration occurs and the agricultural land may again become a net emitter. What is clear is that avoiding further soil C losses is as important as sequestering it (Garnett, 2011). It may be helpful to consider soil C sequestration as an outcome of good agricultural management rather than a primary goal (Kibblewhite et al., 2008).

To minimize N<sub>2</sub>O emissions from agricultural lands, N fertilizer application rates need to be controlled to meet plant needs since not all applied N can be taken up by plants (Ortel et al., 2016). Using controlled-release fertilizers or denitrification inhibitors prevents increased N<sub>2</sub>O losses (Shoji et al., 2001). In a study by Malhi et al., (2006), the amount of N lost through N<sub>2</sub>O-N emissions increased with N fertilization and was greater in CT. Gregorich et al., (2005) also recommended that solid manure was a better mitigation strategy for N<sub>2</sub>O loss compared to liquid manure. The lower N<sub>2</sub>O emission following application of solid manure may be gradual release of mineralized N to the soil solution resulting in the uptake of available N by growing plants, which precludes a large build-up of mineral N (Gregorich et al., 2006). Liquid manure also contains labile soluble organic C that can stimulate N<sub>2</sub>O production in areas where soil C availability limits denitrification.

Enteric fermentation emits high amounts of CH<sub>4</sub> and it should be well managed. Beauchemin and McGinn, (2005), explained that CH<sub>4</sub> emissions can be reduced by feeding livestock more concentrates in place of forages. Although concentrates may increase daily CH4 emissions, emissions per kilogram feed intake and per kilogram product are invariably reduced (Lovett et al., 2006). The net benefit, however, depends on reduced animal numbers or younger age slaughter for beef animals and on how the practice affects emissions of other GHGs especially CO<sub>2</sub> when producing and transporting the concentrates (Phetteplace et al., 2001). Other practices that can reduce CH<sub>4</sub> emissions include: adding oils to the animal diet (Jordan et al., 2004); improving pasture quality, especially in less developed regions, because it improves animal productivity and reduces the proportion of energy lost as CH4 (Alcock & Hegarty, 2011). Optimizing protein intake by animals also reduces N excretion and N<sub>2</sub>O emissions (Clark et al., 2005). A portion of CH<sub>4</sub> emitted to the atmosphere can be sequestered by aerobic soils (Stolze et al., 2000). Again land application of manure could significantly decrease the net CH<sub>4</sub> emitted to the atmosphere compared with stockpiling or long-term lagoon storage of manure. According to Chadwick et al., (2000) manure applied to pasture land did not appear to impact CH<sub>4</sub> emission. In contrast, net uptake of CH<sub>4</sub> by CT soils under corn amended with manure was reduced relative to soils without manure (Rochette & Cote, 2000).

The protection of existing peat-wetlands and restoration/creation of other wetlands to sequester C may be considered for C credits in the near future (Whiting & Chanton, 2001). These wetlands should be carefully designed to curtail the emission of CH<sub>4</sub> while sequestering soil C (Whiting & Chanton, 2001). This is because C fixation in flooded wetlands is strongly coupled to CH<sub>4</sub> production and emission to the atmosphere due to reducing conditions conducive for methanogens bacteria (Whiting & Chanton, 1993). Land use and its management also affect the production, fixation and emission of GHGs. Thus conversion of natural ecosystems to croplands often results in loss of soil organic C due to increased mineralization and lower C inputs (Carter et al., 1998). Land use (pasture, cropping, forest or plantation), soil type and management determines the overall GHGs balance of that landscape (Hall et al., 2004). In most cases, forests are important terrestrial C sinks (Dalal et al., 2008) but may also contribute considerably to global N<sub>2</sub>O emissions (Butterbach-Bahl & Kiese, 2005). Pastures can also support a large soil C store, but when forest systems are converted to pastures, there is often a decrease in soil organic C (Guo & Gifford, 2002). However, practicees such as afforestation of

agricultural land can be more beneficial to the net GHG balance of that landscape than a change in agricultural management, such as conversion from to NT (Jacinthe & Lal, 2004).

## 2.8. Conclusion

Agriculture has the potential to reduce its environmental footprint and offset GHG emissions. Efficient crop and animal production systems are required to achieve better crop productivity, soil C sequestration, and reduce GHG emissions. Enhancing crop yields is not incompatible with a reduction of agricultural inputs in many circumstances. To the contrary, careful and efficient management of nutrients and water by proper farming methods such as crop residue incorporation and less intensive tillage are critical to sustainable and increased agricultural output. Furthermore, it has been shown in several cases that yield gains alone do not necessarily preclude expansion of cropland, suggesting that intensification must be coupled with conservation and development efforts. Many farmers have to shift from CT to NT as it assists in mitigating GHGs. NT results in conservation of SOM and reduces loss of GHGs. NT also enhances high retention of nutrients and soil moisture thus facilitating higher microbial activity. Though NT will mostly have higher C and N content in the surface when compared to CT, the distribution with depth is poor due to accumulation of residues on the surface and lack of mixing with subsoil. Tillage with residue incorporation enhances mineralization of organic C, P and N, therefore CT increases cumulative inorganic P and N in soils. Thus, depending on soil type and climatic conditions, conservation agricultural systems can sequester CO<sub>2</sub>, enhance CH<sub>4</sub> consumption and reduce N<sub>2</sub>O emissions.

Practices such as afforestation lead to increased C sequestration through tree biomass growth. In addition, it decreases N<sub>2</sub>O emissions because of lower N inputs, compared to crop farming, and ensures tighter nutrient cycling. While management practices such as manure or crop residue incorporation instead of increased mineral fertilizer application would more efficiently mitigate GHG emissions from arable land. NT usually experiences wet and cool conditions which trigger denitrification processes that might induce N<sub>2</sub>O emissions. Though denitrification and nitrification are both controlled by availability of soil moisture, the major driver of these process are microbial biomass and enzyme activity, which are in turn controlled by tillage. Soil enzyme activity is mostly higher in NT than CT, especially in the upper soil due to availability of organic substrates. Thus the tillage type and soil depth are two important factors affecting soil microbial communities. Due to high soil C and N contents in the upper depth of NT, microbial populations and activity are higher when compared to CT. Whereas soil C and N are better distributed with depth under CT therefore increasing microbial activity in subsoils when compared to NT. Tillage also has a significant impact on the physicochemical characteristics of soil in the long-term, while its influence on biological soil properties is more immediate. Though NT is more effective at mitigating GHG emissions and improving soil quality than CT, its continuous practise using mechanisation increases penetration resistance, while reducing porosity and soil air circulation. Many researchers have tried to emphasize on both the benefits and detriments of NT and CT on GHGs emissions, hence more studies are needed to develop specific strategies to mitigate these while increasing crop production. Policies attempting to curb GHG emissions have to start at regional level then developed globally.

# **CHAPTER 3**

# CHANGES IN SELECTED SOIL PHYSICOCHEMICAL PROPERTIES UNDER DIFFERENT TILLAGE PRACTICES AND N FERTILIZER APPLICATION IN A DRY LAND MAIZE MONO-CROP

# 3.1 Introduction

The maintenance of optimum soil physical and chemical characteristics is integral to soil fertility management. This can be achieved through the application of mineral fertilizers, retaining crop residues to soil and reduced tillage. The improvement of physicochemical characteristics of soil would also lead to reduced erosion, improved soil water and nutrient retention as well as increased crop productivity. The high plant biomass produced by both retaining of residues and fertilizers results in increased returns of organic material to the soil in the form of decaying roots, litter and crop residues. However, threshold application must be determined to sustain soil quality, since excess fertilizer application may be detrimental to soil physicochemical properties. Land management practices such as tillage affect soil physicochemical and biological properties (Ishaq et al., 2002). Tillage-induced changes in these properties depend on antecedent soil properties, type of tillage, and climate (Rasmussen, 1999). Research has shown that crop residues under NT conserve soil moisture, maintain or increase OM and improve crop production (Halvorson et al., 2002). According to Lal, (1993) improper tillage such as CT leads to a range of degradative processes such as decline in soil structure, accelerated erosion, depletion of SOM and fertility, disruption in cycles of water, organic C and plant nutrients. Tillage, residue retention and N fertilization also influence aeration and available C and subsequently affects gaseous N loss (Baggs et al., 2003).

According to Malhi & Lemke, (2007), the benefits of NT and residue retention on crop yield is through conservation of soil moisture and improvement in soil properties (which is a slow process). Maurya, (1988) reported that NT could increase bulk density as a result of soil compaction. Contrary, Ishaq et al., (2002) reported no significant effect of tillage method on soil bulk density which was due to soil type of sandy clay loam in texture, less organic material and short duration of experiment. Unger, (1984) also did not observe a significant effect of tillage on soil bulk density. Hamblin, (1986) reported that tillage increased total porosity by increasing the number of pores and pore size distribution. These contradictory findings by researchers may be attributed to different climatic conditions, soil types, cropping and experiment duration. Malhi & Lemke, (2007) demonstrated that NT enhanced soil C storage and soil aggregation.

CT practices involving soil turnover usually decrease SOC concentration (Balesdent et al., 2000). Franzluebbers & Hons, (1996) reported that soil under NT had greater micronutrient concentrations in the 0-5 cm layer than with CT. Malhi & Lemke, (2007) observed that after 8 seasons, tillage had no significant effect on total organic C and N in the top 15 cm of soil. However, Halvorson et al., (2002) observed substantial increase of total organic C in soil under NT compared to CT. Malhi & Lemke, (2007) argued that the build-up of OM is a slow process and it takes many years to accumulate significant amounts of total organic C and N. Lal et al., (1990) reported higher concentrations of OM in the surface layer with NT compared to CT soils. Higher OM under NT would enhance soil nutrients thus indirect improving soil physicochemical properties. According to Ishaq et al., (2002) tillage did not affect soil properties while fertilizer application significantly improved soil chemical properties.

Increase in N fertilization has generated concern about its possible negative influence on soil properties, particularly when long-term use of NH4<sup>+</sup> is involved (Stone et al., 1991). Addition of fertilizers to soil will influence the chemical composition of soil solution pH, ionic strength and ionic composition which in turn can induce dispersion or flocculation of clay particles and thus affect soil aggregation (Haynes & Naidu, 1998). Application of N fertilizers has sometimes been shown to have an adverse effect on soil aggregation (Haynes & Naidu, 1998). This is because when NH4<sup>+</sup> ion accumulates in soils in large amounts, it can become a dominant exchangeable cation, and like Na<sup>+</sup>, it favours dispersion of soil colloids. Chawla & Chabra, (1991) found that annual applications of N fertilizer resulted in increased infiltration rate, hydraulic conductivity and percent water stable aggregates, and decreased bulk density and water-dispersible silt or clay thus positively improving soil properties.

The effect of fertilizer application and tillage is also dependent on soil depth. According to Stone et al., (1991) in the upper 0-15 cm soil layer, N-fertilized plots had reduced pH, available P and exchangeable bases, but increased micronutrient concentration compared with the unfertilized plots. In the lower 21-29 cm soil layer, N-fertilization resulted in reduced pH and exchangeable Na compared with unfertilized plots, (Stone et al., 1991). Blevins et al., (1977) reported high exchangeable Ca and Al under NT than CT and they increased with increasing N. Further, soil pH in the 0-5 cm depth dropped from 5.2 to 4.1 when 330 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>year<sup>-1</sup> was

applied to NT for 5 years (Blevins et al., 1977). This was attributed to nitrification which caused soil acidification, increased extractable micronutrients (Fe, Cu, and Mn) and decreased available P as well as exchangeable bases.

The application of optimum fertilizer rates may lead to both crop and OM enhancement, which may directly or indirectly stimulate soil biological activity. This is because OM or fertilizer nutrients provide substrates (and energy) to microbes thus inducing microbial activity. The OM input and increased soil microbial or faunal activity will favour soil aggregation and increase soil porosity (Haynes & Naidu, 1998). Generally, increasing soil OM content characteristically leads to a decrease in bulk density or surface crusting, increased water holding capacity, macroporosity, infiltration capacity, hydraulic conductivity due to improved soil aggregation (Haynes & Naidu, 1998). Depending on the type of fertilizer, their application can have an effect on soil physicochemical properties and biological activities. Fertilizers such as phosphatic fertilizer can flocculate soil particles by acting as a cementing agent, but it can also disperse soil particles especially NH4<sup>+</sup> fertilizers such as (NH4)<sub>2</sub>SO4 and NH4NO3 (Haynes & Naidu, 1998). In semi-arid regions where conditions are torrid, it is necessary to make sure that there is exhaustive dissolving of fertilizer by adding water through supplementary irrigation. Henceforth the fertilizer threshold under irrigated conditions is different from that under dry land conditions when all other conditions are maintained constant. Many studies on tillage and N fertilization effects on soil properties have been under irrigation, crop rotation, annual and pasture cropping systems. Very few studies have explored the effect of these under dry land agriculture with mono-cropping, especially in South Africa. The aim of this study was to assess the effect of tillage and N fertilizer application on selected physicochemical soil properties under rain-fed maize mono-cropping.

# 3.2 Material and methods

The study was done in Loskop, KwaZulu Natal Province, South Africa, located at latitude 28°55'26.83" S and longitude 29°33'38.64" E. The trial was set up in 1990, and had been previously utilised for dryland maize-soybean rotation, under No-Till. As from the 2003/2004 season to date, the trial was changed to a dryland maize monocrop in summer with winter fallowing under zero tillage (NT), annual conventional till (CT-ANNUAL), and conventional tillage every 5th year (CT-Y5). However the experimental trial for the current study begun in February 2018 and was terminated in December 2019. Appendix A.1 depicts field experimental trial layout, while Figure 3.1, picture taken on the 5<sup>th</sup> year of CT-Y5, shows plants growing in

the different tillage systems. The soil was classified as Hutton (Soil Classification Working Group, 1991) with a clay loam texture. The area receives approximately 643 mm of rainfall per annum which occurs mostly during summer (November-January), and has mean average midday temperature ranging between 19.3 °C in June and 28 °C in January (Vilakazi, 2017).

The field trial was arranged as a randomized split plot design, with tillage forming whole plots and fertilizer application rates being sub-plots. In each treatment urea fertilizer was applied at four application rates of 0, 60, 120 and 240 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>. All tillage treatment were replicated in the experiment (Appendix A.1). Furthermore, the tillage technique was used as the blocking factor in the experimental trial. The NT was characterised by no soil disturbance (no ploughing) with crop residues from previous season left on the surface, while a planter was utilized for planting. CT-Y5 comprised leaving the soil unploughed for four years, then tilling every 5<sup>th</sup> year. Soil sampling in CT-Y5 was done in the 5<sup>th</sup> year. In CT-ANNUAL there was annual disturbance of soil by tilling using a tractor to a depth of 30 cm.



Figure 3. 1: Maize plants growing in no-till (NT), CT-ANNUAL (annual ploughing) and CT-Y5 at 120 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> of urea.

#### 3.2.1 Sampling procedure

Soil was sampled in year 2018 after harvest to avoid plant disturbance at three depths of 0-10, 10-20 and 20-30 cm. Sampling was done during the ploughing cycle of CT-Y5. Each tillage treatment had three tillage blocks sampled making nine blocks in total, with each block having four N fertilizer application rates which were all replicated three times. Therefore 108 samples were sampled for each tillage treatment thus making 324 samples altogether (3 tillage \* 4 application rates \* 9 blocks \* 3 replicates in each application rate). Collected soil samples were spread out to air dry under the shed, then gently crushed with a mortar to pass through a 2 mm sieve prior to analysis. Cores for bulk density were sampled using core sampler at three depth of 0-10, 10-20 and 20-30 cm.

#### **3.2.2 Laboratory Analyses**

## 3.2.2.1 pH and electrical conductivity (EC)

About 10 g of soil was weighed into a 50 mL beaker. Both distilled water and 1M KCI were used to determine pH at a ratio of 1: 2.5, (Diez et al., 2004). Samples were allowed to stand for 30 minutes with occasional stirring using glass rods. An electrode pH meter (PHM 210) was used to measure the pH of the supernatant liquid. The samples with water added were also used to measure electrical conductivity (EC) using an EC meter (CDM 210).

#### 3.2.2.2 Total N and Carbon

Total N and C were analyzed using LECO TruMac CNS/NS Carbon/Nitrogen/Sulfur Determinator (Leco Corporation, 2012). Air dried soil was passed through a 0.5 mm sieve, then a 0.2 g sample was put into the LECO for analysis of C and N. The procedure is based on dry combustion of air dried samples in crucibles, subjected to a 1450 °C furnace temperature for about 6 minutes. The C: N ratios of the soils were also calculated.

## 3.2.2.3 Exchangeable acidity

About 10 g of soil was weighed into a 100 mL plastic centrifuge tube, then 50 mL of 1M KCI was added before shaking for 4 minutes (Lourenzi et al., 2011). The sample was centrifuged for 2 minutes at 400 rpm, and the solution filtered with Whatman No 41 filter paper into a glass bottle. A 25 mL aliquot was extracted into a 100 mL conical flask, while another 25 mL of 1M

KCI only served as a blank. About 5 drops of phenolphthalein indicator were added to each sample then titrated with 0.01M NaOH until it remained pink for at least 30 seconds. The blank was titrated first following steps by Ndayegamiye and Cote, (1989). Exchangeable acidity was calculated in cmol<sub>c</sub>/kg using the formulae by (Smith & Hughes, 2002; Edwards & Duncan, 2009):

Exchangeable acidity 
$$(mg/L) = \frac{vNaOH * cNaOH}{vH +}$$

Exchangeable Acidity (cmol<sub>c</sub>/kg) = mg/L \* 
$$\frac{50 \, mL}{1000} * \frac{1000}{10g} * 1* 1000.$$

Where 50 mL is the volume of solution and 10 g is the mass of soil used.

#### 3.2.2.4 Exchangeable bases

Air dried soil (5 g) was weighed into a clean plastic bottle with a stopper then 100 mL of 1 M ammonium acetate (NH4OAc) solution (pH 7) was added. The contents were shaken for 30 minutes and filtered through Whatman No. 41 paper (Okaleb et al., 2002). According to Anderson & Ingram, (1993) this is the soil extract that was used for Na, K, Ca and Mg determinations. About 5 mL of soil extract was pipetted into a 50 mL volumetric flask then 1 mL of 26.8 % lanthanum chloride solution was added, and the contents were diluted (10 times) to the mark with 1M NH4OAc extraction solution (Okaleb et al., 2002; Anderson & Ingram, 1993). In the determination of Mg, the soil extract was diluted 25-fold. Then 5 mL of 5000 ppm strontium chloride was added into the soil extract and filled up to the mark with the 1 M NH4OAc extracting solution. All elements were analysed by an atomic absorption spectrophotometer (AAS 280 FS, fast sequential). The concentrations of Ca, Mg, K and Na in the soil sample were calculated in mg kg<sup>-1</sup> (Okaleb et al., 2002; Anderson & Ingram, 1993) then finally expressed in cmol<sub>c</sub>/kg:

mg kg<sup>-1</sup> K, Ca, Na and Mg in soil 
$$=\frac{(a-b)*v*f*1000}{1000*w}$$

Where a = concentration of K, Na, Ca, and Mg in the sample extract; b = concentration of analyte in the blank extract; v = volume of the extract; w = weight of the soil sample; f = dilution factor.

#### 3.2.2.5 Bulk density

The whole soil core was placed in a weighing boat and weighed. The weights of the boat and plastic bag were recorded as  $W_1$  and  $W_2$ , respectively.  $W_1$  and  $W_2$  were measured before sampling and after drying according to Blake, (1965). The samples were then dried in an oven at 105 °C, with the drying time varying with the amount of soil present. For larger cores, (7.62 cm diameter x 7.62 cm length), 72 hours was used, while for smaller cores 48 hours was required to dry; (Blake, 1965). The combined weight of the oven dry sample, boat and plastic bag were recorded as  $W_3$ .

Bulk density (kg m-3) =  $W_3$ - $W_1$ - $W_2$  / volume of cylinder

#### 3.2.2.6 Particle size distribution

Particle-size analysis was done using the sieve and double pipette method (Walter et al., 1978). Calgon solution was prepared with 35.7 g sodium hexamataphosphate and 7.9 g sodium carbonate in de-ionized water and was made-up to 1 L. Soil (50 g) was weighed into a 100 mL beaker and transferred to a stirrer cup then 50 mL of calgon solution (dispersing agent) was added. About 500 mL of distilled water was added and placed on a stirrer for 5 minutes. Dispersed samples were washed through the 0.053 mm sieve into 1 L measuring cylinder using distilled water. The soil fraction coarser than 0.053 mm was transferred into 250 mL beaker and dried in an oven at 105 °C overnight. This was the sand fraction, and it was transferred to a nest of sieves. Sieves were arranged in apertures of 0.500 mm, 0.250 mm, 0.106 mm and pan, and these were shaken for 5 minutes. The mass of empty sieves were firstly recorded accurately after which it was again recorded with the soil fraction. The clay and silt fraction were analyzed in the sedimentation column, using different settling times guided by the temperature of sedimentation (Walter et al., 1978). After the appropriate settling time, 20 mL each of fine silt was sampled at 100 mm and clay was sampled at 75 mm below the surface using a double pipette (Walter et al., 1978). Each pipetted soil suspension was placed into a pre-weighed 50 mL beaker and dried in an oven at 105 °C overnight. After 24 hours beakers were removed from the oven and allowed to cool in a desiccator and re-weighed. Proportions of sand, silt and

clay were calculated and expressed as percentages of the total then used to determine soil textural class with a textural triangle.

#### 3.2.2.6 Soil moisture content

Freshly sampled field-moist soils (10.0 g) were weighed and dried overnight at 105 °C in an oven, after which the oven-dry samples were weighed to determine dry mass (van Reeuwijk, 2002). Moisture content was calculated using the formula by van Reeuwijk, (2002):

Moisture  $(wt\%) = \frac{wet \ soil \ weight - oven \ dry \ soil \ weight}{oven \ dry \ soil \ weight} (100)$ 

Furthermore the moisture correction factor was calculated using the formula:

Moisture correction factor= $\frac{100 + \% Moisture}{100}$ 

#### 3.2.3 Statistical analyses

An analysis of variance (ANOVA) test was done to determine the effect of tillage and fertilizer application on soil physicochemical properties. Treatment factors were tillage practice, N fertilizer application rate and soil depth. The Fisher's protected LSD test was used as a posthoc test to compare treatment means and their interactions at p < 0.05. All tests were performed with GenStat 14.1 for Windows software (VSN international, 2011).

# 3.3 Results

## 3.3.1 Soil properties at 0-10 cm depth.

At the 0-10 cm depth, the soil texture of all treatments was clay loam (Table 3.1). The bulk density of NT and CT-ANNUAL was higher (1294 and 1529 kg m<sup>-3</sup>, respectively), than that of CT-Y5 (940 kg m<sup>-3</sup>) in the control (p<0.05). Soil moisture content was highest at 0-10 cm depths in NT at all application rates serve for 240 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>, while it was highest in CT-ANNUAL at this application rate (p < 0.05). The 240 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> rate at 0-10 cm had the lowest (p<0.05) soil moisture content under all tillage techniques (Table 3.1). In the case of bases, NT had the highest while CT-Y5 mostly had the lowest concentration of exchangeable bases than other tillage treatments at all N application rates, while the control had highest base concentrations across all tillage treatments than the other N rates (p<0.05). Exchangeable acidity was highest under CT-Y5 at 240 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> (3.9 cmol<sub>c</sub>/kg), while it did not differ in all the other treatments (p<0.05). NT at 0 and 60 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> had higher electrical conductivity (172.9 mS m<sup>-1</sup> and 130.6 mS m<sup>-1</sup> respectively), than all other treatments (p<0.05). However, at higher application rates of 120 and 240 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>, CT-ANNUAL had the highest EC, (93.9 and 72.5 mS m<sup>-1</sup>, respectively), (p<0.05). Soil pH was highest at 60 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> in NT (6.4 pH<sub>water</sub>), while it was lower in CT-Y5 at 240 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> (4.4.pH<sub>water</sub>), (p<0.05). Meanwhile at 120 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> CT-ANNUAL had the highest C: N ratio (p<0.05) than NT in 0-10 cm depth (Table 3.1).

Rates	Tillage	pHw	рН <sub>КСІ</sub>	EC	Acidity	Bases	C:N	Soil	<b>Bulk Density</b>	Textural
(ka N ha <sup>-1</sup> )				(mSm <sup>-1</sup> )	(cmolckg <sup>-1</sup> )	(cmol <sub>c</sub> kg <sup>-1</sup> )		moisture	(kg m <sup>-3</sup> )	Class
								(%)		
0	NT	5.6 <sup>bc</sup>	4.7 <sup>bcd</sup>	172.9 <sup>d</sup>	0.1ª	13.9 <sup>g</sup>	18.3ª	17.7 <sup>fg</sup>	1294 <sup>abc</sup>	Clay Loam
	CT-Y5	6.0 <sup>bc</sup>	4.7 <sup>bcd</sup>	32.9 <sup>ab</sup>	0.1ª	5.1 <sup>bc</sup>	40.4 <sup>ab</sup>	16.5 <sup>efg</sup>	940 <sup>a</sup>	Clay Loam
	CT-A	6.3°	5.2 <sup>cd</sup>	69.5 <sup>abc</sup>	0.3ª	7.4 <sup>cde</sup>	32.7 <sup>ab</sup>	14.0 <sup>cd</sup>	1529 <sup>bc</sup>	Clay Loam
60	NT	6.4°	5.31 <sup>d</sup>	130.6 <sup>cd</sup>	0.1ª	11.4 <sup>f</sup>	16.5ª	17.4 <sup>fg</sup>	1448 <sup>abc</sup>	Clay Loam
	CT-Y5	6.0 <sup>bc</sup>	4.7 <sup>bcd</sup>	56.8 <sup>abc</sup>	0.1ª	5.8 <sup>bcd</sup>	22.3ª	15.4 <sup>de</sup>	1846°	Clay Loam
	CT-A	5.9 <sup>bc</sup>	4.60 <sup>bcd</sup>	39.8 <sup>ab</sup>	0.3ª	5.0 <sup>b</sup>	27.9 <sup>ab</sup>	14.9 <sup>cde</sup>	1307 <sup>abc</sup>	Clay Loam
120	NT	6.3°	4.7 <sup>bcd</sup>	19.2ª	0.1ª	8.5 <sup>e</sup>	19.7ª	15.8 <sup>ef</sup>	1360 <sup>abc</sup>	Clay Loam
	CT-Y5	5.4 <sup>b</sup>	4.6 <sup>bcd</sup>	32.6 <sup>ab</sup>	0.1ª	4.6 <sup>b</sup>	32.5 <sup>ab</sup>	18.3 <sup>g</sup>	1422 <sup>abc</sup>	Clay Loam
	СТ-А	6.4°	5.2 <sup>cd</sup>	93.9 <sup>bc</sup>	0.1ª	6.8 <sup>bcde</sup>	51.2 <sup>b</sup>	15.2d <sup>e</sup>	1339 <sup>abc</sup>	Clay Loam
240	NT	5.4 <sup>b</sup>	4.3 <sup>abc</sup>	43.6 <sup>ab</sup>	0.1ª	8.0 <sup>de</sup>	17.8a	11.9 <sup>ab</sup>	1398 <sup>abc</sup>	Clay Loam
	CT-Y5	4.4 <sup>a</sup>	3.4ª	24.0 <sup>ab</sup>	3.9 <sup>b</sup>	0.7ª	24.8 <sup>a</sup>	10.9ª	1338 <sup>abc</sup>	Clay Loam
	CT-A	5.9 <sup>bc</sup>	4.2 <sup>ab</sup>	72.5 <sup>abc</sup>	0.2ª	4.8 <sup>b</sup>	36.4 <sup>ab</sup>	13.1 <sup>bc</sup>	1187 <sup>ab</sup>	Clay Loam

Table 3. 1: Soil characteristics under different tillage systems and fertilizer application rates at 0-10 cm depth.

Rates- different UREA fertilizer application rates; NT-Zero tillage; CT-Y5-Ploughing on the 5th year; CT-A-plounging annual; EC-Electrical conductivity; Similar letters on the same columnar there is no significance

(P<0.05) whereas different letters indicates significant difference (P<0.05).

#### 3.3.2 Soil properties at 10-20 cm depth

All the treatments at 10-20 cm soil depth had a clay loam soil texture (Table 3.2). On the other hand, NT had higher bulk density than the other tillage treatments in the control and at 240 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>, (p<0.05). In the control and at 120 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>, CT-Y5 had higher soil moisture, (about 17.0 % in both), while NT in the control had the lowest soil moisture than other tillage treatments (p<0.05,). The C: N ratio however was highest in NT at 240 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> (p<0.05) while it did not significantly differ in all the other treatments at 10-20 cm soil depth (Table 3.2). However, NT had the highest amount of exchangeable bases in all treatments, while CT-Y5 had a lower base concentration than the other tillage treatments at most N application rates (p<0.05). The exchangeable acidity on the other hand was highest in CT-ANNUAL (1.0 cmol<sub>c</sub>/kg) at 120 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> (p<0.05), while it did not significantly differ in all the other treatments (Table 3.2). NT had the highest EC in the control (124.1 mS m<sup>-1</sup>) and at 120 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> (199.5 mS m<sup>-1</sup>), while CT-Y5 had lower EC at these same application rates (p<0.05). Soil pH was lowest in CT-ANNUAL at 120 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> (p<0.05), while it did not significantly differ in all the other treatments (Table 3.2).

Rates	Tillage	рН <sub>w</sub>	рНксі	EC	Acidity	Bases	C:N	Soil	Bulk	Textural
(kơ N hạ <sup>-1</sup> )				(mSm <sup>-1</sup> )	(cmolckg <sup>-1</sup> )	(cmol.kg <sup>-1</sup> )		moisture	Density	Class
(ng 1 m )						(emoting)		(%)	(kg m <sup>-3</sup> )	
0	NT	6.4 <sup>bc</sup>	5.1 <sup>bc</sup>	124.1 <sup>bc</sup>	0.1ª	7.8 <sup>bcd</sup>	24.2ª	11.4ª	1860 <sup>b</sup>	Clay Loam
	CT-Y5	6.1 <sup>bc</sup>	4.72 <sup>abc</sup>	46.5ª	0.2ª	5.0 <sup>abc</sup>	35.4 <sup>a</sup>	17.0 <sup>b</sup>	1416 <sup>ab</sup>	Clay Loam
	СТ-А	6.4 <sup>bc</sup>	5.2 <sup>bc</sup>	88.7 <sup>ab</sup>	0.3ª	7.2 <sup>bcd</sup>	32.2 <sup>a</sup>	13.2 <sup>ab</sup>	1772 <sup>ab</sup>	Clay Loam
60	NT	6.4 <sup>bc</sup>	5.3 <sup>bc</sup>	48.1 <sup>ab</sup>	0.1ª	9.1 <sup>d</sup>	25.2 <sup>a</sup>	16.3 <sup>b</sup>	1560 <sup>ab</sup>	Clay Loam
	CT-Y5	6.4 <sup>bc</sup>	5.2 <sup>b</sup>	81.7 <sup>ab</sup>	0.1ª	8.4 <sup>cd</sup>	28.0 <sup>a</sup>	16.0 <sup>ab</sup>	1626 <sup>ab</sup>	Clay Loam
	СТ-А	5.8 <sup>bc</sup>	4.6 <sup>abc</sup>	103.9 <sup>ab</sup>	0.1ª	6.5 <sup>abcd</sup>	35.1ª	14.9 <sup>ab</sup>	1704 <sup>ab</sup>	Clay Loam
120	NT	6.2 <sup>bc</sup>	5.0 <sup>bc</sup>	199.5°	0.1ª	7.3 <sup>bcd</sup>	25.3 <sup>a</sup>	15.4 <sup>ab</sup>	1633 <sup>ab</sup>	Clay Loam
	CT-Y5	5.7 <sup>bc</sup>	4.6 <sup>abc</sup>	38.1ª	0.1ª	4.9 <sup>ab</sup>	31.0 <sup>a</sup>	16.8 <sup>b</sup>	1663 <sup>ab</sup>	Clay Loam
	СТ-А	4.8 <sup>a</sup>	3.9ª	45.1ª	1.0 <sup>b</sup>	5.1 <sup>abc</sup>	26.8ª	15.3 <sup>ab</sup>	1526 <sup>ab</sup>	Clay Loam
240	NT	6.3 <sup>bc</sup>	5.3 <sup>bc</sup>	68.0 <sup>ab</sup>	0.1ª	7.8 <sup>bcd</sup>	80.8 <sup>b</sup>	14.0 <sup>ab</sup>	1706 <sup>ab</sup>	Clay Loam
	CT-Y5	5.6 <sup>ab</sup>	4.4 <sup>ab</sup>	63.7 <sup>ab</sup>	0.2ª	3.3ª	34.0 <sup>a</sup>	15.3 <sup>ab</sup>	1343ª	Clay Loam
	СТ-А	5.9 <sup>bc</sup>	4.8 <sup>bc</sup>	51.3 <sup>ab</sup>	0.1ª	5.8 <sup>abcd</sup>	35.9ª	13.7 <sup>ab</sup>	1415 <sup>ab</sup>	Clay Loam

Table 3. 2: Soil characteristics under different tillage systems and fertilizer application rates at 10-20 cm depth.

Rates- different UREA fertilizer application rates; NT-Zero tillage; CT-Y5-Ploughing on the 5th year; CT-A-plounging annual; EC-Electrical conductivity; Similar letters on the same columnar there is no

significance (P<0.05) whereas different letters indicatessignificant difference (P<0.05).

## 3.3.3 Soil properties at 20-30 cm depth

Soil moisture was also highest in NT in the control and at 60 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>, while at 120 and 240 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>, it was highest in CT-Y5, (p<0.05). Exchangeable bases were highest at 60 N ha<sup>-1</sup> in NT (6.45 cmol<sub>c</sub>/kg) and CT-ANNUAL (6.11 cmol<sub>c</sub>/kg) treatements, while they were lowest in all CT-Y5 treatments (p<0.05). Table 3.3 shows that exchangeable acidity was highest in NT and CT-ANNUAL in the control as well as in CT-ANNUAL at 120 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>, while it was lowest in NT at 120 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> than all the other treatments (p<0.05). Soil pH<sub>water</sub> was highest in NT (6.46) at 60 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> compared to CT-ANNUAL (5.15) at 120 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> (p<0.05).

Rates	Tillage	pHw	рНксі	EC	Acidity	Bases	C:N	Soil	Bulk	Textural
(kg N ha <sup>-1</sup> )				(mSm <sup>-1</sup> )	(cmol <sub>c</sub> kg <sup>-1</sup> )	(cmol <sub>c</sub> kg <sup>-1</sup> )		moisture	Density	Class
								(%)	(kg m <sup>-3</sup> )	
0	NT	5.3 <sup>ab</sup>	4.1 <sup>ab</sup>	76.1ª	1.0 <sup>f</sup>	4.3 <sup>abcde</sup>	60.5ª	17.4 <sup>d</sup>	1918 <sup>ab</sup>	Clay Loam
	CT-Y5	5.5 <sup>abc</sup>	4.3°	38.5ª	0.3 <sup>abcd</sup>	3.6 <sup>abcd</sup>	46.4ª	16.6 <sup>cd</sup>	1762 <sup>ab</sup>	Clay Loam
	CT-A	5.9 <sup>abcd</sup>	4.6 <sup>d</sup>	139.2ª	0.9 <sup>ef</sup>	4.7 <sup>bcde</sup>	57.8ª	16.6 <sup>cd</sup>	1602 <sup>ab</sup>	Clay Loam
60	NT	6.5 <sup>d</sup>	5.0 <sup>f</sup>	39.9ª	0.1ª	6.5 <sup>e</sup>	27.8ª	16.6 <sup>cd</sup>	1994 <sup>b</sup>	Clay Loam
	CT-Y5	5.6 <sup>abc</sup>	4.3°	62.5ª	$0.4^{bcd}$	2.8 <sup>ab</sup>	33.3ª	15.2 <sup>abc</sup>	1779 <sup>ab</sup>	Clay Loam
	СТ-А	5.6 <sup>abc</sup>	4.7 <sup>e</sup>	44.4 <sup>a</sup>	$0.4^{bcd}$	6.1 <sup>e</sup>	50.6 <sup>a</sup>	15.6 <sup>bcd</sup>	1734 <sup>ab</sup>	Clay Loam
120	NT	5.9 <sup>bcd</sup>	4.9 <sup>e</sup>	72.8ª	0.1ª	5.8 <sup>de</sup>	24.1ª	15.5 <sup>abcd</sup>	1878 <sup>ab</sup>	Clay Loam
	CT-Y5	5.3 <sup>ab</sup>	3.9ª	38.2ª	0.6 <sup>de</sup>	1.9ª	77.2ª	16.7 <sup>cd</sup>	1516 <sup>a</sup>	Clay Loam
	СТ-А	5.2ª	4.2 <sup>bc</sup>	47.8ª	0.9 <sup>ef</sup>	2.9 <sup>ab</sup>	81.4ª	15.3 <sup>abc</sup>	1523ª	Clay Loam
240	NT	5.5 <sup>abc</sup>	4.6 <sup>d</sup>	85.9ª	0.1ª	5.3 <sup>cde</sup>	104.3ª	13.6 <sup>a</sup>	1746 <sup>ab</sup>	Clay Loam
	CT-Y5	5.3 <sup>abc</sup>	4.3°	41.2ª	0.5 <sup>cde</sup>	2.3ª	37.1ª	15.7 <sup>bcd</sup>	1648 <sup>ab</sup>	Clay Loam
	СТ-А	6.1 <sup>bcd</sup>	5.0 <sup>f</sup>	136.7ª	0.1ª	3.2 <sup>abc</sup>	73.0ª	13.8 <sup>ab</sup>	1737 <sup>ab</sup>	Clay Loam
		1								

Table 3. 3: Soil characteristics under different tillage systems and fertilizer application rates at 20-30 cm depth.

Rates- different UREA fertilizer application rates; NT-Zero tillage; CT-Y5-Ploughing on the 5th year; CT-A-plounging annual; EC-Electrical conductivity; Similar letters on the same

columnar there is no significance (P<0.05) whereas different letters indicates significant difference (P<0.05).

# **3.4. Discussion**

The soil texture in all treatments was clay loam. This is attributed to the fact that texture is an inherent soil property that does not change much. However, in a study by Tollner et al., (1984), CT produced a texturally homogeneous soil on a sandy loam only in the upper soil, while NT preserved the soil's texture in the whole profile. Soil texture affects aggregation of particles and pore-size distribution, ultimately controlling microbial activity and organic matter mineralization in surface soil layers (Six et al., 2004). Thus aggregates are less vulnerable to breakdown when the soil has higher amounts of clay (Edwards & Bremner, 1967) and/or SOM (Lehrsch et al., 1991). Lehrsch, (1998) observed the highest macro aggregate stability and pore size distribution in the soil with highest clay than sand content. According to Hill, (1990), the changes in soil physical properties as a result of shifting from mouldboard ploughing to conservation tillage might be expected to develop slowly after the initiation of conservation tillage. In the present study tillage, fertilizer application and soil depth significantly affected bulk density, soil moisture, bases, exchangeable acidity and pH. Thus soil bulk density generally increased with depth in most treatments. Higher bulk density values are normally expected at lower layers of the soil profile due to the overburden pressure of the upper layer (Bronick & Lal, 2005). Hill, (1990) also observed similar increases of bulk density with increasing depth for NT, while the opposite was true for CT, and this was attributed to higher soil strength for NT compared to CT.

Low soil bulk density under CT-Y5 treatment in 0-10 cm depth may be attributed to the increase of OM. Unlike NT and CT-ANNUAL which may have high penetration resistance and less organic material accumulation, respectively, in CT-Y5 there was incorporation of plant residues during tillage on the 5th year hence soil physical characteristics improves. Bulk density of the soil in NT may increase due to the repeated passes of planters and the lack of the loosening action of tillage (Lampurlane' s & Cantero-Marti'nez, 2003). Hill, (1990) also reported that continuous conservation tillage may increase bulk density under CT-Y5 at 0-10 cm depth was lower in the control treatment compared to fertilized treatment. This concurs with the findings of Celik et al., (2010) where mineral fertilizer application resulted in greater bulk density than that of unfertilized soil because fertilizers can cement soil particles. Low bulk density under CT-Y5 maybe attributed to organic components which have a dilution effect in

lowering bulk density. The mixing of organic materials with more dense mineral fractions of soils causes a decrease in bulk density (Bronick & Lal, 2005). The increase in OM content results in greater total porosity and lowers soil bulk density (Tejada et al., 2008). The bulk density results of this experiment are similar to other findings where bulk density of sub-surface layers of 10-20 and 20-30 cm soil depths of NT were higher compared to CT in some treatments (Yang & Kay, 2001). According to Varsa et al., (1997) bulk density was greatly reduced in deep tilled plots compared with NT treatments due to diminishing of penetration resistance.

According to Celik et al., (2010) since organic materials have low bulk density and higher porosity, addition of OM to soil through residue incorporation improves soil physical properties. Again fertilizer application may induce mineralization of OM and subsequently acidification of soil thus higher fertilizer application rates may result in acidic soils with less cationic bases. The bases under NT and exchangeable acidity under CT-Y5, in Table 3.1, decrease and increase, respectively, with the increase in fertilizer application. High mineralization of OM leads to lower bases and higher exchangeable acidity because OM servers as the reservoir for plant nutrients. Contrary, Celik et al., (2010) observed that OM in the 0-15 cm depth slightly increased with mineral fertilizer application as compared to the control, due to increased plant biomass production with the addition of plant nutrition. OM addition in the soil is a favourable way of improving soil properties by providing a favourable soil structure, enhancing soil cation exchange capacity, increasing the quantity and availability of plant nutrients, and providing the substrate for microbial activities (Miransari, 2011).

Residue accumulation under NT increased soil moisture content, which is in association with improved pore spaces and reduced water evaporation from the soil surface. NT in the control and at 60 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>, as well as CT-Y5 in the control and at 120 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> had higher soil moisture in the 0-10 cm soil depth. Both NT and CT-Y5 had residue cover, which encourages infiltration thus reducing runoff and evaporation from the soil surface. NT, had greater soil water storage (by reducing run-off and evapotranspiration, and consequently leaving more water in soil for plant use) relative to CT due to crop residue retention (Malhi & Lemke, 2007). The highest fertilizer application rate (240 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>), had the lowest soil moisture in all tillage treatments at 0-10 cm soil depth. High soil moisture content in the control treatment compared to fertilized treatments may be due to better crop biomass under fertilized treatments which extract more water for its biochemical processes. High fertilizer application rates result in high

exchangeable acidity and low bases which may have a detrimental effect on crop productivity. Research has shown that crop residue under NT, conserve soil moisture, maintain or increase OM and improve crop production (Halvorson et al., 2002). A similar trend was observed in the 20-30 cm soil depth under NT treatment, where soil moisture decreased with increasing fertilizer application rate. According to Malhi & Lemke, (2007) root mass and straw yield increases with the first and second increment of 40 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>, this indicated that the major response of straw and root mass parameters to applied N was with the initial increment rate. This elucidate high soil moisture retention in the current study which can be due to increased crop residue retention under low N application rates. Furthermore, NT can increase water storage replenishment of deeper layers compared with CT (Bonfil et al., 1999), which was observed between NT and CT-ANNUAL in the present study in 20-30 cm depth. Unlike CT-ANNUAL, soil moisture of CT-Y5 at 0 and 240 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> in 10-20 cm, and CT-Y5 at 240 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> in 20-30 were higher than NT. This agrees with the findings of Malhi et al., (2006) which shown that minimum tillage and retaining straw often improved the capacity of soil to store water. Gantzer & Blacke, (1978) reported an increase of earthworm population and biochannels in NT system compared with CT, resulting in higher infiltration of water. Continuous practise of NT may have a detrimental effect on soil infiltration however, as penetration resistance might increase. Hence tilling after few seasons may enhance great soil moisture content as was the case under CT-Y5 at higher N rates.

N fertilizers have generally been known to progressively acidify soil especially where N sources are eventually nitrified in the soil subsequently soil acidity develop. There was a general decrease in pH and bases with the increase in fertilizer application rate and depth. This was similar to the findings by Matowo et al., 1997) who observe that bases decreased as the N rate increased for samples from 5-25 cm depth, which was likely a result of increased crop uptake. The higher concentration of bases of NT at 0-10 cm, may be attributed to the accumulation of residue, less soil disturbance and less decomposition of organic material. Ismail et al., (1994) also found decreases in soil pH as N rate increased for soil samples collected down to 30 cm in NT and CT which was attributed to nitrification of NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> fertilizer. Similarly, CT-Y5 at 240 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> in 0-10 cm had significant higher exchangeable acidity than other treatments. CT-Y5 at higher fertilizer application rate may have stimulated mineralization and translocation of bases, due to availability of crop residues, thus in the process increasing exchangeable acidity and lowering pH. According to Matowo et al., (1999) lack of incoporating

fertilizer and crop residue under NT may have caused significant difference of bases with minimum tillage, in this instance CT-Y5. This is likely to reflect incoporation of the fertilizer and subsequent acidification of the soil layers near the surface under minimum tillage as compared to NT where no such mixing occurs (Matowo et al., 1999).

Higher fertilizer rates under CT-Y5 intensify crop residue decomposition, depleting base concentration at 0-10 cm. Decomposition increases aluminium saturation thus decreasing pH (van Breemen et al., 1983). The pH decreases with increasing N rates because of the acidity produced from nitrification (Ismail et al., 1994). High exchangeable acidity and low pH under CT-Y5 at 240 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> in 0-10 cm depth may be attributed to decomposition of residues during ploughing which subsequently releases organic acids. CT-ANNUAL at 10-20 cm depth and 120 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> had the highest exchangeable acidity and lowest pH. This may be attributed to ploughing and supply of optimum fertilizer of 120 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> compared to lower rates (0 and 60 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>) and higher rate (240 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>) for microbes to function well, therefore intensification of nitrification. Meta-analyses by Lu et al., (2011) suggest that both decreasing and increasing N inputs suppress soil microorganisms. When urea fertilizer is applied at high rates can inhibit soil microorganisms due to toxicity of ammonia, decreases in pH and increases in ionic strength (Omar & Ismail, 1999), which is similar to the trend of the current results. Barabasz et al., (2002) reported that mineral N fertilization at rates exceeding 120 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> reduced the number of bacteria by 50% on average and complete eradication of bacterial function. Contrary, Lupwayi et al., (2011) reported that application of 120 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>, tended to decrease microbial biomass and functional diversity.

According to Blevins et al., (1977) ploughing aerates the soil causing oxidation of OM thus releasing  $H^+$  ions. Whereas, Matowo et al., (1999) observed that the effects of N rate diminished with depth for both NT and CT treatments, with the greatest decreases in pH at 10-15 cm for CT and at 15-20 cm for NT. These corresponded to the zone with the lowest extractable bases, suggesting that the zone of maximum root activity was slightly deeper for NT than CT (Matowo et al., 1999). Tillage and N fertilization is associated with a decrease in soil pH and depletion of bases in the current study. Lower soil pH under CT-Y5 especially at 0-10 cm depth may be attributed to the formation of organic acids during decomposition of organic material, nitrification of NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> fertilizer and mineralization of crop residues (Ismail et al., 1994). At the 0-10 cm depth, EC was higher in NT in the control and at 60 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>

compared to higher N application rates. EC trend is similar to soil moisture on the surface whereas on lower depth the trend is different with soil moisture. This may be due to high concentration of soluble ions on the surface which water can not all dilute because of abundance of organic compunds, whereas at 10-20 cm depth soluble ions were diluted by water. Adviento-Borbe et al., (2006) reported that application of high amounts of fertilizers may cause an accumulation of soluble salts in agricultural soils. In the 10-20 cm depth EC of all the application rates, except for 240 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>, had an inverse concentration with soil moisture content. This concurs with the findings of Adviento-Borbe et al., (2006) that soil water content influences soil EC through the concentration of dissolved ions in the soil, when soil water content is high, dissolved ions (solutes) are diluted; when soil water content is low, dissolved ions are concentrated. Also significant lower EC under CT-ANNUAL compared to NT at both the control and 60 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> in 0-10 cm may be attributed to the increase in drainage due to ploughing therefore most of the salts may had leached to subsoil. According to Eigenberg et al., (2002) N fertilizers, unlike manure and composts, tended to have the lowest soil conductivity and least residual effect after application. Generally, soil EC becomes lower with NT due to increased water movement and higher soil aggregation (Dalal, 1989), these findings were contrary to the current study especially in the control treatment where CT-ANNUAL had lower EC at both 0-10 and 20-30 cm depth.

# 3.5 Conclusion

The soils in the area were from the same parent material and under the same climatic conditions, hence the similarity. The lower bulk density of CT-Y5 in the control at 0-10 and 10-20 cm depth than NT and CT-ANNUAL, may be due to incorporation and intensifying decomposition of crop residue during tillage after four season of omitting tillage. However, bulk density of CT-ANNUAL decreased with the increase of depth especially at 20-30 cm depth. Again, bulk density of CT-ANNUAL decreased with the increase of N fertilizer rates at both both 0-10 and 10-20 cm depth. This may be attributed to the incorporation of fertilizer with soil thus improving pore space which directly lowers bulk density. Mixing of organic material with soil during ploughing might have played a salient role in lowering bulk density under CT-Y5 at 0-10 and 10-20 cm depths and under CT-ANNUAL at 20-30 cm. The lack of soil loosening under NT increases bulk density, soil resistivity and penetration at 10-20 and 20-30
cm in some treatments. This may be attributed to continuous accumulation of residual load and use of heavy machineries in planting without loosening the soil.

Bases were higher under NT across all application rates and soil depths because of accumulation of crop residues. While the control treatment under NT had high soil moisture at all depths (except at 10-20 cm), than CT-Y5 and CT-ANNUAL which may be attributed to reduced miniralization of organic compounds compared to fertilized treatments henceforth it has better surface cover by crop residue which in turn reduces evaporation and increases infiltration. High rate of N fertilization mostly led to decrease in pH and reduction in bases. The pH decrease could be a result of acidification created during N fertilizer nitrification. Higher exchangeable acidity and low pH in 240 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> under CT-Y5 at 0-10 cm depth may be due to both decomposition of organic compounds during ploughing which realeses organic acids and nitrification of high amount of N fertilizer because of high quantity application. Further, higher exchangeable acidity and low pH in 10-20 cm depth under CT-ANNUAL is attributed to ploughing and incorporation of organic material to the subsoil. It is recommended to practise NT and apply an optimum fertilizer rate of 60 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> to avoid the depletion of soil physicochemical characteristics especially in the 0-10 cm depth. This is because soil moisture, bases, exchangeable acidity, EC and pH of this combination treatment (NT at 60 kg ha<sup>-1</sup>) had better results at 0-10 cm depth. However because of site-specificity, tillage and N fertilizer investigations need to be carried out under different soil and climatic conditions on a long-term basis.

### CHAPTER 4

# TILLAGE AND UREA FERTILIZER APPLICATION IMPACTS ON SOIL C FRACTIONS AND SEQUESTRATION

## 4.1 Introduction

Soil can function as a source or sink of atmospheric C, and may have an important role in decreasing the build-up of atmospheric GHGs, thereby aiding in mitigating global climate change (Johnson & Kern, 1991). Farming practices such as conservation tillage, which allow soil to be a sink of atmospheric C must be intensified on agricultural land. Intensive and continual ploughing have caused enormous losses of SOC and N pools as GHGs such as CO<sub>2</sub>, CH<sub>4</sub> and N<sub>2</sub>O to the atmosphere (Blanco-Canqui & Lal, 2008). It is estimated that as much as 60% of SOC in temperate and 75% in the tropical regions has been depleted by CT, contributing about 23% of the total GHGs concentration in the atmosphere (Lal, 2004). Tillage is generally considered to increase SOC mineralization due to the mechanical and rain-induced disruption of soil aggregates and the consequent release of CO<sub>2</sub> (Chenu et al., 2019). Therefore NT has been considered more suitable to maintaining SOC stocks compared with CT.

The results of recent global meta-analyses confirm that SOC stocks increase in the upper soil layers (0-15 or 0-20 cm) of NT, but has low to no effect on SOC stocks below the 30 cm depth (Haddaway et al., 2017; Meurer et al., 2018). Aguilera et al., (2013) suggested that NT practices resulted in net accumulation of C in the surface layers, while there was net loss in deeper layers. Therefore, shallow sampling under NT may imply an overestimation of SOC gains in those treatments, given that losses occurring at deeper soil layers are not accounted for. Unlike topsoil organic C which is prone to rapid perturbations and decomposition by increased near-surface microbial activity, and high fluctuations in soil temperature or moisture regimes, subsoil organic C is protected inside aggregates and has lower turnover rates (Lorenz & Lal, 2005). The amount of SOC stored in deeper layers is the most important fraction for long-term soil C sequestration (Blanco-Canqui & Lal, 2008). Thus Chenu et al., (2019) postulated that under NT, there may be additional SOC storage in superficial soil layers, but little to no SOC sequestration for the land unit if the whole soil profile is considered. This seems to be particularly the case in humid and temperate regions (Dimassi et al., 2014), as opposed to drier

semi-arid climates, where significant benefits of NT relative to CT are observed. Helgason et al., (2014) observed that under temperate and tropical climatic conditions the decomposition of C residues was the same whether the residues were incorporated or not, whereas under semi-arid conditions decomposition was greater when residues were incorporated than left on the surface. Dimassi et al., (2014) also showed that the response of SOC to NT is dependent on climate, in particular precipitation, with a greater response in drier conditions. This is because dry years allow C sequestration in NT system due to a greater reduction in SOC mineralization compared to CT (Dimassi et al., 2014). Therefore in dryland agriculture, especially in semi-arid regions of Sub-Saharan Africa, conservational tillage can be practised as low cost agriculture which will assist in soil C sequestration.

Carbon sequestration can be defined as increase in C storage in soil or plant material (Kern & Johnson, 1993). Whereas, the C sequestration potential of a given soil would be the maximum gain in SOC allowing a net removal of CO<sub>2</sub> from the atmosphere under a given climate and for a specified timeline (Chenu et al., 2019). Some argue that only very recalcitrant C should be regarded as sequestered C; however, soil C varies in degree of permanence (or in its residence time). Furthermore different C fractions such as particulate organic C (POC), microbial biomass C (MBC), soil organic C (SOC) and permanganate oxidizable C (POXC) have preference for various soil characteristics showing different residence time in the soil. The labile soil organic C fraction is a relatively small fraction of total C that has a short half-life, and responds quickly to changes in soil tillage and fertilization practices (Magdoff & Weil, 2004). It is an important component of soil quality because of its soil aggregate stabilization effect and direct link to soil C or N mineralization (Gunapala & Scow, 1998). An ability to predict or detect soil organic C changes at early stages of land-use or management is important to allow land managers to make informed decisions that reduce soil fertility decline, erosion, and GHG emissions (Skjemstad et al., 2006).

According to Chenu et al., (2019) increasing SOC stocks is not necessarily simple or even possible at all locations. Thus, it can be more difficult to increase C inputs at some places due to limited access to necessary resources such as fertilizer or water. In a meta-analysis of the effects of NT on SOC stocks, increased organic C inputs were the only factor explaining additional SOC storage under NT (Virto et al., 2012). Adding N fertilizer usually results in increased crop production, C inputs, and may therefore increase C sequestration in soils

(Hutchinson et al., 2007). Lu et al., (2011) observed a 3.48% relative increase of SOC stocks with N fertilization in agricultural soils in a meta-analysis with 340 paired observations. Little work has been documented on the labile C fractions of Sub-Saharan and South Africa to be specific, hence this work focused on C fractions under different management systems in a dryland maize monocrop in KwaZulu Natal, South Africa. The null hypothesis was that an increase in fertilizer application rate and minimisation of tillage will decrease soil C pools. The objectives of the study were to:

- 1. Assess the impact of different tillage techniques and fertilizer application on soil C fractions.
- 2. To assess impact of soil depth on C pools under different tillage systems.

## 4.2 Material and methods

The study site located in Loskop area, Figure 4.1, was described in detail in the previous chapter (Section 3.2).



Figure 4. 1: The experimental site at Loskop in Estcourt, KwaZulu Natal Province, South Africa.

## 4.2.1 Sampling procedure

The soil sampling procedure was described in detail in the previous chapter (Section 3.2.1).

## 4.2.2 Laboratory Analyses

## 4.2.2.1 Total carbon

Analysis of total C was described in detail in Chapter 3, Section 3.2.2.2.

#### 4.2.2.2 Soil organic carbon (SOC)

SOC was determined using the Walkey-Black method (van Reeuwijk, 2002). Finely grounded soil (1.0 g) was weighed into a 500 mL Erlenmeyer flask, and 10 mL of 0.167 M K<sub>2</sub>Cr<sub>2</sub>O<sub>7</sub> solution was added. The flask was gently swirled, then 20 mL of H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> was added rapidly with continuous swirling and allowed to cool for 30 minutes. De-ionized water (150 mL), 10 mL of concentrated ortho-phosphoric acid and 1 mL of barium diphenylamine sulphonate indicator were also added. The dichromate was back titrated with 0.5 M ferrous ammonium sulphate solution. At the end point the colour changed sharply to green (van Reeuwijk, 2002). The formula below by van Reeuwijk, (2002) was used to calculate organic C.

Organic C (%) = 
$$\frac{0.003g*N*10 \ mL*(1-\frac{T}{S})*100}{ODW}$$
  
=  $\frac{3(1-\frac{T}{S})}{ODW}$ 

Where;

 $N = Normality of K_2Cr_2O_7$  solution T = Volume of FeSO<sub>4</sub> used in sample titration (mL)

 $S = Volume of FeSO_4$  used in blank titration (mL)

ODW = Oven-dry sample weight (g)

Then C stock was calculated from organic C using soil bulk density and sampling depth:

Soil C stock= Organic C (g C kg<sup>-1</sup> soil)\* bulk density (kg m<sup>-3</sup>) \* soil depth (m)

The Soil C stocks was finally obtained in kg ha<sup>-1</sup> for the whole total profile depth of 0.3 m.

#### 4.2.2.3 Particulate organic carbon (POC)

Wet sieving was used to determine POC, with a sieve set of 2 mm, 250 and 53  $\mu$ m. Sodium hexametaphosphate was used as a dispersal agent to dispense 50 g of fresh soil. According to Elliot et al., (1991) wet soil is recommended in order to reduce changes in soil structural properties resulting from air drying the soil. Dispersed soil was wet sieved with distilled water, then after 20 minutes sample fractions from the 250 and 50  $\mu$ m sieves were collected (Elliot et al., 1991), for oven drying for 24 hours at 65 °C. The mass of oven dried samples was weighed and total C determined using LECO TruMac CNS/NS Carbon/Nitrogen/Sulfur Determinator (LECO Corporation, 2012). The POC was calculated according to Elliot et al., (1991) as follows:

POC = 
$$(DW_{53\mu m - 250\mu m}) * (\frac{\% c}{100})$$

Where; DW- weight of the fresh soil used (50 g) 53- 53 μm sieve

250- 250 µm sieve

## 4.2.2.3 Permanganate oxidizable carbon (POXC)

Air-dried soil (2.5 g), was weighed into a 50 mL centrifuge tube and 2 mL of 0.2 M KMnO<sub>4</sub> and 18 mL of distilled water were added. The centrifuge tube was tightly closed and hand shaken vigorously for 2 minutes to ensure soil dispersion within the solution. After that, the tubes were put on a shaker and shaken at 240 oscillations for another 2 minutes. Samples were then removed from the shaker and swirled to ensure that there was no soil clinging to the sides or cap of the tube. Caps were removed to avoid further soil disturbance after settling. Samples were placed in a dark area to allow soil to settle for ten minutes. After settling, about 0.5 mL of supernatant was extracted and mixed with 49.5 mL deionized water in a 50 mL centrifuge tube. This step was performed as quickly as possible as the permanganate will continue to react with soil as long as it remains in contact. The centrifuge tube was capped and inverted to mix. The standard concentrations of 0, 0.005, 0.01, 0.015 and 0.02 M were prepared from the KMnO4 stock solution and standard curve was constructed using values of concentration of standards and absorbance values from spectrophotometer. The sample solution absorbance was

then read using a spectrophotometer set at 550 nm. According to Weil et al., (2003) the amount of C oxidized is a function of the quantity of permanganate reduced. Consequently, the higher the POXC values the lower the absorbance (intensity of the colour of the solution). The equation below was used to determine POXC, after Weil et al., (2003):

POXC (mg kg<sup>-1</sup> soil) = 
$$[0.02 \text{ mol/ L} - (a + b \times \text{Abs})] \times (9000 \text{ mg C/ mol}) \times (0.02 \text{ L solution/} Wt)$$

Where:

0.02 mol/L = initial solution concentration

a = intercept of the standard curveb = slope of the standard curve

Abs = absorbance of sample

9000 = milligrams of carbon oxidized by 1 mole of  $MnO_4$  changing from  $Mn^{7+} \rightarrow Mn^{4+}$ 

0.02 L = volume of stock solution reacted

Wt = weight of air-dried soil sample in kg

#### 4.2.2.4 Microbial biomass carbon (MBC)

Two 50 g soil samples (one to be fumigated and another an unfumigated control) that have been passed through a 2 mm sieve were weighed into 100 mL glass vials. Each sample was adjusted to 40% water holding capacity with distilled water. The sample to be fumigated was put together with a beaker containing 25 mL ethanol-free chloroform in a desiccator. The desiccator was evacuated until chloroform boiled vigorously for 2 minutes, then incubated in the dark for 24 hours. After incubation, the chloroform was removed by repeated evacuation about six times. Each of the fumigated and unfumigated glass vials were placed into separate 1L jars each containing 20 mL of 1M NaOH in a 50 mL beaker and 20 mL water at the bottom of the jar. The samples were then incubated in the dark for 10 days at 25 °C. The evolved CO<sub>2</sub>, from the incubation, was adsorbed by NaOH to produce Na<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> (Alef & Nannipieri, 1995). A 5 mL aliquot of the 1 M NaOH, from each incubation jar, was placed into a conical flask and then 1 mL of 1.5 M BaCl<sub>2</sub> solution was added to precipitate the carbonate as insoluble BaCO<sub>3</sub>, and a few drops of phenolphthalein indicator were added. The unreacted NaOH was slowly

titrated with 0.1 M HCI under a magnetic stirrer until the endpoint where the colour changes from pink to colourless. According to Alef & Nannipieri (1995) at this stage acid must be added slowly to prevent possible dissolution of the precipitated BaCO<sub>3</sub>. Thereafter evolved CO<sub>2</sub> was calculated as follows;

 $CO_2$ -C (µg g<sup>-1</sup> soil) = (B-S)/ [(M\*E\*A)/ (DW)

Where:

B = Volume of acid needed to titrate the blank

S= Volume of acid needed to titrate the soil sample

M= Molarity of HCI

E= Equivalent weight to express the data as carbon

A= The ratio volume of NaOH to the NaOH aliquot.

DW= Dry weight of the soil sample (g) after moisture correction.

This was done for both fumigated and unfumigated samples.

Furthermore Biomass C was calculated according to Alef & Nannipieri (1995) using the formula below:

Biomass  $C = F_C/K_C$ 

Where;

 $F_C = [CO_2 - C \text{ evolved from funigated}] - [CO_2 - C \text{ evolved from unfunigated soil}]$ 

 $K_C=0.45$  - A constant representing the fraction of the killed biomass mineralized to  $CO_2$  over the incubation period.

Thereafter the microbial quotient (qMic) in the soil was calculated as ratios of MBC to SOC (Makova et al., 2011).

#### 4.2.3 Statistical analyses

An analysis of variance (ANOVA) test was done to determine the effect of tillage and urea fertilizer application on soil C pools at various soil depths. The Fisher's protected LSD test was used as a post-hoc test for multiple comparison to compare treatment means and their interactions. The p value (<0.05) was used to test for significant differences between treatment factors. All tests were performed with GenStat 14.1 for Windows software (VSN international, 2011).

## 4.3 Results

#### 4.3.1 Soil total C variations

Figure 4.2 shows that at 0-10 cm soil depth NT had higher total C (p < 0.05) for all application rates compared to CT-Y5 and CT-ANNUAL treatments. At 10-20 cm depth, the control (0 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>) of NT and CT-ANNUAL had higher total C i.e. 15.1 and 15.2 g C kg<sup>-1</sup>, respectively, compared with CT-Y5 that had 13.7 g C kg<sup>-1</sup> (p < 0.05). NT at 60 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> in 10-20 cm soil depth had higher (p < 0.05) total C (15.3 g C kg<sup>-1</sup>) than CT-ANNUAL (13.8 g C kg<sup>-1</sup>). While at 120 and 240 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>, CT-ANNUAL had higher (p < 0.05) total C than NT and CT-Y5 (Figure 4.2). In the 20-30 cm soil depth, NT had higher (p < 0.05) total C at 60 and 120 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> compared to CT-ANNUAL. Furthermore at 120 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>, CT-Y5 had higher total C (p < 0.05) of 11.2 g C kg<sup>-1</sup> than CT-ANNUAL which had 9.9 g C kg<sup>-1</sup>.



Figure 4. 2: Total carbon variation with soil depths for three tillage techniques.

## 4.3.2 Organic C variation in different treatments

Figure 4.3 shows that at 0-10 cm soil depth, NT had higher organic C than both CT-Y5 and CT-ANNUAL in all fertilizer application rates (p < 0.05). Both NT and CT-ANNUAL at 240 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> in 20-30 cm soil depth, had higher organic C levels of 7.9 and 8.1 g C kg<sup>-1</sup> respectively, compared with CT-Y5 which had 2.4 g C kg<sup>-1</sup>; while at 120 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>, CT-ANNUAL had the lowest organic C (p < 0.05).



Figure 4. 3: Organic carbon with depths and urea fertilizer application (kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>) for three tillage techniques.

### **4.3.3 POC variations in different treatments.**

NT had the highest POC for all application rates (p<0.05) at 0-10 cm soil depth (Figure 4.4). While at 120 and 240 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>, CT-Y5 had higher POC than CT-ANNUAL in the 0-10 cm soil depth (p < 0.05). At 10-20 cm soil depth, CT-ANNUAL had the lowest POC at 60 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> (p<0.05). On the contrary at 120 and 240 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>, CT-ANNUAL had the highest POC at this depth (p < 0.05). Figure 4.4 shows that in 20-30 cm soil depth, NT had the lowest POC at 60 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> (p<0.05).



Figure 4. 4: Particulate organic carbon with soil depths and fertilizer application (kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>) for three tillage techniques.

### 4.3.4 POXC on different tillage and N rates

Figure 4.5 shows that in the 0-10 cm soil depth, NT had higher POXC than CT-ANNUAL at 0, 60 and 120 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> (p < 0.05). At 60 and 240 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> application rates in 0-10 cm soil depth CT-Y5 had higher (p< 0.05) POXC than CT-ANNUAL but again it had lower POXC than NT. At 10-20 cm soil depth, NT had the highest POXC in the control, while at 60 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>, CT-Y5 (which was not different from NT) had higher POXC of 1.68 g C kg<sup>-1</sup> than CT-ANNUAL which had 1.60 g C kg<sup>-1</sup> (p < 0.05). Figure 4.5 shows that both 120 and 240 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> application rates of CT-ANNUAL had higher POXC than CT-Y5 at 10-20 cm soil depth (p < 0.05). However at 20-30 cm soil depth, CT-Y5 had higher (p < 0.05) POXC (1.56 g C kg<sup>-1</sup>) than CT-ANNUAL (1.51 g C kg<sup>-1</sup>) in the control (Figure 4.5). Whereas at 120 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> NT had higher POXC than CT-ANNUAL in the 20-30 cm soil depth (p < 0.05).



Figure 4. 5: Permanganate Oxidizable C with soil depths and urea fertilizer application (kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>) for three tillage techniques.

## 4.3.5 Microbial biomass carbon (MBC) variations

CT-ANNUAL generally had the least microbial biomass C (MBC) at both 0-10 and 10-20 cm soil depths for most N application rates (Figure 4.6). For the most part NT and CT-Y5 did not significantly differ in MBC at these depths, with the exception of 240 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> application rate at 0-10 cm where CT-Y5 recorded the highest MBC, as well as in the control at 10-20 cm depth where NT had higher MBC (0.46 g C kg<sup>-1</sup>) than CT-ANNUAL (0.26 g C kg<sup>-1</sup>) (p < 0.05).



Figure 4. 6: Microbial Biomass C with soil depths and urea application (kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>) for three tillage techniques.

### 4.3.6 Microbial quotient (qMic) variations

Figure 4.7 shows that qMic at 240 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> in CT-Y5 was higher in all treatments in the 0-10 cm soil depth (p<0.05). Further, in 0-10 cm depth CT-Y5 had higher qMic compared to NT at 120 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> and CT-ANNUAL at 60 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> (p<0.05). In the control treatment of 0-10 cm depth CT-ANNUAL had higher qMic than NT (p<0.05). Figure 4.7 shows that in 10-20 cm soil depth, NT had the highest qMic than both CT-Y5 and CT-ANNUAL at all application rates. In the control treatment of 10-20 cm depth CT-Y5 had lower qMic than NT but higher qMic than CT-ANNUAL (p<0.05). Figure 4.7 shows that CT-Y5 at 240 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> had highest qMic than all the treatments in 20-30 cm soil depth (p<0.05).



Figure 4. 7: Variation of microbial quotient of different soil depths.

#### 4.3.6 Total soil carbon stocks

Total soil C stocks, depth 0-30 cm, of NT were higher (p < 0.05) in all treatments, except for CT-Y5 at 60 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> (Table 4.1). At 120 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> total C stocks of CT-Y5 in 0-30 cm was higher (p<0.05) than of CT-ANNUAL, however at 240 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> CT-ANNUAL had higher (p<0.05) C stocks compared to CT-Y5. In NT the control treatment at 0-30 cm had higher total C stocks than at 120 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> (p<0.05). Table 4.1 shows that the total C stocks in 0-30 cm depth were higher at 60 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> in CT-Y5 compared to other 3 application rates (p<0.05). Also both 0 and 120 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> application rate of CT-Y5 at 0-30 cm had higher (p<0.05) total C stocks than 240kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>. There was higher total C stocks at both 0 and 60 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> than at 120 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> in CT-ANNUAL treatment (p<0.05).

The soil C stocks at 0-10 cm under NT treatment was higher than CT-Y5 and CT-ANNUAL in all application rates except for CT-Y5 at 60 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> (p<0.05). Whereas at 10-20 cm depth, the 60 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> of CT-Y5 had higher soil C stocks compared to 240 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> (p<0.05). Soil C stocks of NT in 20-30 cm was higher (p<0.05) at 60 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> compared to 240 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> (Table 4.1). At 0 and 60 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> CT-Y5 had higher C stocks than at 120 and 240 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> in 20-30 cm soil depth, with 120 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> further having higher C stocks than 240 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> in the same depth (p<0.05). Table 4.1 shows that in 20-30 cm of CT-ANNUAL, 120 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> had lower (p<0.05) C stocks than all other application rates.

Tillage treatment	Application rate	SOC per soil layer (kg C ha <sup>-1</sup> )			Total SOC stocks
	(kg N ha <sup>-1</sup> )	0-10 cm	10-20 cm	20-30 cm	0-30 cm
NT	0	26890 <sup>g</sup>	29650 <sup>d</sup>	45160 <sup>ef</sup>	101700 <sup>g</sup>
	60	22218 <sup>ef</sup>	24872 <sup>abcd</sup>	48101 <sup>f</sup>	95191 <sup>fg</sup>
	120	19258 <sup>cdef</sup>	26407 <sup>abcd</sup>	45706 <sup>ef</sup>	91370 <sup>ef</sup>
	240	27745 <sup>g</sup>	26888 <sup>bcd</sup>	41214 <sup>de</sup>	95848 <sup>fg</sup>
СТ-Ұ5	0	12742ª	22799 <sup>ab</sup>	41716 <sup>de</sup>	77258 <sup>bc</sup>
	60	23260 <sup>fg</sup>	27345 <sup>bcd</sup>	43570 <sup>ef</sup>	94175 <sup>fg</sup>
	120	15708 <sup>abc</sup>	26245 <sup>abcd</sup>	35632°	77586 <sup>bcd</sup>
	240	13481 <sup>ab</sup>	21716 <sup>a</sup>	11738 <sup>a</sup>	46935ª
CT-ANNUAL	0	16815 <sup>abcd</sup>	28623 <sup>bcd</sup>	38147 <sup>cd</sup>	83585 <sup>cd</sup>
	60	15424 <sup>abc</sup>	27080 <sup>bcd</sup>	42389 <sup>de</sup>	84893 <sup>de</sup>
	120	18089 <sup>bcde</sup>	24254 <sup>abc</sup>	28732 <sup>b</sup>	71076 <sup>b</sup>
	240	13105 <sup>ab</sup>	22748 <sup>ab</sup>	42179 <sup>de</sup>	78033 <sup>bcd</sup>

Table 4. 1: Soil carbon stocks per soil layer and total depth for different tillage systems.

NT-no-till; CT-Y5- conventional tillage on the 5th year; CT-ANNUAL-annual ploughing; SOC-soil organic carbon Similar letters on the columnar it means there is no significant difference, whereas difference shows significance difference (P<0 05)

## 4.4 Discussion

Before the inception of the experiment crop rotation of maize and soya beans under NT, were practiced on the site. Therefore any differences obtained on the experimental site after may have been influenced by management changes namely tillage type and N application rates. Soil organic C plays an important role in long-term ecosystem productivity in the global C cycle, by maintaining a soil nutrient pool and improving their availability for uptake. Fertilizer application resulted in increased in various C pools which may have been influenced by an increase in crop biomass. Distribution of C pools were not only dependent on N fertilizer but also the type of tillage technique had a salient role. Changes in the amount of total soil C generally occur slowly (of the order of several decades) unless the soil is subject to severe disturbance such as intensive tillage or erosion (Mann, 1986). According to Benbi et al., (2015) SOC is a heterogeneous mixture of organic substances, with different fractions or pools of SOC exhibiting different sensitivity to management. Earlier studies have also shown that some biologically active or labile SOC pools respond to changes in management to a greater extent than total C (Gong et al., 2009).

Total C had a similar trend to SOC, thus in the top 0-10 cm, NT had higher total C than CT-Y5 and CT-ANNUAL. According to Mrabet et al., (2001) elimination of soil mixing in NT leads to concentration of OM at the soil surface. Previous research has shown substantial increase of total C in soil under NT compared to CT (Halvorson et al., 2002). However, at 10-20 cm depth CT-ANNUAL at 120 and 240 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> had higher total C than both NT and CT-Y5. This may be attributed to the vertical distribution of soil C under CT-ANNUAL with increasing fertilizer rates allowing higher amount of total C to accumulate in subsoil. Peculiar, at 20-30 cm soil depth at both 60 and 120 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> NT had higher total C than CT-ANNUAL again. Baker et al., (2007) found that NT increased soil C in surface soils at the expense of the lower plough layer, resulting in no net increase in total C storage within the soil profile. It is reasonable to believe that soil C depletion at depth found under NT mainly results from reduced burial of crop residues and less root inputs compared to CT (Yang et al., 2008). Again, low C storage under CT-ANNUAL at 0-10 cm was probably due to high oxidation rates, release of organic compounds to the soluble form, and greater microbial activity. Mrabet et al., (2001) elucidated that soil C is higher in the entire profile under NT, and concluded that there is a stratification of soil C in surface horizons without any depletion of it at deeper horizon

compared to treatments receiving tillage. Therefore the higher C in NT at 20-30 cm soil depth is because of high inputs of C in the surface and less turnover of OM at lower depths. In a study by Six et al., (1999) the turnover soil C in aggregates was faster in CT than in NT, resulting in a greater loss of 53 to 250 µm intra-macro-aggregate POC in CT.

In the current study the soil surface (0-10 cm), had the highest concentration of organic C compared to other depths in all tillage treatments and fertilizer rates, with NT having higher organic C. This may be related to the severe moist anerobic conditions under NT, since it had higher soil moisture (Chapter 3, Table 3.1), resulting in slower oxidation of OM. Tilling mixed the profile soil, thus OM on the surface was able to migrate into deeper soil layers thereby reducing organic C in the surface under CT-ANNUAL. Luo et al., (2010) explained that less subsoil organic C under NT was a result of lack of redistribution of surface soil C into deeper soil layers by ploughing. In addition, the restricted root growth due to soil compaction, caused by using heavy machinery and lack of soil loosening under NT may limit root penetration into deeper soil layers. Usually roots respire, exude C and during senescence decompose thus assist in adding organic C on the subsoil. Deen & Kataki, (2003) also found that under reduced tillage; C was higher in the 0-10 cm soil layer compared to CT. According to Kern & Johnson, (1993) soil organic C tends to increase with NT on the surface layer because less OM is lost to oxidation from mixing of the soil.

It is worth noting that at 10-20 cm soil depth, there were no significant differences in SOC for all fertilizer application rates or tillage treatments. This was similar to the findings of Deen & Kataki, (2003) who noted that non-significant differences in SOC at 10-20 cm depth between different tillage treatments. Contrary, previous research has shown that CT significantly affects vertical distribution of SOC with the concentration of SOC increasing with both depth and tillage (Angers et al., 1997). Deen & Kataki, (2003) further argued that the influence of tillage on SOC depends on the depth to which the tillage operation incorporated plant material. In the current study the influence of NT on SOC, with significantly higher organic C compared to CT-Y5 and CT-ANNUAL, was observed especially at 0-10 cm. One potential method for increasing the amount of C held in agricultural soil is to convert CT practices to conservation tillage practices that reduce tillage and retain crop residues (Kern & Johnson, 1993).

NT leads to increased soil cover and reduced soil disturbance which increases soil strength (compaction). The increased soil strength under NT not only discourages root growth into

deeper soil layers (Martínez et al., 2008), but also reduces downward movement of surface soil C. According to Luo et al., (2010) NT can also increase soil moisture through reduced evaporation in the top soil, leading to high crop root growth and biological processes related to SOC decomposition in the top soil layer. Conservation tillage may increase the amount of SOC by providing an environment where fungal decomposition is greater than bacterial decomposition (Kern & Johnson, 1993). This may be attributed to reducing conditions which are better tolerated by fungi compared to bacteria. In NT systems, fungal hyphal networks are left intact by the elimination of mechanical mixing that occurs during tillage events (Helgason et al., 2009). According to Holland & Coleman, (1987) fungal decomposition results in more recalcitrant decomposition products than bacterial decomposition because fungal biomass has a higher proportion of cell-wall material than bacterial biomass. According to Kassim et al., (1981) cell-wall material decomposes more slowly and the decomposed material is stabilized as biomass end products more quickly than cytoplasmic material.

The tillage effect at 20-30 cm soil depth was observed as CT-ANNUAL had the highest SOC at 240 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> compared to all the tillage treatments. Tillage-induced change in soil C distribution with soil depth is likely a result of redistribution of surface soil C (Luo et al., 2010). CT also loosens the soil down to the depth of 15-35cm, thus changing the soil physical conditions, thereby promoting crop root growth which exude C and increase C input through root senescence at deeper soil layers (Luo et al., 2010). Notwithstanding the movement of C down the profile under CT-ANNUAL, however, higher concentration of organic C was observed in upper compared to lower soil depths in all tillage techniques. Minimum tillage apparently does not lead to additional C being sequestered into soil, but prevents net loss of SOC as CO<sub>2</sub> during decomposition (Kern & Johnson, 1993). According to Kern & Johnson, (1993) C released during minimum tillage are not less than those of CT whereas NT systems increase the amount of C sequestered in soil.

POC (readily decomposable C for microbes), was higher under CT-ANNUAL at both 120 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> and 240 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> compared to NT and CT-Y5 in the 10-20 cm soil depth. This was probably a result of ploughing and crop residue incorporation into soil under CT-ANNUAL, whereas plant residues accumulate on the surface under NT and CT-Y5. Again POC was highest under CT-Y5 at 60 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> at 10-20 cm, while CT-Y5 and CT-ANNUAL at 60 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> were significant higher than NT in the 20-30 cm soil depth. According to Angers et al.,

(1993), NT sequesters more POC in the soil than CT. This was evident in our study at 0-10 cm depth, where NT had higher POC at all application rates compared to CT-Y5 and CT-ANNUAL. Higher accumulation of organic material under NT than other treatments may be the cause of this. POC can account for over 10% of the soil C (Carter et al., 1994). This was supported by our findings where it was between 20-48 % of total C.

This POC pool is important to SOM turnover because it serves as readily decomposable substrate for soil microorganisms, and short-term reservoir of plant nutrients (Mrabet et al., 2001). It has been suggested as a sensitive indicator of changes of SOM because of its responsiveness to management practices (Gregorich & Carter, 1997). SOC had no observable differences with tillage at 10-20 cm depth, however major differences were observed in POC. This shows that POC is more sensitive to management than SOC. Tillage impacts on POC were consistent with those of total C, but were still more pronounced with POC. Chan, (2001) also found that changes in POC at different sites followed the trend of total C.

Wander et al., (1998) observed that NT increased POC by up to 70% at the surface but was lower by 18% in subsoil when compared with CT. Six et al., (1999) attributed this increase to a combination of reduced litter decomposition and less soil disturbance under NT. Reduced rates of litter decomposition may be due to a microclimate which hinder microbial activity in the surface residue layer. The CT-Y5 treatments had intermediate POC fractions of both NT and CT-ANNUAL. Six et al., (1998) explained that a fraction of SOM is lost due to tillage and this explains low POC under CT in the topsoil, which concurs with our results. On the other hand, Mrabet et al., (2001) noted that though NT had higher POC concentrated in surface horizons, there was no depletion of this fraction in deeper horizons, making magnitude of differences between tillage systems is more important at 0-2.5 cm depth. According to Six et al., (1999) in the subsurface layer (5-20 cm), POC was greater in CT than in NT. Wander et al., (1998) found differences in POC at the 5-17.5 and 17.5-30 cm depths to be greater in CT than NT soils. Many studies credit soil mixing with more even distribution of SOM with depth in CT soils (Collins et al., 1992).

Differences in POC concentrations at depth could also be a result of root productivity. Though crop productivity was not quantified, data from previous years showed that NT had a bumper harvest than CT-Y5 and CT-ANNUAL. According to Wander et al., (1998) NT had greater

yields than CT which suggested accumulation of SOM by NT surface soils, which may be a result of reduced mineralization and erosion rates. Fertilizer application and tillage exposed C to microbial attack due to high contact between plant residues and the soil mineral matrix, and POC pool with its high sensitivity get easily mineralized. CT treatments have less stable aggregates compared to NT as these are constantly disrupted through tillage (Six et al., 1999). Disrupted aggregates release higher amount of C compared to stable aggregates which help in C sequestration. When POC is released from aggregates, it becomes exposed to microbial decay, which leads to its loss and increased CO<sub>2</sub> flux in CT compared with NT (Six et al., 1999). Doran et al., (1998) reported that the biochemical environment of NT soils is less oxidative than CT, especially at lower depths. Franzluebbers & Stuedemann, (2003) explained that greater POC under NT at 15-30 cm might be explained by more anaerobic conditions in deeper soil layers and contributions from crop roots.

Culman et al., (2012) observed that POC comprised roughly 20-40% of the total C in the soil, while POXC and MBC made up only 4 and 2% of the total C, respectively. These findings were contrast with our data where POXC comprised 8-14%, POC 20-48% and MBC had 0.4-1-1.0% of the total C. Thus, POC can be regarded as the most labile C sensitive to management such as tillage and fertilizer application, followed by POXC and then MBC. Awale et al., (2013) also observed a greater response to tillage by POC compared to the POXC fraction, while Gregorich et al., (1996) observed a higher increase in POC than bulk SOC in response to long-term fertilization of maize. Contrary, Culman et al., (2012), found POXC to be a more sensitive indicator of differences in management (tillage and fertilizer application) than other measured C fractions. They explained that POXC was more strongly related to heavier and smaller than lighter and larger POC fractions, indicating that it reflects a more processed, stabilized pool of labile soil C (Culman et al., (2012). In a study by Romero et al., (2018), it was evident however that total C exhibited greater sensitivity than POXC to changes in land management or soil depth. Skjemstad et al., (2006) also observed that POXC did not provide a clear advantage over SOC when considering major land use alterations such as pasture vs agriculture.

The difference in concentration and sensitivity of labile C fractions may be due to climate, soil type, cropping system and laboratory procedures utilized in different analyses. Unlike, MBC and POXC which utilized chemical composition, POC relied on physical fractionation to

determine its concentration which can respond in less short space of time to management. POC represents a partially decomposed C fraction with a short turnover time, while POXC reflects a more processed fraction of soil C (Cambardella and Elliot, 1992). This was demonstrated by Tirol-Padre & Ladha, (2004) who observed a significant relationship between POXC and SOC but none between POXC and labile C fractions such as MBC. Plaza-Bonilla et al., (2014) got similar findings to ours with POC showing greater sensitivity to N fertilization than SOC and POXC for the three soil depths studied (0-5, 5-20 and 20-40 cm), and greater sensitivity to tillage management at 5-20 and 20-40 cm depth. POC presents the highest response to changes in agricultural management and can be used as an early indicator of optimized practices to sequester soil C (Plaza-Bonilla et al., 2014). However, it does not necessary disqualify POXC and MBC as good soil quality indicators.

Though, SOC showed no significance difference of tillage and application rates at 10-20 and 20-30 cm, the trend was different with POXC. However, significant positive correlations between total C and POXC at 0-5 and 5-10 cm depth showed that total C is a major determinant of the quantity of labile organic C fractions (Yang et al., 2012). A strong positive relationship between POXC and SOC has been reported previously which was attributed to similar methodology, both rely on soil C oxidation (Culman et al., 2012). The POXC fractionation is based on its oxidation with KMnO4, on the premise that microbiological decomposition of SOM is largely associated with an enzymatic oxidation (Loginow et al., 1987). SOC is determined by complete oxidation of all soil C, while POXC relies on partial oxidation of the more easily oxidized C pool (Wang et al., 2017). According to Wang et al., (2017) the POXC fraction is a pool of labile soil C that has greater sensitivity to changes in management or environmental variation than other commonly measured pools e.g. POC, MBC or SOC. Weil et al., (2003) stated that compared to total C, POXC measured a C pool more closely associated with soil biological functions.

A decline of POXC with depth in this study reflects decreased root density and residue accumulation. Decreased root density with depth is thought to be associated with a parallel decline in sub-surface rhizodeposition (Petersen et al., 2008). With higher microbial populations and respiration activity nearer the soil surface, POXC in surface soil will be more rapidly oxidized or converted into protected soil total C than in the deeper soil (Wang et al., 2017). According to Wang et al., (2014) frequent tillage under CT may break down aggregates

and expose protected OM to microbial decomposition, thereby increasing loss of POXC which is evident in the current study. Plant residue might enter the labile organic C pools, provide substrate for soil microorganisms, and contribute to the accumulation of POXC (Wang et al., 2014). In addition, residue in conservation tillage system can improve soil physical and chemical quality through increased infiltration, aggregate stability and enhancing POXC fractions (Govaerts et al., 2007). At all soil depths, an increase in fertilizer application did not have an impact on POXC pools. This may be attributed to soil acidification, with the application of N fertilizer, which impedes enzymatic oxidation. Mi et al., (2016) found that organic mulches generally increased POXC contents in the upper soil profile compared with inorganic fertilizer alone, with cattle manure being the most effective. According to Shashidhar et al., (2009) application of organic mulches on soil increase soil pH, which may be attributed to liberation of bases during the decay process. Contrary, Wang et al., (2017) stated that POXC was higher in high N soil especially in the lower subsoil, suggesting that N-rich soil stimulated more root growth and rhizodeposition in the fertilized crop.

POXC oxidation simulates microbial decomposition, and therefore reflects in-situ enzymatic decomposition of labile SOM (Loginow et al., 1987). MBC, as the living component of SOM, plays a critical role in nutrient cycling, OM decomposition and transformation (Wang et al., 2014). MBC responded differently from total or SOC. MBC had lower concentrations than both POC and POXC labile fractions. The lower sensitivity of MBC compared to POC might be due to their more exisitance in micro aggregates sizes and highly labile nature (Chen et al., 2009). The increase of MBC with increased N application rate at 0-10 cm depth can be be explained by the increase of root biomass, crop productivity, residue accumulation and henceforth decomposable organic material. Reported effects of chemical fertilizer on MBC are inconsistent. Omay et al., (1997) reported that chemical fertilizers decreased MBC, because severe N resulted in a microbial population with a comparatively high proportion of dormant cells. Grego et al., (1998) also noted low MBC with chemical fertilizer use that was comparable with that of the control. However in a study by Gong et al., (2009), chemical fertilizer increased MBC because it resulted in higher organic C input into soil, implying that microbial biomass is more controlled by substrate supply and less by chemical fertilizer. Mi et al., (2016) found that chemical fertilizer increased MBC by 63.2% compared to the control after 37 years.

In a study by Kushwaha et al., (2000), the highest MBC was associated with the N highest rate of 225 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>. This is similar to our study which had the highest MBC at 240 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> in the 0-10 and 20-30 cm depths, whereas at 10-20 cm depth 120 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> gave the highest MBC. Dou et al., (2008) observed greater MBC in surface soil under NT, and at deeper depths under CT, which was explained by the effects of litter availability on the surface under NT and incorporation to the subsoil in CT. Balota et al., (2004) suggested that crop residue accumulation provides substrate for microorganisms, which accounts for higher MBC in surface soil. Furthermore, soil under NT was wetter and had conducive high temperature, favourable for soil microbial activity (Franzluebbers et al., 1995). CT-Y5 have likely similar soil properties such as soil moisture and pH (Chapter 3, Table 1.1) with NT, with a better advantage of mixing of crop residues after four seasons thereby enhancing decomposition, giving it the highest MBC at 240 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> in 0-10 cm depth. Kushwaha et al., (2000) noticed that the combined effect of residue retention and minimum tillage increased MBC by 82% over control. However in NT, surface application of retained residues increased MBC only by 36% over the control (Kushwaha et al., 2000). CT-Y5 is a proxy of minimum tillage therefore our findings were in line with the above study.

The MBC decreased with depth but 20-30 cm soil depth had on total average almost same concentration as at 10-20 cm. This may be attributed to less OM in subsoil. Dou et al., (2008) also observed decreased MBC with depth. In general, situations favouring accumulation of OM increase MBC (Jenkinson & Ladd, 1981). At 0-10 and 20-30 cm soil depths, CT-Y5 had greater average MBC than NT and CT-ANNUAL. According to Wright et al., (2005) MBC was highest under minimum tillage at 2.5–7.5 cm soil depth. Most impacts of NT on enhancing C sequestration have been observed in surface soils near the rooting zone and residue litter (Paustian et al., 1997). However, long-term increases in SOM have been observed in subsurface soils after 20 years of NT (Wright & Hons, 2004). The current experiment has been running for more than 20 years, hence observations were made of higher MBC values under NT than CT-ANNUAL (particularly in the control) at 10-20 cm soil depth. The living fraction of OM, i.e. microbial biomass, rather than total organic C has been suggested as a useful and more sensitive measure of change in OM status (Powlson & Jenkinson 1981). These changes can be monitored by qMic ratio which is the ratio of MBC to SOC. According to Makova et al., (2011) qMic ratio represents the amount of metabolic active C in the total SOM. The qMic ratio could serve to indicate if soil C is in equilibrium, accumulating or decreasing from the threshold of 2.3 under monoculture and 2.5 under rotations with fertilizer (Anderson & Domsch, 1989). Though, in our case sampling was only done once making it difficult to assess if it was decreasing, increasing or in equilibrium. However, using qMic ratios from the literature the study area had very low qMic. The qMic ratio is generally considered as sensitive change indicator of SOM quality (Sparling, 1992). Our findings, with low values of qMic, suggest that a larger proportion of non-microbial C was contained in the SOC rather than MBC.

Generally, the lowest qMic was in CT-ANNUAL, with CT-Y5 having higher qMic at 0-10 and 20-30 cm while NT was predominantly higher at 10-20 cm. Anderson & Domsch, (1990) suggested that the higher qMic under conservation tillage rather than CT was caused by the quality of the OM input which was more suitable for microbial growth and survival. Our results shows that CT-ANNUAL had continuous reduction in SOC and MBC and eventually qMic. In the study by Jiang et al., (2011), the lowest qMic in CT and NT indicated the lowest substrate availability to microorganisms. Both NT and CT-Y5 resulted in increase of SOM, from crop residues, compared to CT-ANNUAL which eventually resulted in higher MBC. The 240 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> of CT-Y5 had the highest qMic ratio at the 0-10 and 20-30 cm depth whereas at 10-20 cm the highest qMic ratio was observed under NT at 120 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> which was similar to the trend of MBC. The qMic generally increased with increase in N application. In contrast, Sparling, (1992) reported that unfertilized soil increased qMic ratio, while increasing total soil N did not increase qMic ratio. Consequently, it can be inferred that the increase in qMic ratio is from the organic C inputs and not necessarily related to N status of the soil (Sparling, 1992). The significance effect of both tillage and N application on qMic shows that C is not stabilized in the soil. Consistence of the qMic ratio is thus an indication of a system at a new equilibrium (Anderson & Domsch, 1989).

Differences in SOC stocks are a result of an imbalance between C inputs, mainly in the form of dead plant material and outputs, caused by decomposition, leaching and erosion losses (Poeplau & Don, 2014). Total soil C stocks were higher in NT at all application rates, while the 60 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> of CT-Y5 also recorded high total SOC stocks. This trend is similar to both total and SOC trends and to previous findings by Krauss et al., (2017). According to Luo et al., (2010) conversion from CT to NT did not increase the overall SOC stock in most cases, except for those with double cropping systems. Baker et al., (2007) reported that conservation tillage may sequester C only for the upper depth. In single cropping systems, the crop type affects vertical distribution of soil C (Luo et al., 2010). Thus in our study maize with root depth of almost 30 cm enhanced vertical distribution of C to subsoil through decomposition of root at senescence. According to Krauss et al., (2017) reducing tillage intensity and fertilizer application increased SOC stock after thirteen years. This is in conjunction with our findings only for tillage because both NT and CT-Y5 had higher SOC stocks compared to CT-ANNUAL, whereas SOC stock did not significant increase with the increase in N fertilizer. Contrary, Crittenden et al., (2015) did not find significant differences in SOC stocks (0–0.5 m) between CT and NT after three years.

In all the treatments soil C stocks trends with depth followed the order; 20-30 cm > 10-20 cm> 0-10 cm, thus inversely related to the trend for organic C. The increase in soil C stocks may be attributed to higher soil bulk density with increasing depth. Schulz et al., (2014) only reported SOC stocks per soil layer, with higher SOC stocks in 0-30 cm in the NT compared to CT treatment after 11 years, and lower SOC stocks at lower depth (30-90 cm). Whereas, Zikeli et al., (2013) found higher SOC stock concentrations in reduced tillage compared to CT in the topsoil (0-20 cm) and no changes below (40-60 cm) after 12 years. Contrary, Krauss et al., (2017) reported an accumulation of SOC stocks by conversion of CT to NT to be mostly restricted to topsoil whilst in lower horizons, a decrease in SOC stocks occurred. Although tillage increases residue incorporation and moves surface soil C into deeper layers, it also stimulates SOC oxidation. Tillage fragments macro-aggregates and increases the surface area for soil microbes to attack and decompose the originally physically aggregate-protected soil C (Six et al., 1999). Incorporation of crop residues through tillage also leads to more favourable soil moisture and thermal conditions that accelerates their decomposition in deeper layers than on the soil surface (Coppens et al., 2007). This provides nutrients and energy for microbial growth, further enhancing decomposition of soil C, including inert C (Fontaine et al., 2007).

### 4.5 Conclusions

Tillage and fertilizer application had an effect on soil C fractions at different depths. NT increased most C fractions, (except MBC) in the upper soil layer, which could lead to higher soil productivity. Thus C sequestration is greater in NT than in CT-Y5 and CT-ANNUAL. This was because of slower OM turnover in NT leading to formation and stabilization of C. Whereas

under CT-ANNUAL, SOM turnover was easily intensified by tillage which breaks down aggregates protecting C, thus releasing it into the atmosphere as CO<sub>2</sub> or its consumed by microbes. Tillage, fertilizer application and depth had significant effects on labile C fractions, showing a greater sensitivity compared to both SOC and total C. POC in particular exhibited a relatively greater response to tillage, fertilizer application and depth than MBC and POXC, while POXC showed more sensitivity to management than MBC labile fraction. The MBC responded more to CT-Y5 at 0-10 cm, with significantly higher values at 240 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>, compared to other tillage techniques. CT-Y5 at 240 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> (0-10 cm) and NT at 120 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> (10-20 cm) had the highest qMic which was in similar trend with MBC. The significance difference in qMic ratio among both tillage and fertilizer rates explicitly clarifies that there is no C balance in the soil. Though CT-Y5 did not always have the highest C fractions, it maintained intermediate concentrations compared with other tillage techniques. The 120 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> of all tillage treatments had intermediate C fractions in all depths when compared to 0, 60 and 240 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> which had either very low or higher fractions. C sequestration will not automatically increase with increase of C input, but will depend on the rate of C output from the soils, which is affected by the management type employed. A larger input over output of OM is the reason for the increase of total C and its various fractions in the fertilized treatments. This implies that a high amount of organic material input through better crop production and N fertilizer application is required for increasing the SOC pools. Therefore using conservation agriculture, particular NT or minimum tillage (CT-Y5) at 0-10 cm, with 120 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> application rate in dryland agriculture is well recommended. The null hypothesis of the study stating that increase in fertilizer application rate and minimising tillage will decrease the C pools of soil was therefore rejected.

### **CHAPTER 5**

# PHOSPHORUS AND NITROGEN POOLS UNDER DIFFERENT TILLAGE TECHNIQUES AND N FERTILIZER RATES IN DRY LAND AGRICULTURE.

## 5.1 Introduction

Nitrogen (N) and phosphorus (P) are major elements essential for plant growth and development. N is a constituent of proteins and nucleic acids, with most soil N found in OM, where it is continuously mineralised into ammonium (NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>) and nitrate (NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>), the mineral available forms. According to Bremner & Keeney, (1965) there is need to assess the amounts and mineralisation patterns of NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> and NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> in soils during cropping in order to make informed recommendations on application rates of N fertilizers and organic inputs. P in soil is limited hence needs to be supplemented to sustain crop productivity (Khan et al., 2018). Tillage and fertilizer application alter soil profile nutrient distribution thus impacting availability, adsorption, leaching, decomposition and mineralization of nutrients. The above factors are dependent on climatic and soil conditions of that particular area. Sharifi et al., (2008) found increased N mineralization in CT compared to NT. This is because ploughing of soil increases aeration and water movement thereby enhancing decomposition, mineralization and nitrification.

According to Dowdell & Cannell, (1975) both CT and NT affect the N cycle with CT influencing N mineralization while NT favours denitrification due to increased stored soil water. Increases in N mineralization following soil disturbance by CT are largely due to more organic N substrates becoming available to support greater microbial activity (Campbell et al., 1971). Franzluebbers et al., (1994) explained that although the rate constant for organic N mineralization is often greater in CT systems, gradual or long-term accumulation of a larger organic N pool in NT systems may compensate for this. NT has an abundance of crop residues which keep on adding organic N after mineralization. N fertilizer application on the other hand changes both N pools and mineralization patterns by providing microbes with substrates. N fertilizers are needed by both plants and microbes, however excessive application may have a detrimental effect on microbial activity. According to Salinas-Garcia et al., (1997) N
fertilization had little effect on N mineralization, while changes in active N pools of SOM depended more on tillage for distribution within surface soil than upon N fertilization. However, Salinas-Garcia et al., (1997) realised that N mineralization at flowering and harvest was increased by greater N fertilization, possibly because fertilizer N that was immobilized into soil microbial biomass early in the season was later mineralized.  $NO_3^-$  can be easily leached because it is an anion while  $NH_4^+$  is adsorbed by negative soil colloids, but both have high potential to be extracted by crops. Hence, the decrease of organic C decomposition and mineralization lowers  $NH_4^+$  and  $NO_3^-$  concentration.

P remains a major limitation to agricultural productivity (Nziguheba et al., 2016). Residue accumulation and less soil disturbance under NT will sustain both N and P. Again, slower decomposition of surface-placed residues may prevent rapid leaching of nutrients through the soil profile, which is more when residues are incorporated into the soil (Franzluebbers & Hons, 1996). Unger, (1991) reported more extractable P in NT compared with CT below the till-zone, rather than only near the surface as reported in other studies, and suggested it may be due to accumulation of P in senescent roots. Globally critical P values have been reported on different soils from 5 to 26 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> for wheat (Singh et al., 2016) and 6.9 to 28 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> for maize (Singh et al., 2016). Since P dynamics differ between soil types and climate, application requirements will differ from one environment to another (Blake et al., 2000). Therefore, it is crucial to determine P availability, organic and total P for each specific environment and cropping system. Compared to other major nutrients, P is firmly bound in soils, due to precipitation of P with calcium ions in calcareous soil, and adsorption of P by Fe and Al- oxides in acidic soils (Hinsinger, 2001). However, this fixation is largely reversible over time as plant roots can take up P accumulated in soil from applications of fertilizers and organic sources over many years (Khan et al., 2018). By differing fertilizer application rates, one can determine its suitability for crop uptake. Fudge, (1928) found that in acid soils, the use of basic N fertilizers such as sodium nitrate and calcium nitrate increased solubility and plant utilization of P, while acidic fertilizers such as ammonium sulphate and urea had the opposite effect.

Though P is immobile in soil, its profile distribution may be influenced by the type of tillage applied. The P cycle, from total to organic P and inorganic P should be well researched, especially in poor resourced arable farms, in order to sustain crop and soil productivity. Furthermore, many studies have demonstrated P leaching to subsoil in both coarse-and fine-

textured soils (Wang et al., 2015). In a study by Franzluebbers & Hons, (1996), NT had greater concentration of P at 0-5 and 15-30 cm soil depths compared to CT. Therefore tillage systems which improve P availability for uptake through elimination of leaching, adsorption and precipitation should be promoted. According to Margenot et al., (2017) improving P availability may be an added advantage of conservation agriculture in weathered soils, since reduced tillage and residue retention could reduce P fixation, increase labile P, and increase organic P accumulation and its mineralization by phosphatases. Residue retention can reduce P fixation by increasing organic anion competition for P binding sites (Palm et al., 2007). Thus, knowledge of the magnitude of changes in the active soil N and P pools is very crucial for understanding how tillage systems can be better managed to increase N and P sequestration of soil. The processes governing SOM decomposition and mineralization are important to soil fertility, GHGs and ecosystem sustainability, however they are not fully understood. Thus studies on N and P pools are highly essential. The objectives of this study was to determine P and N dynamics in soil under different tillage and fertilizer management practices.

# **5.2 Material and Methods**

The study site with maize mono-cropping, Figure 5.1, was described in detail in the previous chapter (Chapter 3, Section 3.2).

# 5.2.1 Sampling procedure

The soil sampling procedure was described in detail in Chapter 3, Section 3.2.1.



Figure 5. 1: Different tillage techniques, NT (Zero tillage), CT-Y5 and CT-ANNUAL (annual ploughing), in the control.

#### **5.2.2 Laboratory Analyses**

## 5.2.2.1 Total Nitrogen (N)

Analysis of total N was described in detail in Chapter 3, Section 3.2.2.2.

# 5.2.2.2 Ammonium (NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>)

Colorimetry was used through use of N1 and N2 reagents to extract NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> from the soil, (Freney & Wetselaar, 1969 and; Okalebo, 1993). N1 was made from 34 g sodium salicylate, 25 g sodium citrate and 25 g sodium tartrate dissolved in 750mL distilled water. Thereafter 0.12g of sodium nitroprusside was added and made to 1 litre with distilled water. N2 was made from 30 g sodium hydroxide dissolved in 750 mL distilled water, which was allowed to cool and 10 mL sodium hypochlorite added, and made up to 1 litre with distilled water (Okalebo, 1993). About 10.0 g of fresh soil sample (kept in a refrigerator) was weighed into a plastic shaking bottle. Thereafter, 100 mL of 0.5 M K<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> extracting solution was added. The contents were shaken with a stopper for 1 hour and filtered through Whatman No. 42 filter paper. Using a micro-pipette, 0.2 mL of the sample extract was pipetted into a test tube with blanks and standards undergoing the same procedure. About 5.0 mL of reagent N1 was then added and allowed to stand for at least 15 minutes with continuous mixing of the contents (Okalebo, 1993). Furthermore 5.0 mL of reagent N2 was added, and continuously mixed (Okalebo, 1993). The contents were allowed to stand for 1 hour, then absorbance was measured at 655nm using a spectrophotometer (SPECTRO UV-11). A calibration curve was plotted and the concentration of the sample was determined. The concentration of ammonium in µgNH4<sup>+</sup>-N kg<sup>-1</sup> was calculated according to Freney & Wetselaar, (1969) and Okalebo, (1993) as follows:

NH4<sup>+</sup>-N (
$$\mu g/kg^{-1}$$
) =  $\frac{(a-b)*v*MCF*f*1000}{w}$ 

Where:

- a = concentration of N in the solution,
- b = concentration of N the blank,

v = volume of the extract;

w = weight of fresh soil;

MCF = moisture correction factor in percentage;

f = multiplication factor of the sample which was one since similar quantity was extracted for samples, blanks and standards.

#### 5.2.2.3 Nitrate (NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>)

NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> was determined calorimetrically by weighing 10.0 g of soil into a plastic shaking bottle, then adding 100 mL of 0.5 M K<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> extracting solution and shaking well. Thereafter, 0.5 mL of the sample extract was transferred into a test tube (the same procedure was done for blanks and standards), before adding 1.0 mL of 5% salicylic acid and shaking the mixture. After waiting for 30 minutes, 10.0 mL of 4 M sodium hydroxide was added to each test tube. The contents were mixed well and left for 1 hour for a full yellow colour to develop (Bremner & Keeney, 1965). The absorbance was measured at 419 nm wavelength (Okalebo, 1993), using a spectrophotometer (SPECTRO UV-11). The calculation of NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> was done using the formula below (Okalebo, 1993; Bremner & Keeney, 1965):

NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> -N (
$$\mu g/kg^{-1}$$
) =  $\frac{(a-b)*v*MCF*1000}{w}$ 

Where;

 $a = concentration of NO_3^--N$  in the solution,

 $b = concentration of NO_3^- - N$  in the blank,

v = volume of the extract;

w = weight of fresh soil;

MCF = moisture correction factor.

The aliquot used for both the standards and the samples were of the same volume therefore no multiplication factor was required within the calculations (Bremner & Keeney, 1965).

#### 5.2.2.4 Nitrogen mineralisation

Airtight bottles of 100 mL and 15 mL volume were weighed, then 10 and 5 g of fresh soil was added into the bottles respectively, (Anderson & Ingram, 1994). Thereafter, 50 mL 1 M KCI was added into the 100 mL bottle before shaking on a shaker for 20 minutes at about 60 Hz (Anderson & Ingram, 1994). Using a micropipette, 0.1 mL of sample, standard and blank was

transferred into suitably marked test tubes. In addition, 5.0 mL of reagent NI (used in  $NH_4^+$  extraction above) was added to each test tube, mixed and left for 15 minutes. Also 5.0 mL of reagent N2 (used in  $NH_4^+$  extraction above) was added to each test tube, mixed before adding 2 mL 5M NaOH.

After 20 minutes NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>-N was determined using the spectrophotometer (SPECTRO UV-11) at wavelength of 655 nm and referred to as time<sub>o</sub> NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>-N (Anderson & Ingram, 1994). Meanwhile into the 15 mL bottle with 5 g of fresh soil, 12.5 mL distilled water was added with gentle swirling to remove air bubbles (Anderson & Ingram, 1994). The bottle (with a stopper) was then placed in an incubator for 7 days at 40 °C. After incubation, the contents were filtered using Whatman No. 42 filter paper, transferred into a clean 50 mL bottle, then 25 mL of 2 M KCI was added. Thereafter, 0.1 mL of sample was extracted using a micropipette and transferred to a test tube, with the same procedure done for blanks and standards. About 5.0 mL of reagent NI (used above in NH4<sup>+</sup> extraction) was then added to each test tube, mixed and left for 15 minutes. Another 5.0 mL of reagent N2 (also used above in NH4<sup>+</sup> extraction) was added to each test tube, then mixed well before adding 2 mL 5M NaOH. After 20 minutes, NH4<sup>+</sup>-N was determined and referred to as time<sub>1</sub> NH4<sup>+</sup>-N (Anderson & Ingram, 1994). The time<sub>o</sub> NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>-N was obtained immediately on the day of starting the experiment whereas time<sub>1</sub> NH4<sup>+</sup> -N was obtained after 7 days of incubation. Using the spectrophotometer (SPECTRO UV-11) the absorbance was read at 655 nm. The calculation of anaerobic N mineralisation was done as follows (Anderson & Ingram, 1994):

Anaerobic N mineralisation rate (ugN/g soil/day) =  $[(time_1 NH_4^+ -N) - (time_0 NH_4^+ -N)]/7$ 

#### 5.2.2.5 Total Phosphorus

Digestion of soil for total P was done using an electric hot plate with 5 N H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> as a digesting reagent and 0.057 M ascorbic acid as a reducing agent. In a separate container 12 g of ammonium molybdate was dissolved in 250 mL of warm (50 °C) distilled water, while 0.291 g antimony potassium tartrate was dissolved in 100 mL distilled water. Both solutions were added to 1000 mL of 5 N H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> (above) to make ammonium molybdate/antimony potassium tartrate solution (Novosamsky et al., 1983). The solution was thoroughly mixed and diluted

with distilled water to 2 litres. It was then transferred to a reagent bottle and stored in a cool dark place. Ascorbic acid reducing agent was developed from this solution by dissolving 2.108 g ascorbic acid in 400 mL of ammonium molybdate/antimony potassium tartrate solution mixed well.

About 0.3 g of air-dried soil was weighed into a 125 mL Pyrex conical flask, then 4.0 mL concentrated H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> was added with careful swelling, (Anderson & Ingram, 1989). The mixture was heated in a fume hood on an electric hot plate set at medium heating. The flask was then removed from the heater, allowed to cool and 10 drops of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> were added. The flask was swirled, keeping contents at the bottom of the flask, then reheated while avoiding excessive heating that causes spattering (Novosamsky et al., 1983). Contents were allowed to cool then 6 drops of  $H_2O_2$  were carefully added before reheating again. There was continuous reheating, cooling and adding 6 drops of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> until the colour changed from black to dark brown (Novosamsky et al., 1983). After this, the heater was turned to high setting on the hot plate before re-heating, cooling and adding 6 drops of H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> again. Thereafter, contents turned colourless on cooling then H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> was added and left for 12 minutes. The contents were cooled and transferred quantitatively into a 50 mL volumetric flask, using distilled water to bring to the mark, before cooling and thorough mixing. About 5.0 mL of the supernatant, clear and wetashed with H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> digest solution was pipetted into a 50 mL volumetric flask, then 20 mL distilled water and 10 mL of ascorbic acid reducing agent was added (including to the blanks and standards). Distilled water was used to make to the mark and the flask was shaken well with a stopper on. The contents were allowed to stand for 1 hour to permit full colour development (Novosamsky et al., 1983), and absorbance was measured using a spectrophotometer (SPECTRO UV-11) set at 880nm wavelength. A graph of absorbance was plotted against standard concentration of P in ppm, and solution concentrations for each sample and the blanks were determined. The blank value was subtracted from the sample, hence a value for corrected concentration was obtained (Anderson & Ingram, 1989). The equation below by Novosamsky et al., (1983) was used to calculate total P:

P in sample (%) = 
$$\frac{C*V*F}{W}$$

Where:

C = concentration of P in the sample;

V = volume of the digest;

F = dilution factor;W = weight of the sample.

#### 5.2.2.6 Organic phosphorus determination

Organic P was analysed from two samples of the same soil, with one ignited on the furnace and the other unignited. About 1.0 g of air-dried soil was weighed into a porcelain crucible, then placed in a cool muffle furnace. The temperature of the furnace was slowly raised to 550 °C over a period of 1 to 2 hours (Olsen & Sommers, 1982). Thereafter the soil was ashed at 550 °C for 1 hour, allowed to cool then transferred to a 100 mL polypropylene centrifuge tube (Bowman, 1989). In another separate 100 mL polypropylene centrifuge tube, 1.0 g of unignited air-dried soil was weighed. In both centrifuge tubes with ignited and unignited soil, 50 mL of 1 M H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> was added before shaking overnight (Olsen & Sommers, 1982). After centrifuging, the contents were filtered using Whatman No. 42 filter paper. A 1.0 mL aliquot of either standard, blank or sample was then pipetted into a test tube, to which 4.0 mL of 0.057M ascorbic acid solution and 3.0 mL molybdate reagent were added and mixed well. The contents were left for an hour for a blue colour to develop (Watanabe & Olsen, 1965). The absorbance was read using a spectrophotometer (SPECTRO UV-11) set at 880 nm wavelength, and organic P calculated as follows (Olsen & Sommers, 1982):

$$P_{\text{ignited}} (\%) = \frac{c*0.2}{w}$$

$$P_{\text{unignited}} (\%) = \frac{c*0.2}{w}$$
Organic Phosphorus (\%) = P\_{\text{ignited}} (\%) - P\_{\text{unignited}} (\%)

Where;

W= weight of sample;

c = P concentration for sample solution.

## 5.2.2.7 Extractable phosphorus determination

The 0.057 M ascorbic acid and molybdate reagent used in the analysis of organic P above were again used on bicarbonate extractable P determination. The 0.5 M of Na<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> solution was transferred to a 2000 mL volumetric flask, adjusted to pH 8.5 with 10 % NaOH and made up

to the mark with distilled water. Therefore this solution was used to extract available P in the soil (Watanabe & Olsen, 1965). Air-dried soil, 2.5 g, was weighed into a polyethylene bottle and 50.0 mL extracting solution was added. The polyethylene bottle was shaken for 30 minutes then filtered through Whatman No. 42. A 1.0 mL aliquot of either standard, blank and sample were pipetted into a test tube, then 4.0 mL ascorbic acid solution and 3.0 mL molybdate reagent were added and mixed well. The contents were left for an hour for the colour to develop (Watanabe & Olsen, 1965). The absorbance was read using a SPECTRO UV-11 spectrophotometer set at 880 nm wavelength, and the following equation by Olsen & Sommers, (1982) was used to calculate extractable P:

Bicarbonate extractable phosphate ( $\mu g g^{-1}$ ) =  $\frac{c*20}{w}$ 

Where;

w = weight of sample;

c = P concentration for sample solution.

#### 5. 2.3 Statistical Analyses

An analysis of variance (ANOVA) test was done to determine the effect of tillage and fertilizer application rate on soil P and N availability at different soil depths. Treatment factors were tillage practices, N fertilizer application rate and soil depth. The Fisher's protected LSD test was used as a post-hoc test for multiple comparison to compare treatment means and their interactions. The P value (<0.05) was used to determine significant differences between treatment factors. All tests were performed with GenStat 14.1 for Windows software (VSN international, 2011).

# 5.3 Results

#### **5.3.1. Total N variations**

Total N of NT was higher (p<0.05) than CT-Y5 and CT-ANNUAL at all application rates in the 0-10 cm soil depth (Figure 5.2). At 240 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>, total N of CT-Y5 (0.46 g kg<sup>-1</sup>) was higher than that of CT-ANNUAL (0.42 g kg<sup>-1</sup>) in the 0-10 cm depth, while 60 and 240 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> rates generally had higher total N than the control and 120 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> rate for most tillage techniques (p<0.05). At 10-20 cm soil depth, NT had higher total N (0.64 g kg<sup>-1</sup>) than CT-Y5 and CT-ANNUAL (0.48 and 0.43 g kg<sup>-1</sup>, respectively) in the control, while at 60 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>, NT had higher total N, (0.61 g kg<sup>-1</sup>) than CT-ANNUAL (0.42 g kg<sup>-1</sup>) (p<0.05). However at 120 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> in 10-20 cm depth, CT-ANNUAL (0.62 g k<sup>-1</sup>g) had higher total N than CT-Y5 (0.45 g kg<sup>-1</sup>), while at 240 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>, CT-ANNUAL had more total N (0.18 g kg<sup>-1</sup>) than NT (0.43 g kg<sup>-1</sup>). In the 20-30 cm depth at 60 and 120 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>, NT had higher total N than CT-Y5 had more total N than NT at 240 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> application rate (p<0.05).



Figure 5. 2: Variation of total N with depth under different tillage techniques and urea fertilizer application rates.

#### 5.3.2 Nitrate variation.

Figure 5.3 shows that at 0, 60 and 120 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>, CT-Y5 had the lowest nitrate-N in the 0-10 cm soil depth, while at 120 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> CT-ANNUAL had higher nitrate-N than NT (p<0.05). However at 240 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>, NT (9.96 mg kg<sup>-1</sup>) had higher (p<0.05) nitrate-N, than CT-ANNUAL (5.27 mg kg<sup>-1</sup>) and CT-Y5 (5.22 mg kg<sup>-1</sup>). In the 10-20 cm soil depth, CT-ANNUAL had higher (p<0.05) nitrate-N (9.48 mg kg<sup>-1</sup>) than NT (6.71 mg kg<sup>-1</sup>) and CT-Y5 (4.52 mg kg<sup>-1</sup>) at 60 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>, while at 120 and 240 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>, NT had the highest nitrate-N (p<0.05) (Figure 5.3). In the 20-30 cm soil depth, CT-Y5 had the lowest nitrate-N than CT-ANNUAL at 0 and 60 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>, however at 60 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>, CT-ANNUAL (9.33 mg kg<sup>-1</sup>) had higher nitrate-N than NT (6.0 mg kg<sup>-1</sup>) (p<0.05). Again, at 120 and 240 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>, NT was also higher than CT-ANNUAL (p<0.05).



Figure 5. 3: Variation of nitrate-N with depth under different tillage techniques and urea fertilizer application rates.

# 5.3.3 Ammonium concentration at different depths.

Ammonium-N was highest in NT at 0 and 60 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> in the 0-10 cm soil depth (p<0.05), while no notable differences were recorded at the other application rates (Figure 5.4). In the 10-20 cm depth, NT also had higher (p<0.05) ammonium-N (1.77  $\mu$ g kg<sup>-1</sup>), than CT-Y5 (0.58  $\mu$  kg<sup>-1</sup>) and CT-ANNUAL (0.41  $\mu$  kg<sup>-1</sup>) at 60 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>. The last 20-30 cm depth saw CT-Y5 having higher (p<0.05) ammonium-N (1.55  $\mu$ g kg<sup>-1</sup>) than CT-ANNUAL (0.32  $\mu$ g kg<sup>-1</sup>) and NT (0.26  $\mu$ g kg<sup>-1</sup>) at 120 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>.



Figure 5. 4: Variation of ammonium-N with depth under different tillage techniques and urea fertilizer application rates.

# 5.3.4 N mineralisation in different treatments.

N mineralisation was highest in NT in the control at 0-10 cm soil depth (p<0.05), but did not vary at other N rates (Figure 5.5). In the 10-20 cm soil depth, CT-Y5 had higher N mineralisation than NT at 120 and 240 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> (p<0.05). Furthermore CT-Y5 at 120 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> had higher N mineralisation, 0.044  $\mu$ g N kg<sup>-1</sup> soil, compared to CT-ANNUAL which had 0.017  $\mu$ g N kg<sup>-1</sup> soil in 10-20 cm (p<0.05). Moreover in the 20-30 cm soil depth, CT-Y5 at 240 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> had higher N mineralisation than NT at 60 and 240 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>, while CT-Y5 at 240 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> had higher mineral N than NT(p<0.05).



Figure 5. 5: Variation of anaerobic N mineralization with depth under different tillage techniques and urea fertilizer application rates.

# **5.3.5** Total P variations.

Total P in the 0-10 cm soil depth was higher (p<0.05) under NT in all treatments (Figure 5.6). At 120 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>, CT-ANNUAL had higher total P (1.13 g kg<sup>-1</sup>) than NT (0.49 g kg<sup>-1</sup>) in the 10-20 cm soil depth, whereas at 240 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>, CT-Y5 had higher total P than NT (p<0.05). In the 20-30 cm soil depth, total P was highest under NT at all application rates (p<0.05).



Figure 5. 6: Variation of total P with depth under different tillage techniques and urea fertilizer application rates.

## **5.3.6 Organic P variation in different treatments**

Figure 5.7 shows that organic P was generally higher under NT compared to other tillage techniques at all application rates in the 0-10 cm soil depth, (p<0.05). CT-ANNUAL at 0 and 240 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> also had higher organic P than CT-Y5 in this depth (p<0.05). At 10-20 cm soil depth, NT had higher organic P than CT-ANNUAL in the control (p<0.05). While at 60 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> both NT and CT-ANNUAL had higher organic P than CT-Y5, with NT being also higher in organic P (110 mg kg<sup>-1</sup>) than CT-ANNUAL (70 mg kg<sup>-1</sup>) in the 10-20 cm depth (p<0.05). Again at 60 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> in the 20-30 cm soil depth, NT had higher organic P than CT-Y5 (p<0.05).



Figure 5. 7: Variation of Organic P with depth under different tillage techniques and urea fertilizer application rates.

# 5.3.7 Extractable phosphorus variations

Figure 5.8 shows that extractable P in the 0-10 cm soil depth was higher under NT in all treatments (p<0.05). At 60 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> in the 10-20 cm soil depth, CT-Y5 had higher extractable P (0.008  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup>) than CT-ANNUAL (0.001  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup>), while at 120 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>, NT (0.007  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup>) had higher extractable P than CT-Y5 (0.003  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup>), and at 240 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> CT-ANNUAL had higher extractable P than CT-Y5 (p<0.05). In the control at 20-30 cm depth, CT-Y5 and CT-ANNUAL had higher extractable P than NT, while the other N rates did not differ in extractable P (p<0.05).



Figure 5. 8: Variation of extractable P with depth under different tillage techniques and urea fertilizer application rates.

# 5.4 Discussion

The high levels of total N under NT than CT-Y5 and CT-ANNUAL in the 0-10 cm depth may be attributed to accumulation of crop residues on the surface and less soil disturbance. While ploughing of soil under CT-ANNUAL improves aeration that accelerates decomposition of organic material and mineralization of organic N into soluble forms that can be easily lost through leaching. The reduced oxygen availability below the surface of NT systems also reduces decomposition rates causing SOM to be retained in conservation-tillage systems (Wershaw, 1993). While buried residues in CT also decompose 3.4 times the rate of residues left on the soil surface (Beare et al., 1994). Zibilske et al., (2002) observed that NT and minimum tillage promoted greater concentrations of N at the soil surface, but was uniformly distributed with depth under CT. This explains the observed increased total N under CT-ANNUAL at 120 and 240 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> due to incorporation of mineral N fertilizer to deeper soil layers at 10-20 cm depth. Havlin et al., (1990) determined that reducing tillage and maintaining surface residues in a long-term study increased soil N in the surface 2.5 cm depth. While Ghidey & Alberts, (1993) also observed that buried residues and roots experienced more extensive rapid decomposition than surface residues, causing the more slowly decomposed surface residues to supply nutrients to crops in the long-term.

In our study tillage solely determined variations of N concentrations in the surface layer, whereas in the subsoil, N fertilization also had a salient effect. Thus high total N at 20-30 cm depth and 240 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> observed in CT-Y5 may be attributed to both increased decomposition of organic material, through residue incorporation during tillage and high amount of N fertilizer. McCarty & Meisinger, (1997) observed that N fertilization at rates in excess of crop requirements tended to decrease amounts of OM in these soils. Green & Blackmer, (1995) explained that NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> stimulated decomposition of residues, which accounted for decreased SOM due to excessive N fertilization in their study. In contrast, other researchers argued that although N fertilizer addition often accelerates initial decomposition of crop residue it has little effect on amounts of C ultimately retained in soil (Parr & Papendick, 1978).

Soil  $NO_3^-$  and  $NH_4^+$  concentration were inversely related in all treatments. Thus  $NO_3^-$  had its peak in 0-10 cm under CT-ANNUAL at 120 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>, whereas the  $NH_4^+$  peaked in NT at 0 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> for this depth. Moreover,  $NO_3^-$  was the more predominant available N ion in all

treatments. This can be attributed to clay loam texture of the soil with good drainage and aeration which enhances nitrification of  $NH_4^+$  to  $NO_3^-$ . The soil characteristics (shown in Chapter 3) had low exchangeable acidity (0.03-3.9 cmol<sub>c</sub> kg<sup>-1</sup>), slightly acidic pH (3.44-5.28) and adequate soil moisture for nitrification to occur. According to Li et al., (2018)  $NH_4^+$  levels are usually relatively low compared to  $NO_3^-$  in arable soils as nitrification is predominant. This is contrary to the findings by Silgram & Shepherd, (1999) who observed that  $NH_4^+$  was more predominant than  $NO_3^-$  and attributed this to the high activity of the ammonifying bacteria in contrast to nitrifiers which can be retarded by low water potential of dryland soil. In addition, environmental concerns have arisen in recent years regarding the susceptibility of soils to  $NO_3^-$  leaching (Silgram & Shepherd, 1999). Loss of  $NO_3^-$  from soil systems via leaching depletes soil N reserves over the long term, and can carry an agronomic cost as a result of declining soil fertility. Leached  $NO_3^-$  also contributes to eutrophication of freshwater bodies which have been linked to human health issues (Silgram & Shepherd, 1999).

Minimum tillage (CT-Y5), had the lowest NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> concentration at all depths. This was similar to findings by Dowdell & Cannell, (1975), who observed lower soil NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> in minimum tillage than ploughed treatments, due to decreased mineralization of organic N under minimum tillage than CT, and reduced accumulation of residues compared to NT. Cameira et al., (1996) also reported lower soil NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> under minimum tillage than CT, and attributed this to lower nitrification and mineralization, as well as larger loss of NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> through denitrification due to less aerobic soil conditions under minimum tillage than under CT (Doran, 1980). The high NO3<sup>-</sup> in CT-ANNUAL at 0-10 cm may be attributed to increased mineralisation of organic N during ploughing, while at 60 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> in sub-surface may be attributed to enhanced mineralisation of immobilized N as a result of incorporation of surface material. High N application rates of 120 and 240 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> were not beneficial as they had reduced NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> since they stimulate increased microbial population which would assimilate and immobilize N, and also excessive NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> is susceptible to leaching losses. Goss et al., (1993) found that CT at 20 cm soil depth increased NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> leaching losses by 21% mainly as a result of the enhanced mineralization of SOM. However, minimum tillage increased NO3<sup>-</sup> leaching losses following fertilizer application (Goss et al., 1988), probably as a result of greater bypass (macropore) flow in minimum tillage compared to CT, because ploughing would have disrupted the continuity and connectivity of macropore channels involved in solute transport. El-Haris et al., (1983) reported

that CT resulted in higher mineral N, lower organic C, and a narrower C/N ratio in the top 15 cm relative to NT, which was likely caused by rapid decomposition during ploughing.

The high NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> levels in the surface of NT (with the exception of CT-ANNUAL at 120 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>) were expected, because microbial activity is higher due to organic surface residues of NT. This was contrary to findings by Rees et al., (1996), who found no observable differences in NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> accumulation at any depth when N rates were <90 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>. According to Rees et al., (1996) excess NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> not consumed by microbes is assimilated by the crop, fixed on soil exchange sites, denitrified, volatilized and/or immobilized via other pathways. In our study, the control was characterised by low NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> levels compared to 60 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> in most treatments, and this may be attributed to less biomass production due to low N supply. Singh &. Singh, (1993) also observed greater NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> (by 45-66 %) in the N fertilized plots. At a dryland long-term research site, El-Haris et al., (1983) reported an 88% increase in inorganic N after 67 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> fertilizer application. Again, the disturbance caused by cultivation has not always increased soil mineral N status (Soon & Clayton, 2002), and the fate of any additional mineral N will depend on soil texture, which will control its susceptibility to leaching.

The higher  $NH_4^+$  in NT (at 0 and 60 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> in 0-10 cm) and CT-Y5 (at 120 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> in 20-30 cm) may be attributed to high ammonification due to abundant OM substrate, and high adsorption of  $NH_4^+$  by organic soil colloids. Das et al., (2009) found that the application of N fertilizers contributed to large amounts of  $NH_4^+$ , which will eventually be converted into ammonia that volatilises in gaseous form. However, we cannot explicitly verify the concentration of ammonia that volatilized since there were no measurements done but the soil conditions such as high soil moisture and temperature, and accumulation of soil residues favoured volatilisation under NT. A study by Rees et al., (1996), found no treatment differences in  $NH_4^+$  accumulation at any depth or N application rate. In our study, the higher  $NH_4^+$  levels under NT at low application rates in 0-10 cm depth is because of high organic N that can be easily decomposed to available N, whereas at higher application rates ammonia will be volatilized.  $NH_4^+$  is normally generated by the hydrolysis of inorganic fertilizers and is either adsorbed on clay surfaces or nitrified (Singh et al., 2002).

N mineralisation generally decreased with fertilizer application. Again, it was higher at 0-10 cm depth compared to subsurface soil, especially in the control of NT. El-Haris et al., (1983)

also observed high N mineralization at 0-10 cm in NT soil, whereas for CT, it was greater at 10-20 cm depth which was similar with the current study at 240 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>. Long-term residue retention in NT systems can increase the size and turnover of microbial biomass, and hence OM mineralization compared with CT, due to improved soil moisture retention induced by surface residues (El-Haris et al., 1983). However, Silgram & Shepherd, (1999) reported that practices that disrupt soil structure such as cultivation, may accelerate N mineralization and nitrification. This is due to their positive effects on soil porosity, aeration, hydraulic conductivity, and because the physical disruption may bring microbial populations into contact with fresh, previously unavailable organic substrates (Silgram & Shepherd, 1999).

CT-Y5 generally had higher N mineralisation for most treatments at 10-20 cm. Combined residue retention and ploughing after 4 seasons might be attributed to this. El-Haris et al., (1983) also observed that ploughing after 4-5 years of NT enhanced N mineralization over NT and CT. Results also showed that NT recorded the least N mineralisation at 20-30 cm depth. According to Doran, (1987), tillage effect differs with depth, with N mineralisation of NT soils being 34% higher in the surface layer (0-7.5 cm) than those of ploughed soils, while the opposite was observed at 7.5-15 cm depth. Cultivation generally leads to a temporary increase in soil mineral N and availability of a larger pool of C substrates that supports greater microbial activity (Li et al., 2018). Without CT, OM and nutrients such as N tend to accumulate at or near the surface, and this may restrict mineralization in the soil beneath (Chamen & Parkin, 1995). Over supply of N, 240 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>, under NT may lead to immobilisation, N assimilation and reduction in N mineralisation of subsurface soil. This is because microbes will assimilate the excess N thus immobilizing and fixing it. Thus, excessive N fertilization causes a shift in the decomposer-community composition, where microbes with high N-assimilation efficiency outcompete decomposers (Couteaux et al., 1995). Of particular importance to agriculture is the question of whether soil disturbance alters net N mineralization, or simply modifies the temporal dynamics of N release into plant-available forms (Silgram & Shepherd, 1999).

NT had higher total P at 0-10 and 20-30 cm soil depths. This may be attributed to high OM under NT due to accumulation of crop residues and lack of soil disturbance. The low P of NT at 10-20 cm may be due to accumulation of P from senescent roots under CT-Y5 and CT-ANNUAL because roots can be easily distributed to open pores from tillage. Similar findings

were observed by Franzluebbers & Hons, (1996) where soil under NT had greater P at 0-5 cm and 15-30 cm depths compared to CT which had higher P at 5-15 cm depth. This was due to surface accumulation of residues and increased OM in NT whereas in CT residues accumulated mainly in the root zone (5-15 cm depth). Bertol et al., (2007) observed accumulations of total P at the surface three to five times greater in NT than CT. According to Khan et al., (2018), the rate of translocation of P down the soil profile was much less than that of N and K, as P was fixed onto mineral and organic compounds, which resulted in its accumulation in the plough layer. However, many field studies have demonstrated P leaching to subsoil in both coarse and fine-textured soils (Wang et al., 2015). Indeed, continuous, long-term fertilization in excess of crop requirements has been shown to result in P leaching in many soils (Khan et al., 2018). Redel et al., (2007) highlighted that greater total soil P at 0-10 but not 15-30 cm under reduced tillage reflected a lower degree of mixing and distribution of P compared to CT. In a study by Selles et al., (1997), P was distributed uniformly throughout the depth of sampling under minimum tillage and CT, whereas under NT, its distribution reflected accumulation of crop residues in the soil surface layer. The significant drop in P with depth under NT was attributed to lack of soil disturbance which fosters accumulation of organic material at or near the surface and has the potential to affect bio-cycling of P (Selles et al., 1997).

An increase in P availability under NT could be attributed to its release from crop residues (Guppy et al., 2005). Damon et al., (2014) however observed that crop residues with low P concentration (as a result of translocation of most stubble P into grain), such as cereal stubble, will not make a significant contribution to soil P. Selles et al., (1997) highlighted that the difference in total P could also be attributed to higher erosive losses under CT than NT. In our current study NT had higher total P in all application rates in all sampled depth except at 10-20 cm depth which may be attributed to higher bases and ammonium, which fixed P, on the same depths relative to other tillage systems. P fixation by acidic ions is high at lower soil pH, particularly in weathered soils with high Fe and Al oxides and pH-dependent charge minerals such as kaolinite (Bolan et al., 2003). Therefore, CT-Y5 and CT-ANNUAL with lower pH than NT especially at 0-10 cm depth, (Chapter 3, Table 3.1), had its P fixed. According to Barber et al., (1963) P is absorbed from a small cylinder of soil surrounding the root, because it diffuses slowly through the soil with high PH favouring P availability compared to soil with low pH. NH4<sup>+</sup> is often superior to NO3<sup>-</sup> in stimulating P uptake, because of its effect on transferring P across the root symplast (Riley & Barber, 1971). The uptake of NO3<sup>-</sup> on the other hand causes

plant roots to exude anions into the soil solution to balance excess negative charge, which can displace P adsorbed onto soil colloids therefore enhancing P desorption. P sorption capacity of soils is governed by the concentration, types and surfaces of Al and iron oxides, even in calcareous soils (Frossard et al., 1995). While P removal from the soil solution results from its adsorption, precipitation and immobilization (Bünemann, 2015). However, P replenishment results from a combination of desorption, dissolution and mineralization (Bünemann, 2015). Immobilisation of soil P occurs when total P content of residues is insufficient to meet the P requirement of microbial biomass as it proliferates in response to new C substrates (Damon et al., 2014). While availability of adsorbed organic P to microorganisms or enzymes can increase with increasing residue cover of the soil (Olsson et al., 2012) as well as with exudation of organic anions (Giles et al., 2012).

Slower decomposition of plant residues may prevent rapid mineralisation of organic P and its translocation through the soil profile, which is more likely to occur when plant residues are accumulating on the soil surface under NT, because of less aeration and high soil moisture content. However, the higher organic P under CT-ANNUAL relative to CT-Y5 at 10-20 cm depth may be attributed to lower pH and higher exchangeable acidity especially at 60 and 120 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>, (Chapter 3, Table 2) under CT-ANNUAL which will intensify immobilisation of organic P. Reed et al., (2011) highlighted that sorption and stabilisation of organic P is greatest in highly weathered soils with high P fixing capacities because weathering results in the prevalence of 1:1 clays (e.g. kaolinite) and in Al and Fe sesquioxides that effectively sorb P. This agrees with the current study since annual ploughing breaks down soil aggregates and increase soil pores which in turn may accelerate chemical weathering making CT-ANNUAL to sorb high organic P compared to CT-Y5. Sorption and subsequent stabilisation of organic P in soil remains a major cause for the dynamics of P release from crop residues to deviate from that of C and N (Damon et al., 2014). Furthermore, under CT there is rapid mineralization of organic P to supply plant and microbial P compared to conservation tillage. On the other hand under NT, organic P in plant residues is decomposed slowly by microbes and would have less opportunity to be fixed by soil colloids compared to CT (Thibaud et al., 1988). Thus high organic P under NT compared to CT-Y5 and CT-ANNUAL were observed in the current study especially in surface soil. Under NT organic P remain protected against fixation whereas in CT, residues are decomposed and organic P get adsorbed immediately (Thibaud et al., 1988).

In the current study extractable P was less than both total and organic P which concurs with many previous literature. Again the effect of N application on extractable P at 0-10 and 20-30 cm soil depth was minimum with fluctuations at 10-20 cm depth, however extractable P decreased with depth. This was similar to findings by Franzluebbers & Hons, (1996) who observed no effect of N fertilization on extractable P. The high extractable P in NT at 0-10 cm depth can also be attributed to residue accumulation and low soil disturbance compared to CT-Y5 and CT-ANNUAL. This is because higher total and organic P under NT at 0-10 cm allowed sufficient plant available P within the soil solution. According to Margenot et al., (2017), reduced tillage appeared to favour P immobilization, while CT favoured its mineralization, which was contrary this study. Higher mineralisation under CT than NT was not evident in the current study because of high OM under NT which compensated for higher concentration of mineralized P. Thus over a longer time period there was more P mineralised under NT than CT due to sufficient OM supply. In CT, ploughing exposes adsorption sites thereby increasing adsorption of P by ligand exchange in comparison to NT (Fink et al., 2016). Soluble P accumulation in NT is attributed to a decrease in the adsorption of P onto mineral surfaces due to less adsorption sites and to the release of P from mineralization of OM (Guppy et al. 2005). Franzluebbers & Hons, (1996) reported similar findings of greater extractable P under NT in surface soil, before decreasing rapidly with depth. This agrees with current findings especially at 20-30 cm depth in the control treatment where extractable P was extremely low under NT.

Decrease of extractable P with depth in NT compared with CT is probably a direct result of surface-placement of crop residues that leads to accumulation of SOM and microbial biomass near the surface (Franzluebbers et al., 1995). OM additions under residue retention can reduce P fixation by increasing organic anion competition for P binding sites (Palm et al., 2007). Furthermore, NT improves soil aggregation, which can reduce P fixation by decreasing outer soil surface area and therefore potential sorption sites (Zhang et al., 2004). This shows that P availability is influenced by the physicochemical properties of soil such as moisture, organic C, bases and pH which change with depth and tillage technique. Bases, soil moisture and soil organic C were higher at the surface of NT relative to CT-ANNUAL, however, in the subsurface the opposite was true. This was contrary to findings of Franzluebbers & Hons, (1996) who reported that more extractable P with NT than CT was also present below the till-zone, which could be due to accumulation of P in senescent roots (Unger, 1991). In a study by Edwards et al., (1992), there were no differences of extractable P between tillage systems in

the subsoil. The elongation of plant roots under CT-ANNUAL and their decomposition later may increase plant available P in subsoil through P release from roots. Rubaek et al., (2013) proposed that the transfer of P can be caused by leaching of dissolved and colloidal P from top to subsoil, bioturbation by soil-dwelling animals and redistribution due to root activity.

# 5.5 Conclusion

Soil tillage influences the magnitude and dynamics of mineralization by altering the distribution of OM with depth. Total P and N, as well as organic P were greater under NT at 0-10 cm depth. This was due to the accumulation of crop residues and minimal soil disturbance. Moreover total P was higher in NT at 20-30 cm, while total N also was higher at 60 and 120 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> at this depth this may be due to high ability to replenish adsorbed and extracted P from the solution. Further, NT caused greater N mineralization in the control at 0-10 cm depth which eventually decreased with depth. The  $NO_3^-$  and  $NH_4^+$  trends were inversely related, with NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> having higher concentrations in all treatments. NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> was higher under CT-ANNUAL at 10-20 and 20-30 cm depth in 0 and 60 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>, which was attributed to great mineralization due to ploughing and mixing of soil with organic materials and fertilizer, respectively. However, CT-Y5 had lower NO3<sup>-</sup> concentrations than CT-ANNUAL and NT due to lower nitrification, mineralization of OM and residue accumulation, respectively under CT-Y5. Leaching and sorption of extractable P may have contributed to its low levels under CT-ANNUAL at 0-10 cm depth especially in lower application rates. While conservation tillage tended to have enough buffer to be able to replenish diminished P by plants or microbes. NT was great in nutrient (N and P) retention and distribution especially on the surface. NT at 60 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> in 0-10 cm soil depth had an optimum total N,  $NO_3^-$ ,  $NH_4^+$ , total P and organic P thus showing its salient impact on the sustenance of soil fertility. Therefore NT at 60 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> would be mostly recommended in sustaining soil productivity.

# **CHAPTER 6**

# ENZYME ACTIVITY UNDER DIFFERENT TILLAGE TECHNIQUES AND N FERTILIZER MANAGEMENT IN DRY LAND AGRICULTURE

# 6.1 Introduction

Soil is a habitat of a wide range of microorganisms, which help in the decomposition of OM and immobilization of heavy metals. Microorganisms together with plants are major sources of soil enzymes. They play an important role in ecosystem function because they contribute to the cycling of key nutrients such as C and N (Alster et al., 2013). Soil enzymes influence the release of nutrients for plant and microbial growth, and regulate gas exchange between soils and the atmosphere (Conrad et al., 1983). As such enzyme activity can be used as an index of soil microbial activity (Benitez et al., 2000). Again enzymes provide a useful tool for long-term monitoring of changes in soil health and quality and they have been proposed as soil fertility indicators (Frankenberger & Dick, 1983).

Climate, especially rainfall and temperature play a significant role on enzyme activity. In the study area, precipitation is mostly predominant in summer with high temperatures, while the winter season has low temperatures and less precipitation. Therefore under these conditions enzymes activity would be reduced in winter and high in summer due to more conducive climatic conditions. According to Alster et al., (2013), a decrease in enzyme activity with drier conditions could be due to lower microbial biomass or adsorption of enzymes to soil particles in drier conditions, that limit catalytic rates while reducing enzyme turnover (Steinweg et al., 2012). Furthermore, thinner water films could increase contact between enzymes and insoluble OM, leading to enzyme immobilization and protection from degradation (Nannipieri et al., 2002). Thus the activity of soil enzymes is sensitive to the environment in which they are located (Dick, 1984). Dick & Tabatabai, (1984) observed that acid phosphatase activity was predominant in acid soils, while alkaline phosphatase activity was high in neutral to alkaline soils.

Management practises such as tillage and fertilizer application can also alter spatial and profile distribution of soil enzymes. Dick, (1984) showed that the activity of some enzymes was higher in NT than CT in the top 7.5 cm layer. In essence, long-term tillage can alter soil structure and increase OM losses, since it disrupts soil aggregates exposing more OM to microbial attack (Beare et al., 1994). Considering that soil enzymes are produced by microbes and plants, their activity would be strongly influenced by the microbial biomass pool. There is also a strong relationship between SOM content and enzyme activity would increase with decreased tillage in a manner similar to SOM content (Alvarez et al., 1995). Dick, (1984) found soil urease, acid phosphatase and invertase activity in the 0-10 cm surface layer to be higher in NT than CT fields. According to Dick, (1984) the higher enzyme activity in the surface profile of NT compared to CT plots indicate greater biological activity near the soil surface due to higher organic residues of NT.

Soil physical and chemical properties are important factors affecting microbial growth and activity, as a consequence, they may determine changes in enzymatic activity (Curci et al., 1997). N fertilization enhances physicochemical and biological characteristics of the soil through cementing aggregates together and providing substrates to the microbes, thereby affecting enzymatic activity. Long-term N addition resulted in reduced C versus N availability for microbial growth, thus stimulating the production of C-acquiring rather than N-acquiring enzymes (Cenini et al., 2016). Inorganic N availability generally has an inhibitory effect on the activity of N-acquiring enzymes (Allison et al., 2010). Jian et al., (2016) found that N fertilization stimulated hydrolases associated with C and P acquisition, depressed oxidase activity and had no effect on hydrolases associated with N acquisition. In contrast to the Pacquiring enzymes with a demonstrated robust link to microbial P demand, the correspondence between N-acquiring enzyme activity and N demand is weak because mineralization of organic N compounds is often coupled to energy acquisition (Sullivan et al., 2014). Thus unlike Pacquiring phosphatase enzymes which have wide substrate affinities, each N compound is decomposed by a distinct enzyme system (Fujita et al., 2017). Because of its sensitivity, ease and low cost of measurement, soil enzyme activity may be key for soil assessments related to sustainability (Park & Seaton, 1996). Enzyme activity may be useful for validation of changes in soil quality predicted by simulation models from existing data bases (Acton, 1994). Again it may be useful to verify effectiveness of management practices in sustainable crop production

systems (Kennedy & Papendick, 1995). Soil enzyme activity responds to tillage and N fertilizer input, but it is important to assay their activity at different depths. Therefore the objective of this study was to assay the activities of urease, invertase and acid phosphatase under different tillage and urea fertilizer management. The criteria for choosing the types of enzyme assays was based on their importance in major nutrient cycling processes.

# 6.2 Material and Methods

The study site with maize mono-cropping, was described in detail in Chapter 3, (Section 3.2).

### 6.2.1 Soil sampling procedure

The soil sampling procedure was also described in Chapter 3, (Section 3.2.1).

#### 6.2.2 Urease enzyme assay

Fresh soil samples, refrigerated at 4 °C for 2 weeks, were ground and sieved to pass through a 2 mm sieve. Five grams of soil was placed in 100 mL Erlenmeyer flask and wetted with 2.5 mL of 0.08M aqueous urea solution (Kandeler & Gerber, 1988). The flask was stoppered and placed in an incubator at 37 °C for 2 hours. After 2 hours the stopper was removed and 30 mL of 1M KCI and 20 mL 0.01M HCI were added, then the mixture was shaken for 30 minutes. After centrifuging, the contents were filtered using Whatman No. 42 filter paper, so that a clear suspension could be extracted. One millilitre of filtrate was diluted with 10 mL of distilled water, then 5.0 mL of sodium salicylate solution and 2.0 mL of 0.1% sodium dichlorisocynurate were added. The diluted filtrate was then analysed for ammonium after 30 minutes using a SPECTRO UV-11 spectrophotometer set at 690 nm (Kandeler & Gerber, 1988). Standards and blanks containing 0, 0.5, 1.0, 1.5 and 2.0 ug mL<sup>-1</sup> NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>-N were prepared and also analysed as above. The NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> content was calculated by reference to a calibration graph plotted from the results obtained with diluted standards (Kandeler & Gerber, 1988). Urease activity was then expressed as mg NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> g<sup>-1</sup> soil, (Kandeler & Gerber, 1988).

#### 6.2.3 Invertase enzyme assay

Sieved soil (<2 mm) of about 3.0 g was placed into a 50 mL Erlenmeyer flask, then 0.2 mL of toluene and 5.0 mL of 0.17 M modified universal buffer (MUB) was added, and the contents swirled for a few seconds to mix well (Frankeberger & Johanson, 1983). Furthermore 5.0 mL of 10% sucrose solution with a final concentration of 0.29 M was added, and the flask swirled again for a few seconds before placing it in an incubator set at 37 °C for 24 hours. After incubation, the contents were filtered using Watman No. 42 filter paper. A 1.0 mL aliquot of filtrate was pipetted into a 50 mL test tube then 5.0 mL of deionized water, 2.0 mL of 2 M NaOH and 2.0 mL of colour reagent (a mixture of 0.2 g of 3, 5-dinitrosalicylic acid monohydrate, 0.025 g of sodium carbonate and 0.005 g of EDTA (ethylenedinitrilo) - tetra acetic acid disodium salt) were added. After vortexing, the test tube was placed into a boiling water bath for 5 minutes then allowed to cool at room temperature. A similar procedure was conducted on the blanks and standards. The colour intensity was measured using a spectrophotometer (SPECTRO UV-11) set at wavelength 540 nm. The reducing sugar content of the extracts was calculated by reference to a calibration graph plotted from results obtained with glucose.

#### 6.2.4 Acid phosphatase enzyme assay

Considering that soil pH was mostly slightly acidic, acid phosphatase activity was determined by incubation of soil with p-nitrophenol phosphatase (Alef & Nanniepieri, 1995). Sieved soil (<2 mm) of 1.0 g mass was placed into a 50 mL Erlenmeyer flask, then 0.25 mL of toluene, 4.0 mL of MUB (adjusted to pH 6.5) and 1.0 mL of 0.025 M p-nitrophynel phosphate solution were added. The contents, with a stopper, were swirled for few seconds then incubated for an hour at 37 °C. The stopper was removed after incubation and 1.0 mL of 0.5 M CaCI<sub>2</sub> and 4.0 mL of 0.5 M NaOH were added. The flask was swirled for a few seconds then the suspension filtered through Whatman no. 42 filter paper. According to Alef & Nanniepieri, (1995) the filtrate is supposed to have a yellow colour. All the steps done on the samples were also done on the blanks and standards. The absorbance of the filtrate was measured using a spectrophotometer (SPECTRO UV-11) set at wavelength 400 nm. The results were corrected for the blank, and p-nitrophenol per 1.0 mL of the filtrate then calculated by reference to the calibration curve as follows (Alef & Nanniepieri, 1995);

# p-nitophenol (µg g<sup>-1</sup> dwt hr<sup>-1</sup>)= $\frac{(C*\nu)}{dwt*SW*t}$

Where:

C = measured concentration of sample in  $\mu g g^{-1} mL$  filtrate;

Dwt = dry weight of 1.0 g soil;

V = total volume of soil suspension in mL;

SW = weight of soil sample used which (i.e. 1.0 g) and

T= incubation time which was 1 hour.

## 6.2.5 Statistical Analyses

An analysis of variance (ANOVA) test was done to determine the effect of tillage and fertilizer rates on soil enzyme activity at different depths. Treatment factors were tillage practice, N fertilizer application rate and soil depth. The Fisher's protected LSD was used as a post-hoc test for multiple comparison between treatment means and their interactions. The p value (<0.05) was used to determine the level of significant difference between treatment means. All tests were performed with GenStat 14.1 for Windows software (VSN international, 2011).
# 6.3 Results

#### 6.3.1. Urease activity

Urease activity at 0-10 cm soil depth was higher (p<0.05) under NT in all treatments, except for CT-Y5 at 240 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> (Figure 6.1). While CT-Y5 at 0 and 240 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> had higher urease activity than CT-ANNUAL at this depth (p<0.05). In the 10-20 cm soil depth, urease activity was higher under CT-Y5 at 60 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> (p<0.05). Furthermore, at 120 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>, CT-Y5 (8.38 mg NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> g<sup>-1</sup>) had higher urease activity (p<0.05) than NT (6.87 mg NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> g<sup>-1</sup> soil) in this depth (Figure 6.1). Moreover NT in 10-20 cm soil depth had higher urease activity than CT-ANNUAL at 60 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>, as it also had higher urease activity than CT-Y5 and CT-ANNUAL at 240 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> (p<0.05). Figure 6.1 shows that CT-ANNUAL at 20-30 cm depth had higher (p<0.05) urease activity than NT in the control and CT-Y5 at 240 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>. While at 60 and 120 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> urease activity was higher under NT compared to both CT-ANNUAL and CT-Y5 (p<0.05). In addition at 240 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>, urease activity under NT (13.27 mg NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> g<sup>-1</sup> soil) was higher than under CT-Y5 (8.37 mg NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> g<sup>-1</sup> soil) in the 20-30 cm soil depth (p<0.05).



Figure 6. 1: Urease activity at different soil depths, N application rates and tillage techniques.

# 6.3.2. Invertase activity

Figure 6.2 shows that in the 0-10 cm soil depth, NT at 120 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> had higher invertase activity than CT-Y5 and CT-ANNUAL (p<0.05). However at 10-20 cm depth, NT had the lowest invertase activity in the control, while CT-Y5 was lowest at 60 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>, (p<0.05). However, at 120 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> in 10-20 cm soil depth, NT had the highest invertase activity (p<0.05). In the 20-30 cm depth, CT-ANNUAL had the highest invertase activity at 0 and 240 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> (p<0.05). While at 60 and 120 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>, NT had the highest invertase activity (p<0.05), and CT-ANNUAL (1.68 mg glucose g<sup>-1</sup> soil) had the lowest activity at 120 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>, (Figure 6.2).



Figure 6. 2: Invertase activity at different soil depths, N application rates and tillage techniques.

# 6.3.1. Acid phosphatase activity

Acid phosphatase activity was highest under NT (p<0.05) at 0 and 240 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> in the 0-10 cm soil depth (Figure 6.3). However, in the 10-20 cm depth CT-ANNUAL had the highest phosphatase activity at 0 and 240 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>, whereas at 60 and 120 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>, CT-Y5 had higher phosphatase activity than CT-ANNUAL (p<0.05). However, NT actually recorded the highest phosphatase activity (7062  $\mu$ g g<sup>-1</sup> dwt<sup>-1</sup> hr<sup>-1</sup>) at 60 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> for this depth (p<0.05). In the 20-30 cm depth, CT-Y5 at 0 and 60 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> had the highest phosphatase activity (p<0.05). While at 120 and 240 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>, CT-ANNUAL had the highest activity of this depth (p<0.05).



Figure 6. 3: Acid phosphatase activity at different soil depths, N application rates and tillage techniques.

# 6.4 Discussion

Enzyme activity has often been found to be directly related to the organic C content of soil (Tabatabai & Dick, 1979). The enzyme urease in particular is central to N cycling by microbial cells (Rotini 1935); and produces mineral N during decomposition of aliphatic and aromatic N compounds in SOM (Monreal & Bergstrom, 2000). Thus, higher urease activity in NT in surface soil was similar to total C and N trends shown in chapters 4 and 5, respectively. Frankenberger & Dick, (1983) also reported direct relationships between organic C and total N with activity of urease. According to Deng & Tabatabai, (1996) urease is of microbial origin therefore tillage practices with sufficient microorganisms would secrete more urease. Monreal & Bergstrom, (2000) also observed the lowest urease activity in CT, indicating a more limited supply of energy and C sources for protein synthesis than under conservation tillage. Increased urease activity under conservation tillage systems may also be related to increased functional diversity of soils (Kandeler et al., 1999). Findings by Kabiri et al., (2016) also concur that the activity of urease was generally greater in conservation tillage than CT. Kladivko, (2001) explained that observations of higher urease activity in CT compared to NT that are sometimes made could be explained by a flush of microbial activity directly after tillage and straw incorporation as a result of an increase in substrate and oxygen availability. Jin et al., (2009) highlighted that this effect was, however temporary as enzyme activity fell back to lower levels again in CT.

However, the high urease activity under CT-Y5 at 10-20 cm depth may be attributed to availability of substrates in the subsurface due to mixing of residue with soil during tilling. OM, which has been accumulating on the surface of CT-Y5 during no-till seasons is ploughed into lower horizons in the 5th year, and will stimulate the activity of enzymes. Beare et al., (1993) reported that buried residues would have higher densities of fungal hyphae than surface residues of NT. In a study by Dick (1984), contrary results were observed as there was a rapid decrease in urease activity with increase in soil depth while in our study we observed an increase in urease activity with soil depth in all tillage techniques. Tabatabai & Bremner, (1972) observed that acidity generated by repeated surface application of N caused soil pH to decrease which decreased urease activity while acid phosphatase activity increased. However, in our study there was a general increase of urease activity with N application in all treatments. This may be attributed to the type of fertilizer used (urea), which may increase the production

demand of urease enzyme to catalyse the substrate urea. Contrary, McCarty et al., (1992) reported suppression of microbial urease production through addition of inorganic N, in NH4<sup>+</sup> form, or amino acids to soils. Suppression of microbial urease production by NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> has been linked to the activity of glutamine synthetase, the enzyme primarily responsible for inorganic N assimilation by microorganism in N-limited environments (Reitzer & Magasanik 1987). Jian et al., (2016) reported that urease activity showed significant suppression when the urea N load was high (>150 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>), this is contrary to our findings since 240 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> induced higher urease activity. In a study by Sinsabaugh et al., (2008) they demonstrated that a large quantity of available N in soil could have substantially relieved N limitations for microbes and caused more conservative production of N-associated enzymes. According to Mobley & Hausinger, (1989), microbial regulation of urease production is induced by the presence of the substrate urea, and the enzyme is synthesized constitutively. Readily available N forms e.g. NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> would be more favourable for production of hydrolytic enzymes such as phosphatase (Hobbie et al., 2012; Talbot & Treseder, 2012). According to Cenini et al., (2016) this mismatch between low activity of N-acquiring enzymes and high soil N may be due to the fact that N is found in a diversity of compounds such as amino sugars, polypeptides, humus, which are degraded by a diverse range of N-acquiring enzymes. The addition of inorganic forms of N to soils through fertilization may as a consequence provide N forms available to be incorporated into SOM (Cenini et al., 2016), thus explaining the positive relationship between increase in N rates with increase in urease activity in our study.

High concentration of crop residue under NT can have a tremendous impact on microbial activity and vertical distribution of soil enzymes. One of the benefits of NT may be the rhizosphere effect, which probably contributes to higher enzyme activity than in CT systems (Bandick & Dick, 1999). There is growing evidence that NT improves biological activity in the rhizosphere, which is often associated with accumulation of microorganisms responsible for producing enzymes (Souza et al., 2015). Invertase activity, for most treatments, generally increased with depth and N application rate which may be attributed to the low C: N ratio of subsoil organic material compared to the high C: N ratio of fresh surface organic material, and availability of sucrose substrate from urea fertlizer. Its activity is more influenced by the type of organic material rather than its quantity (Pancholy & Rice, 1973). This is because of different C: N ratio, lignin, polyphenol and silica content of different plant residues (Tian et al., 1992). According to Jin et al., (2009) invertase catalyses the hydrolysis of sucrose to D-glucose and

D-fructose, and is widely distributed in microorganisms, where it releases low molecular weight sugars that are important as energy sources for microorganisms. Dick, (1984) observed a rapid decrease in invertase activity in NT with increasing soil depth, while below the 7.5 cm depth its activity in CT was generally higher than in NT plots. However these findings contradicted our results, since invertase activity was generally higher under NT at 60 and 120 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> in the deeper depths. This can be attributed to sufficient sucrose substrate supply from both organic residues and fertilizer to microbes under NT thus inducing highly populated microorganisms on the surface level down the profile. Since organic residues are concentrated in the surface in NT supplying microbes with substrate N makes it possible for fertilizer added N to move down the profile without being immobilised by microbes. According to Jian et al., (2016), N fertilization sustains soil microbes to produce more extracellular enzymes associated with hydrolytic C-acquisition, resulting in overall lower energy acquisition costs. However, in our study it can be observed that at deeper depths CT-Y5 and CT-ANNUAL treatments had lower invertase activities compared to NT treatment of similar N application rates which can be attributed to low pH levels, higher exchangeable acidity and higher C: N ratios under tilled soils (Chapter 3, Table 2 & 3).

Considering that soil pH ranged from 3.4 to 5.28 (Chapter 3; Table 3.1, 3.2 & 3.3), soil acid phosphatase was assayed instead of alkaline phosphatase. Phosphatase enzyme is predominantly secreted by plant roots and associated mycorrhiza (Joner et al. 2000). Acidic phosphatase enzyme is associated with P acquisition that cleave PO<sub>4</sub><sup>3-</sup> from P-containing organic compounds (Jian et al., 2016). Therefore depending on the tillage system, phosphatase activity will dominate at different depths of distinct tillage techniques. Very high phosphatase activity on the surface of NT may be due to conducive soil biological and physicochemical conditions of the surface compared to lower depths. This is because NT with residue cover can supply more substrate for phosphatases to act on (Wei et al., 2014). The control treatment of NT at 0-10 cm depth had the highest phosphatase activity. However, in lower depths, activity patterns flactuated and they were mostly higher than in the control treatment. According to Jian et al., (2016) under NT and CT systems of deeper soils, phosphatase had relatively less activity because it responded less to other factors, such as climate, compared to surface horizon. These current findings concurred with previous work by Dick et al., (1988) who reported higher acid phosphatase activity in the 0-7.5 cm surface of NT compared to CT. Whereas Bergstrom et al., (1998) found that in the surface layer (0-7.5 cm) phosphatase enzyme activity was greater in

NT soil, while below this depth it was equal to or greater in CT soil. In our case, phosphatase activity was also high at higher N rates (120 and 240 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>) of CT-ANNUAL compared to NT at both 10-20 and 20-30 cm soil depth. This was probably because the quantity of potentially mineralizable organic P in surface soil of NT was higher than that for CT, while the opposite was true at lower depth because of incorporation of organic residues. Furthermore, the higher phosphatase activity under CT systems at lower soil depths may be attributed to mixing of fertilizer substrate making it more available to microbes. According to Bergstrom et al., (1998), tillage influences vertical distribution of crop residues and SOM which accumulate at the surface of reduced or NT where it enhances phosphatase activity.

Geisseler & Scow, (2014) after a meta-analysis of 26 agricultural sites revealed that urea and ammonia fertilizer had negative effect on phosphatase activity because they reduced soil pH below a certain threshold which inhibit microbial communities to function. However, Jian et al., (2016) observed that acidic phosphatase activity was stimulated under urea fertilization because urea fertilizer amendments increased those microorganisms that produces phosphatase enzymes (Bayer et al., 2006). This agreed with the current findings especially under NT at 60 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> (10-20 cm) and CT-Y5 (20-30 cm) where acid phosphatase activity escalated with the application of urea fertilizer. In contrast, CT-ANNUAL at 60 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> generally had the lowest phosphatase activity in all treatments. This may be attributed to high N demand from microbes and roots stimulated by limited fertilizer application. Again this may be attributed to an increase of crop productivity with N fertilizer which would extract all N, if less is applied, for their productivity hence leaving enzyme producing microorganisms without substrate. An overall decrease in microbial activity with NH4NO3 fertilizer was suggested to be due to increase of copiotrophic microorganisms that rely on more labile C sources, and less on the need for extracellular enzyme secretion (Ramirez et al., 2012). Meanwhile, Marklein & Houlton, (2012) revealed that phosphatase activity increased significantly by 10.6% as a result of N fertilization (though they did not specify which one), and attributed this to sufficient N supply which sustains soil microbes to produce more phosphatase enzymes. Furthermore a study by Keeler et al., (2009) found that N addition increased the activity of phosphatase by 17%.

In the current study the practice of maize monoculture could had have a detrimental effect on phosphatase activity since it reduces soil microbial diversity (Xue et al., 2006). Again mono-

cropping may have negative effects on soil physical properties by reducing aggregation and increasing soil erosion. In a previous study on the same site by Basset, (2010), there was higher micro-aggregate stability under NT than CT-ANNUAL in the top horizon, but no differences in the subsoil. Differences in micro-aggregates among tillage systems may affect the distribution of microorganisms which in turn affect the distribution of enzymes. Gupta & Germida, (1988) observed that CT reduced the microbial population of all soil aggregate size fractions, however, lower populations microorganisms were observed in macro aggregates. The activity of phosphatases among different aggregate size fractions can also be affected by tillage (Qin et al., 2010). According to Wei et al., (2014) acidic phosphatase activity followed by minimum tillage and NT having the least. This suggests that the response of phosphatase activity to tillage may be more sensitive in the micro-aggregate size fraction.

# 6.5 Conclusion

Enzymatic responses to tillage and N fertilization influences ecosystem function and nutrient dynamics. The three assayed enzymes, (urease, invertase and acid phosphatase) responded differently to different tillage techniques and N fertilization in different depths. Urease activity was higher for NT and CT-Y5 in the top 0-10 cm but fluctuated at 10-20 cm. However at 20-30 cm, NT had higher urease activity again in the fertilized treatments. Accumulation of crop residues under conservation tillage may have contributed to higher urease activity compared to CT-ANNUAL. Urease activity was higher at the highest N fertilizer application rate (240 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>), because it is mainly produced to hydrolyse urea. On the other hand, invertase activity was higher in NT at 120 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> for all 3 depths. Again invertase activity showed a general increase with increase in N fertilizer rate. The very high acid phosphatase activity in the control of NT at 0-10 cm depth was attributed to high OM accumulation and more microbes, with higher N rates suppressing this because of increasing exchangeable acidity and low pH. In deeper horizons acid phosphatase activity generally increased with N fertilization for CT-ANNUAL. This may be attributed to N amendment increasing crop productivity and consequently root distribution. Thus in the subsurface, roots decompose providing organic substrate to microbes thereby more phosphatase production. Amongst the three enzymes assayed, urease and phosphatase responded more to tillage and fertilizer application than invertase, and can therefore be useful indicators of soil quality. It is worthwhile to note that long term NT practice may have an adverse effect on enzyme activity, especially under monoculture, due to continuous use of the same herbicides, pesticides and fertilizers which may accumulate and disturb microbial activity.

# CHAPTER 7

# Seasonal greenhouse gas fluxes under different tillage and N fertilizer management in a dryland maize mono-crop.

# 7.1 Introduction

Soil and land use contribute substantially to greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions. Tillage increases soil aeration, mixes the topsoil with plant residue and enhances the decomposition of OM. Mineralized organic C and N in the soil can be easily lost though leaching, runoff, precipitation, volatilization and emission, depending on their form. GHGs are a major problem leading to global warming, therefore their emission from the soil to the atmosphere should be mitigated. Agricultural crop production systems are a major contributor to anthropogenic emissions which must be reduced in arable soils (Regina & Alakukku, 2010). The global demand, scale and intensity of agriculture might be the reason for high emissions of GHGs. However, because farmlands are intensively managed, farmers can to some extent, control the amounts of these gases (Kern & Johnson, 1993). Implementing better management and farming practices may assist in mitigating emissions.

Conversion from conventional tillage (CT) to no-tillage (NT) was considered to be one of the potentially efficient strategies to reduce GHGs emission (Six et al., 2004). Lal (2004) found NT to enhance C sequestration by 100–1000 kg ha<sup>-1</sup> per year. However, there are inconsistencies in the effect of NT, which vary from significant increase to significant decline in soil C (Christopher et al., 2009). According to Luo et al., (2010), these inconsistencies result from differences in environmental or management factors, sampling strategies or methodology used. Regina & Alakukku, (2010) reported CO<sub>2</sub> flux from NT to be lower, attributing this to a slowing down of mineralization in the topsoil, while losses of OM from a CT topsoil are generally high (Maljanen et al., 2007). Almost all trace GHGs must be considered in mitigation strategies to avoid mitigating one gas at the expense of the other. This is because N<sub>2</sub>O is 300 times more potent than CO<sub>2</sub>, and it has been estimated that its increase could offset 75-310% of the advantage gained from C sequestration (Li et al., 2005). Nevertheless, field

measurements have shown both decreased and increased emissions of N<sub>2</sub>O under NT management (Kaharabata et al., 2003; Gregorich et al., 2008).

There are few studies that have assessed GHG effluxes under dry-land agriculture, especially in South Africa. Therefore the need to study effluxes of CO<sub>2</sub>, N<sub>2</sub>O and CH<sub>4</sub> in a dryland semiarid agro-ecological zone over two seasons (summer and winter) was salient. Von Arnold et al., (2005) observed strong seasonal variations in emissions, with the highest emissions of CO<sub>2</sub>, CH<sub>4</sub> and N<sub>2</sub>O occurring during summer, as a result of the high temperature and moisture characteristic of this time, which intensify soil biochemical processes. GHG production, transport and emission in soil will generally depend on environmental factors such as soil aeration, temperature, moisture, supply of organic C and fertilization (Janzen et al., 1998). Thus, N input has been regarded as a significant determinant for N<sub>2</sub>O losses from agricultural soils (Petersen et al., 2006). Zhai et al., (2011) observed that application of N fertilizers at a rate of 300 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup> significantly increased N<sub>2</sub>O emissions. While relatively high N<sub>2</sub>O efflux was observed when soil moisture content and temperature were higher than 65% and 4.5°C, respectively, (Dobbie & Smith 2003).

The type of tillage, fertilizer application and seasonal variation of soil temperature and moisture also have an effect on CH<sub>4</sub> emission. Generally CH<sub>4</sub> emissions decrease with decreasing soil moisture, with soils eventually becoming net sinks for CH<sub>4</sub> depending on the prevailing environmental conditions (Danevcic, et al., 2010). Low temperature, however, triggers methanogenesis (Duddleston et al., 2002). According to Nozhevnikova et al., (1994) acetate accumulated at low temperature with methanogens developing subsequent to acetogens. These organisms favour low temperatures due to excessive supplements of saccharides and cellulose because of less bacterial decomposition at low temperatures. According to Regina & Alakukku, (2010), CH<sub>4</sub> is oxidized by bacteria in the aerobic surface layer of soils. Since these bacteria are sensitive to disturbance, CT may experience a huge increase of oxidizing bacterial populations, thereby decreasing CH<sub>4</sub> emissions. However, Ussiri et al., (2009) reported an increased CH<sub>4</sub> consumption (thus decreased emissions) in NT soils by CH<sub>4</sub> bacteria due to reducing conditions. According to Regina & Alakukku, (2010) there were no clear differences in CH<sub>4</sub> flux rates between NT and CT sites. Adoption of a tillage practice which will assist in mitigating GHGs without compromising soil productivity is required. An effective way to sequester C and reduce organic N mineralization may differ with soil type, N fertilizer use and prevailing environmental soil conditions. Therefore the objective of the study was to assess GHG effluxes across seasons in CT-ANNUAL and NT systems under N fertilizer management.

# 7.2 Material and methods

#### 7.2.1 Study site

The study was conducted at an experimental site described in Chapter 3. However, in this section only NT and CT-ANNUAL (annual ploughing) in the 0, 120 and 240 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> plots were sampled.

#### 7.2.2 Soil GHGs sampling

Fluxes of CO<sub>2</sub>, CH<sub>4</sub> and N<sub>2</sub>O were sampled in the summer and winter seasons. The sampling was mostly projected, using South African weather service predictions, to be done on rain days. Sometimes the predictions were incorrect but sampling was still conducted. Summer was from December 2018 to February 2019, while winter was from May 2019 to July 2019. In each month of the season sampling was done daily for 3 weeks in a month thus making 9 sampling times per season and 18 altogether. Gases were sampled using static PVC chambers (16 cm in diameter and 25 cm in height) installed 8 cm into the soil, 24 hours prior to the first measurement in order to minimise soil disturbance (Hutchinson & Mosier, 1981; Aulakah et al., 1991).

The experiment included 2 tillage treatments (NT and CT-ANNUAL) and 3 urea fertiliser application rates (0, 120 and 240 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>) arranged in 3 blocks (or reps). Two chambers were installed per plot, giving 6 chambers per tillage treatment block, thus making 36 chambers altogether. Gas sampling was done between 10:00 am to 12:30 pm of each sampling day to minimise bias associated with diurnal temperature fluctuations (Aulakah et al., 1991). Sampling was done by inserting a 25 mL polyprolyene syringe into the chamber septa, then slowly removing the gas at 0, 30 and 60 minute intervals, thus giving 3 replicates at each sampling point (Arnold et al., 2001), with atmospheric air sampled first. The gas sample was

then transferred to a 12 mL pre-evacuated glass vial that was sealed with a grey butyl rubber septum before transportation to the laboratory for analysis. Samples were analysed for CO<sub>2</sub>, CH<sub>4</sub> and N<sub>2</sub>O using Gas chromatography (GC), CP7539 S111coStel, Porapak Q80/100 GC, within a week of sampling.

#### 7.2.3 Gas measurement

The temperature of the GC during analysis was 80 °C, with a return time of 5 minutes, and both helium and hydrogen were used as pushing gases on the columns. The columns used were packed columns (NBR: 80486-800 C58867) with shin carbon ST 80/100 2 mm 1/8 OD silico made in USA. A gas sample injector was utilized to inject gases into an inert valve of the GC. The concentration of each gas was measured using a GC with an Electron Capture Detector (ECD) and Flame Ionization Detector (FID). The GC was fitted with a sample valve to minimize injection error. To account for problems associated with GC drift, samples from individual chambers were run in sequence (t<sub>0</sub>, t<sub>30</sub>, t<sub>60</sub>,) rather than segregating them by time, and standards were run periodically for every 20 sample batch (Aulakah et al., 1991). FID for hydro-carbon was used in the analysis of both CO<sub>2</sub> and CH<sub>4</sub>, while ECD was used in the analysis of N<sub>2</sub>O. The data was then transferred into an excel data sheet where gas effluxes were calculated. A positive value represented gas emission from the soil, while a negative value represented gas uptake by the soil. Effluxes were calculated using the following equation by Ginting et al., (2003).

$$F = k \times d \times \frac{273}{T} \frac{\Delta C}{\Delta t} \times \frac{V}{A}$$

Where:

F = the rate of gas emission (mass ha<sup>-1</sup> day<sup>-1</sup>);

k= is unit of conversion (1.44 × 10<sup>6</sup> for CO<sub>2</sub>-C and 144 for both CH<sub>4</sub>-C and N<sub>2</sub>O-N);

d= is gas density (g cm<sup>-3</sup>) at 273 K and 0.101 MPa pressure ( $5.36 \times 10^{-4}$  g cm<sup>-3</sup> for CO<sub>2</sub>-C and

CH<sub>4</sub>-C, and  $1.25 \times 10^{-3}$  g cm<sup>-3</sup> for N<sub>2</sub>O-N);

T = is the air temperature (Kelvin) within the chamber;

V = is the volume of the PVC chamber (cm<sup>3</sup>);

A= is the area of the PVC chamber  $(cm^2)$ ;

 $\Delta t$  = is 30 minutes (time interval between sampling periods)

 $\Delta C$ = is the average rate of change of concentration between C<sub>30</sub>-C<sub>0</sub> and C<sub>60</sub>-C<sub>30</sub> (C<sub>0</sub>- is gas concentration at time 0, C<sub>30</sub>- concentration at 30 minutes and C<sub>60</sub>- concentration at 60 minutes).

#### 7.2.4 Soil temperature and moisture measurements

Soil temperature and moisture were measured *in-situ* in each chamber using a temperature probe (CR10X) and soil moisture sensor (ML3), respectively. The probes were inserted inside the PVC chamber into a 7.5 cm soil depth and left for 5 minutes before taking readings. They were measured at every gas sampling exercise.

#### 7.2.5 Statistical Analysis

An analysis of variance (ANOVA) for split plots was done to determine the effect of tillage and N fertilizer application on seasonal GHG effluxes. The treatment factors were tillage technique, season and fertilizer application rate. Fisher's protected LSD was used as a post-hoc test for multiple comparisons to compare treatment means and their interactions. The P value (p<0.05) was also used to determine the significant difference between treatment means. All tests were performed with GenStat 14.1 for Windows software (VSN international, 2011).

# 7.3 Results

#### 7.3.1. Soil temperatures variations in different treatments

Table 7.1 shows that soil temperature was highest for NT in the control during summer months (December, January and February) and lowest for CT-ANNUAL in the control in winter months (June and July) (p<0.05). NT also recorded higher (p<0.05) temperatures at 0 and 240 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> than CT-ANNUAL in both seasons, (except at 240 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> in December and February). However the opposite was true at 120 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>, with CT-ANNUAL having higher temperature than NT in summer (December, January and February) (p<0.05).

N rate	Tillage	Soil summer temperature (° C)			Soil winter temperature (° C)			
(kg N ha <sup>-1</sup> )								
		Dec	Jan	Feb	May	Jun	Jul	
0	NT	29.99 <sup>j</sup>	29.98 <sup>j</sup>	29.82 <sup>j</sup>	26.75 <sup>gh</sup>	26.95 <sup>h</sup>	26.84 <sup>gh</sup>	
	CT-AN	24.89 <sup>e</sup>	24.98 <sup>ef</sup>	24.98 <sup>ef</sup>	17.37 <sup>ab</sup>	17.18 <sup>a</sup>	17.23 <sup>a</sup>	
120	NT	26.25 <sup>f</sup>	$25.98^{\mathrm{f}}$	24.99 <sup>ef</sup>	18.53 <sup>b</sup>	18.37 <sup>b</sup>	18.20 <sup>b</sup>	
	CT-AN	28.96 <sup>i</sup>	28.94 <sup>i</sup>	28.57 <sup>i</sup>	19.88 <sup>bc</sup>	18.92 <sup>b</sup>	19.25 <sup>bc</sup>	
240	NT	26.05 <sup>f</sup>	$25.64^{\text{fg}}$	25.43 <sup>fg</sup>	22.07 <sup>d</sup>	22.31 <sup>d</sup>	22.51 <sup>d</sup>	
	CT-AN	24.93 <sup>ef</sup>	24.75 <sup>e</sup>	25.09 <sup>f</sup>	19.04 <sup>bc</sup>	18.27 <sup>b</sup>	18.45 <sup>b</sup>	

Table 7. 1: Soil temperature variations in different treatments across sampling periods.

CT-AN- Annual Conventional tillage; Dec-December; Jan-January; Feb-February; Jun-June; Jul-July

#### 7.3.2 Soil moisture variations in different treatments

Soil moisture was higher in summer than winter months in all treatments (p<0.05, Figure 7.1). In summer, it was also consistently higher for NT than CT-ANNUAL at all N rates (p<0.05). However, summer soil moisture variations in NT showed that both 120 and 240 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> rate having the lowest, while the control had the highest soil moisture (p<0.05). Figure 7.1 shows CT-ANNUAL at 120 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> had the lowest soil moisture in summer. (p<0.05).

In the winter season, soil moisture decreased with increase in N application rate under NT, while CT-ANNUAL recorded the highest soil moisture at 120 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> (p<0.05). A comparison between treatments saw NT in the control recording the highest winter soil moisture followed by NT at 120 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> while NT at 240 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> had the lowest soil moisture (p<0.05; Figure 7.1). Both December and February month in NT at 120 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> had higher (p<0.05) soil moisture compared to January. The control of CT-ANNUAL in winter had higher soil moisture compared to 240 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> treatment, with both May and June months having higher soil moisture compared to July month in the control treatment (p<0.05).



Figure 7. 1: Seasonal soil moisture variations in different N fertilizer and tillage treatments.

## 7.3.3. Soil CH<sub>4</sub> effluxes across sampling periods.

Fluxes of CH<sub>4</sub> were highest in NT at 240 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> but lowest in CT-ANNUAL (with a negative efflux ranging from -0.033 mg CH<sub>4</sub>-C ha<sup>-1</sup> day<sup>-1</sup> in January to -0.037 mg CH<sub>4</sub>-C ha<sup>-1</sup> day<sup>-1</sup> in December) at the same N rate (p<0.05) in summer (December, January and February), while the other treatments did not significantly differ (Figure 7.2). However, winter (May, June and July) CH<sub>4</sub> effluxes were higher under NT than CT-ANNUAL for each application rate (p<0.05). NT at 120 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> had the highest (p<0.05) CH<sub>4</sub> effluxes while CT-ANNUAL at the same rate had the most negative effluxes in winter. Figure 7.2 shows that CT-ANNUAL had negative CH<sub>4</sub> effluxes at all N application rates, indicating uptake rather than emission of this gas, with the control being a poorer sink of CH<sub>4</sub> compared to other treatments (p<0.05).



Figure 7. 2: Soil CH<sub>4</sub> effluxes in different N fertilizer and tillage treatments across sampling periods.

# 7.3.4. Soil N<sub>2</sub>O effluxes across sampling periods

During summer (December, January and February), N<sub>2</sub>O efflux was higher (p<0.05) under CT-ANNUAL at 120 and 240 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> compared to NT, with December and January having highesr efflux (Figure 7.3). NT at 240 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> actually served as a sink of N<sub>2</sub>O since it recorded negative emissions of this gas in summer. In winter however, positive N<sub>2</sub>O emissions were recorded in all CT-ANNUAL treatments with the control being the highest emitter (p<0.05), while all NT treatments were net sinks of N<sub>2</sub>O especially the control (Figure 7.3).



Figure 7. 3: N<sub>2</sub>O effluxes in different N fertilizer and tillage treatments across sampling periods.

#### 7.3.3. Soil CO<sub>2</sub> effluxes across sampling periods

The CO<sub>2</sub> effluxes of CT-ANNUAL were higher (p<0.05) than NT at all N rates and seasons, with most NT treatments being net sinks of this gas in both seasons (Figure 7.4). Furthermore, most CO<sub>2</sub> effluxes of CT-ANNUAL in summer were higher (p<0.05) than those in winter. The CO<sub>2</sub> efflux under CT-ANNUAL increased with increased N application rate in summer, but there was a decrease in CT-ANNUAL effluxes in winter at 240 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> (Figure 7.4). Also December and February months had higher (p<0.05) CO<sub>2</sub> efflux than January at 240 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> rate, whilst the 240 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> treatment had the least CO<sub>2</sub> uptake (p<0.05).

In winter (May, June and July) the 120 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> treatment under CT-ANNUAL had the highest while the 240 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> had the lowest CO<sub>2</sub> efflux (p<0.05, Figure 7.4). In the case of NT, only the control was a net emitter of CO<sub>2</sub> during winter, with both 120 and 240 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> being net sinks of CO<sub>2</sub> into the soil.



Figure 7. 4: Seasonal CO<sub>2</sub> effluxes in different N fertilizer and tillage treatments.

#### 7.3.5 Effect of soil variables on GHG effluxes under different treatments

Table 7.2 shows that tillage induced CO<sub>2</sub> (r = 0.81) and N<sub>2</sub>O (r = 0.41) emissions but was negatively related with CH<sub>4</sub> emissions (r = -0.54), soil moisture (r = -0.36) and temperature (r = -0.28). High soil temperatures induced CH<sub>4</sub> emissions (r=0.40), and also had positive correlations with soil moisture (r = 0.71). While high soil moisture also induced CH<sub>4</sub> emissions (r = 0.38) but supressed the release of CO<sub>2</sub> (r = -0.38), (Table 7.2). As a result, soils that experienced high emissions of CH<sub>4</sub>, had suppressed CO<sub>2</sub> release (r = -0.36). N fertilizer application did not seem to have an effect on any of the measured soil variables or tillage techniques (Table 7.2).

# Table 7. 2: Seasonal Pearson's correlation analysis of soil variables and GHG effluxes with N fertilization and tillage.

Variables	Fertilizer	CO <sub>2</sub>	CH <sub>4</sub>	Moisture	$N_2O$	Temperature	Tillage
Fertilizer	-						
CO <sub>2</sub>	0.08	-					
CH <sub>4</sub>	0.01	-0.36**	-				
Moisture	-0.14	- 0.38***	0.38***	-			
$N_2O$	0.04	0.19	-0.16	0.097	-		
Temperature	-0.16	-0.03	0.40***	0.710***	-0.15	-	
Tillage	0.00	0.81***	- 0.54***	-0.36***	0.41***	-0.28*	-

Each \* signifies significant difference; where \* p <0.05, \*\* p <0.01 and \*\*\* p <0.001.

# 7.4 Discussion

The higher soil temperature and moisture under NT than CT-ANNUAL in both seasons may be attributed to more crop residues in NT, which act as mulch by absorbing more solar radiation during the day and emitting less from the soil to the atmosphere during the night. An exception was CT-ANNUAL at 120 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> that had higher soil temperature than NT in both seasons. According to Franzluebbers et al., (1995) soil temperature under NT in the upper depth was also greater than CT during summer. Crop residue cover may have reduced the amplitude of the diurnal soil temperature cycle in NT. Furthermore, crop residue cover under NT may reduce evapotranspiration, runoff and increase soil infiltration rate thereby inducing higher soil moisture retention compared to CT-ANNUAL. Higher temperatures under NT may have been due to the capacity of crop residues to reduce heat loss from the soil surface to the atmosphere (Franzluebbers et al., 1995). This was similar to our findings in both seasons at 0 and 240 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>. However, Alvarez et al., (1995) reported no significant difference between tillage systems on soil temperatures in all monthly measurements.

Greater soil temperatures under CT compared with NT have been measured by Johnson & Lowery, (1985), which was similar to our findings at 120 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> in both seasons. Fluctuations of seasonal soil temperature among treatments had an influence on the variation of effluxes of GHG, with CT-ANNUAL at 120 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> having higher N<sub>2</sub>O effluxes in summer and CO<sub>2</sub> in winter due to higher temperatures. Also NT at 240 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> in summer induced higher CH<sub>4</sub> effluxes due to higher soil temperatures. In a study by Dobbie & Smith, (2003) high GHGs fluxes were associated with increase in soil temperatures. Generally, the rate of CO<sub>2</sub> released from the soil depends on the biological activity which is affected by soil temperature variations. The higher CO<sub>2</sub> emissions in summer compared to winter observed under CT-ANNUAL in the current study may be attributed to higher soil temperature in summer than winter. This was similar to findings by Buyanovsky & Wagner, (1983) who observed higher emissions of CO<sub>2</sub> in summer than winter due to maximum soil microbial activity as well as soil respiration. Again, in our study, CO<sub>2</sub> emission increased with crop development in summer because it was strongly influenced by respiration of the roots and associated microorganisms. However, although summer with higher temperatures induced higher CO<sub>2</sub> emissions in CT-ANNUAL than winter, but NT with higher temperatures than CT-ANNUAL was mostly a net sink for CO<sub>2</sub> in both seasons. This can be attributed to the effect of annual ploughing on decomposition and breaking down of aggregates thus releasing entrapped CO<sub>2</sub>. Tillage facilitated a high rate of soil CO<sub>2</sub> emission due to increased porosity (Buyanovsky & Wagner, 1987). Franzluebbers et al., (1995) reported that small differences in soil temperature between tillage regimes had only a minor effect on soil CO<sub>2</sub> evolution compared with larger seasonal temperature fluctuations.

According to Zengeni et al., (2016) soil moisture had a positive effect on the CO<sub>2</sub> emissions, thus as soil moisture increased, soil penetration resistance decreased resulting in an increase in seasonal soil CO<sub>2</sub> effluxes. This is similar to our findings where summer, with higher soil temperature and moisture had higher CO<sub>2</sub> emissions compared to winter under CT-ANNUAL. It is worthwhile to note that though NT had higher soil moisture than CT-ANNUAL, it experienced less CO<sub>2</sub> emissions which may be attributed to soil loosening during ploughing in CT-ANNUAL, which improves aeration thus enhancing soil respiration. According to Feiza et al., (2015) soil  $CO_2$  efflux was reduced in NT because of limited diffusion of oxygen. Van Straaten et al., (2009) observed that CO<sub>2</sub> effluxes peaked in summer at intermediate soil moisture, and decreased under drier conditions of winter, but also decreased when soils became water saturated. In the present study, unlike CO<sub>2</sub> efflux, N<sub>2</sub>O under CT-ANNUAL had the highest emission in the control in winter. On the contrary, Dobbie & Smith, (2003) reported that summer conditions tend to be warm and wet with soil pores saturated, thereby allowing denitrification to occur, thus inducing high effluxes of N<sub>2</sub>O. In all fertilizer application rates of both seasons (except the control in summer), N<sub>2</sub>O effluxes were higher under CT-ANNUAL than NT, which may be attributed to more aeration for nitrifying bacteria under CT-ANNUAL. These findings agree with Chirinda et al., (2010) who observed a stimulation of N<sub>2</sub>O emissions by fertilization and soil cultivation. Again in our study NT had higher bulk density, Chapter 3, meaning the soil was denser leading to poor aeration hence N<sub>2</sub>O diffusivity would be limited. Mutegi et al., (2010) revealed that CT plots in their study were characterized by higher total porosity and gas diffusivity, which facilitated the escape of N<sub>2</sub>O at the soil-atmosphere interface. Six et al., (2004) also reported that N<sub>2</sub>O fluxes tended to increase during the first 10 years after adopting NT due to greater soil moisture and water-filled pore space in recently established NT which stimulate denitrification resulting in N<sub>2</sub>O emissions. This agrees with our results since the experiment site was way beyond 10 years henceforth N<sub>2</sub>O effluxes may have decreased under NT.

Chatskikh & Olesen, (2007) observed higher N<sub>2</sub>O emissions from CT than NT plots in summer and winter, which is similar to our findings. High N<sub>2</sub>O emissions in CT during summer were most likely a function of soil disturbance during ploughing and planting under wet warm conditions, which increased SOM and N mineralization and hence nitrification due to elevated oxygen consumption rates (Mutegi et al., 2010). The large stimulation of N<sub>2</sub>O emissions in CT during summer was therefore very likely a direct or indirect result of nitrification activity following rapid mineralization of residue-N after soil disturbance (Mutegi et al., 2010). Production of N<sub>2</sub>O through nitrification is favoured by low O<sub>2</sub> partial pressures which are not adequate for complete nitrification of NH4<sup>+</sup>-N to NO3<sup>-</sup>-N (Bollmann & Conrad, 1998). Nitrification which induces N<sub>2</sub>O effluxes could have been more prominent under CT-ANNUAL in both seasons. However, due to CT-ANNUAL having high porosity, aeration may have been sufficient enough to allow nitrification to complete resulting in less N2O production compared when O<sub>2</sub> is limited. The summer increase of N<sub>2</sub>O effluxes with fertilization under CT-ANNUAL maybe attributed to hydrolysis of urea into ammonium, and its subsequent nitrification to NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> due to adequate aeration, high soil temperatures and moisture thereby inducing N<sub>2</sub>O release in the process. Six et al., (2002) reported N<sub>2</sub>O emissions whenever N fertilizers are added to the soil.

In winter, there was high uptake of N<sub>2</sub>O into NT treatments. This may be attributed to oxidizing soil conditions under NT due to low winter temperatures and soil moisture, which hinder functionality of denitrifying bacteria. Usually NT experiences N<sub>2</sub>O emission through denitrification in areas with saturated soil pores spaces. This corresponds with the findings by Davidson et al., (2000) that higher soil N<sub>2</sub>O emissions under NT are related to anaerobic conditions where soil moisture is higher than 60%. Current results showed that in winter and at 240 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> during summer, NT had <50 % soil moisture which would limit denitrification. In a study by Cruvinel et al., (2011), N<sub>2</sub>O peaks were observed after N-fertilization and irrigation that resulted in increased N availability and favourable water filled pores (denitrifying conditions). Soils are usually considered a net source of atmospheric N<sub>2</sub>O, however, Cruvinel et al., (2011) explained that well-drained or N-limited soils acted as sinks that gave negative effluxes of N<sub>2</sub>O especially in the post-harvest stage. In general after harvesting, soil are well-drained and relatively N-limited, thus exhibiting low nitrification rates which reduce N<sub>2</sub>O production (Nardoto & Bustamante, 2003). This agreed with present results since winter effluxes were measured after harvest. The CT-ANNUAL treatments, however,

still experienced N<sub>2</sub>O emissions during winter which may be attributed to gradual nitrification of the incorporated organic N during ploughing that will produce N<sub>2</sub>O.

Drainage and better aeration under CT, increase organic C and N availability, due to increased mineralization, which also affects gas emissions through increase in gas diffusivity (Silvola et al., 1996). Lowest N<sub>2</sub>O emissions were observed during the winter, when the temperatures had decreased nitrification rates (Mørkved et al., 2006). NT had higher soil moisture content, although it was not saturated to allow denitrification, limiting N2O diffusivity because most of the pores were filled with water therefore contributing less fluxes compared to CT-ANNUAL. According to Chapuis-Lardy et al., (2007) soil with moderate to high soil moisture and temperature promote N<sub>2</sub>O uptake. Oxygen concentration also becomes low following soil compaction, which concurs with high bulk density observed in the previous chapter under NT (Chapter 3 on Table 3.1, 3.2 & 3.3). Yamulki et al., (1995) linked low emission rates, as well as net negative effluxes to high temperatures and moderate soil moisture contents which is similar to conditions observed under NT in the current study. An increase in soil temperature positively influences microbiological activity and gas diffusion, while it negatively affects solubility of N<sub>2</sub>O (Heincke & Kaupenjohann, 1999). In a study by Chapuis-Lardy et al., (2007), N<sub>2</sub>O sink was recorded at soil moisture content of 56% and at relatively high soil temperatures > 23 °C, which is similar with soil conditions of NT in the current study.

The effect of fertilization changed with season and tillage technique. Thus, in summer N<sub>2</sub>O emission generally increased with increased N application under CT-ANNUAL, while the opposite was true under NT. Whereas during winter N<sub>2</sub>O efflux decreased with increase in N fertilizer rates under CT-ANNUAL, and there was net N<sub>2</sub>O uptake in NT. The increase of soil N<sub>2</sub>O emission with increase in N fertilization in summer compared to winter may be attributed to high soil moisture and temperature (more favourable conditions) in summer. Carvalho et al., (2006) found higher N<sub>2</sub>O fluxes immediately after N fertilization and irrigation in maize fields under CT which decreased with time. This is similar to present findings because in winter the control had higher N<sub>2</sub>O emission compared to N fertilization, N<sub>2</sub>O emissions were immediately increased but this only lasted for short period of time. High soil moisture and temperature in summer increases nitrification, thus induces N<sub>2</sub>O efflux.

A linear relationship between fertilizer N applied and N2O emission was found by Bouwman, (1996). This agree with current results where great positive relationship, under CT-ANNUAL in both seasons, was observed between N fertilizer and N<sub>2</sub>O fluxes. The addition of N fertilizers to agricultural soils increases the potential for N<sub>2</sub>O emissions (Granli & Bøckman, 1994). Previous results (Chapter 5, Fig 5. 3) show that NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> was higher under CT-ANNUAL at 120 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> compared to NT, which is in accordance with higher N<sub>2</sub>O effluxes in summer. Higher N<sub>2</sub>O emission in the control treatment of CT-ANNUAL relative to N fertilized treatments during winter may be due to higher populations of microbes under fertilized plots, because of N substrate, which immobilized organic N hindering nitrification. Denitrification, which results in release of N<sub>2</sub>O and NO may happen on anaerobic microsites. In a study by Dobbie & Smith, (2003), soil NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> concentration was the main factor affecting N<sub>2</sub>O emission. After hydrolysis of urea, nitrification produces  $NO_3^-$  in the soil, and this can subsequently be denitrified causing larger N<sub>2</sub>O effluxes. Lemke et al., (1998) also reported that higher N<sub>2</sub>O emission from the soil was related to higher NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> content. Davidson, (1991) also confirmed that the rate of  $N_2O$  production depends on the amount of  $NH_4^+$  and  $NO_3^-$  in the soil and soil temperature. This is similar to current findings as there was higher N<sub>2</sub>O in summer under CT-ANNUAL at 120 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> as  $NO_3^-$  and  $NH_4^+$  were also higher in this treatment (Chapter 5, Fig 5. 3 & 5.4).

CH<sub>4</sub> fluxes showed a different trend with N<sub>2</sub>O, with effluxes being higher in summer especially at 240 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> of NT. This may be attributed to anaerobic conditions created as crop residues enhance more moisture retention in NT. These reducing conditions stimulate more CH<sub>4</sub> production in NT than CT-ANNUAL. This resulted in CT-ANNUAL being more of a sink (especially in winter) while NT, with high soil moisture and temperature, was an emitter of CH<sub>4</sub> in all treatments. According to Whalen & Reeburgh, (1990) higher oxygen availability in the soil profile reduces CH<sub>4</sub> production and favours its oxidation to CO<sub>2</sub>. This concurs with current findings because CT-ANNUAL (which was more aerated due to ploughing) emitted greater amounts of CO<sub>2</sub>, but was mostly a sink on CH<sub>4</sub> compared with NT. As a result of this, well drained and aerated soils under CT are generally considered to contribute to the removal of CH<sub>4</sub> from the atmosphere (Smith et al., 2000). Thus, several studies have also shown that drained agricultural soils act as CH<sub>4</sub> sinks (Flessa et al., 1998; Le Mer & Roger, 2001), although the magnitude of the sink depends on soil moisture content. Hence soils with water saturated pores have less or no air movement and less CH<sub>4</sub> sink ability (Maljanen et al., 2003). The present findings also supported this notion as CT-ANNUAL was mostly well drained and aerated due to drier soil conditions in winter making it a net CH<sub>4</sub> sink. However, in a study by Robertson et al., (2000), higher CH<sub>4</sub> uptake rates by soil was observed under NT in fertilized plots. This was attributed to a more stable and porous soil structure under NT that facilitated CH<sub>4</sub> diffusion into oxidizing zones, and activated methanotrophic bacteria responsible for CH<sub>4</sub> consumption (Ball et al., 1997), while reducing methanogen activity, i.e. bacteria responsible for CH<sub>4</sub> production (Hutsch, 1998).

Soil moisture content (<65 %) did not reach saturation levels (90-100 %) in both seasons, which may have led to low CH<sub>4</sub> production. Thus CH<sub>4</sub> production positively correlated with soil temperature and moisture but was negatively related to tillage especially CT-ANNUAL. However, NT favoured CH<sub>4</sub> production in relative to CT-ANNUAL. This is because methanogenic bacteria need high soil temperature and moisture to be able to produce CH<sub>4</sub>. According to Topp & Pattey, (1997) methanogens function in a temperature range of 20-40°C and under high soil moisture content between 90 to 100 %. This concurs with all measured summer soil temperatures and NT temperatures in winter. However, although soil moisture of the current study did not reach 90-100 %, NT summer moisture was around 65 % thus allowing some methanogenesis compared to CT-ANNUAL. Under highly reducing conditions, and in the absence of other potential electron acceptors such as NO<sub>3</sub>, organic substrates e.g. organic acids, alcohols and methyl amines can be converted to CH<sub>4</sub> (Topp & Pattey, 1997). Methanogens are CH<sub>4</sub> producing bacteria sensitive to oxygen and thus only occur under anaerobic conditions, whereas methanotrophs are CH<sub>4</sub> oxidizing bacteria that require oxygen as a terminal electron acceptor (Woese et al., 1990). According to Topp & Pattey, (1997) soils generally harbour both methanogens (under reducing conditions) and methanotrophs (under oxidizing conditions). We would thus assume that in the present study, methanogens were prominent under NT due to higher emissions while methanotrophs were more under CT-ANNUAL because of CH<sub>4</sub> consumption. Generally, soil temperature, moisture, appropriate N fertilizer application rate and availability of C and N determine which bacteria will be predominant in situ. CH<sub>4</sub> effluxes showed that although methanogens were more predominant in summer, both bacteria had a role in the production and consumption of CH<sub>4</sub> during winter. In their measurements, Edwards, (1992) also found CH<sub>4</sub> consumption at dry sites while emissions were at wet sites. Differences in temperature sensitivity would result in CH<sub>4</sub> emissions decreasing at lower temperatures, but since CH<sub>4</sub>-consuming bacteria are relatively

insensitive to temperature fluctuations in the mesophilic range, there is little diurnal variation in soils that are CH<sub>4</sub> sinks (Topp & Pattey, 1997). This is similar the current findings under NT since soil temperatures fluctuated between 17 to 29 °C ranges therefore making it a great CH<sub>4</sub> sinks especially in winter with low temperatures.

CO<sub>2</sub> showed significantly higher effluxes compared to the other two trace GHGs and had high effluxes in CT-ANNUAL than NT in all treatments. It has been widely stated that conversion from CT to reduced tillage could have a favourable impact on atmospheric concentrations of GHGs by promoting the storage of soil C (Lal et al., 1998). Ploughing has been found to enhance CO<sub>2</sub> flux and this increase typically lasts for some hours immediately after tilling (Reicosky et al., 1997). The positive correlation between tillage and CO<sub>2</sub> effluxes may be attributed to higher CO<sub>2</sub> emissions as a result of ploughing under CT-ANNUAL. The higher summer CO<sub>2</sub> effluxes were due to warmer and moistier soils that favoured faster SOM decomposition than in colder, drier winter soils (Triberti et al., 2008). The residence time of C in soil should therefore be longer in colder and wetter regions, thanks to a slower mineralization of OM (Freibauer et al., 2004). Eriksen & Jensen, (2001) reported that CO<sub>2</sub> emissions showed emissions to peak in coincident with the highest soil temperatures which was contrary to current findings in both summer and winter season. Crop residues left from the previous season can also provide ready C substrate for decomposition during summer, (Baggs et al., 2000). In a study by Baggs et al., (2006) lower emission of CO<sub>2</sub> was attributed to greater storage of soil C under NT. In the present study NT showed higher total C at 0-10 cm soil depth compared to CT-ANNUAL (Chapter 4, Fig 4.2) therefore indicating less turnover of OM under NT. Hungria et al., (2009) observed that CO<sub>2</sub> effluxes positively correlated with total N, C and mineral N in the topsoil indicating higher microbial activity in the presence of high amounts of OM. In a study by Regina & Alakukku, (2010) they observed a positive correlation between soil temperature at 5 cm and the daytime CO<sub>2</sub> emissions, which was similar to the current findings under CT-ANNUAL.

N fertilizer application also had an impact on CO<sub>2</sub> effluxes of both seasons. In CT-ANNUAL, CO<sub>2</sub> emission generally increased with increased N application rate. This may be attributed to the presence of N substrate from urea fertilizer which increased microbial decomposition. Again, though not measured, fertilization increases crop productivity thus roots respire releasing CO<sub>2</sub>, also more crop residues will be available for decomposition. Chatskikh & Olesen, (2007) however noticed that responses of  $CO_2$  emissions to tillage disappeared after fertilisation, showing that microbiologically producing emissions were hindered by fertilizer since fertilizer increased exchangeable Al in the soil. According to Oorts et al., (2007) increased emissions of  $CO_2$  induced by tillage indicate a higher turnover rate of OM after tillage, which partly may originate from plant residue incorporation between treatments.  $CO_2$ emissions are closely connected to the microbial turnover and the physical accessibility of OM to microbes and extracellular enzymes (Paustian et al., 2000). Thus, tilling breaks up soil aggregates and exposes once physically protected SOM particles to microbial decay processes (Follett, 2001). Passianoto et al., (2003) observed a close relationship between physical disturbance and elevated  $CO_2$  emissions in the tilled treatment. Hence tilling accelerates the decay of SOM and  $CO_2$  efflux to the atmosphere (Brady, 1974).

Fertilizer application is required to increase productivity however it must be applied in consideration to the negative effect it can bring to the environment, in this case accelerated GHG emission. Results in the current study shows that excessive application of N, 240 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>, should be avoided because it inceased the emissions especially of CO<sub>2</sub> and CH<sub>4</sub> during summer. The Kyoto Protocol emphasizes C sequestration in agricultural soils and advocates sustainable cropping techniques such as crop rotation (Triberti et al., 2008). Less soil disturbance, optimization of water use efficiency and use of organic materials such as farmyard manure, animal slurries, crop residues and N fertilization can influence C dynamics as well (Triberti et al., 2008). A study by Zhai et al., (2011), revealed that average CO<sub>2</sub> emissions from soils in a fertilized treatment during the maize growing season were higher than in the control. This trend mostly agreed with current results for CT-ANNUAL, which can be attributed to increase in organic C with N fertilizer increase. According to Triberti et al., (2008) the use of high rates of mineral N (>200 kg ha<sup>-1</sup>) proved useless, not only from a productive standpoint since it did not significantly increase maize yield, but also environmentally damaging, because it did not substantially modify SOC content. Such an increase of CO2 emission with N application occurred in the current study at 240 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> in summer. Sustainable application of N fertilizer conserves ecosystems and improves climate, water and soil quality through mitigation of emission and high crop productivity. Crop biomass may be another factor influencing CO<sub>2</sub> emission, thus high crop productivity alleviates CO<sub>2</sub> release to the atmosphere through capturing it and using it for photosynthesis (Cavazzoni & Volk, 1996). Optimizing N supply means producing plenty of crop biomass per unit area through photosynthesis and this

implies a capture of great amounts of atmospheric CO<sub>2</sub>, which can be partially transferred into the pedosphere (Triberti et al., 2008).

# 7.5 Conclusion

CO<sub>2</sub> effluxes were much higher than those of N<sub>2</sub>O and CH<sub>4</sub>, in all treatments. CT-ANNUAL also had higher emissions of N<sub>2</sub>O and CO<sub>2</sub> while NT was mostly a sink for these two gases, and the opposite was true for CH<sub>4</sub>. Generally, most gas effluxes were higher in summer than winter, which was attributed to higher summer soil temperatures and moisture. High soil moisture and temperature particularly accelerated CH4 emissions, while drier winter soil moisture supressed emissions of CO<sub>2</sub>. Both CO<sub>2</sub> and N<sub>2</sub>O emissions positively responded to tillage while CH<sub>4</sub> negatively correlated with it. Thus greater CO<sub>2</sub> emissions from CT-ANNUAL were attributed to increased rates of OM turnover due to ploughing. Whereas higher N<sub>2</sub>O emissions from CT-ANNUAL were mostly due to improved soil aeration thus increase in diffusivity and better nitrification. Furthermore, greater emission of CH4 under NT were attribued to the higher soil moisture and temperature in this technique that favoured methanogenic bacterial activity. Though correlation analysis did not show a clear effect of N fertilization on gas emissions, there was a general increase of CO2 emissions with increased N rate in CT-ANNUAL (especially in summer). On the other hand, NT at 240 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> which was the biggest emitter of CH<sub>4</sub> in summer, was also the greatest sink of N<sub>2</sub>O in this treament. In all, farmers should practice conservation tillage (NT) since it is an effective sink of CO<sub>2</sub>, especially during summer where high soil moisture, high temperatures (as well as high N rates) would accelerate emissions of this gas under CT-ANNUAL. NT is also a good sink for N<sub>2</sub>O, especially in cool dry winter soils. However, NT is not an ideal CH<sub>4</sub> sink since it enhances soil moisture and temperature, both of which favour methanogenic activity. Thus CT-ANNUAL would be a better sink for CH<sub>4</sub> in cool dry winter soils. Thus with careful monitoring of soil moisture and temperature flactuations, which ultimately affect soil bulk density and gas diffusitivity; emissions can be curbed through choosing the right tillage and fertilizer management for each gas.
### **CHAPTER 8**

## GENERAL DISCUSSION, CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

### **8.1 General Discussion**

This chapter synergizes all the chapters of the dissertation, by elucidating responses to the initially set objectives of the study, and major findings from them. Thus, effluxes of GHGs and soil properties analysed in conservation -versus- conventional tillage systems are highlighted, then conclusions, recommendations and research gaps drawn from the study are given.

#### 8.2 Soil properties under different tillage and fertilizer management

The NT treatment at 0-10 cm depth had higher bases, pH, EC, bulk density, soil moisture (only at 0 and 60 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>) and low C: N in all N application rates than CT-Y5 and CT-ANNUAL; this may be due to accumulation of crop residues and lack of soil disturbance. Blevins et al., (1977) suggested instant soil surface acidification in NT was due to mineralization of crop residue on the soil surface, that release organic compounds which bind Al<sup>3+</sup>, thus raising and stabilizing soil pH with time. Since the experimental has been running for 16 years, this has been a long enough time to raise soil pH under NT. However, in the 10-20 cm depth CT-Y5 had higher soil moisture. The subsurface soils had better properties such as bulk density under CT-ANNUAL compared to the conservation tillage treatments, which may be attributed to incorporation of organic material to deeper layers under CT-ANNUAL. The higher bulk density of NT (caused by compaction due to lack of tillage and residue incorporation) had a negative effect of lowering moisture content of subsoils. According to Dalal et al., (2011) there is a strong link between SOM content, bulk density and aggregation, with high OM and good aggregation observed more in soils with low bulk density. This concurs with the current study since both NT and CT-Y5 with higher OM in the surface had low bulk density which it increased with depth as OM content also decreased. OM observed through soil properties such as available N, labile C and enzyme activity was lower in surface soils of CT-ANNUAL then increased with depth. SOM is negatively correlated with tillage and bulk density especially in the surface because minimum or no tillage improves soil aggregation, lowers bulk density and increases SOM (Bronick & Lal, 2005). This is similar to the present findings where high labile organic C was observed under NT in 0-10 cm than CT-Y5 and CT-ANNUAL but the opposite was observed in lower horizons. Furthermore high bases under NT which form cationic bridges with SOC help to sustain high soil fertility. According to Cusack et al., (2018) basic cations provide important nutrients to root biomass production and assist in improving soil properties.

C: N ratio was lowest for NT for the top 2 depths making nutrients accessible to both plants roots and microorganisms. This may be attributed to higher substrate availability from both N fertilizer and crop residues for microbes which will then help to decompose OM in surface soils of NT. This is accordance with Yamashita et al., (2006) who found that decomposed OM had lower C: N ratio. In a study by Diekow et al., (2005) an increase in the soil C: N ratio with depth under NT was observed which was attributed to some high C: N soluble organic acids that leached from the surface into deeper layers. According to McGroddy & Silver, (2000) decomposers may be inhibited by wet soil conditions due to unavailability of oxygen, however in the current study NT with high soil moisture had higher enzymatic activities and labile C which shows high decomposition compared to other tillage treatments.

#### 8.3 The impact of tillage and N fertilizer application on soil C sequestration

Total C, organic C, POC and POXC were all higher in surface soil of NT than CT-Y5 and CT-ANNUAL; as a result of residue accumulation and lack of soil distubance. However, in the 10-20 cm depth at higher N rates (120 and 240 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>), CT-ANNUAL had more total C, POC and POXC than the other tillage treatments. Incorporation of residues during ploughing influenced these high fractions of C in CT-ANNUAL and CT-Y5 with increasing soil depth. Gong et al., (2009) observed that application of N fertilizers resulted in significant increases in SOC and its fractions due to the positive effects of N on crop biomass accumulation. This concurred with current findings especially at 0-10 cm since NT had higher C pools at 240 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> rate. Contrary, Bhattacharyya et al., (2012) argued that soil treated with residues would be characterized by the high mineralization potential of its OM, which in turn, corresponds to high gaseous C efflux from the soil. The loss of SOM because of poor soil management practices such as over grazing and monoculture depletes soil C and increases GHG emissions (Bronick & Lal, 2005). While conservation tillage can increase soil C sequestration which consequently enhances nutrient availability to crops (Roldan et al., 2007). Since maize monocropping was practiced in this study, CT-ANNUAL with poor soil management (annual ploughing) had higher emissions of CO<sub>2</sub> & N<sub>2</sub>O. Similarly, SOC stocks of NT were higher than CT-Y5 and CT-ANNUAL at all depths indicating more potential to sequester C. The findings indicate that NT with higher crop residue accumulation resulted in more C storage, while both CT-Y5 and CT-ANNUAL experienced losses of C from leaching and decomposition during ploughing.

#### 8.4. Effect of tillage and N fertilizer application on N and P mineralisation.

The total N and P, then organic and extractable P were all higher under NT in the 0-10 cm depth due to crop residues accumulation and lack of soil disturbance. This is similar to the study by de Moraes Sa et al., (2009) where they found higher P pools under NT due to fresh organic material which decomposed into OM and these changes were most evident in the surface layers. Whereas NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> and N mineralisation were higher at lower N rates (0 and 60 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>) but reduced at higher rates of 120 and 240 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> under NT. This was because high N rates reduced soil pH which possibly inhibited microbial OM decomposition. Soils with low pH and high exchangeable acidity, Al and Fe, sorb organic P and NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> making it inaccessible to plants and microbes (Coward et al., 2017). These findings correlate with current results in the 0-10 cm depth under CT-Y5 at 240 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> where NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>, organic P and pH were all very low whereas exchangeable acidity was higher. Furthermore, CT-Y5 had the lowest nitrate in all treatments. Also NT had the lowest total P at 10-20cm depth.

The trends of N mineralisation, POC, available and organic P were inversely related with C: N ratio. NT had the lowest C: N ratios in all treatments at 0-10 cm depth, then most treatments at lower depths than CT. This agrees with findings of Dalal et al., (2011) who observed higher N mineralisation in soils that had lower C: N ratio, indicating that low C: N ratio and high N mineralisation reflect improved SOM quality. In all, CT reduces extractable P, organic P, total P, total and NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> fractions in surface soil due to ploughing breaking down soil aggregates and

incorporating organic compounds down the profile, which concurs with current findings (Kahlon et al., 2013).

# **8.5.** Soil enzyme activity under different tillage and N fertilizer management

The surface soil had higher urease activity under NT, whereas acid phosphatase activity was higher under NT at 0 and 240 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>. The higher urease and phosphatase activity in top soil was attributed to crop residue accumulation on the surface and less soil disturbance. This was similar to findings by Deng & Tabatabai, (1996) who observed increased enzyme activity with accumulation of organic N and C on the surface under NT system involving crop residue placement. Long-term intensive monoculture usually supplies lower amounts and diversity of OM thus suppressing microbial and enzyme activity (Klose & Tabatabai, 2000). This concurs with current findings since CT-ANNUAL, with its intensive ploughing had reduced enzyme activity, especially at 0-10 cm depth, compared to NT and CT-Y5 which had no and little ploughing, respectively. In lower depths CT-ANNUAL had higher enzyme activity especially acid phosphatase at 20-30 cm depth. Further, urease activity was higher in CT-ANNUAL in some treatments at lower depth. Higher enzyme activity under CT-ANNUAL than NT at lower depths was attributed to incorporation of organic N, P and C down the profile during ploughing. In a study by Taylor et al., (2002) they noticed that soil enzyme activity usually positively correlated with SOC and total N contents since organic C is a substrate for enzyme degradation. This is similar to current findings since treatments with higher SOC and total N had also higher enzyme activities. Urease and acid phosphatase activities had almost similar trend whereas invertase activities was opposite which may be due of their functionality in the soil. Gianfreda et al., (2005) highlighted that invertase catalyse hydrolytic OM breakdown, while urease and phosphatase play a role in the mineralization of N, P and sulphur compounds, respectively.

# **8.6. Seasonal effluxes of GHG under different tillage and N fertilizer application rates**

The response of soil nutrient cycles to management is closely linked to effluxes of gases from the soil. In the current study N, C and P pools, soil physicochemical properties and the activity of different enzymes influenced effluxes of GHGs. CT-ANNUAL had higher CO<sub>2</sub> and N<sub>2</sub>O effluxes than NT in both summer and winter, whereas the opposite was true for CH<sub>4</sub> effluxes. CH<sub>4</sub> appeared to follow the same trend as labile C pools of POC, POXC and MBC which were higher under NT especially at 0-10 cm depth compared to CT-ANNUAL. According to Bhattacharyya et al., (2012) high labile C fractions promoted the growth of methanogens thereby inducing higher CH<sub>4</sub> emissions. Crop residues decompose to produce acetate, which is essential for the growth of methanogens. Thus NT experienced higher CH<sub>4</sub> effluxes compared to CT-ANNUAL in both seasons due to presence of residues. Observations were also made of higher CH<sub>4</sub> effluxes at higher N rates. According to Zheng et al., (2007), this is because N fertilization especially with crop residues increases the bioavailable pool of organic C for microbes and, in turn, promotes CH<sub>4</sub> production by utilization of bioavailable organic C by methanogenic microbes.

 $N_2O$  on the other hand had higher effluxes under CT-ANNUAL compared to NT. This was attributed to opening of air spaces during ploughing in CT-ANNUAL that accelerates nitrification leading to high NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> production. According to Bhattacharyya et al., (2013), NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> content showed a positive correlation with N<sub>2</sub>O emission (r = 0.96), because denitrification requires an organic C source (for energy) and the substrate NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>. Relatively higher N<sub>2</sub>O emissions during winter (in the control treatment) than summer was concurrent with findings of Del Grosso et al., (2002), who attributed this to little N crop uptake in winter after harvest. Furthermore Holtan-Hartwig et al., (2002) elucidated that the production of N<sub>2</sub>O exceeds its reduction N<sub>2</sub> at low temperature, thus contributing to high N<sub>2</sub>O emission during winter, which concurs with current findings only in the control treatment.

Soil moisture and degradation of organic material increases GHGs emissions, especially CO<sub>2</sub> and N<sub>2</sub>O (Favoino & Hogg, 2008), this concurs with present findings since well-draining CT-ANNUAL resulted in high decomposition of the residues, releasing GHGs such as CO<sub>2</sub> and N<sub>2</sub>O to the atmosphere. During summer, decomposition and mineralization of OM significantly increased under CT-ANNUAL at both 120 and 240 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>, thus releasing more GHGs, CO<sub>2</sub> and N<sub>2</sub>O, in the process compared to winter. This was because soil moisture and temperature were high in summer, favouring accelerated decomposition hence emission of gases. Again ploughing and N fertilization were done in summer, which created well aerated conditions and provided substrates that induced enzyme activity thereby increasing available N, P and labile C. According to Holtgrieve et al., (2006) soil moisture regulates the cycling of C, N, P and

trace gas production through stimulation of microbial activity and the diffusion GHGs from soils. In the present study high soil moisture and temperature in summer than winter induced higher GHGs effluxes especially CO<sub>2</sub> under CT-ANNUAL and CH<sub>4</sub> under NT. Furthermore higher soil moisture under NT especially at 0-10 cm intensified N, P and C mineralisation and enzyme activity thereby inducing more CH<sub>4</sub> production (due to the anaerobic conditions created). However, less soil moisture under CT-ANNUAL compared to NT created aerobic conditions that stimulated oxidation of organic P, N and C and diffusivity of CO<sub>2</sub> and N<sub>2</sub>O. This is supported by findings of Vitousek, (2004), who illustrated that less soil moisture resulted in enough oxygen within soil pores to allow nitrification to occur, which in turn induces N<sub>2</sub>O effluxes.

#### 8.7 Conclusions and Recommendations

Conservation tillage improved soil physicochemical and biological properties. C, P, N and enzyme activities were higher under NT on the surface compared to CT-Y5 and CT-ANNUAL. CT-Y5, although it had less soil physicochemical and biological properties than NT, had higher C, N, P and enzymes activities compared to CT-ANNUAL on the surface. In contrast, CT-ANNUAL showed an increase of soil properties with depth, although it had higher NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> on the surface. Variation of soil properties with depth indicates that tillage and N fertilizer application stimulate leaching and mineralisation. Improving C sequestration can be done by increasing SOM through minimizing soil disturbance and returning crop residues as it was done under NT and CT-Y5. Proper C sequestration can reduce global warming because less CO<sub>2</sub> will be emitted to the atmosphere. CT-ANNUAL tends to deplete soil C because of its high OM oxidation reactions. Moreover, the activity of enzymes such as urease and acid phosphatase were mostly higher under NT in the 0-10 cm depth which may be due to accumulation of organic N from crop residues. During ploughing crop residues are incorporated into the soil bringing them into contact with microbes for decomposition thus depleting soil C. CT-ANNUAL experienced higher CO<sub>2</sub> emission in both seasons due to availability of oxygen and improved gas diffusivity as pores are opened during ploughing. However, the accumulation of crop residues under NT increased soil bulk density which reduced the movement of air thus lowering CO2 effluxes. Moreover the high soil moisture under NT compared to CT-ANNUAL also led to less soil pores for gases to flow. Fertilizer application also had some impact on gas effluxes. Thus the highest N fertilizer, 240 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>, resulted in the highest summer CO<sub>2</sub>

emission, under CT-ANNUAL, showing the detrimental effect of excessive fertilizer application. NT with its high C pools had a far less CO<sub>2</sub> effluxes compared to CT-ANNUAL, making it effective at sequestering soil C.

Higher N mineralization in the control of NT at 0-10 cm depth led to high N<sub>2</sub>O effluxes during summer, which eventually decreased as N rate increased which may be attributed to fertilizer acidification which hinders microbial activities. Since the experiment was located in a semiarid zone, soils were not fully saturated, hence the main mechanism driving N<sub>2</sub>O production was nitrification. Aerobic conditions under CT-ANNUAL as a result of ploughing favoured nitrification which stimulated higher N<sub>2</sub>O effluxes compared to NT. Moreover increased N fertilizer under CT-ANNUAL also increased N2O during summer, which may be attributed to high soil moisture and temperature to enhance nitrification, whereas in winter the opposite was observed. The control had the highest N<sub>2</sub>O emission under CT-ANNUAL in winter which may be due acidification of soil in fertilized treatments reducing nitrification processes. Thus improving N-use efficiency especially by minimising ploughing and applying the appropriate amount of N in a timely manner (in summer) to enhance crop uptake must be advocated. Conservation tillage, both NT and CT-Y5 had higher total N, NH4<sup>+</sup> and N mineralization compared to CT-ANNUAL which had higher NO3<sup>-</sup> and N2O effluxes. This implies that conservation tillage must be employed in order to sustain soil N and reduces N<sub>2</sub>O emissions from the soil.

NT and CT-Y5 promoted good soil properties such as C, N and P pools and minimized effluxes of CO<sub>2</sub> and N<sub>2</sub>O compared to CT-ANNUAL, while increasing effluxes of CH<sub>4</sub>. Thus NT had higher effluxes of CH<sub>4</sub> in both seasons, which may be attributed to reducing conditions and high bulk density, both of which favour methanogenic activity. Again higher bulk density under NT compared to CT-ANNUAL reduced methanotrophs, which oxidise CH<sub>4</sub> in the soil. However, N fertilization increased effluxes of CH<sub>4</sub> under NT with the highest rate, 240 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>, having higher effluxes. GHG effluxes were higher in summer than winter, which was attributed to higher summer soil temperatures and moisture. Drier winter soil moisture reduced CO<sub>2</sub> emissions whereas high soil moisture and temperature induced CH<sub>4</sub> emissions. Further, CT-ANNUAL induced effluxes of CO<sub>2</sub> and N<sub>2</sub>O, whereas CH<sub>4</sub> was induced by NT. Moreover greater CO<sub>2</sub> emissions from CT-ANNUAL were attributed to increased rates of OM turnover during ploughing. Whereas higher N<sub>2</sub>O emissions from CT-ANNUAL were mostly due to

improved soil aeration thus increase in diffusivity and better nitrification. Furthermore, greater emission of CH<sub>4</sub> under NT was attribued to the higher soil moisture and temperature in this technique that favoured methanogenic bacterial activity. Though CH<sub>4</sub> and N<sub>2</sub>O have higher global warming potential, their effluxes were much less than those of CO<sub>2</sub>. Thus, optimizing N fertilization is necessary to mitigate GHGs effluxes from the soil by maintaining high C, P and N pools in the soil. The best treatment to reduce emissions was NT in summer (except for CH4 at 240 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup>), since it had far less effluxes of all the GHGs measured compared to CT-ANNUAL. Again, NT at 120 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> in 0-10 cm depth generally had high C, P, N pools, enzymes activity (invertase and urease activities) and physicochemical properties compared to other treatments. Therefore conservation tillage especially NT was more effective to minimise GHG emissions compared to CT. The null hypothesis that conservation tillage would increase fluxes of GHGs was rejected. However, more needs to be done to extrapolate results to different agro-ecological zones, soil types, fertilizer sources and other management regimes e.g. irrigation. It is worth to note that CT-Y5, though had less physicochemical, P and C pools and enzyme activities than NT, had better properties compared to CT-ANNUAL henceforth it can be recommended to farmers.

#### 9. References

- Abdalla, M.A., Suliman, S.E., Ahmed, D.E. and Bakhiet, A.O., 2009. Estimation of bacterial contamination of indigenous bovine carcasses in Khartoum (Sudan). *African Journal of Microbiology Research*, *3*(12), pp.882-886.
- Acton, D.F., 1994. A program to assess and monitor soil quality in Canada. Soil Quality Evaluation Program Summary Report. Centre for Land and Biological Resources Research, Research Branch, Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada, Ottawa, ON.
- Adviento-Borbe, M.A.A., Doran, J.W., Drijber, R.A. and Dobermann, A., 2006. Soil electrical conductivity and water content affect nitrous oxide and carbon dioxide emissions in intensively managed soils. *Journal of environmental quality*, 35(6), pp.1999-2010.
- Aguilera, E., Lassaletta, L., Gattinger, A. and Gimeno, B.S., 2013. Managing soil carbon for climate change mitigation and adaptation in Mediterranean cropping systems: a metaanalysis. *Agriculture, ecosystems & environment, 168*, pp.25-36.
- Alcock, D.J. and Hegarty, R.S., 2011. Potential effects of animal management and genetic improvement on enteric methane emissions, emissions intensity and productivity of sheep enterprises at Cowra, Australia. *Animal Feed Science and Technology*, 166, pp.749-760.
- Alef, K. and Nannipieri, P., 1995. *Methods in applied soil microbiology and biochemistry* (No. 631.46 M592ma). Academic Press.
- Allison, S.D., Weintraub, M.N., Gartner, T.B. and Waldrop, M.P., 2010. Evolutionary-economic principles as regulators of soil enzyme production and ecosystem function. In *Soil enzymology* (pp. 229-243). Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg.
- Alster, C.J., German, D.P., Lu, Y. and Allison, S.D., 2013. Microbial enzymatic responses to drought and to nitrogen addition in a southern California grassland. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 64, pp.68-79.
- Alvarez, R., Diaz, R.A., Barbero, N., Santanatoglia, O.J. and Blotta, L., 1995. Soil organic carbon, microbial biomass and CO<sub>2</sub>-C production from three tillage systems. *Soil and Tillage Research*, 33(1), pp.17-28.

- Ambus, P., Zechmeister-Boltenstern, S. and Butterbach-Bahl, K., 2006. Sources of nitrous oxide emitted from European forest soils. *Biogeosciences*, *3*(2), pp.135-145.
- Anderson, J.M. and Ingram, J.S.I., 1993. Tropical Soil Biology and Fertility: A Handbook of Methods. Second edition. CAB International. Wallingford, UK. p. 37.
- Anderson, J.M. and Ingram, J.S.I., 1989. TSBF: A Handbook of Methods of Analysis. CAB International, p. 39.
- Anderson, J.M. and Ingram, J.S.I., 1994. Tropical soil biology and fertility: a handbook of methods. *Soil Science*, 157(4), p.265.
- Anderson, T.H. and Domsch, K.H., 1989. Ratios of microbial biomass carbon to total organic carbon in arable soils. *Soil biology and biochemistry*, *21*(4), pp.471-479.
- Anderson, T.H. and Domsch, K.H., 1990. Application of eco-physiological quotients (qCO2 and qD) on microbial biomasses from soils of different cropping histories. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 22(2), pp.251-255.
- Andraski, T.W., Bundy, L.G. and Kilian, K.C., 2003. Manure history and long-term tillage effects on soil properties and phosphorus losses in runoff. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 32(5), pp.1782-1789.
- Angers, D.A., Bolinder, M.A., Carter, M.R., Gregorich, E.G., Drury, C.F., Liang, B.C., Voroney, R.P., Simard, R.R., Donald, R.G., Beyaert, R.P. and Martel, J., 1997. Impact of tillage practices on organic carbon and nitrogen storage in cool, humid soils of eastern Canada. *Soil and Tillage Research*, 41(3-4), pp.191-201.
- Angers, D.A., Samson, N. and Legere, A., 1993. Early changes in water-stable aggregation induced by rotation and tillage in a soil under barley production. *Canadian journal of soil science*, 73(1), pp.51-59.
- Arnold, S.L., Parkin, T.B., Doran, J.W., Eghball, B. and Mosier, A.R., 2001. Automated gas sampling system for laboratory analysis of CH<sub>4</sub> and N<sub>2</sub>O. *Communications in soil science and plant analysis*, 32(17-18), pp.2795-2807.
- Arshad, M.A., Schnitzer, M., Angers, D.A. and Ripmeester, J.A., 1990. Effects of till vs no-till on the quality of soil organic matter. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 22(5), pp.595-599.

- Aulakh, M.S., Doran, J.W. and Mosier, A.R., 1992. Soil denitrification—significance, measurement, and effects of management. In *Advances in soil science* (pp. 1-57). Springer, New York, NY.
- Aulakh, M.S., Walters, D.T., Doran, J.W., Francis, D.D. and Mosier, A.R., 1991. Crop residue type and placement effects on denitrification and mineralization. *Soil Science Society of America Journal*, 55(4), pp.1020-1025.
- Awale, R., Chatterjee, A. and Franzen, D., 2013. Tillage and N-fertilizer influences on selected organic carbon fractions in a North Dakota silty clay soil. *Soil and Tillage Research*, *134*, pp.213-222.
- Baggs, E.M., Chebii, J. and Ndufa, J.K., 2006. A short-term investigation of trace gas emissions following tillage and no-tillage of agroforestry residues in western Kenya. *Soil and Tillage Research*, 90(1-2), pp.69-76.
- Baggs, E.M., Rees, R.M., Smith, K.A. and Vinten, A.J.A., 2000. Nitrous oxide emission from soils after incorporating crop residues. *Soil use and management*, *16*(2), pp.82-87.
- Baggs, E.M., Richter, M., Cadisch, G. and Hartwig, U.A., 2003. Denitrification in grass swards is increased under elevated atmospheric CO2. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, *35*(5), pp.729-732.
- Baker, J.M., Ochsner, T.E., Venterea, R.T. and Griffis, T.J., 2007. Tillage and soil carbon sequestration—What do we really know? *Agriculture, ecosystems & environment*, 118(1-4), pp.1-5.
- Balesdent, J., Chenu, C. and Balabane, M., 2000. Relationship of soil organic matter dynamics to physical protection and tillage. *Soil and tillage research*, *53*(3-4), pp.215-230.
- Ball, B. C., Scott, A. and Parker, J. P., 1999. Field N<sub>2</sub>O, CO<sub>2</sub> and CH<sub>4</sub> fluxes in relation to tillage, compaction and soil quality in Scotland. *Soil Tillage Res.* 53, 29–39.
- Ball, B.C., Crichton, I. and Horgan, G.W., 2008. Dynamics of upward and downward N<sub>2</sub>O and CO<sub>2</sub> fluxes in ploughed or no-tilled soils in relation to water-filled pore space, compaction and crop presence. *Soil and Tillage Research*, 101(1-2), pp.20-30.
- Ball, W.P., Liu, C., Xia, G. and Young, D.F., 1997. A diffusion-based interpretation of tetrachloroethene and trichloroethene concentration profiles in a groundwater aquitard. *Water Resources Research*, 33(12), pp.2741-2757.
- Balota, E.L.; Colozzi Filho, A.; Andrade, D.S. and Dick, R.P., 2004. Long-term tillage and crop rotation effects on microbial biomass and C and N mineralization in a Brazilian Oxisol. *Soil Till. Res.*, 77:137-145.

- Balota, E.L.; Colozzi-Filho, A.; Andrade, D.S. and Dick, R.P., 2003. Microbial biomass in soils under different tillage and crop rotation systems. *Biol. Fertil. Soils*. 38:15-20.
- Bandick, A.K. and Dick, R.P., 1999. Field management effects on soil enzyme activities. *Soil Biol. Biochem.*, 31:1471-1479.
- Barabasz, W., Albinska, D., Jaskowska, M. and Lipiec, J., 2002. Biological effects of mineral nitrogen fertilization on soil microorganisms. *Polish Journal of Environmental Studies*, 11(3), pp.193-198.
- Barber, S.A., Walker, J.M. and Vasey, E.H., 1963. Mechanisms for movement of plant nutrients from soil and fertilizer to plant root. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 11(3), pp.204-207.
- Bassett, T.S., 2010. A comparison of the effects of tillage on soil physical properties and microbial acitivity at different levels of nitrogen fertilizer at Gourton Farm, Loskop, KwaZulu-Natal (Doctoral dissertation).
- Bayer, C., Martin-Neto, L., Mielniczuk, J., Pavinato, A. and Dieckow, J., 2006. Carbon sequestration in two Brazilian Cerrado soils under no-till. *Soil and tillage research*, *86*(2), pp.237-245.
- Beare, M. H., Gregorich, E. G. and St-Georges, P., 2009. Compaction effects on CO2 and N2O production during drying and rewetting of soil. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* 41, 611–621.
- Beare, M.H., Coleman, D.C., Pohlad, B.R. and Wright, D.H., 1993. Residue placement and fungicide effects on fungal communities in conventional and no-tillage soils. *Soil Science Society of America Journal*, 57(2), pp.392-399.
- Beare, M.H., Hendrix, P.F., Cabrera, M.L. and Coleman, D.C., 1994. Aggregate-protected and unprotected organic matter pools in conventional-and no-tillage soils. *Soil Science Society of America Journal*, 58(3), pp.787-795.
- Beauchamp, E.G., 1997. Nitrous oxide emission from agricultural soils. *Canadian Journal of Soil Science*, 77(2), pp.113-123.
- Beauchemin, K.A. and McGinn, S.M., 2005. Methane emissions from feedlot cattle fed barley or corn diets. *Journal of animal science*, *83*(3), pp.653-661.
- Bédard C, Knowles R (1989) Physiology, biochemistry, and specific inhibitors of CH<sub>4</sub>, NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup>, and CO oxidation by methanotrophs and nitrifiers. *Microbiol Rev* 53: 68–84.
- Bellarby, J., Foereid, B. and Hastings, A., 2008. Cool Farming: Climate impacts of agriculture and mitigation potential.

- Benbi, D.K., Brar, K., Toor, A.S. and Singh, P., 2015. Total and labile pools of soil organic carbon in cultivated and undisturbed soils in northern India. *Geoderma*, 237, pp.149-158.
- Benckiser, G., Haider, K. and Sauerbeck, D., 1986. Field measurements of gaseous nitrogen losses from an Alfisol planted with sugar-beets. *Zeitschrift für Pflanzenernährung und Bodenkunde*, 149(3), pp.249-261.
- Benitez, E., Melgar, R., Sainz, H., Gomez, M. and Nogales, R., 2000. Enzyme activities in the rhizosphere of pepper (Capsicum annuum, L.) grown with olive cake mulches. *Soil Biology* and Biochemistry, 32(13), pp.1829-1835.
- Bergstrom, D.W., Monreal, C.M., Millette, J.A. and King, D.J., 1998. Spatial dependence of soil enzyme activities along a slope. *Soil Science Society of America Journal*, *62*(5), pp.1302-1308.
- Bertol, I., Engel, F.L., Mafra, A.L., Bertol, O.J. and Ritter, S.R., 2007. Phosphorus, potassium and organic carbon concentrations in runoff water and sediments under different soil tillage systems during soybean growth. *Soil and Tillage Research*, 94(1), pp.142-150.
- Bhattacharyya, P., Nayak, A.K., Mohanty, S., Tripathi, R., Shahid, M., Kumar, A., Raja, R., Panda, B.B., Roy, K.S., Neogi, S. and Dash, P.K., 2013. Greenhouse gas emission in relation to labile soil C, N pools and functional microbial diversity as influenced by 39 years long-term fertilizer management in tropical rice. *Soil and Tillage Research*, 129, pp.93-105.
- Bhattacharyya, P., Roy, K.S., Neogi, S., Adhya, T.K., Rao, K.S. and Manna, M.C., 2012. Effects of rice straw and nitrogen fertilization on greenhouse gas emissions and carbon storage in tropical flooded soil planted with rice. *Soil and Tillage research*, 124, pp.119-130.
- Blake, G.R., 1965. Bulk density. *Methods of Soil Analysis: Part 1 Physical and Mineralogical Properties, Including Statistics of Measurement and Sampling*, 9, pp.374-390.
- Blake, L., Mercik, S., Koerschens, M., Moskal, S., Poulton, P.R., Goulding, K.W.T., Weigel, A. and Powlson, D.S., 2000. Phosphorus content in soil, uptake by plants and balance in three European long-term field experiments. *Nutr. Cycl. Agroecosyst.* 56, 263–275.
- Blanco-Canqui, H. and Lal, R. 2008. No-tillage and soil-profile carbon sequestration: An on-farm assessment. *Soil Science Society of America Journal*, 72(3), pp.693-701.
- Blevins, R.L., Thomas, G.W. and Cornelius, P.L., 1977. Influence of No-tillage and Nitrogen Fertilization on Certain Soil Properties after 5 Years of Continuous Corn 1. Agronomy Journal, 69(3), pp.383-386.

- Bodelier, P.L. and Laanbroek, H.J., 2004. Nitrogen as a regulatory factor of methane oxidation in soils and sediments. *FEMS microbiology ecology*, 47(3), pp.265-277.
- Bolan, N.S., Adriano, D.C. and Curtin, D., 2003. Soil acidification and liming interactions with nutrient and heavy metal transformation and bioavailability. *Advances in agronomy*, 78(21), pp.5-272.
- Bolland, M.D.A. and Brennan, R.F., 2006. Phosphorus, copper and zinc requirements of no-till wheat crops and methods of collecting soil samples for soil testing. *Australian Journal of Experimental Agriculture*, *46*(8), pp.1051-1059.
- Bollmann, A. and Conrad, R., 1998. Influence of O<sub>2</sub> availability on NO and N<sub>2</sub>O release by nitrification and denitrification in soils. *Global Change Biology*, *4*(4), pp.387-396.
- Bonfil, D.J., Mufradi, I., Klitman, S. and Asido, S., 1999. Wheat grain yield and soil profile water distribution in a no-till arid environment. *Agronomy Journal*, *91*(3), pp.368-373.
- Bousquet, P., Ciais, P., Miller, J.B., Dlugokencky, E.J., Hauglustaine, D.A., Prigent, C., Van der Werf, G.R., Peylin, P., Brunke, E.G., Carouge, C. and Langenfelds, R.L., 2006. Contribution of anthropogenic and natural sources to atmospheric methane variability. *Nature*, 443(7110), pp.439-443.
- Bouwman, A.F. and Taylor, J.A., 1996. Testing high-resolution nitrous oxide emission estimates against observations using an atmospheric transport model. *Global Biogeochemical Cycles*, 10(2), pp.307-318.
- Bowman, R.A., 1989. A sequential extraction procedure with concentrated sulphuric acidand dilute base for soil organie phosphorus. *SQi! Science Society of America Journal*, 53, 362-366.
- Brady, N.C., 1974. The Nature and Properties of Soils. Mac Millan Publ. Comp. Inc., New York.
- Bremner, J.M. and Keeney, D.R., 1965. Steam distillation methods for determination of ammonium, nitrate and nitrite. *Analytica Chim. Acta* 32, 485-495.
- Broder, M.W., Doran, J.W., Peterson, G.A. and Fenster, C.R., 1984. Fallow tillage influence on spring populations of soil nitrifiers, denitrifiers, and available N. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.* 48, 1060-1067.
- Bronick, C.J. and Lal, R., 2005. Manuring and rotation effects on soil organic carbon concentration for different aggregate size fractions on two soils in northeastern Ohio, USA. *Soil and Tillage Research*, 81(2), pp.239-252.
- Brown, S., Kruger, C. and Subler, S., 2008. Greenhouse gas balance for composting operations. *Journal of environmental quality*, *37*(4), pp.1396-1410.

- Brumme, R. and Borken, W., 1999. Site variation in methane oxidation as affected by atmospheric deposition and type of temperate forest ecosystem. *Global Biogeochemical Cycles*, 13(2), pp.493-501.
- Bünemann, E.K., 2015. Assessment of gross and net mineralization rates of soil organic phosphorus– A review. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, *89*, pp.82-98.
- Bünemann, E.K., Schwenke, G.D. and Van Zwieten, L., 2006. Impact of agricultural inputs on soil organisms—a review. *Soil Research*, *44*(4), pp.379-406.
- Burford, J. R. and Bremner, J. M., 1975. Relationships between the denitrification capacities of soils and total, water-soluble and readily decomposable soil organic matter. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* 7, 389–394.
- Burton, S.A. and Prosser, J.I., 2001. Autotrophic ammonia oxidation at low pH through urea hydrolysis. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 67:2952–2957.
- Butterbach-Bahl, K. and Kiese, R., 2005. Significance of Forests as Sources for N 2 O and NO. In *Tree species effects on soils: implications for global change* (pp. 173-191). Springer, Dordrecht.
- Butterbach-Bahl, K., Baggs, E.M., Dannenmann, M., Kiese, R. and Zechmeister-Boltenstern, S., 2013. Nitrous oxide emissions from soils: how well do we understand the processes and their controls?. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 368(1621), p.20130122.
- Buyanovsky, G.A. and Wagner, G.H., 1983. Annual cycles of carbon dioxide level in soil air. *Soil Science Society of America Journal*, 47(6), pp.1139-1145.
- Buyanovsky, G.A. and Wagner, G.H., 1987. Carbon transfer in a winter wheat (Triticum aestivum) ecosystem. *Biology and fertility of soils*, 5(1), pp.76-82.
- Cambardella, C.A. and Elliott, E.T., 1992. Particulate soil organic-matter changes across a grassland cultivation sequence. *Soil science society of America journal*, *56*(3), pp.777-783.
- Cameira, M.C., Magalhaes, M.C. and Pato, R.L., 1996. Nitrogen dynamics on a soil with different tillage systems. In *Progress in nitrogen cycling studies* (pp. 31-35). Springer, Dordrecht.
- Campbell, C., Biederbeck, V.O. and Warder, F.G., 1971. Influence of Simulated Fall and Spring Conditions on the Soil System: II. Effect on Soil Nitrogen 1. Soil Science Society of America Journal, 35(3), pp.480-483.
- Carter, M.R., Gregorich, E.G., Angers, D.A., Donald, R.G. and Bolinder, M.A., 1998. Organic C and N storage, and organic C fractions, in adjacent cultivated and forested soils of eastern Canada. *Soil and Tillage Research*, 47(3-4), pp.253-261.

- Carter, M.R., Kunelius, H.T. and Angers, D.A., 1994. Soil structural form and stability, and organic matter under cool-season perennial grasses. *Soil Science Society of America Journal*, 58(4), pp.1194-1199.
- Carvalho, A.M.D., Bustamante, M.M.D.C., Kozovits, A.R., Miranda, L.N.D., Vivaldi, L.J. and Sousa, D.M.D., 2006. Emission of nitrogen oxides associated with urea application under conventional tillage and no-tillage. *Pesquisa Agropecuária Brasileira*, 41(4), pp.679-685.
- Cates, R.L. and Keeney, D.R., 1987. Nitrous oxide production throughout the year from fertilized and manured maize fields. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, *16*(4), pp.443-447.
- Cavazzoni, J. and Volk, T., 1996. Assessing long-term impacts of increased crop productivity on atmospheric CO2. *Energy policy*, 24(5), pp.403-411.
- Cayuela, M.L., Sánchez-Monedero, M.A., Roig, A., Hanley, K., Enders, A. and Lehmann, J., 2013. Biochar and denitrification in soils: when, how much and why does biochar reduce N 2 O emissions?. *Scientific reports*, *3*, p.1732.
- Celik, I., Gunal, H., Budak, M. and Akpinar, C., 2010. Effects of long-term organic and mineral fertilizers on bulk density and penetration resistance in semi-arid Mediterranean soil conditions. *Geoderma*, 160(2), pp.236-243.
- Cenini, V.L., Fornara, D.A., McMullan, G., Ternan, N., Carolan, R., Crawley, M.J., Clement, J.C. and Lavorel, S., 2016. Linkages between extracellular enzyme activities and the carbon and nitrogen content of grassland soils. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 96, pp.198-206.
- Cereti, C.F. and Rossini, F., 1995. Effect of reduced tillage on physical properties of soils continuously cropped with wheat (Triticum aestivum L.) and maize (Zea mays L.) under dryland cultivation. *Rivista di Agronomia*, *29*, pp.382-387.
- Chadwick, P.M., Lyons, K., McComb, T.J.L., Orford, K.J., Osborne, J.L., Rayner, S.M., Shaw, S.E. and Turver, K.E., 2000. The correction of atmospheric Cerenkov images for the effect of the geomagnetic field. *Journal of Physics G: Nuclear and Particle Physics*, 26(1), p.L5.
- Chamen, W.C.T. and Parkin, A.B., 1995. The impact of tillage practices on the soil and its linked environment, with particular reference to arable cropping in United Kingdom, ADAS-SRI. Joint Contract Report No. CR/678/95/0209.
- Chan, K.Y., 2001. Soil particulate organic carbon under different land use and management. *Soil use and management*, *17*(4), pp.217-221.
- Chang, I.C., 2007. Mitigation of climate change. Summary for Policymakers, 10(5.4).

- Chaplot, V. and Poesen, J., 2012. Sediment, soil organic carbon and runoff delivery at various spatial scales. *Catena*, 88(1), pp.46-56.
- Chapuis-Lardy, L.Y.D.I.E., Wrage, N., Metay, A., CHOTTE, J.L. and Bernoux, M., 2007. Soils, a sink for N<sub>2</sub>O? A review. *Global Change Biology*, *13*(1), pp.1-17.
- Chatskikh, D. and Olesen, J.E., 2007. Soil tillage enhanced CO<sub>2</sub> and N<sub>2</sub>O emissions from loamy sand soil under spring barley. *Soil and tillage Research*, 97(1), pp.5-18.
- Chawla, K.L. and Chhabra, R., 1991. Physical properties of a gypsum amended sodic soil as affected by long-term use of fertilizers. *Journal of the Indian Society of Soil Science*, *39*(1), pp.40-45.
- Chen, C.Y., Yeh, K.L., Aisyah, R., Lee, D.J. and Chang, J.S., 2011. Cultivation, photobioreactor design and harvesting of microalgae for biodiesel production: a critical review. *Bioresource technology*, 102(1), pp.71-81.
- Chen, H., Hou, R., Gong, Y., Li, H., Fan, M. and Kuzyakov, Y., 2009. Effects of 11 years of conservation tillage on soil organic matter fractions in wheat monoculture in Loess Plateau of China. Soil and Tillage Research, 106(1), pp.85-94.
- Chenu, C., Angers, D.A., Barré, P., Derrien, D., Arrouays, D. and Balesdent, J., 2019. Increasing organic stocks in agricultural soils: Knowledge gaps and potential innovations. *Soil and Tillage Research*, 188, pp.41-52.
- Chirinda, N., Carter, M.S., Albert, K.R., Ambus, P., Olesen, J.E., Porter, J.R. and Petersen, S.O., 2010. Emissions of nitrous oxide from arable organic and conventional cropping systems on two soil types. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment*, 136(3-4), pp.199-208.
- Christensen, S. and Christensen, B.T., 1991. Organic matter available for denitrification in different soil fractions: effect of freeze/thaw cycles and straw disposal. *Journal of Soil Science*, *42*(4), pp.637-647.
- Christopher, S.F., Lal, R. and Mishra, U., 2009. Regional study of no-till effects on carbon sequestration in the Midwestern United States. *Soil Science Society of America Journal*, 73(1), pp.207-216.
- Clark, H., Pinares-Patiño, C. and De Klein, C., 2005. Methane and nitrous oxide emissions from grazed grasslands. *Grassland. A Global Resource*, pp.279-293.
- Clemens, J., Vandré, R., Kaupenjohann, M. and Goldbach, H., 1997. Ammonia and nitrous oxide emissions after landspreading of slurry as influenced by application technique and dry matterreduction. II. Short term nitrous oxide emissions. *Zeitschrift für Pflanzenernährung und Bodenkunde*, 160(4), pp.491-496.

- Collins, H.P., Rasmussen, P.E. and Douglas Jr, C.L., 1992. Crop rotation and residue management effects on soil carbon and microbial dynamics. *Soil Science Society of America Journal*, *56*(3), pp.783-788.
- Conant, R.T., Paustian, K., Del Grosso, S.J. and Parton, W.J., 2005. Nitrogen pools and fluxes in grassland soils sequestering carbon. *Nutrient Cycling in Agroecosystems*, 71(3), pp.239-248.
- Conrad, R., Seiler, W. and Bunse, G., 1983. Factors influencing the loss of fertilizer nitrogen into the atmosphere as N2O. *Journal of Geophysical Research: Oceans*, 88(C11), pp.6709-6718.
- Coppens, F., Garnier, P., Findeling, A., Merckx, R. and Recous, S., 2007. Decomposition of mulched versus incorporated crop residues: modelling with PASTIS clarifies interactions between residue quality and location. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 39(9), pp.2339-2350.
- Corton, T.M., Bajita, J.B., Grospe, F.S., Pamplona, R.R., Assis, C.A., Wassmann, R., Lantin, R.S. and Buendia, L.V., 2000. Methane emission from irrigated and intensively managed rice fields in Central Luzon (Philippines). *Nutrient Cycling in Agroecosystems*, 58(1-3), pp.37-53.
- Cou<sup>t</sup>eaux, M.M., Bottner, P. and Berg, B., 1995. Litter decomposition, climate and liter quality. *Trends in ecology & evolution*, *10*(2), pp.63-66.
- Coward, E.K; Thompson, A.T. and Plante A.F., 2017. Iron-mediated mineralogical control of organic matter accumulation in tropical soils. *Geoderma*, 306:206–216.
- Crittenden, S.J., Poot, N., Heinen, M.D.J.M., Van Balen, D.J.M. and Pulleman, M.M., 2015. Soil physical quality in contrasting tillage systems in organic and conventional farming. *Soil and Tillage Research*, *154*, pp.136-144.
- Cruvinel, Ê.B.F., Bustamante, M.M.D.C., Kozovits, A.R. and Zepp, R.G., 2011. Soil emissions of NO, N<sub>2</sub>O and CO<sub>2</sub> from croplands in the savanna region of central Brazil. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment, 144*(1), pp.29-40.
- Čuhel, J., Šimek, M., Laughlin, R.J., Bru, D., Chèneby, D., Watson, C.J. and Philippot, L., 2010. Insights into the effect of soil pH on N2O and N2 emissions and denitrifier community size and activity. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.*, *76*(6), pp.1870-1878.
- Culman, S.W., Snapp, S.S., Freeman, M.A., Schipanski, M.E., Beniston, J., Lal, R., Drinkwater, L.E., Franzluebbers, A.J., Glover, J.D., Grandy, A.S. and Lee, J., 2012. Permanganate oxidizable carbon reflects a processed soil fraction that is sensitive to management. *Soil Science Society* of America Journal, 76(2), pp.494-504.

- Curci, M., Pizzigallo, M.D.R., Crecchio, C., Mininni, R. and Ruggiero, P., 1997. Effects of conventional tillage on biochemical properties of soils. *Biology and Fertility of Soils*, 25(1), pp.1-6.
- Cusack, D.F., Markesteijn, L., Condit, R., Lewis, O.T. and Turner, B.L., 2018. Soil carbon stocks across tropical forests of Panama regulated by base cation effects on fine roots. *Biogeochemistry*, 137(1-2), pp.253-266.
- Dalal, R.C., 1989. Long-term effects of no-tillage, crop residue, and nitrogen application on properties of a Vertisol. *Soil Science Society of America Journal*, *53*(5), pp.1511-1515.
- Dalal, R.C., Allen, D.E., Livesley, S.J. and Richards, G., 2008. Magnitude and biophysical regulators of methane emission and consumption in the Australian agricultural, forest, and submerged landscapes: a review. *Plant and Soil*, 309(1-2), pp.43-76.
- Dalal, R.C., Allen, D.E., Wang, W.J., Reeves, S. and Gibson, I., 2011. Organic carbon and total nitrogen stocks in a Vertisol following 40 years of no-tillage, crop residue retention and nitrogen fertilisation. *Soil and tillage research*, 112(2), pp.133-139.
- Dalal, R.C., Henderson, P.A. and Glasby, J.M., 1991. Organic matter and microbial biomass in a vertisol after 20 yr of zero-tillage. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 23(5), pp.435-441.
- Damon, P.M., Bowden, B., Rose, T. and Rengel, Z., 2014. Crop residue contributions to phosphorus pools in agricultural soils: A review. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 74, pp.127-137.
- Danevčič, T., Mandic-Mulec, I., Stres, B., Stopar, D. and Hacin, J., 2010. Emissions of CO<sub>2</sub>, CH<sub>4</sub> and N<sub>2</sub>O from Southern European peatlands. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, *42*(9), pp.1437-1446.
- Stone, D.L., Whitney, D., Janssen, K.A. and Long, J.H., 1991. Soil properties after twenty years of fertilization with different nitrogen sources. *Soil Science Society of America Journal*, 55(4), pp.1097-1100.
- Das, P., Sa, J.H., Kim, K.H. and Jeon, E.C., 2009. Effect of fertilizer application on ammonia emission and concentration levels of ammonium, nitrate, and nitrite ions in a rice field. *Environmental monitoring and assessment*, 154(1-4), pp.275-282.
- Davidson, E.A. and Swank, W.T., 1990. Nitrous oxide dissolved in soil solution: an insignificant pathway of nitrogen loss from a southeastern hardwood forest. *Water resources research*, *26*(7), pp.1687-1690.
- Davidson, E.A., 1991. Fluxes of nitrous oxide and nitric oxide from terrestrial ecosystems. *Microbial production and consumption of greenhouse gases: Methane, nitrous oxide, and halomethanes*, pp.219-235.

- Davidson, E.A., Keller, M., Erickson, H.E., Verchot, L.V. and Veldkamp, E., 2000. Testing a conceptual model of soil emissions of nitrous and nitric oxides: using two functions based on soil nitrogen availability and soil water content, the hole-in-the-pipe model characterizes a large fraction of the observed variation of nitric oxide and nitrous oxide emissions from soils. *Bioscience*, *50*(8), pp.667-680.
- De Klein, C.A.M., Pinares-Patino, C. and Waghorn, G.C., 2008. Greenhouse gas emissions. *Environmental impacts of pasture-based farming*, pp.1-32.
- De Maria, I.C., Castro, O.M.D. and Souza Dias, H., 1999. *Physical attributes of the soil and root growth* of soybean in a purple oxisol under different soil tillage methods. *Revista Brasileira de Ciência* do Solo, 23(3), pp.703-709.
- De Moraes Sa, J.C., Cerri, C.C., Lal, R., Dick, W.A., de Cassia Piccolo, M. and Feigl, B.E., 2009. Soil organic carbon and fertility interactions affected by a tillage chronosequence in a Brazilian Oxisol. *Soil and Tillage Research*, 104(1), pp.56-64.
- Decock, C., Lee, J., Necpalova, M., Pereira, E.I.P., Tendall, D.M. and Six, J., 2015. Mitigating N 2 O emissions from soil: from patching leaks to transformative action. *Soil*, *1*(2), pp.687-694.
- Deen, W. and Kataki, P.K., 2003. Carbon sequestration in a long-term conventional versus conservation tillage experiment. *Soil and Tillage Research*, 74(2), pp.143-150.
- Del Grosso, S., Ojima, D., Parton, W., Mosier, A., Peterson, G. and Schimel, D., 2002. Simulated effects of dryland cropping intensification on soil organic matter and greenhouse gas exchanges using the DAYCENT ecosystem model. *Environmental pollution*, *116*, pp.S75-S83.
- Deng, S.P. and Tabatabai, M.A., 1996. Effect of tillage and residue management on enzyme activities in soils. *Biology and Fertility of Soils*, *22*(3), pp.202-207.
- Desjardins, R.L. and Riznek, R., 2000. Agricultural greenhouse gas budget. Environmental Sustainability of Canadian Agriculture: Report of the Agri-Environmental Indicator Project, Catalogue, (A22-201), pp.133-142.
- Desjardins, R.L., Smith, W., Grant, B., Campbell, C. and Riznek, R., 2005. Management strategies to sequester carbon in agricultural soils and to mitigate greenhouse gas emissions. In *Increasing Climate Variability and Change* (pp. 283-297). Springer, Dordrecht.
- Dick, R.P.; Rasmussen, P.E.; Kerle, E.A. 1988. Influence of long-term residue management on soil enzyme activities in relation to soil chemical properties of a wheat-fallow system. *Biol. Fertil. Soils*. 6:159-164.

- Dick, W.A. 1984. Influence of long-term tillage and crop rotation combinations on soil enzyme activities. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J., 48:569-574.
- Dick, W.A. and Tabatabai, M., 1984. Kinetic parameters of phosphatases in soils and organic waste materials. *Soil Science*, *137*(1), pp.7-15.
- Dick, W.A., 1983. Organic carbon, nitrogen, and phosphorus concentrations and pH in soil profiles as affected by tillage intensity. *Soil Science Society of America Journal*, 47(1), pp.102-107.
- Diekow, J., Mielniczuk, J., Knicker, H., Bayer, C., Dick, D.P. and Kögel-Knabner, I., 2005. Soil C and N stocks as affected by cropping systems and nitrogen fertilisation in a southern Brazil Acrisol managed under no-tillage for 17 years. *Soil and Tillage Research*, 81(1), pp.87-95.
- Díez, J.A., Hernaiz, P., Muñoz, M.J., De la Torre, A. and Vallejo, A., 2004. Impact of pig slurry on soil properties, water salinization, nitrate leaching and crop yield in a four-year experiment in Central Spain. *Soil Use and Management*, 20(4), pp.444-450.
- Dilustro, J.J., Collins, B., Duncan, L. and Crawford, C., 2005. Moisture and soil texture effects on soil CO2 efflux components in southeastern mixed pine forests. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 204(1), pp.87-97.
- Dimassi, B., Mary, B., Wylleman, R., Labreuche, J., Couture, D., Piraux, F. and Cohan, J.P., 2014. Long-term effect of contrasted tillage and crop management on soil carbon dynamics during 41 years. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment, 188, pp.134-146.
- Dobbie, K.E. and Smith, K.A., 2003. Impact of different forms of N fertilizer on N<sub>2</sub>O emissions from intensive grassland. *Nutrient cycling in Agroecosystems*, 67(1), pp.37-46.
- Doran, J.W., 1980. Soil microbial and biochemical changes associated with reduced tillage 1. Soil Science Society of America Journal, 44(4), pp.765-771.
- Doran, J.W., 1987. Microbial biomass and mineralizable nitrogen distributions in no-tillage and plowed soils. *Biology and Fertility of Soils*, *5*(1), pp.68-75.
- Doran, J.W., Elliott, E.T. and Paustian, K., 1998. Soil microbial activity, nitrogen cycling, and longterm changes in organic carbon pools as related to fallow tillage management. *Soil and Tillage Research*, 49(1-2), pp.3-18.
- Doran, J.W., Elliott, E.T. and Paustian, K., 1998. Soil microbial activity, nitrogen cycling, and longterm changes in organic carbon pools as related to fallow tillage management. *Soil and Tillage Research*, 49(1-2), pp.3-18.

- Dou, F., Wright, A.L. and Hons, F.M., 2008. Sensitivity of labile soil organic carbon to tillage in wheatbased cropping systems. *Soil Science Society of America Journal*, 72(5), pp.1445-1453.
- Dowdell, R.J. and Cannell, R.Q., 1975. Effect of ploughing and direct drilling on soil nitrate content. *Journal of Soil Science*, 26(1), pp.53-61.
- Drewer, J., Finch, J.W., Lloyd, C.R., Baggs, E.M. and Skiba, U., 2012. How do soil emissions of N2O, CH 4 and CO 2 from perennial bioenergy crops differ from arable annual crops?. *Gcb Bioenergy*, 4(4), pp.408-419.
- Du Toit, C.J.L., Meissner, H.H. and Van Niekerk, W.A., 2013. Direct methane and nitrous oxide emissions of South African dairy and beef cattle. *South African Journal of Animal Science*, 43(3), pp.320-339.
- Duddleston, K.N., Kinney, M.A., Kiene, R.P. and Hines, M.E., 2002. Anaerobic microbial biogeochemistry in a northern bog: acetate as a dominant metabolic end product. *Global Biogeochemical Cycles*, *16*(4), pp.11-1.
- Dutta, B., Gariepy, Y. and Raghavan, G.S., 2015. Effects of process parameters and selective heating on microwave pyrolysis of lignocellulosic biomass for biochar production. *Canadian Biosystems Engineering*, 57.
- Edwards, A.P. and Bremner, J.M., 1967. Microaggregates in soils 1. Journal of Soil Science, 18(1), pp.64-73.
- Edwards, C. and Duncan, M., 2009. The use of pig manure–a study at Wollun, NSW. *Department of Primary Industries, Armidale.*
- Edwards, G. C. 1992. The development and evaluation of a tunable diode laser grace gas sensor for the measurement of N<sub>2</sub>O and CH<sub>4</sub> fluxes using micrometeorological techniques. Ph.D. thesis. University of Guelph, Guelph, ON. Edwards, G. C., Simpson, I. J., Thurtell.
- Edwards, J.H., Wood, C.W., Thurlow, D.L., Ruf, M.E., 1992. Tillage and crop rotation effects on fertility status of a Hapludult soil. *Soil Sci. Sot. Am. J.* 56, 1577-1582.
- Egginton, G.M. and Smith, K.A., 1986. Losses of nitrogen by denitrification from a grassland soil fertilized with cattle slurry and calcium nitrate. *European Journal of Soil Science*, *37*(1), pp.69-80.
- Eigenberg, R.A., Doran, J.W., Nienaber, J.A., Ferguson, R.B. and Woodbury, B.L., 2002. Electrical conductivity monitoring of soil condition and available N with animal manure and a cover crop. *Agriculture, ecosystems & environment, 88*(2), pp.183-193.

- El-Haris, M.K., Cochran, V.L., Elliott, L.F. and Bezdicek, D.F., 1983. Effect of Tillage, Cropping, and Fertilizer Management on Soil Nitrogen Mineralization Potential 1. *Soil Science Society of America Journal*, 47(6), pp.1157-1161.
- Elliott, E.T., Palm, C.A., Reuss, D.E. and Monz, C.A., 1991. Organic matter contained in soil aggregates from a tropical chronosequence: correction for sand and light fraction. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment*, 34(1-4), pp.443-451.
- Eriksen, J. and Jensen, L.S., 2001. Soil respiration, nitrogen mineralization and uptake in barley following cultivation of grazed grasslands. *Biology and fertility of soils*, *33*(2), pp.139-145.
- Eriksson, H., 1991. Sources and sinks of carbon dioxide in Sweden. Ambio, pp.146-150.
- Favoino, E. and Hogg, D., 2008. The potential role of compost in reducing greenhouse gases. *Waste Management & Research*, 26(1), pp.61-69.
- Feiza, V., Feizienė, D., Sinkevičienė, A., Bogužas, V., Putramentaitė, A., Lazauskas, S., Deveikytė, I., Seibutis, V., Steponavičienė, V. and Pranaitienė, S., 2015. Soil water capacity, pore-size distribution and CO<sub>2</sub> efflux in different soils after long-term no-till management. *Zemdirbyste-Agriculture*, 102(1).
- Fenster, C.R. and Peterson, G.A., 1979. Effects of no-tillage fallow as compared to conventional tillage in a wheat-fallow system.
- Fink, J.R., Inda, A.V., Bavaresco, J., Barrón, V., Torrent, J. and Bayer, C., 2016. Adsorption and desorption of phosphorus in subtropical soils as affected by management system and mineralogy. *Soil and Tillage Research*, 155, pp.62-68.
- Flessa, H., Ruser, R., Schilling, R., Loftfield, N., Munch, J.C., Kaiser, E.A. and Beese, F., 2002. N2O and CH4 fluxes in potato fields: automated measurement, management effects and temporal variation. *Geoderma*, 105(3-4), pp.307-325.
- Flessa, H., Wild, U., Klemisch, M. and Pfadenhauer, J., 1998. Nitrous oxide and methane fluxes from organic soils under agriculture. *European Journal of Soil Science*, *49*(2), pp.327-335.
- Follett, R.F., 2001. Soil management concepts and carbon sequestration in cropland soils. *Soil and Tillage Research*, *61*(1-2), pp.77-92.
- Fontaine, S., Barot, S., Barré, P., Bdioui, N., Mary, B. and Rumpel, C., 2007. Stability of organic carbon in deep soil layers controlled by fresh carbon supply. *Nature*, *450*(7167), pp.277-280.

- Fowler, D., Pilegaard, K., Sutton, M.A., Ambus, P., Raivonen, M., Duyzer, J., Simpson, D., Fagerli, H., Fuzzi, S., Schjørring, J.K. and Granier, C., 2009. Atmospheric composition change: ecosystems-atmosphere interactions. *Atmospheric Environment*, 43(33), pp.5193-5267.
- Frankeberger, W.T. and Johanson, J.B., 1983. Method of measuring invertase activity in soils. *Plant and Soil*, 74(3), pp.301-311.
- Frankenberger Jr, W.T. and Dick, W.A., 1983. Relationships between enzyme activities and microbial growth and activity indices in soil. *Soil Science Society of America Journal*, 47(5), pp.945-951.
- Franzluebbers, A.J. and Hons, F.M., 1996. Soil-profile distribution of primary and secondary plantavailable nutrients under conventional and no tillage.
- Franzluebbers, A.J. and Stuedemann, J.A., 2003. Bermudagrass management in the southern piedmont USA. III. Particulate and biologically active soil carbon. *Soil Science Society of America Journal*, 67(1), pp.132-138.
- Franzluebbers, A.J., Hons, F.M. and Zuberer, D.A., 1994. Long-term changes in soil carbon and nitrogen pools in wheat management systems. *Soil Science Society of America Journal*, 58(6), pp.1639-1645.
- Franzluebbers, A.J., Hons, F.M. and Zuberer, D.A., 1995. Tillage and crop effects on seasonal soil carbon and nitrogen dynamics. *Soil Science Society of America Journal*, *59*(6), pp.1618-1624.
- Franzluebbers, A.J., Hons, FM. and Zuberer, DA .1995. Tillage and crop effects on seasonal dynamics of soil CO<sub>2</sub> evolution, water content, temperature, and bulk density. Applied Soil Ecology. Elsevier, 2, 2.
- Freibauer, A., Rounsevell, M.D., Smith, P. and Verhagen, J., 2004. Carbon sequestration in the agricultural soils of Europe. *Geoderma*, 122(1), pp.1-23.
- Freney, J.R. and Wetselaar, R. 1969. The determination of mineral nitrogen in soil with particular reference to nitrate. *Division of Plant Industry Tech. Paper No. 23*. CSIRO, Melbourne, Australia.
- Freney, J.R., 1997. Emission of nitrous oxide from soils used for agriculture. Nutrient cycling in agroecosystems, 49(1-3), pp.1-6.
- Frossard, E., Brossard, M., Hedley, M.J. and Metherell, A., 1995. Reactions controlling the cycling of P in soils.
- Fudge, J.F., 1928. 2602801. Influence of various nitrogenous fertilizers on availability of phosphate. Agronomy journal, 20(3), pp.280-293.

- Fujita, K., Kunito, T., Moro, H., Toda, H., Otsuka, S. and Nagaoka, K., 2017. Microbial resource allocation for phosphatase synthesis reflects the availability of inorganic phosphorus across various soils. *Biogeochemistry*, 136(3), pp.325-339.
- Gantzer, C.J. and Blake, G.R., 1978. Physical Characteristics of Le Sueur Clay Loam Soil Following No-till and Conventional Tillage 1. *Agronomy Journal*, *70*(5), pp.853-857.
- Garnett, T., 2011. Where are the best opportunities for reducing greenhouse gas emissions in the food system (including the food chain)?. *Food policy*, *36*, pp.S23-S32.
- Geisseler, D. and Scow, K.M., 2014. Long-term effects of mineral fertilizers on soil microorganisms– A review. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 75, pp.54-63.
- Ghidey, F. and Alberts, E.E., 1993. Residue type and placement effects on decomposition: field study and model evaluation. *Transactions of the ASAE*, *36*(6), pp.1611-1617.
- Gianfreda, L., Rao, M.A., Piotrowska, A., Palumbo, G. and Colombo, C., 2005. Soil enzyme activities as affected by anthropogenic alterations: intensive agricultural practices and organic pollution. *Science of the Total Environment*, 341(1-3), pp.265-279.
- Giles, C.D., Richardson, A.E., Druschel, G.K. and Hill, J.E., 2012. Organic anion–driven solubilization of precipitated and sorbed phytate improves hydrolysis by phytases and bioavailability to Nicotiana tabacum. *Soil science*, *177*(10), pp.591-598.
- Ginting, D., Kessavalou, A., Eghball, B. and Doran, J.W., 2003. Greenhouse gas emissions and soil indicators four years after manure and compost applications. *Journal of environmental quality*, *32*(1), pp.23-32.
- Gong, W., Yan, X.Y., Wang, J.Y., Hu, T.X. and Gong, Y.B., 2009. Long-term manuring and fertilization effects on soil organic carbon pools under a wheat–maize cropping system in North China Plain. *Plant and Soil*, 314(1-2), pp.67-76.
- Goss, M.J., Colbourn, P., Harris, G.L. and Howse, K.R., 1988. Leaching of nitrogen under autumnsown crops and the effects of tillage In: Jenkinson DS and Smith KA (Eds.) Nitrogen Efficiency in Agricultural Soils.
- Goss, M.J., Howse, K.R., Lane, P.W., Christian, D.G. and Harris, G.L., 1993. Losses of nitrate-nitrogen in water draining from under autumn-sown crops established by direct drilling or mouldboard ploughing. *Journal of soil science*, *44*(1), pp.35-48.
- Govaerts, B., Mezzalama, M., Unno, Y., Sayre, K.D., Luna-Guido, M., Vanherck, K., Dendooven, L. and Deckers, J., 2007. Influence of tillage, residue management, and crop rotation on soil microbial biomass and catabolic diversity. *Applied soil ecology*, 37(1-2), pp.18-30.

- Govaerts, B., Sayre, K., Verhulst, N., Dendooven, L., Limon-Ortega, A. and Patiño-Zúñiga, L., 2008.
   The Effects of Conversation Agriculture on Crop Performance, Soil Quality and Potential C
   Emission Reduction and C Sequestration in Contrasting Environments in Mexico. Unpublished
   material. www. fao. org.
- Granli, T. and Bockman, O.C., 1994. Nitrous oxide from agriculture. Norwegian Journal of Agricultural Sciences.
- Green, C.J. and Blackmer, A.M., 1995. Residue decomposition effects on nitrogen availability to corn following corn or soybean. *Soil Science Society of America Journal*, *59*(4), pp.1065-1070.
- Greenhouse Gas Working Group, 2010. Agriculture's role in greenhouse gas emissions and capture. Madison, WI: Greenhouse Gas Working Group Rep. ASA, CSSA, and SSSA.Ludwig, J., Meixner, F.X., Vogel, B. and Förstner, J., 2001. Soil-air exchange of nitric oxide: An overview of processes, environmental factors, and modeling studies. *Biogeochemistry*, 52(3), pp.225-257.
- Grego, S., Marinari, S., Moscatelli, M.C. and Badalucco, L., 1998. Effect of ammonium nitrate and stabilised farmyard manure on microbial biomass and metabolic quotient of soil under Zea mays L. Agricoltura mediterranea, 128(2), pp.132-137.
- Gregorich, E.G. and Carter, M.R. eds., 1997. Soil quality for crop production and ecosystem health. Elsevier.
- Gregorich, E.G., Monreal, C.M., Schnitzer, M. and Schulten, H.R., 1996. Transformation of plant residues into soil organic matter: chemical characterization of plant tissue, isolated soil fractions, and whole soils. *Soil Science*, *161*(10), pp.680-693.
- Gregorich, E.G., Rochette, P., Hopkins, D.W., McKim, U.F. and St-Georges, P., 2006. Tillage-induced environmental conditions in soil and substrate limitation determine biogenic gas production. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 38(9), pp.2614-2628.
- Gregorich, E.G., Rochette, P., St-Georges, P., McKim, U.F. and Chan, C., 2008. Tillage effects on N<sub>2</sub>O emission from soils under corn and soybeans in Eastern Canada. *Canadian Journal of Soil Science*, 88(2), pp.153-161.
- Gregorich, E.G., Rochette, P., Vanden Bygaart, A.J. and Angers, D.A., 2005. Greenhouse gas contributions of agricultural soils and potential mitigation practices in Eastern Canada. *Soil and Tillage Research*, 83(1), pp.53-72.

- Groffman, P.M., Altabet, M.A., Böhlke, J.K., Butterbach-Bahl, K., David, M.B., Firestone, M.K., Giblin, A.E., Kana, T.M., Nielsen, L.P. and Voytek, M.A., 2006. Methods for measuring denitrification: diverse approaches to a difficult problem. *Ecological Applications*, 16(6), pp.2091-2122.
- Gu, J., Nicoullaud, B., Rochette, P., Grossel, A., Hénault, C., Cellier, P. and Richard, G., 2013. A regional experiment suggests that soil texture is a major control of N2O emissions from tiledrained winter wheat fields during the fertilization period. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 60, pp.134-141.
- Gunapala, N. and Scow, K.M., 1998. Dynamics of soil microbial biomass and activity in conventional and organic farming systems. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, *30*(6), pp.805-816.
- Gundersen, P., Christiansen, J.R., Alberti, G., Brüggemann, N., Castaldi, S., Gasche, R., Kitzler, B., Klemedtsson, L., Lobo-do-Vale, R., Moldan, F. and Rütting, T., 2012. The response of methane and nitrous oxide fluxes to forest change in Europe. *Biogeosciences*, 9(10), pp.3999-4012.
- Guo, L.B. and Gifford, R.M., 2002. Soil carbon stocks and land use change: a meta- analysis. *Global change biology*, 8(4), pp.345-360.
- Guppy, C.N., Menzies, N.W., Blamey, F.P.C. and Moody, P.W., 2005. Do decomposing organic matter residues reduce phosphorus sorption in highly weathered soils?. *Soil Science Society of America Journal*, 69(5), pp.1405-1411.
- Gupta, V.V.S.R. and Germida, J.J., 1988. Distribution of microbial biomass and its activity in different soil aggregate size classes as affected by cultivation. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 20(6), pp.777-786.
- Haddaway, N.R., Hedlund, K., Jackson, L.E., Kätterer, T., Lugato, E., Thomsen, I.K., Jørgensen, H.B. and Isberg, P.E., 2017. How does tillage intensity affect soil organic carbon? A systematic review. *Environmental Evidence*, 6(1), p.30.
- Hall, S.J., Asner, G.P. and Kitayama, K., 2004. Substrate, climate, and land use controls over soil N dynamics and N-oxide emissions in Borneo. *Biogeochemistry*, 70(1), pp.27-58.
- Halvorson, A.D., Peterson, G.A. and Reule, C.A., 2002. Tillage system and crop rotation effects on dryland crop yields and soil carbon in the central Great Plains. *Agronomy Journal*, 94(6), pp.1429-1436.
- Hamblin, A.P., 1986. The influence of soil structure on water movement, crop root growth, and water uptake. In *Advances in agronomy* (Vol. 38, pp. 95-158). Academic Press.

- Hansen, S., Maehlum, J.E. and Bakken, L.R., 1993. N2O and CH4 fluxes in soil influenced by fertilization and tractor traffic. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 25(5), pp.621-630.
- Hao, X., Chang, C. and Lindwall, C.W., 2001. Tillage and crop sequence effects on organic carbon and total nitrogen content in an irrigated Alberta soil. *Soil and Tillage Research*, 62(3-4), pp.167-169.
- Havlin, J. L., Kissel, D. E., Maddux, L. D., Claasen, M. M., and Long, J. H. (1990). Crop rotation and tillage effects on soil organic carbon and nitrogen. *Soil Sci. SOC. Am. J.* 54,448-452.
- Haynes, R.J. and Naidu, R., 1998. Influence of lime, fertilizer and manure applications on soil organic matter content and soil physical conditions: a review. *Nutrient cycling in* agroecosystems, 51(2), pp.123-137.
- Hedley, M.J., Stewart, J.W.B. and Chauhan, B., 1982. Changes in inorganic and organic soil phosphorus fractions induced by cultivation practices and by laboratory incubations 1. *Soil Science Society of America Journal*, 46(5), pp.970-976.
- Heenan, D.P., Chan, K.Y., and Knight, P.G., 2004. Long-term impact of rotation, tillage and stubble management on the loss of soil organic carbon and nitrogen from a Chromic Luvisol. *Soil Till. Res.* 76, 59–68.
- Heincke, M. and Kaupenjohann, M., 1999. Effects of soil solution on the dynamics of N<sub>2</sub>O emissions: a review. *Nutrient Cycling in Agroecosystems*, 55(2), pp.133-157.
- Heinemeyer, O., Hesse, D., Munch, J.C. and Kaiser, E.A., 1997. N2O emissions from different housing systems used in pig fattening. In *Proceedings of the 7th International Workshop on Nitrous Oxide Emissions, Cologne, Germany* (pp. 155-161).
- Helgason, B.L., Gregorich, E.G., Janzen, H.H., Ellert, B.H., Lorenz, N. and Dick, R.P., 2014. Longterm microbial retention of residue C is site-specific and depends on residue placement. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 68, pp.231-240.
- Helgason, B.L., Walley, F.L. and Germida, J.J., 2009. Fungal and bacterial abundance in long-term notill and intensive-till soils of the Northern Great Plains. *Soil Science Society of America Journal*, 73(1), pp.120-127.
- Hellebrand, H.J., Kern, J. and Scholz, V., 2003. Long-term studies on greenhouse gas fluxes during cultivation of energy crops on sandy soils. *Atmospheric Environment*, *37*(12), pp.1635-1644.
- Hill, R.L., 1990. Long-term conventional and no-tillage effects on selected soil physical properties. Soil Science Society of America Journal, 54(1), pp.161-166.

- Hinsinger, P., 2001. Bioavailability of soil inorganic P in the rhizosphere as affected by root-induced chemical changes: a review. *Plant and soil*, 237(2), pp.173-195.
- Hobbie, S.E., Eddy, W.C., Buyarski, C.R., Adair, E.C., Ogdahl, M.L. and Weisenhorn, P., 2012. Response of decomposing litter and its microbial community to multiple forms of nitrogen enrichment. *Ecological monographs*, 82(3), pp.389-405.
- Holland, E.A. and Coleman, D.C., 1987. Litter placement effects on microbial and organic matter dynamics in an agroecosystem. *Ecology*, 68(2), pp.425-433.
- Holtan-Hartwig, L., Dörsch, P. and Bakken, L.R., 2002. Low temperature control of soil denitrifying communities: kinetics of N<sub>2</sub>O production and reduction. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 34(11), pp.1797-1806.
- Holtgrieve, G.W., Jewett, P.K. and Matson, P.A., 2006. Variations in soil N cycling and trace gas emissions in wet tropical forests. *Oecologia*, *146*(4), pp.584-594.
- Houghton, R.A., J.E. Hobbie, J.M. Mellilo, B. Moore, B.J. Peterson, G.R. Shaver, and G.M. Woodwell.
  1983. Changes in the carbon content of terrestrial biota and soils between 1860 and 1980: A net release of CO<sub>2</sub> to the atmosphere. *Ecol. Monogr.* 53:235-26.
- Huang, M., Liang, T. and Wang, L., 2015. Nitrous oxide emissions in a winter wheat-summer maize double cropping system under different tillage and fertilizer management. *Soil use and management*, 31(1), pp.98-105.
- Hungria, M., Franchini, J.C., Brandão-Junior, O., Kaschuk, G. and Souza, R.A., 2009. Soil microbial activity and crop sustainability in a long-term experiment with three soil-tillage and two croprotation systems. *Applied Soil Ecology*, 42(3), pp.288-296.
- Hüppi, R., Felber, R., Neftel, A., Six, J. and Leifeld, J., 2015. Effect of biochar and liming on soil nitrous oxide emissions from a temperate maize cropping system. *Soil*, 1(2), pp.707-717.
- Husted, S., 1994. Seasonal variation in methane emission from stored slurry and solid manures. *Journal of environmental quality*, *23*(3), pp.585-592.
- Hutchinson, G.L. and Davidson, E.A., 1993. Processes for production and consumption of gaseous nitrogen oxides in soil. *Agricultural ecosystem effects on trace gases and global climate change*, 55, pp.79-93.
- Hutchinson, G.L. and Mosier, A.R., 1981. Improved soil cover method for field measurement of nitrous oxide fluxes 1. *Soil Science Society of America Journal*, 45(2), pp.311-316.

- Hutchinson, J.J., Grant, B.B., Smith, W.N., Desjardins, R.L., Campbell, C.A., Worth, D.E. and Verge, X.P., 2007. Estimates of direct nitrous oxide emissions from Canadian agroecosystems and their uncertainties. *Canadian journal of soil science*, 87, pp.141-152.
- Hutsch, B. W., 1998. Tillage and land use effects on methane oxidation rates and their vertical profiles in soil. *Biol. Fert. Soils* 27, 284–292.
- Hütsch, B.W., 2001. Methane oxidation in non-flooded soils as affected by crop production. *European Journal of Agronomy*, *14*(4), pp.237-260.
- IPCC, W., 1990. Climate Change-The IPCC Impacts Assessment. *Australian Government Publishing* Service.
- Isermann, K., 1994. Agriculture's share in the emission of trace gases affecting the climate and some cause-oriented proposals for sufficiently reducing this share. *Environmental pollution*, 83(1-2), pp.95-111.
- Ishaq, M., Ibrahim, M. and Lal, R., 2002. Tillage effects on soil properties at different levels of fertilizer application in Punjab, Pakistan. *Soil and Tillage Research*, 68(2), pp.93-99.
- Ismail, I., Blevins, R.L. and Frye, W.W., 1994. Long-term no-tillage effects on soil properties and continuous corn yields. *Soil Science Society of America Journal*, *58*(1), pp.193-198.
- Jacinthe, P.A. and Lal, R., 2004. Effects of soil cover and land-use on the relations flux-concentration of trace gases. *Soil science*, *169*(4), pp.243-259.
- Jacinthe, P.A. and Lal, R., 2005. Labile carbon and methane uptake as affected by tillage intensity in a Mollisol. *Soil and Tillage Research*, 80(1), pp.35-45.
- Janušauskaite, D., Kadžienė, G. and Auškalnienė, O., 2013. The Effect of Tillage System on Soil Microbiota in Relation to Soil Structure. *Polish Journal of Environmental Studies*, 22(5).
- Janzen, H.H., Campbell, C.A., Gregorich, E.G. and Ellert, B.H., 1998. Soil carbon dynamics in Canadian agroecosystems. In *Soil processes and the carbon cycle* (pp. 57-80). CRC Press.
- Jenkinson, D.S. and Ladd, J.N. 1981. Microbial biomass in soil: measurement and turnover. *Soil biochemistry*, 5, pp.415-471.
- Jian, S., Li, J., Chen, J., Wang, G., Mayes, M.A., Dzantor, K.E., Hui, D. and Luo, Y., 2016. Soil extracellular enzyme activities, soil carbon and nitrogen storage under nitrogen fertilization: A meta-analysis. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 101, pp.32-43.
- Jiang, M., Griffin, W.M., Hendrickson, C., Jaramillo, P., Van Briesen, J. and Venkatesh, A., 2011. Life cycle greenhouse gas emissions of Marcellus shale gas. *Environmental Research Letters*, 6(3), p.034014.

- Jin, K., Sleutel, S., Buchan, D., De Neve, S., Cai, D.X., Gabriels, D. and Jin, J.Y., 2009. Changes of soil enzyme activities under different tillage practices in the Chinese Loess Plateau. *Soil and Tillage Research*, 104(1), pp.115-120.
- Jobbágy, E.G. and Jackson, R.B., 2000. The vertical distribution of soil organic carbon and its relation to climate and vegetation. *Ecological applications*, 10(2), pp.423-436.
- Johansson, A.E., Gustavsson, A.M., Öquist, M.G. and Svensson, B.H., 2004. Methane emissions from a constructed wetland treating wastewater—seasonal and spatial distribution and dependence on edaphic factors. *Water research*, *38*(18), pp.3960-3970.
- Johnson, M.D. and Lowery, B., 1985. Effect of Three Conservation Tillage Practices on Soil Temperature and Thermal Properties 1. *Soil Science Society of America Journal*, 49(6), pp.1547-1552.
- Johnson, M.G. and Kern, J.S., 1991. Sequestering Carbon in Soil: A Workshop to Explore the Potential for Mitigating Global Climate Change. METI, Incorporated, ERL.
- Joner, E.J., Ravnskov, S. and Jakobsen, I., 2000. Arbuscular mycorrhizal phosphate transport under monoxenic conditions using radio-labelled inorganic and organic phosphate. *Biotechnology Letters*, 22(21), pp.1705-1708.
- Jordan, E., Lovett, D.K., Hawkins, M. and O'Mara, F.P., 2004, February. The effect of varying levels of coconut oil on methane output from continental cross beef heifers. In *Proc. Int. Conf. Greenhouse Gas Emissions Agr. Mit. Opt. Strat., Leipzig, Germany* (pp. 124-130).
- Kabiri, V., Raiesi, F. and Ghazavi, M.A., 2016. Tillage effects on soil microbial biomass, SOM mineralization and enzyme activity in a semi-arid Calcixerepts. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment*, 232, pp.73-84.
- Kader, M.A., Senge, M., Mojid, M.A. and Nakamura, K., 2017. Mulching type-induced soil moisture and temperature regimes and water use efficiency of soybean under rain-fed condition in central Japan. *International Soil and Water Conservation Research*, 5(4), pp.302-308.
- Kaharabata, S.K., Drury, C.F., Priesack, E., Desjardins, R.L., McKenney, D.J., Tan, C.S. and Reynolds,
   D., 2003. Comparing measured and Expert-N predicted N<sub>2</sub>O emissions from conventional till and no till corn treatments. *Nutrient Cycling in Agroecosystems*, 66(2), pp.107-118.
- Kahlon, M.S.; Lal, R; and Ann-Varughese, M., 2013. Twenty two years of tillage and mulching impacts on soil physical characteristics and carbon sequestration in Central Ohio. *Soil and Tillage Research*, 126, pp.151-158.

- Kandeler, E. and Böhm, K.E., 1996. Temporal dynamics of microbial biomass, xylanase activity, Nmineralisation and potential nitrification in different tillage systems. *Applied Soil Ecology*, 4(3), pp.181-191.
- Kandeler, E. and Gerber, H., 1988. Short-term assay of soil urease activity using colorimetric determination of ammonium. *Biology and fertility of Soils*, 6(1), pp.68-72.
- Kandeler, E., Tscherko, D. and Spiegel, H., 1999. Long-term monitoring of microbial biomass, N mineralisation and enzyme activities of a Chernozem under different tillage management. *Biology and fertility of soils*, 28(4), pp.343-351.
- Kandeler, E., Tscherko, D., Bardgett, R.D., Hobbs, P.J., Kampichler, C. and Jones, T.H., 1998. The response of soil microorganisms and roots to elevated CO2 and temperature in a terrestrial model ecosystem. *Plant and Soil*, 202(2), pp.251-262.
- Kandeler, E., Tscherko, D., Bardgett, R.D., Hobbs, P.J., Kampichler, C. and Jones, T.H., 1998. The response of soil microorganisms and roots to elevated CO2 and temperature in a terrestrial model ecosystem. *Plant and Soil*, 202(2), pp.251-262.
- Kasimir-Klemedtsson, Å., Klemedtsson, L., Berglund, K., Martikainen, P., Silvola, J. and Oenema, O., 1997. Greenhouse gas emissions from farmed organic soils: a review. *Soil use and management*, 13, pp.245-250.
- Kassim, G., Martin, J.P. and Haider, K., 1981. Incorporation of a Wide Variety of Organic Substrate Carbons into Soil Biomass as Estimated by the Fumigation Procedure 1. *Soil Science Society* of America Journal, 45(6), pp.1106-1112.
- Keeler, B.L., Hobbie, S.E. and Kellogg, L.E., 2009. Effects of long-term nitrogen addition on microbial enzyme activity in eight forested and grassland sites: implications for litter and soil organic matter decomposition. *Ecosystems*, 12(1), pp.1-15.
- Kennedy, A.C. and Papendick, R.I., 1995. Microbial characteristics of soil quality. *Journal of soil and water conservation*, *50*(3), pp.243-248.
- Kennedy, A.C. and Smith, K.L., 1995. Soil microbial diversity and the sustainability of agricultural soils. *Plant and soil*, *170*(1), pp.75-86.
- Kern, J.S. and Johnson, M.G., 1993. Conservation tillage impacts on national soil and atmospheric carbon levels. *Soil Science Society of America Journal*, 57(1), pp.200-210.
- Khan, M.A., Ding, X., Khan, S., Brusseau, M.L., Khan, A. and Nawab, J., 2018. The influence of various organic amendments on the bioavailability and plant uptake of cadmium present in mine-degraded soil. *Science of the Total Environment*, 636, pp.810-817.

- Kibblewhite, M.G., Ritz, K. and Swift, M.J., 2008. Soil health in agricultural systems. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 363(1492), pp.685-701.
- Kirschbaum, M.U.F., 2006. The temperature dependence of organic-matter decomposition—still a topic of debate. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, *38*(9), pp.2510-2518.
- Kladivko, E.J., 2001. Tillage systems and soil ecology. Soil and Tillage Research, 61(1-2), pp.61-76.
- Klose, S. and Tabatabai, M.A., 2000. Urease activity of microbial biomass in soils as affected by cropping systems. *Biology and fertility of soils*, *31*(3-4), pp.191-199.
- Knief, C. and Dunfield, P.F., 2005. Response and adaptation of different methanotrophic bacteria to low methane mixing ratios. *Environmental Microbiology*, 7(9), pp.1307-1317.
- Konnerup, D., Betancourt-Portela, J.M., Villamil, C. and Parra, J.P., 2014. Nitrous oxide and methane emissions from the restored mangrove ecosystem of the Ciénaga Grande de Santa Marta, Colombia. *Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science*, 140, pp.43-51.
- Kramer, K.J., Moll, H.C. and Nonhebel, S., 1999. Total greenhouse gas emissions related to the Dutch crop production system. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment*, 72(1), pp.9-16.
- Krauss, M., Ruser, R., Müller, T., Hansen, S., Mäder, P. and Gattinger, A., 2017. Impact of reduced tillage on greenhouse gas emissions and soil carbon stocks in an organic grass-clover ley-winter wheat cropping sequence. *Agriculture, ecosystems & environment, 239*, pp.324-333.
- Kruglov, Y., Yu, K., An, P., Na, S. and Vas'kovskaya, G.S., 1979. Change of microbiological characteristics in soil with various fallow maintenance methods.
- Kushwaha, C.P., Tripathi, S.K. and Singh, K.P., 2000. Variations in soil microbial biomass and N availability due to residue and tillage management in a dryland rice agroecosystem. *Soil and Tillage Research*, *56*(3-4), pp.153-166.
- Lal, A.W., Belnap, M. and Van Zee, R., 1998. Simulation of overland and groundwater flow in the Everglades National Park. In Proc., Int. Water Resour. Engrg. Conf., ASCE, Reston, VA (pp. 610-615).
- Lal, R. and Kimble, J.M., 1997. Conservation tillage for carbon sequestration. *Nutrient cycling in agroecosystems*, 49(1-3), pp.243-253.
- Lal, R., 2003. Soil erosion and the global carbon budget. *Environment international*, 29(4), pp.437-450.
- Lal, R., 2004. Soil carbon sequestration to mitigate climate change. Geoderma, 123(1-2), pp.1-22.

- Lal, R., Logan, T.J. and Fausey, N.R., 1990. Long-term tillage effects on a Mollic Ochraqualf in North-West Ohio. III. Soil nutrient profile. *Soil and Tillage Research*, 15(4), pp.371-382.
- Lampurlanés, J. and Cantero-Martínez, C., 2003. Soil bulk density and penetration resistance under different tillage and crop management systems and their relationship with barley root growth. *Agron J*, *95*, pp.526-536.
- Laudicina, V.A., Novara, A., Barbera, V., Egli, M. and Badalucco, L., 2015. Long-Term Tillage and Cropping System Effects on Chemical and Biochemical Characteristics of Soil Organic Matter in a Mediterranean Semiarid Environment. *Land Degradation & Development*, 26(1), pp.45-53.
- Le Mer, J. and Roger, P., 2001. Production, oxidation, emission and consumption of methane by soils: a review. *European journal of soil biology*, *37*(1), pp.25-50.
- LECO CORPORATION. 2012. Truspec CN Carbon/ Nitrogen Determinator Instructions Manual. St Joseph, USA: LECO Corporation.
- Lehrsch, G.A., 1998. Freeze-thaw cycles increase near-surface aggregate stability. *Soil Science*, *163*(1), pp.63-70.
- Lehrsch, G.A., Sojka, R.E., Carter, D.L. and Jolley, P.M., 1991. Freezing effects on aggregate stability affected by texture, mineralogy, and organic matter. *Soil Science Society of America Journal*, 55(5), pp.1401-1406.
- Leip, A., Russo, S., Smith, K.A., Conen, F. and Bidoglio, G., 2002. Rice cultivation by direct drilling and delayed flooding reduces methane emissions. *Non-CO2 Greenhouse Gases: Scientific Understanding, Control Options and Policy Aspects*, pp.457-458.
- Lemke, R.L., Izaurralde, R.C., Malhi, S.S., Arshad, M.A. and Nyborg, M., 1998. Nitrous oxide emissions from agricultural soils of the Boreal and Parkland regions of Alberta. *Soil Science Society of America Journal*, 62(4), pp.1096-1102.
- Li, H., Qiu, J., Wang, L., Tang, H., Li, C. and Van Ranst, E., 2010. Modelling impacts of alternative farming management practices on greenhouse gas emissions from a winter wheat-maize rotation system in China. *Agriculture, ecosystems & environment, 135*(1-2), pp.24-33.
- Li, L., Aubertin, M. and Belem, T., 2005. Formulation of a three dimensional analytical solution to evaluate stresses in backfilled vertical narrow openings. *Canadian Geotechnical Journal*, 42(6), pp.1705-1717.

- Li, X., Zhang, X., Xu, H., Cai, Z. and Yagi, K., 2009. Methane and nitrous oxide emissions from rice paddy soil as influenced by timing of application of hydroquinone and dicyandiamide. *Nutrient cycling in agroecosystems*, *85*(1), pp.31-40.
- Li, Y., Chapman, S.J., Nicol, G.W. and Yao, H., 2018. Nitrification and nitrifiers in acidic soils. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, *116*, pp.290-301.
- Liikanen, A. and Martikainen, P.J., 2003. Effect of ammonium and oxygen on methane and nitrous oxide fluxes across sediment-water interface in a eutrophic lake. *Chemosphere*, *52*(8), pp.1287-1293.
- Linquist, B.A., Adviento-Borbe, M.A., Pittelkow, C.M., van Kessel, C. and van Groenigen, K.J., 2012. Fertilizer management practices and greenhouse gas emissions from rice systems: a quantitative review and analysis. *Field Crops Research*, 135, pp.10-21.
- Liu, C., Wang, K., Meng, S., Zheng, X., Zhou, Z., Han, S., Chen, D. and Yang, Z., 2011. Effects of irrigation, fertilization and crop straw management on nitrous oxide and nitric oxide emissions from a wheat-maize rotation field in northern China. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment*, 140(1-2), pp.226-233.
- Livesley, S.J., Eckard, R. and Arndt, S.K., 2008. Nitrous oxide and methane flux in Australian and New Zealand landscapes: measurements, modeling and mitigation.
- Łoginow, W., Wisniewski, W.O.J.C.J.E.C.H., Gonet, S.S. and Ciescinska, B., 1987. Fractionation of organic carbon based on susceptibility to oxidation. *Polish Journal of Soil Science*, 20(1), pp.47-52.
- Logsdon, S., Allmaras, R.R., Wu, L., Swan, J.B. and Randall, G.W., 1990. Macroporosity and its relation to saturated hydraulic conductivity under different tillage practices. *Soil Science Society of America Journal*, *54*(4), pp.1096-1101.
- Lorenz, K. and Lal, R., 2005. The depth distribution of soil organic carbon in relation to land use and management and the potential of carbon sequestration in subsoil horizons. *Advances in agronomy*, 88, pp.35-66.
- Lourenzi, C.R., Ceretta, C.A., Silva, L.S.D., Trentin, G., Girotto, E., Lorensini, F., Tiecher, T.L. and Brunetto, G., 2011. Soil chemical properties related to acidity under successive pig slurry application. *Revista Brasileira de Ciência do Solo*, 35(5), pp.1827-1836.

- Lovett, G.M., Canham, C.D., Arthur, M.A., Weathers, K.C. and Fitzhugh, R.D., 2006. Forest ecosystem responses to exotic pests and pathogens in eastern North America. *BioScience*, 56(5), pp.395-405.
- Lu, M., Zhou, X., Luo, Y., Yang, Y., Fang, C., Chen, J. and Li, B., 2011. Minor stimulation of soil carbon storage by nitrogen addition: a meta-analysis. *Agriculture, ecosystems & environment, 140*(1-2), pp.234-244.
- Ludwig, J., Meixner, F.X., Vogel, B. and Förstner, J., 2001. Soil-air exchange of nitric oxide: An overview of processes, environmental factors, and modeling studies. *Biogeochemistry*, 52(3), pp.225-257.
- Luo, Z., Wang, E. and Sun, O.J., 2010. Can no-tillage stimulate carbon sequestration in agricultural soils? A meta-analysis of paired experiments. *Agriculture, ecosystems & environment*, 139(1-2), pp.224-231.
- Luo, Z., Wang, E. and Sun, O.J., 2010. Can no-tillage stimulate carbon sequestration in agricultural soils? A meta-analysis of paired experiments. *Agriculture, ecosystems & environment*, 139(1-2), pp.224-231.
- Lupwayi, N.Z., Kennedy, A.C. and Chirwa, R.M., 2011. Grain legume impacts on soil biological processes in sub-Saharan Africa.
- MacKenzie, A.F., Fan, M.X. and Cadrin, F., 1998. Nitrous oxide emission in three years as affected by tillage, corn-soybean-alfalfa rotations, and nitrogen fertilization. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 27(3), pp.698-703.
- Magdoff, F. and Weil, R.R., 2004. Soil organic matter management strategies. *Soil organic matter in sustainable agriculture*, pp.45-65.
- Makova, J., Javoreková, S., Medo, J. and Majerčíková, K., 2011. Characteristics of microbial biomass carbon and respiration activities in arable soil and pasture grassland soil. *Journal of Central European Agriculture*, *12*(4), pp.0-0.
- Malhi, S.S. and Lemke, R., 2007. Tillage, crop residue and N fertilizer effects on crop yield, nutrient uptake, soil quality and nitrous oxide gas emissions in a second 4-yr rotation cycle. *Soil and Tillage Research*, 96(1-2), pp.269-283.
- Malhi, S.S., Lemke, R., Wang, Z.H. and Chhabra, B.S., 2006. Tillage, nitrogen and crop residue effects on crop yield, nutrient uptake, soil quality, and greenhouse gas emissions. *Soil and Tillage Research*, 90(1-2), pp.171-183.
- Maljanen, M., Liikanen, A., Silvola, J. and Martikainen, P.J., 2003. Nitrous oxide emissions from boreal organic soil under different land-use. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, *35*(5), pp.689-700.
- Maljanen, M., Martikkala, M., Koponen, H.T., Virkajärvi, P. and Martikainen, P.J., 2007. Fluxes of nitrous oxide and nitric oxide from experimental excreta patches in boreal agricultural soil. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 39(4), pp.914-920.
- Mangalassery, S., Sjögersten, S., Sparkes, D.L., Sturrock, C.J., Craigon, J. and Mooney, S.J., 2014. To what extent can zero tillage lead to a reduction in greenhouse gas emissions from temperate soils?. *Scientific reports*, *4*(1), pp.1-8.
- Mann, L.K., 1986. Changes in soil carbon storage after cultivation. Soil Science, 142(5), pp.279-288.
- Mapanda, F., Wuta, M., Nyamangara, J. and Rees, R.M., 2011. Effects of organic and mineral fertilizer nitrogen on greenhouse gas emissions and plant-captured carbon under maize cropping in Zimbabwe. *Plant and soil*, 343(1-2), pp.67-81.
- Margenot, A.J., Sommer, R., Mukalama, J. and Parikh, S.J., 2017. Biological P cycling is influenced by the form of P fertilizer in an Oxisol. *Biology and Fertility of Soils*, *53*(8), pp.899-909.
- Marklein, A.R. and Houlton, B.Z., 2012. Nitrogen inputs accelerate phosphorus cycling rates across a wide variety of terrestrial ecosystems. *New Phytologist*, *193*(3), pp.696-704.
- Martikainen, P.J., Regina, K., Syväsalo, E., Laurila, T., Lohila, A., Aurela, M., Silvola, J., Kettunen, R., Saarnio, S., Koponen, H. and Jaakkola, T., 2002. Agricultural soils as a sink and source of greenhouse gases: A research consortium (AGROGAS). Understanding the global system, the Finnish perspective, pp55-68.
- Martínez, E., Fuentes, J.P., Silva, P., Valle, S. and Acevedo, E., 2008. Soil physical properties and wheat root growth as affected by no-tillage and conventional tillage systems in a Mediterranean environment of Chile. *Soil and Tillage Research*, *99*(2), pp.232-244.
- Mathers, N.J., Jalota, R.K., Dalal, R.C. and Boyd, S.E., 2007. 13C-NMR analysis of decomposing litter and fine roots in the semi-arid Mulga Lands of southern Queensland. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 39(5), pp.993-1006.
- Matowo, P.R., Pierzynski, G.M., Whitney, D. and Lamond, R.E., 1999. Soil chemical properties as influenced by tillage and nitrogen source, placement, and rates after 10 years of continuous sorghum. *Soil and Tillage Research*, *50*(1), pp.11-19.

- Matowo, P.R., Pierzynski, G.M., Whitney, D.A. and Lamond, R.E., 1997. Long term effects of tillage and nitrogen source, rate, and placement on grain sorghum production. *Journal of production Agriculture*, *10*(1), pp.141-146.
- Maurya, P.R., 1988. Performance of zero-tillage in wheat and maize production under different soil and climatic conditions in Nigeria. In *Proceedings of the 11th ISTRO Conference, Edinburg, UK* (pp. 769-774).
- McCarty, G.W, Shogren, D.R. and Bremner, J.M., 1992. Regulation of urease production in soil by microbial assimilation of nitrogen. *Biology and Fertility of Soils*: 12; 261±264.
- McCarty, G.W. and Meisinger, J.J., 1997. Effects of N fertilizer treatments on biologically active N pools in soils under plow and no tillage. *Biology and Fertility of Soils*, *24*(4), pp.406-412.
- McGroddy, M. and Silver, W.L., 2000. Variations in belowground carbon storage and soil CO2 flux rates along a wet tropical climate gradient. *Biotropica* 32:614–624.
- McGuire, A.D., Melillo, J.M., Kicklighter, D.W., Pan, Y., Xiao, X., Helfrich, J., Moore III, B., Vorosmarty, C.J. and Schloss, A.L., 1997. Equilibrium responses of global net primary production and carbon storage to doubled atmospheric carbon dioxide: Sensitivity to changes in vegetation nitrogen concentration. *Global Biogeochemical Cycles*, 11(2), pp.173-189.
- Melillo, J.M., Steudler, P.A., Feigl, B.J., Neill, C., Garcia, D., Piccolo, M.C., Cerri, C.C. and Tian, H., 2001. Nitrous oxide emissions from forests and pastures of various ages in the Brazilian Amazon. *Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres*, *106*(D24), pp.34179-34188.
- Meurer, K.H., Haddaway, N.R., Bolinder, M.A. and Kätterer, T., 2018. Tillage intensity affects total SOC stocks in boreo-temperate regions only in the topsoil—A systematic review using an ESM approach. *Earth-Science Reviews*, *177*, pp.613-622.
- Mi, W., Wu, L., Brookes, P.C., Liu, Y., Zhang, X. and Yang, X., 2016. Changes in soil organic carbon fractions under integrated management systems in a low-productivity paddy soil given different organic amendments and chemical fertilizers. *Soil and Tillage Research*, 163, pp.64-70.
- Miransari, M., 2011. Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi and nitrogen uptake. Archives of microbiology, 193(2), pp.77-81.
- Mobley, H.L.T. and Hausinger, R.P., 1989. Microbial ureases: significance, regulation, and molecular characterization. Microbiological Reviews: 53; 85±108. PMID: 2651866.

- Monreal, C.M. and Bergstrom, D.W., 2000. Soil enzymatic factors expressing the influence of land use, tillage system and texture on soil biochemical quality. *Canadian Journal of Soil Science*, 80(3), pp.419-428.
- Mørkved, P.T., Dörsch, P., Henriksen, T.M. and Bakken, L.R., 2006. N<sub>2</sub>O emissions and product ratios of nitrification and denitrification as affected by freezing and thawing. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, *38*(12), pp.3411-3420.
- Mosier, A.R., Pendall, E. and Morgan, J.A., 2003. Effect of water addition and nitrogen fertilization on the fluxes of CH<sub>4</sub>, CO<sub>2</sub>, NOx, and N<sub>2</sub>O following five years of elevated CO2 in the Colorado Shortgrass Steppe.
- Mrabet, R., Saber, N., El-Brahli, A., Lahlou, S. and Bessam, F., 2001. Total, particulate organic matter and structural stability of a Calcixeroll soil under different wheat rotations and tillage systems in a semiarid area of Morocco. *Soil and Tillage Research*, *57*(4), pp.225-235.
- Mulvaney, R.L., Khan, S.A. and Ellsworth, T.R., 2009. Synthetic nitrogen fertilizers deplete soil nitrogen: a global dilemma for sustainable cereal production. *Journal of environmental quality*, 38(6), pp.2295-2314.
- Muñoz-Rojas, M., Jordán, A., Zavala, L.M., De la Rosa, D., Abd-Elmabod, S.K. and Anaya-Romero, M., 2015. Impact of land use and land cover changes on organic carbon stocks in Mediterranean soils (1956–2007). *Land degradation & development*, 26(2), pp.168-179.
- Murungu, F.S. and Madanzi, T., 2010. Seed priming, genotype and sowing date effects on emergence, growth and yield of wheat in a tropical low altitude area of Zimbabwe.
- Mutegi, J.K., Munkholm, L.J., Petersen, B.M., Hansen, E.M. and Petersen, S.O., 2010. Nitrous oxide emissions and controls as influenced by tillage and crop residue management strategy. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 42(10), pp.1701-1711.
- Nannipieri, P., Kandeler, E. and Ruggiero, P., 2002. Enzyme activities and microbiological and biochemical processes in soil. *Enzymes in the environment. Marcel Dekker, New York*, pp.1-33.
- Nardoto, G.B. and Bustamante, M.M.D.C., 2003. Effects of fire on soil nitrogen dynamics and microbial biomass in savannas of Central Brazil. *Pesquisa Agropecuária Brasileira*, 38(8), pp.955-962.

- Nawaz, A., Lal, R., Shrestha, R.K. and Farooq, M., 2017. Mulching affects soil properties and greenhouse gas emissions under long-term no-till and plough-till systems in Alfisol of central Ohio. *Land degradation & development*, 28(2), pp.673-681.
- Nazaries, L., Tate, K.R., Ross, D.J., Singh, J., Dando, J., Saggar, S., Baggs, E.M., Millard, P., Murrell, J.C. and Singh, B.K., 2011. Response of methanotrophic communities to afforestation and reforestation in New Zealand. *The ISME journal*, 5(11), pp.1832-1836.
- Ndayegamiye, A. and Cote, D., 1989. Effect of long-term pig slurry and solid cattle manure application on soil chemical and biological properties. *Canadian journal of soil science*, *69*(1), pp.39-47.
- Neue, H.U., 1997. Fluxes of methane from rice fields and potential for mitigation. Soil use and management, 13, pp.258-267.
- Novosamsky, I., Houba, V.J.G., Eck van R. & Vark van, W. 1983. A novel digestion technique for multi-element plant analysis. *Communications in Soil and Plant Analysis* 14:239-249.
- Nozhevnikova, A.N., Kotsyurbenko, O.R. and Simankova, M.V., 1994. Acetogenesis at low temperature. In *Acetogenesis* (pp. 416-431). Springer, Boston, MA.
- Nugroho, R.A., Röling, W.F.M., Laverman, A.M. and Verhoef, H.A., 2007. Low nitrification rates in acid Scots pine forest soils are due to pH-related factors. *Microbial Ecology*, *53*(1), pp.89-97.
- Nziguheba, G., Zingore, S., Kihara, J., Merckx, R., Njoroge, S., Otinga, A., Vandamme, E. and Vanlauwe, B., 2016. Phosphorus in smallholder farming systems of sub-Saharan Africa: implications for agricultural intensification. *Nutrient Cycling in Agroecosystems*, 104(3), pp.321-340.
- Oehl, F., Oberson, A., Tagmann, H.U., Besson, J.M., Dubois, D., M\u00e4der, P., Roth, H.R. and Frossard, E., 2002. Phosphorus budget and phosphorus availability in soils under organic and conventional farming. *Nutrient Cycling in Agroecosystems*, 62(1), pp.25-35.
- Oertel, C., Matschullat, J., Zurba, K., Zimmermann, F. and Erasmi, S., 2016. Greenhouse gas emissions from soils—A review. *Geochemistry*, *76*(3), pp.327-352.
- O'Halloran, I.P., 1993. Effect of tillage and fertilization on inorganic and organic soil phosphorus. *Canadian Journal of Soil Science*, 73(3), pp.359-369.
- Okalebo, J.R., 1993. Laboratory methods of soil and plant analysis: a working manual. Unesco/Rosta.
- Okalebo, J.R., Gathua, K.W. and Woomer, P.L., 2002. Laboratory methods of soil and plant analysis. *A working manual*, *2*, pp.29-68.

- Olsen, S.R. and Sommers, L.E., Phosphorus, 1982. Methods of Soil Analysis, Part II, 2nd Ed. Page, AL, RH Miller and DR Keeny. Eds. American Society of Agronomy: Madison, Wisconsin, pp.403-427.
- Olsson, R., Giesler, R., Loring, J.S. and Persson, P., 2012. Enzymatic hydrolysis of organic phosphates adsorbed on mineral surfaces. *Environmental science & technology*, *46*(1), pp.285-291.
- Omar, S.A. and Ismail, M.A., 1999. Microbial populations, ammonification and nitrification in soil treated with urea and inorganic salts. *Folia microbiologica*, *44*(2), pp.205-212.
- Omay, A.B., Rice, C.W., Maddux, L.D. and Gordon, W.B., 1997. Changes in soil microbial and chemical properties under long-term crop rotation and fertilization. *Soil Science Society of America Journal*, 61(6), pp.1672-1678.
- Oorts, K., Merckx, R., Gréhan, E., Labreuche, J. and Nicolardot, B., 2007. Determinants of annual fluxes of CO<sub>2</sub> and N<sub>2</sub>O in long-term no-tillage and conventional tillage systems in northern France. *Soil and Tillage Research*, *95*(1-2), pp.133-148.
- Ortel, E., Hertwig, A., Berger, D., Esposito, P., Rossi, A.M., Kraehnert, R. and Hodoroaba, V.D., 2016. New approach on quantification of porosity of thin films via electron-excited X-ray spectra. *Analytical chemistry*, 88(14), pp.7083-7090.
- Otter, L., Moeletsi, M., Swanepoel, C., Tswai, R. and Kidson, M., 2010. The South African agricultural GHG inventory for 2004. Department of Agriculture. *Forestry and Fisheries, South Africa*.
- Palm, C., Sanchez, P., Ahamed, S. and Awiti, A., 2007. Soils: A contemporary perspective. Annu. Rev. Environ. Resour., 32, pp.99-129.
- Pancholy, S.K.; Rice, E.L. 1973. Soils enzymes in relation to old field succession: amylase, cellulase, invertase, dehydrogenase, and urease. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.*, 37:47-50.
- Park, J. and Seaton, R.A.F., 1996. Integrative research and sustainable agriculture. *Agricultural Systems*, 50(1), pp.81-100.
- Parr, J.F. and Papendick, R.I., 1978. Factors affecting the decomposition of crop residues by microorganisms. Crop Residue Management Systems: ASA Special Publication Number 31, 31, pp.101-129.
- Passianoto, C.C., Ahrens, T., Feigl, B.J., Steudler, P.A., Do Carmo, J.B. and Melillo, J.M., 2003. Emissions of CO<sub>2</sub>, N<sub>2</sub>O, and NO in conventional and no-till management practices in Rondônia, Brazil. *Biology and fertility of soils*, 38(4), pp.200-208.

- Paustian, K., Babcock, B.A., Hatfield, J., Kling, C.L., Lal, R., McCarl, B.A., Mclaughlin, S., Mosier, A.R., Post, W.M., Rice, C.W. and Robertson, G.P., 2004. Climate change and greenhouse gas mitigation: challenges and opportunities for agriculture. *CAST Task Force Report*, 141.
- Paustian, K., Lehmann, J., Ogle, S., Reay, D., Robertson, G.P. and Smith, P., 2016. Climate-smart soils. *Nature*, 532(7597), pp.49-57.
- Paustian, K., Six, J., Elliott, E.T. and Hunt, H.W., 2000. Management options for reducing CO<sub>2</sub> emissions from agricultural soils. *Biogeochemistry*, 48(1), pp.147-163.
- Paustian, K.A.O.J.H., Andren, O., Janzen, H.H., Lal, R., Smith, P., Tian, G., Tiessen, H., Van Noordwijk, M. and Woomer, P.L., 1997. Agricultural soils as a sink to mitigate CO2 emissions. *Soil use and management*, 13, pp.230-244.
- Petersen, S. O., Schjønning, P., Thomsen, I. K. & Christensen, B. T., 2008. Nitrous oxide evolution from structurally intact soil as influenced by tillage and soil water content. *Soil Biol. Biochem*. 40, 967–977.
- Petersen, S.O., 1999. Nitrous oxide emissions from manure and inorganic fertilizers applied to spring barley. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 28(5), pp.1610-1618.
- Petersen, S.O., Regina, K., Pöllinger, A., Rigler, E., Valli, L., Yamulki, S., Esala, M., Fabbri, C., Syväsalo, E. and Vinther, F.P., 2006. Nitrous oxide emissions from organic and conventional crop rotations in five European countries. *Agriculture, ecosystems & environment*, 112(2-3), pp.200-206.
- Phetteplace, H.W., Johnson, D.E. and Seidl, A.F., 2001. Greenhouse gas emissions from simulated beef and dairy livestock systems in the United States. *Nutrient cycling in agroecosystems*, 60(1-3), pp.99-102.
- Pilegaard, K., Skiba, U., Ambus, P., Beier, C., Brüggemann, N., Butterbach-Bahl, K., Dick, J., Dorsey, J., Duyzer, J., Gallagher, M. and Gasche, R., 2006. Factors controlling regional differences in forest soil emission of nitrogen oxides (NO and N<sub>2</sub>O).
- Pinck, L.A., Sherman, M.S. and Allison, F.E., 1941. The behavior of soluble organic phosphates added to soils. *Soil Science*, *51*(5), pp.351-366.
- Pipatti, R., 2001. Greenhouse gas emissions and removals in Finland. VTT Research Notes 2094. 59 p.+ app. 95 p. Technical Research Centre of Finland.

- Plaza-Bonilla, D., Álvaro-Fuentes, J. and Cantero-Martínez, C., 2014. Identifying soil organic carbon fractions sensitive to agricultural management practices. *Soil and Tillage Research*, 139, pp.19-22.
- Poeplau, C. and Don, A., 2014. Effect of ultrasonic power on soil organic carbon fractions. *Journal of plant nutrition and soil science*, 177(2), pp.137-140.
- Powlson, D.S. and Jenkinson, D.S., 1981. A comparison of the organic matter, biomass, adenosine triphosphate and mineralizable nitrogen contents of ploughed and direct-drilled soils. *The Journal of Agricultural Science*, 97(3), pp.713-721.
- Powlson, D.S., Prookes, P.C. and Christensen, B.T., 1987. Measurement of soil microbial biomass provides an early indication of changes in total soil organic matter due to straw incorporation. *Soil biology and biochemistry*, *19*(2), pp.159-164.
- Prasad, R. and Power, J.F., 1991. Crop residue management. In *Advances in Soil Science* (pp. 205-251). Springer, New York, NY.
- Prather, M., Derwent, R., Enhalt, D., Fraser, P., Sanhueza, E., Zhou, X., 1995. Other trace gases and atmospheric chemistry. In: Houghton, J. et al. (Eds.), Climate Change 1994. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK, pp. 77–126.
- Pryor, S.W., Smithers, J., Lyne, P. and van Antwerpen, R., 2017. Impact of agricultural practices on energy use and greenhouse gas emissions for South African sugarcane production. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 141, pp.137-145.
- Qin, S., Hu, C., Wang, Y., Li, X. and He, X., 2010. Tillage effects on intracellular and extracellular soil urease activities determined by an improved chloroform fumigation method. *Soil science*, 175(11), pp.568-572.
- Ramirez, K.S., Craine, J.M. and Fierer, N., 2012. Consistent effects of nitrogen amendments on soil microbial communities and processes across biomes. *Global change biology*, 18(6), pp.1918-1927.
- Rasmussen, K.J., 1999. Impact of ploughless soil tillage on yield and soil quality: A Scandinavian review. *Soil and Tillage Research*, 53(1), pp.3-14.
- Ratna, S.B., Ratnam, J.V., Behera, S.K., Rautenbach, C.D., Ndarana, T., Takahashi, K. and Yamagata, T., 2014. Performance assessment of three convective parameterization schemes in WRF for downscaling summer rainfall over South Africa. *Climate dynamics*, 42(11-12), pp.2931-2953.

- Redel, Y.D., Rubio, R., Rouanet, J.L. and Borie, F., 2007. Phosphorus bioavailability affected by tillage and crop rotation on a Chilean volcanic derived Ultisol. *Geoderma*, *139*(3-4), pp.388-396.
- Reed, S.C., Townsend, A.R., Taylor, P.G. and Cleveland, C.C., 2011. Phosphorus cycling in tropical forests growing on highly weathered soils. In *Phosphorus in action* (pp. 339-369). Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg.
- Rees, R.M., McTaggart, I.P. and Smith, K.A., 1996. Potential nitrogen availability and fertiliser recommendations. In *Progress in Nitrogen Cycling Studies* (pp. 359-363). Springer, Dordrecht.
- Regina, K. and Alakukku, L., 2010. Greenhouse gas fluxes in varying soils types under conventional and no-tillage practices. *Soil and Tillage Research*, *109*(2), pp.144-152.
- Reicosky, D.C., Dugas, W.A. and Torbert, H.A., 1997. Tillage-induced soil carbon dioxide loss from different cropping systems. *Soil and Tillage Research*, *41*(1-2), pp.105-118.
- Reid, R.S., Thornton, P.K., McCrabb, G.J., Kruska, R.L., Atieno, F. and Jones, P.G., 2004. Is it possible to mitigate greenhouse gas emissions in pastoral ecosystems of the tropics?. In *Tropical Agriculture in Transition—Opportunities for Mitigating Greenhouse Gas Emissions?* (pp. 91-109). Springer, Dordrecht.
- Reitzer, L.J & Magasanik, B, 1987. Ammonia assimilation and the biosynthesis of glutamine, glutamate, aspartate, asparagine, L-alanine and D-alanine. *In Escherichia coli and Salmonella typhimurium: Cellular and Molecular Biology 2*, pp.302-320.
- Riley, D. and Barber, S.A., 1971. Effect of Ammonium and Nitrate Fertilization on Phosphorus Uptake as Related to Root-Induced pH Changes at the Root-Soil Interface 1. *Soil Science Society of America Journal*, 35(2), pp.301-306.
- Robertson, G.P., Paul, E.A. and Harwood, R.R., 2000. Greenhouse gases in intensive agriculture: contributions of individual gases to the radiative forcing of the atmosphere. *Science*, *289*(5486), pp.1922-1925.
- Rochette, P. and Côté, D., 2000. CH4 fluxes and soil CH4 concentration following application of pig slurry for the 19th consecutive year. *Canadian journal of soil science*, *80*(2), pp.387-390.
- Rochette, P., van Bochove, E., Prévost, D., Angers, D.A. and Bertrand, N., 2000. Soil carbon and nitrogen dynamics following application of pig slurry for the 19th consecutive year II. Nitrous oxide fluxes and mineral nitrogen. *Soil Science Society of America Journal*, 64(4), pp.1396-1403.

- Roldan, A., Salinas-Garcia, J.R., Alguacil, M.M. and Caravaca, F., 2007. Soil sustainability indicators following conservation tillage practices under subtropical maize and bean crops. *Soil and Tillage Research*, 93(2), pp.273-282.
- Romanyà, J., Blanco-Moreno, J.M. and Sans, F.X., 2017. Phosphorus mobilization in low-P arable soils may involve soil organic C depletion. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, *113*, pp.250-259.
- Romero, C.M., Engel, R.E., D'Andrilli, J., Chen, C., Zabinski, C., Miller, P.R. and Wallander, R., 2018. Patterns of change in permanganate oxidizable soil organic matter from semiarid drylands reflected by absorbance spectroscopy and Fourier transform ion cyclotron resonance mass spectrometry. *Organic Geochemistry*, 120, pp.19-30.
- Rotini, O.T., 1935. Enzymatic transformation of urea in soil. Ann. Labor. Ferment, 3, pp.173-184.
- Rubæk, G.H., Kristensen, K., Olesen, S.E., Østergaard, H.S. and Heckrath, G., 2013. Phosphorus accumulation and spatial distribution in agricultural soils in Denmark. *Geoderma*, 209, pp.241-250.
- Saarnio, S., 2016. Impacts of biochar amendment on greenhouse gas emissions from agricultural soils. *Agricultural and environmental applications of biochar: advances and barriers*, 63, pp.259-293.
- Saffigna, P.G., Powlson, D.S., Brookes, P.C. and Thomas, G.A., 1989. Influence of sorghum residues and tillage on soil organic matter and soil microbial biomass in an Australian Vertisol. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 21(6), pp.759-765.
- Salinas-Garcia, J.R., de J Velázquez-García, J., Gallardo-Valdez, M., Diaz-Mederos, P., Caballero-Hernández, F., Tapia-Vargas, L.M. and Rosales-Robles, E., 2002. Tillage effects on microbial biomass and nutrient distribution in soils under rain-fed corn production in central-western Mexico. *Soil and Tillage Research*, 66(2), pp.143-152.
- Salinas-Garcia, J.R., Hons, F.M., Matocha, J.E. and Zuberer, D.A., 1997. Soil carbon and nitrogen dynamics as affected by long-term tillage and nitrogen fertilization. *Biology and Fertility of Soils*, 25(2), pp.182-188.
- Postma, D., 1990. Kinetics of nitrate reduction by detrital Fe (II)-silicates. *Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta*, *54*(3), pp.903-908.
- Samarkin, V.A., Madigan, M.T., Bowles, M.W., Casciotti, K.L., Priscu, J.C., McKay, C.P. and Joye, S.B., 2010. Abiotic nitrous oxide emission from the hypersaline Don Juan Pond in Antarctica. *Nature Geoscience*, 3(5), p.341.
- Schnabel, R.R. and Stout, W.L., 1994. Denitrification loss from two Pennsylvania floodplain soils. *Journal of Environmental Quality*, 23(2), pp.344-348.

- Schnabel, R.R., Franzluebbers, A.J., Stout, W.L., Sanderson, M.A. and Stuedemann, J.A., 2001. *The effects of pasture management practices* (pp. 291-322). Lewis Publishers, Boca Raton, Florida.
- Schulz, F., Brock, C., Schmidt, H., Franz, K.P. and Leithold, G., 2014. Development of soil organic matter stocks under different farm types and tillage systems in the Organic Arable Farming Experiment Gladbacherhof. *Archives of Agronomy and Soil Science*, 60(3), pp.313-326.
- Selles, F., Kochhann, R.A., Denardin, J.E., Zentner, R.P. and Faganello, A., 1997. Distribution of phosphorus fractions in a Brazilian Oxisol under different tillage systems. *Soil and Tillage Research*, 44(1-2), pp.23-34.
- Sharifi, M., Zebarth, B.J., Burton, D.L., Grant, C.A., Bittman, S., Drury, C.F., McConkey, B.G. and Ziadi, N., 2008. Response of potentially mineralizable soil nitrogen and indices of nitrogen availability to tillage system. *Soil Science Society of America Journal*, 72(4), pp.1124-1131.
- Shashidhar, K.R., Narayanaswamy, T.K., Bhaskar, R.N., Jagadish, B.R., Mahesh, M. and Krishna, K.S., 2009. Influence of organic based nutrients on soil health and mulberry (Morus indica L.) production. J. Biol. Sci, 1(1), pp.94-100.
- Shi, W.Y., Yan, M.J., Zhang, J.G., Guan, J.H. and Du, S., 2014. Soil CO<sub>2</sub> emissions from five different types of land use on the semiarid Loess Plateau of China, with emphasis on the contribution of winter soil respiration. *Atmospheric Environment*, 88, pp.74-82.
- Shoji, S., Delgado, J., Mosier, A. and Miura, Y., 2001. Use of controlled release fertilizers and nitrification inhibitors to increase nitrogen use efficiency and to conserve air andwater quality. *Communications in Soil Science and Plant Analysis*, 32(7-8), pp.1051-1070.
- Silgram, M. and Shepherd, M.A., 1999. The effects of cultivation on soil nitrogen mineralization. In *Advances in agronomy* (Vol. 65, pp. 267-311). Academic Press.
- Silvola, J., Alm, J., Ahlholm, U., Nykanen, H. and Martikainen, P.J., 1996. CO<sub>2</sub> fluxes from peat in boreal mires under varying temperature and moisture conditions. *Journal of ecology*, pp.219-228.
- Singh, J., Brar, B.S., Sekhon, B.S., Mavi, M.S., Singh, G., Kaur, G., 2016. Impact of long term phosphorous fertilization on Olsen-P and grain yields in maize-wheat cropping sequence. Nutr. Cycl. Agroecosyst. 1–12.
- Singh, L. and Singh, J.S., 1993. Importance of short-lived components of a dry tropical forest for biomass production and nutrient cycling. *Journal of Vegetation Science*, *4*(5), pp.681-686.

- Singh, M., Bhattacharya, A. K., Nair, T. V. R., & Singh, A. K., 2002. Nitrogen loss through subsurface drainage effluent in coastal rice field from India. *Agricultural Water Management*, 52, 249– 260.
- Sinsabaugh, R.L., Lauber, C.L., Weintraub, M.N., Ahmed, B., Allison, S.D., Crenshaw, C., Contosta, A.R., Cusack, D., Frey, S., Gallo, M.E. and Gartner, T.B., 2008. Stoichiometry of soil enzyme activity at global scale. *Ecology letters*, 11(11), pp.1252-1264.
- Sitaula, B.K., Hansen, S., Sitaula, J.I.B. and Bakken, L.R., 2000. Effects of soil compaction on N2O emission in agricultural soil. *Chemosphere-Global change science*, *2*(3-4), pp.367-371.
- Six, J., Bossuyt, H., Degryze, S. and Denef, K., 2004. A history of research on the link between (micro) aggregates, soil biota, and soil organic matter dynamics. *Soil and Tillage Research*, 79(1), pp.7-31.
- Six, J., Conant, R.T., Paul, E.A. and Paustian, K., 2002. Stabilization mechanisms of soil organic matter: implications for C-saturation of soils. *Plant and soil*, *241*(2), pp.155-176.
- Six, J., Elliott, E.T. and Paustian, K., 1999. Aggregate and soil organic matter dynamics under conventional and no-tillage systems. *Soil Science Society of America Journal*, 63(5), pp.1350-1358.
- Six, J., Elliott, E.T., Paustian, K. and Doran, J.W., 1998. Aggregation and soil organic matter accumulation in cultivated and native grassland soils. *Soil Science Society of America Journal*, 62(5), pp.1367-1377.
- Six, J., Ogle, S.M., Breidt, F.J., Conant, R.T., Mosier, A.R., Paustian, K., 2004. The potential to mitigate global warming with no-tillage management is only realized when practiced in the long term. *Global Change Biol.* 10, 155–160.
- Skjemstad, J.O., Swift, R.S. and McGowan, J.A., 2006. Comparison of the particulate organic carbon and permanganate oxidation methods for estimating labile soil organic carbon. *Soil Research*, 44(3), pp.255-263.
- Smith, D.C. and Hughes, J.C., 2002. Changes in chemical properties and temperature during the degradation of organic wastes subjected to simple composting protocols suitable for smallscale farming, and quality of the mature compost. *South African Journal of Plant and Soil*, 19(2), pp.53-60.
- Smith, K.A. and Conen, F., 2004. Impacts of land management on fluxes of trace greenhouse gases. *Soil Use and Management*, *20*(2), pp.255-263.

- Smith, K.A., Ball, T., Conen, F., Dobbie, K.E., Massheder, J. and Rey, A., 2003. Exchange of greenhouse gases between soil and atmosphere: interactions of soil physical factors and biological processes. *European journal of soil science*, 54(4), pp.779-791.
- Smith, K.A., Dobbie, K.E., Ball, B.C., Bakken, L.R., Sitaula, B.K., Hansen, S., Brumme, R., Borken,
  W., Christensen, S., Priemé, A. and Fowler, D., 2000. Oxidation of atmospheric methane in
  Northern European soils, comparison with other ecosystems, and uncertainties in the global
  terrestrial sink. *Global Change Biology*, 6(7), pp.791-803.
- Smith, P., Goulding, K.W., Smith, K.A., Powlson, D.S., Smith, J.U., Falloon, P. and Coleman, K., 2001. Enhancing the carbon sink in European agricultural soils: including trace gas fluxes in estimates of carbon mitigation potential. *Nutrient Cycling in Agroecosystems*, 60(1-3), pp.237-252.
- Smith, P., Martino, D., Cai, Z., Gwary, D., Janzen, H., Kumar, P., McCarl, B., Ogle, S., O'Mara, F., Rice, C. and Scholes, B., 2007. Policy and technological constraints to implementation of greenhouse gas mitigation options in agriculture. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment*, 118(1-4), pp.6-28.
- Smith, R.G., McSwiney, C.P., Grandy, A.S., Suwanwaree, P., Snider, R.M. and Robertson, G.P., 2008. Diversity and abundance of earthworms across an agricultural land-use intensity gradient. *Soil and Tillage Research*, 100(1-2), pp.83-88.
- Soil Classification Working Group, 1991. Soil classification: a taxonomic system for South Africa. *Memoirs on the agricultural natural resources of South Africa*, 15, pp.1-262.
- Solomon, D., Lehmann, J., Thies, J., Schäfer, T., Liang, B., Kinyangi, J., Neves, E., Petersen, J., Luizao,
  F. and Skjemstad, J., 2007. Molecular signature and sources of biochemical recalcitrance of organic C in Amazonian Dark Earths. *Geochimica et cosmochimica Acta*, 71(9), pp.2285-2298.
- Soon, Y.K. and Clayton, G.W., 2002. Eight years of crop rotation and tillage effects on crop production and N fertilizer use. *Canadian journal of soil science*, 82(2), pp.165-172.
- Souza, R.D., Ambrosini, A. and Passaglia, L.M., 2015. Plant growth-promoting bacteria as inoculants in agricultural soils. *Genetics and molecular biology*, *38*(4), pp.401-419.
- Sparling, G.P., 1992. Ratio of microbial biomass carbon to soil organic carbon as a sensitive indicator of changes in soil organic matter. *Soil Research*, *30*(2), pp.195-207.
- Sponseller, R.A., 2007. Precipitation pulses and soil CO2 flux in a Sonoran Desert ecosystem. *Global Change Biology*, *13*(2), pp.426-436.

- Stadmark, J. and Leonardson, L., 2005. Emissions of greenhouse gases from ponds constructed for nitrogen removal. *Ecological Engineering*, 25(5), pp.542-551.
- Stadmark, J. and Leonardson, L., 2007. Greenhouse gas production in a pond sediment: Effects of temperature, nitrate, acetate and season. *Science of the total environment*, 387(1-3), pp.194-205.
- Steinfeld, H., Gerber, P., Wassenaar, T.D., Castel, V., Rosales, M., Rosales, M. and de Haan, C., 2006. *Livestock's long shadow: environmental issues and options*. Food & Agriculture Org.
- Steinweg, J.M., Dukes, J.S. and Wallenstein, M.D., 2012. Modeling the effects of temperature and moisture on soil enzyme activity: linking laboratory assays to continuous field data. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 55, pp.85-92.
- Stevens, R.J., Laughlin, R.J., Burns, L.C., Arah, J.R.M. and Hood, R.C., 1997. Measuring the contributions of nitrification and denitrification to the flux of nitrous oxide from soil. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 29(2), pp.139-151.
- Stevenson, F.J., 1994. Humus chemistry: genesis, composition, reactions. John Wiley & Sons.
- Stolze, M., Piorr, A., Häring, A.M. and Dabbert, S., 2000. *Environmental impacts of organic farming in Europe*. Universität Hohenheim, Stuttgart-Hohenheim.
- Sullivan BW, Alvarez-Clare S, Castle SC, Porder S, Reed SC, Schreeg L., 2014. Assessing nutrient limitation in complex forested ecosystems: alternatives to large-scale fertilization experiments. *Ecology*: 95; 668±681. PMID: 24804451.
- Tabatabai, M.A. and Bremner, J.M., 1972. Assay of urease activity in soils. Soil Biology and biochemistry, 4(4), pp.479-487.
- Tabatabai, M.A. and Dick, W.A., 1979. Distribution and stability of pyrophosphatase in soils. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 11(6), pp.655-659.
- Talbot, J.M. and Treseder, K.K., 2012. Interactions among lignin, cellulose, and nitrogen drive litter chemistry-decay relationships. *Ecology*, *93*(2), pp.345-354.
- Tang, J., Baldocchi, D.D., Qi, Y. and Xu, L., 2003. Assessing soil CO<sub>2</sub> efflux using continuous measurements of CO<sub>2</sub> profiles in soils with small solid-state sensors. *Agricultural and Forest Meteorology*, 118(3-4), pp.207-220.
- Taylor, J.P., Wilson, B., Mills, M.S. and Burns, R.G., 2002. Comparison of microbial numbers and enzymatic activities in surface soils and subsoils using various techniques. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 34(3), pp.387-401.

- Tejada, M., Gonzalez, J.L., García-Martínez, A.M. and Parrado, J., 2008. Effects of different green manures on soil biological properties and maize yield. *Bioresource Technology*, 99(6), pp.1758-1767.
- Thibaud, M.C., Morel, C. and Fardeau, J.C., 1988. Contribution of phosphorus issued from crop residues to plant nutrition. *Soil Science and Plant Nutrition*, *34*(4), pp.481-491.
- Tian, G.; Kang, B.T.; Brussaard, L. 1992. Biological effects of plant residues with contrasting chemical compositions under humid tropical conditions – decomposition and nutrient release. *Soil Biol. Biochem.*, 24:1051-1060.
- Tirol-Padre, A. and Ladha, J.K., 2004. Assessing the reliability of permanganate-oxidizable carbon as an index of soil labile carbon. *Soil Science Society of America Journal*, 68(3), pp.969-978.
- Tollner, E.W., Hargrove, W.L. and Langdale, G.W., 1984. Influence of conventional and no-till practices on soil physical properties in the southern Piedmont. *Journal of soil and water conservation*, *39*(1), pp.73-76.
- Topp, E. and Pattey, E., 1997. Soils as sources and sinks for atmospheric methane. *Canadian journal* of soil science, 77(2), pp.167-177.
- Triberti, L., Nastri, A., Giordani, G., Comellini, F., Baldoni, G. and Toderi, G., 2008. Can mineral and organic fertilization help sequestrate carbon dioxide in cropland? *European Journal of Agronomy*, 29(1), pp.13-20.
- U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. 2010. Inventory of U.S. greenhouse gas emissions and sinks: 1990-2008. EPA, Office of Atmospheric Programs (6207J), Washington, DC. Available online at <u>http://epa.gov/climatechange/emissions/usinventoryreport.html</u>.
- Unger, P.W., 1984. Tillage and residue effects on wheat, sorghum, and sunflower grown in rotation. *Soil Science Society of America Journal*, 48(4), pp.885-891.
- Unger. P.W., 1991. Organic matter, nutrient, and pH distribution in no- and conventional-tillage semiarid soils. Agron. J., 83, 186-189.
- Ussiri, D.A.N., Lal, R., Jarecki, M.K., 2009. Nitrous oxide and methane emissions from long-term tillage under a continuous corn cropping system in Ohio. *Soil Till. Res.* 104, 247–253.
- Van Breemen, N., Mulder, J. and Driscoll, C.T., 1983. Acidification and alkalinization of soils. *Plant and soil*, 75(3), pp.283-308.
- Van Reeuwijk, L.P., 2002. Procedures for Soil Analysis'(International Soil Reference and Information Centre (ISRIC): Wageningen.

- Van Straaten, O., Veldkamp, E., Köhler, M. and Anas, I., 2009. Drought effects on soil CO<sub>2</sub> efflux in a cacao agroforestry system in Sulawesi, Indonesia. *Biogeosciences Discussions*, 6(6).
- Varsa, E.C., Chong, S.K., Abolaji, J.O., Farquhar, D.A. and Olsen, F.J., 1997. Effect of deep tillage on soil physical characteristics and corn (Zea mays L.) root growth and production. *Soil and Tillage research*, 43(3-4), pp.219-228.
- Verchot, L.V., Davidson, E.A., Cattânio, H., Ackerman, I.L., Erickson, H.E. and Keller, M., 1999. Land use change and biogeochemical controls of nitrogen oxide emissions from soils in eastern Amazonia. *Global Biogeochemical Cycles*, 13(1), pp.31-46.
- Vergé, X., Maxime, D., Desjardins, R.L. and VanderZaag, A.C., 2016. Allocation factors and issues in agricultural carbon footprint: a case study of the Canadian pork industry. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 113, pp.587-595.
- Vergé, X.P.C., De Kimpe, C. and Desjardins, R.L., 2007. Agricultural production, greenhouse gas emissions and mitigation potential. *Agricultural and Forest Meteorology*, 142(2), pp.255-269.
- Vilakazi BS, Zengeni R, Mafongoya P. 2019. Indigenous strategies used by selected farming communities in KwaZulu Natal, South Africa, to manage soil, water, and climate extremes and to make weather predictions. *Land Degrad Dev*;1–10. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ldr.3395</u>.
- Vilakazi, B.S., 2017. Indigenous knowledge systems available to conserve soil and water and their effects on physico-chemical properties on selected smallholder farms of KwaZulu-Natal (Masters dissertation).
- Virto, I., Barré, P., Burlot, A. and Chenu, C., 2012. Carbon input differences as the main factor explaining the variability in soil organic C storage in no-tilled compared to inversion tilled agrosystems. *Biogeochemistry*, 108(1-3), pp.17-26.
- Vitousek P (2004) Nutrient cycling and limitation: Hawai'i as a model system. Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ
- VOLUME SERIAL NUMBER (VSN) INTERNATIONAL. 2011. GenStat for Windows 14<sup>th</sup> Edition. Hemel Hempstead, UK: VSN International.
- Von Arnold, K., Nilsson, M., Hånell, B., Weslien, P. and Klemedtsson, L., 2005. Fluxes of CO<sub>2</sub>, CH<sub>4</sub> and N<sub>2</sub>O from drained organic soils in deciduous forests. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 37(6), pp.1059-1071.

- Walter, N.F., Hallberg, G.R. and Fenton, T.E., 1978. Particle-size analysis by the Iowa State University soil survey laboratory. *Standard procedures for evaluation of quaternary materials in Iowa*. *Technical Information Series*, (8), pp.61-74.
- Wander, M.M., Bidart, M.G. and Aref, S., 1998. Tillage impacts on depth distribution of total and particulate organic matter in three Illinois soils. *Soil Science Society of America Journal*, 62(6), pp.1704-1711.
- Wang, F., Weil, R.R. and Nan, X., 2017. Total and permanganate-oxidizable organic carbon in the corn rooting zone of US Coastal Plain soils as affected by forage radish cover crops and N fertilizer. *Soil and Tillage Research*, 165, pp.247-257.
- Wang, Q., Wang, Y., Wang, Q. and Liu, J., 2014. Impacts of 9 years of a new conservational agricultural management on soil organic carbon fractions. *Soil and Tillage Research*, 143, pp.1-6.
- Wang, R., Guo, S., Li, N., Li, R., Zhang, Y., Jiang, J., Wang, Z., Liu, Q., Wu, D., Sun, Q. and Du, L., 2015. Phosphorus accumulation and sorption in calcareous soil under long-term fertilization. *Plos one*, 10(8).
- Wang, Z., Hoffmann, T., Six, J., Kaplan, J.O., Govers, G., Doetterl, S. and Van Oost, K., 2017. Humaninduced erosion has offset one-third of carbon emissions from land cover change. *Nature Climate Change*, 7(5), pp.345-349.
- Watanabe, F.S. and Olsen, S.R., 1965. Test of an ascorbic acid method for determining phosphorus in water and NaHCO3 extracts from soil 1. Soil Science Society of America Journal, 29(6), pp.677-678.
- Wei, K., Chen, Z.H., Zhang, X.P., Liang, W.J. and Chen, L.J., 2014. Tillage effects on phosphorus composition and phosphatase activities in soil aggregates. *Geoderma*, 217, pp.37-44.
- Weil, R.R., Islam, K.R., Stine, M.A., Gruver, J.B. and Samson-Liebig, S.E., 2003. Estimating active carbon for soil quality assessment: A simplified method for laboratory and field use. *American Journal of Alternative Agriculture*, 18(1), pp.3-17.
- Weill, A. N., Mehuys, G. R. and McKyes' E. 1990. Effect of tillage reduction and fertilizer type on soil properties during corn (Zea mays L.) production. Soil Tillage Res. 17: 63-76.
- Wershaw, R., 1993. Model for humus in soils and sediments. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 27(5), pp.814-816.

- Whalen, S.C. and Reeburgh, W.S., 1990. Consumption of atmospheric methane by tundra soils. *Nature*, *346*(6280), pp.160-162.
- Whiting, G.J. and Chanton, J.P., 1993. Primary production control of methane emission from wetlands. *Nature*, *364*(6440), pp.794-795.
- Whiting, G.J. and Chanton, J.P., 2001. Greenhouse carbon balance of wetlands: methane emission versus carbon sequestration. *Tellus B*, 53(5), pp.521-528.
- Woese, C.R., Kandler, O. and Wheelis, M.L., 1990. Towards a natural system of organisms: proposal for the domains Archaea, Bacteria, and Eucarya. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 87(12), pp.4576-4579.
- Woodbury, J.W. and Hashimoto, A., 1993. Methane emissions from livestock manure. US Environmental Protection Agency, Climate Change Division. International Methane Emissions, Washington, DC, USA.
- Wright, A.L. and Hons, F.M., 2004. Soil aggregation and carbon and nitrogen storage under soybean cropping sequences. *Soil science society of America journal*, 68(2), pp.507-513.
- Wright, A.L., Provin, T.L., Hons, F.M., Zuberer, D.A. and White, R.H., 2005. Dissolved organic carbon in soil from compost-amended bermudagrass turf. *HortScience*, *40*(3), pp.830-835.
- Xue, D., Yao, H. and Huang, C., 2006. Microbial biomass, N mineralization and nitrification, enzyme activities, and microbial community diversity in tea orchard soils. *Plant and soil*, 288(1-2), pp.319-331.
- Yagi, K. and Minami, K., 1990. Effect of organic matter application on methane emission from some Japanese paddy fields. *Soil science and plant nutrition*, *36*(4), pp.599-610.
- Yamashita, T., Flessa, H., John, B., Helfrich, M. and Ludwig, B., 2006. Organic matter in density fractions of water-stable aggregates in silty soils: effect of land use. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, 38(11), pp.3222-3234.
- Yamulki, S., Goulding, K.W.T., Webster, C.P. and Harrison, R.M., 1995. Studies on NO and N20 fluxes from a wheat field. *Atmospheric Environment*, 29(14), pp.1627-1635.
- Yanai, Y., Toyota, K.&Okazaki, M., 2007. Effects of charcoal addition onN2Oemissions from soil resulting from rewetting air-dried soil in short-term laboratory experiments. Soil Sci. Plant Nutr. 53, 181–188.
- Yang, X., Ren, W., Sun, B. and Zhang, S., 2012. Effects of contrasting soil management regimes on total and labile soil organic carbon fractions in a loess soil in China. *Geoderma*, 177, pp.49-56.

- Yang, X.M. and Kay, B.D., 2001. Rotation and tillage effects on soil organic carbon sequestration in a typic Hapludalf in Southern Ontario. *Soil and Tillage Research*, *59*(3-4), pp.107-114.
- Yang, X.M., Drury, C.F., Wander, M.M. and Kay, B.D., 2008. Evaluating the effect of tillage on carbon sequestration using the minimum detectable difference concept. *Pedosphere*, 18(4), pp.421-430.
- Zengeni, R., Kakembo, V. and Nkongolo, N., 2016. Soil carbon dioxide effluxes from different vegetation environments in semi-arid Eastern Cape, South Africa. *African Journal of Range & Forage Science*, 33(2), pp.111-118.
- Zhai, L.M., Liu, H.B., Zhang, J.Z., Huang, J. and Wang, B.R., 2011. Long-term application of organic manure and mineral fertilizer on N<sub>2</sub>O and CO<sub>2</sub> emissions in a red soil from cultivated maizewheat rotation in China. *Agricultural Sciences in China*, 10(11), pp.1748-1757.
- Zhang, S.L., Tong, Y.A., Liang, D.L., Lu, D.Q., Emteryd, O., 2004. Nitrate-N movement in the soil profile as influenced by rate and timing of nitrogen application. Acta Pedol. Sin. 41, 270–277.
- Zheng, J., Zhang, X., Li, L., Zhang, P. and Pan, G., 2007. Effect of long-term fertilization on C mineralization and production of CH4 and CO2 under anaerobic incubation from bulk samples and particle size fractions of a typical paddy soil. *Agriculture, ecosystems & environment*, 120(2-4), pp.129-138.
- Zibilske, L.M. and Bradford, J.M., 2003. Tillage effects on phosphorus mineralization and microbial activity. *Soil Science*, *168*(10), pp.677-685.
- Zibilske, L.M., Bradford, J.M. and Smart, J.R., 2002. Conservation tillage induced changes in organic carbon, total nitrogen and available phosphorus in a semi-arid alkaline subtropical soil. *Soil and Tillage Research*, *66*(2), pp.153-163.
- Zikeli, S., Gruber, S., Teufel, C.F., Hartung, K. and Claupein, W., 2013. Effects of reduced tillage on crop yield, plant available nutrients and soil organic matter in a 12-year long-term trial under organic management. *Sustainability*, 5(9), pp.3876-3894.

10. Appendices Appendix A. 1: Layout of experiment site at Loskop area.

REP 1			REP 2			REP 3		
NT	CT- ANNUAL	CT- Y5	CT- ANNUAL	NT	CT- Y5	CT- Y5	NT	CT- ANNUAL
60 UREA	60 UREA	60 UREA	0 UREA	240 UREA	0 UREA	60 UREA	240 UREA	60 UREA
120 UREA	0 UREA	240 UREA	120 UREA	0 UREA	120 UREA	120 UREA	60 UREA	240 UREA
240 UREA	120 UREA	120 UREA	60 UREA	120 UREA	60 UREA	240 UREA	120 UREA	0 UREA
0 UREA	240 UREA	0 UREA	240 UREA	60 UREA	240 UREA	0 UREA	0 UREA	120 UREA

NT = No-Till

**CT-ANNUAL = Conventional till annually** 

CT-Y5 = Conventional till every 5th year